

UNIVERSIDADE DO VALE DO TAQUARI PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO *STRICTO SENSU* DOUTORADO EM AMBIENTE E DESENVOLVIMENTO

SOIL BEETLES ASSEMBLAGES AS ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN THE NEOTROPICS: IMPLICATIONS FOR ECOSYSTEM CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba

Lajeado, 2018

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba

SOIL BEETLES ASSEMBLAGES AS ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN THE NEOTROPICS: IMPLICATIONS FOR ECOSYSTEM CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION

Thesis submitted as part of the requirements for the degree of Doctor with Environment and Development Postgraduate Program, University of Taquari Valley, Brazil, with area of concentration in Ecology.

Supervisors

Dr Eduardo Périco

Dr Mário Santos

Dedicated to my family and friends.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I thank God for life and for letting me finish this PhD. For all the great opportunities I experienced, the wonders and the miracles that constantly fill my life.

I thank Eduardo Périco for believing in me and for his confidence on my potential and also for the patience way he gave me his orientations, criticisms and contributions. His supervision and friendship in the guided me to be a better professional. Thank you!

Definitely not least, I am also extremely thankful to Mário Santos for accepting to supervise me; for always giving me his time to read my work and for providing incredibly insightful feedbacks that amazingly improved this thesis. His capacity to create an environment that encourages his students to achieve their very best and the astonishing speed that he returns are all the hallmarks of a truly brilliant supervisor. Thank you!

A thank you to Dr. João Cabral and Rita Bassos, both of Laboratory of Applied Ecology, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal, for the valuable contributions.

Thank you very much to Dr Thiago Bernardi of UFPA / Altamira and Dr Mariana Dalzochio for the valuable comments in parts of the thesis.

I could not forget to thank Dr Edilson Caron (UFPR) and his team for their valuable contribution in building parts of the manuscript.

Thanks to the inseparable friends in fieldwork, Lucas, Sidi, Idielson, Ediones and Wully for tireless support in field collections and insect screening. I thank you for every minute you dedicate and make this project happen.

Thanks to my parents. You have always given all the support and encouragement necessary and essential to my academic career. You are constantly in my life and constitute in my safe haven. Thanks to my brothers, Renildo and Renato and and my nephew Gabriel, my true friends, thank you for the affection, companionship, and all words of enthusiasm.

Finally, I could not forget Wully, my wife and academic partner for understanding every moment I was away. She has been essential to my life, instilling my confidence and having faith in my intellect and me, even when I could not have it by myself. I truly thank her for being such a non-judgmental person, teaching me so much about life and giving me immensurable patience and unfaltering love during all the stages of this Ph.D. I also thank her for waiting for me, for inspiring me and for all support and encouragement she has given me to achieve my dreams. Thank you very much.

Conclusively, to all those who directly or indirectly helped in the preparation of this thesis. Thank you very much: most of you have added something on me and I am result of your love and kindness.

Thank you!!!!

It may be argued that to know one kind of beetle is to know them all. But a species is not like a molecule in a cloud of molecules - it is a unique population.

(Edward O. Wilson, 1985).

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1

Chapter 2

| Figure 1. Location of the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia) in South America |
|---|
| Figure 2. Cumulative rate of deforestation (Km2) between 1988-2013 in the Brazilian Amazon (Inpe, 2014) |
| Figure 3. "Arc of deforestation" in the Brazilian Amazon - in dotted lines (adapted from Lui and Molina, 2009) |
| Figure 4. Flowchart showing the main causes and effects of Amazon deforestation in Brazil: The causes which lead to deforestation are black boxes; and consequences for human society are indicated by gray boxes (Adapted the Davidson et al., 2012) |
| Figure 5. Types of ecological indicators |
| Figure 6.Criteria for selection of ecological indicators |
| Figure 7. Diversity of invertebrate species compared to other indicators groups (Adapted the Calor, 2009) |
| Figure 8. Diversity of beetles compared to the main groups of insects (Adapted the Cajaiba, 2013) |

Chapter 3

Fig. 4. Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) used to estimate the influence of environmental variables on Scarabaeidae communities. Four axes were considered in the Principal Components Analysis (PCA), including 4 principal components (PC). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession (15 years of natural regeneration of

Chapter 4

Chapter 5

Chapter 6

Figure 2. Differences in the projected values for (a) Richness (\pm SE), and (b) Abundance (\pm SE) of Histerid beetles (HB) community in the different ecosystems considered. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different

Chapter 7

Fig. 1. Location of the study region in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Location of the ecosystems sampling: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Pa, Pasture; Ag, Agriculture...... 178

Fig. 2. Rove Beetles individual-based rarefaction curves for the studied sites. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture. 183

Fig. 3. Barplot expressing the differences in the projected values for (a) Number of morphospecies, (b) number of individuals, (c) Shannon diversity, and (d) Berger-Parker dominance of Staphylinidae community in the different ecosystems considered. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture. 185

Chapter 8

Chapter 9

| Fig. 6. Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) used to estimate the influence of |
|--|
| environmental variables on Ground Beetles communities. Four axes were considered in the |
| Principal Components Analysis (PCA), including 4 principal components (PC). NV, Native |
| vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession (15 years of natural regeneration of |
| vegetation); ES, Early secondary succession (five years of natural regeneration of |
| vegetation); Ag, Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa, Pasture. PC1 was positive correlated |
| with the following environmental variables: Circumference at Breast Height (CBH); |
| Circumference at breast ankle (CBA); Canopy Cover (CC); richness of plants (RP); Height |
| of Leaf Litter (HLL); Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover (PLC); Percentage of Green |
| (vegetation) Cover (PGC); Abundance of Plants (AP); Richness of Shrubs (RS), and |
| negative correlated with Temperature (T) and Percentage of Exposed Soil (PES). PC2 was |
| positive correlated with Humidity (H), PC3 positive correlated with Abundance of Shrubs |
| (AS) and PC4 with Precipitation (P), also positively |

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1

Chapter 5

Chapter 6

Table 1. Total numbers of Histerid beetles species in the environments different in the Brazilian Amazon. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Mature Secondary succession (15 years of regeneration); ES = Early Secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture. R = Rainy Season; Intermediary Season; D = Dry Season. 161

Chapter 7

Chapter 8

Table 2. Multivariate regressions between environmental variables and ecological indices (abundance and richness) of Scolytinae collected in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. H, Humidity; HLL, Height of Leaf Litter; P, Precipitation; PES, Percentage of Exposed Soil; PLC, Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover; T, Temperature..... 229

Chapter 9

Table 1. Recognizable taxonomic unit (RTU) selected by the IndVal method. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration);

| Chapter 1 | |
|--|-------------------|
| General Introduction / Contextualization | |
| Area of study | |
| Structure of thesis / specific objectives | |
| References | |
| Chapter 2 | |
| Assessing The Potential Role Of Ground Beetles (Coleoptera) As Ecological Inc Tropical Ecosystems: A Review | licators In 33 |
| Abstract | |
| Introduction | |
| Causes and Effects of Amazon Deforestation | |
| Surface Soil Invertebrates as Ecological Indicators of Environmental Changes | |
| Soil Surface Coleoptera as Indicators of Environmental Changes | |
| Soil Surface Beetlesas Indicators of Environmental Changes in the Tropics with a the Brazilian Amazon | Focus on 52 |
| Perspectives and Challenges | |
| Final Remarks | |
| Appendices | |
| References | |
| Chapter 3 | |
| Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extense changes in the Brazilian Amazon? | nt of land 77 |
| Abstract | |
| Material and Methods | |
| Study area | 80 |
| Scarab beetle sampling | |
| Environmental variables | 82 |
| Assemblage analysis | 83 |
| Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables | 83 |
| IndVal | |
| Results | |
| Assemblages analysis | |
| Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables | |

CONTENTS

| IndVal | |
|---|------------------------|
| Discussion | 91 |
| Assemblages analysis | |
| Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables | |
| Value indicator - IndVal | |
| Conclusion | |
| Acknowledgments | |
| References | |
| Appendix A | |
| Chapter 4 | |
| Attractiveness of <i>Scarabaeinae</i> (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits i Amazon region | n the Brazilian 107 |
| Abstract | |
| Material and methods | |
| Study sites | 110 |
| Sampling method | |
| Results | 112 |
| General results/Functional diversity | |
| Bait atractivness | |
| Discussion | 116 |
| Resumen | |
| References | |
| Appendix 1 | |
| Appendix 2 | |
| Chapter 5 | |
| Can dung beetles (Scarabaeinae) indicate the status of Amazonia's ecosys integrating anthropogenic disturbance with seasonal patterns | tems? Insights 127 |
| Abstract | |
| Introduction | |
| Material and methods | |
| Study sites | 130 |
| Sampling method | |
| Data analysis | |
| Results | |

| Discussion | |
|--|------------------|
| Final remarks | |
| Acknowledgments | |
| References | |
| Supplementary material | |
| Chapter 6 | |
| Seasonal patterns in the diversity of histerid beetles (Histeridae) are ecosys case in para state, northern Brazil | stem specific? A |
| Abstract | |
| Introduction | |
| Material and methods | |
| Study area | |
| Histerid beetles sampling | 159 |
| Assemblage analysis | |
| Results | |
| Composition of Histeridae | |
| Seasonality patterns in Histerid beetles assemblages | |
| Discussion | |
| Composition | |
| Seasonality | |
| Acknowledgements | |
| References | |
| Chapter 7 | |
| Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using rove study in the Brazilian Amazon | beetles? A case |
| Abstract | |
| Introduction | |
| Material and methods | |
| Study sites | |
| Staphylinidae sampling | |
| Environmental variables | 179 |
| Assemblage analysis | |
| Association of Rove Beetle assemblages with environmental variables | |
| Species indicator value - IndVal | |

| Results | |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| Assemblages analysis | |
| Composition | |
| Effects of environmental variables on Rove Beetle assemblages | |
| IndVal method | 190 |
| Discussion | 191 |
| Assemblages analysis | 191 |
| Composition of Staphylinidae | 193 |
| Effects of environmental variables on Rove Beetle assemblages | 195 |
| Value indicator - IndVal | 196 |
| Contributions for conservation/ challenges and final remarks | 197 |
| Acknowledgments | |
| References | 201 |
| Supplementary material | |
| Chapter 8 | |
| Diversity of Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in different landscape Brazil | s in northern |
| Abstract | |
| Resumo | 221 |
| Introduction | 222 |
| Material and Methods | |
| Results and Discussion | |
| References | |
| Chapter 9 | |
| How informative is the response of Ground Beetles' (Coleoptera: Carabidae) a anthropogenic land use changes? Insights for ecological status assessments study in the Neotropics | ssemblages to from a case 236 |
| Introduction | |
| Material and Methods | |
| Study sites | |
| Carabidae sampling | |
| Environmental variables | |
| Statistical analysis | 243 |
| A gamplage anglusia | 2/3 |

| Association of Ground Beetle assemblages with environmental variables | 245 |
|---|--------|
| Species indicator value – IndVal | 245 |
| Results | 245 |
| Assemblages analysis and composition of Ground Beetles | 245 |
| Ground Beetles diversity and ecosystems | 246 |
| Effects of environmental variables on Ground beetle assemblages | 249 |
| IndVal Method | 252 |
| Discussion | 253 |
| Neotropical Ground Beetles, ecosystems and environmental conditions | 253 |
| Assemblages analysis and composition of Ground Beetles | 253 |
| Effects of environmental variables on Ground beetle assemblages | 255 |
| Neotropical Ground Beetles as ecological indicators of anthropogenic disturbanc | es 256 |
| Perspectives and challenges on using Neotropical Ground Beetles metrics for environmental management of forest landscapes | 257 |
| Conclusions | 259 |
| Acknowledgments | 261 |
| References | 262 |
| Supplementary material | 272 |
| Chapter 10 | 278 |
| Synthesis and recommendations | 278 |
| General discussion and key findings | 278 |
| Challenges and limitations | 281 |
| Priorities for future work and recommendations | 282 |
| References | 284 |
| Appendices – Other Outcomes | 287 |

Chapter 1

General Introduction / Contextualization

Due to their diversity, complexity and extension (KIM et al., 2015), neotropical forests contribute disproportionately to local, regional and global ecosystem processes (FOLEY et al., 2007; CARDINALE et al., 2012). These forests are fundamental for global climate regulation (ANDERSON-TEIXEIRA et al., 2012), carbon sequestration and storage (BERENGUER et al., 2014), agricultural pests control (HAHN et al., 2014), and biological diversity conservation (FOLEY et al., 2007). Also have an important economic role, providing timber and non-timber products to coutries and communities associated (FRANÇA, 2015).

Neotropical ecosystems and especially pristine forests are biodiversity hotpsots fast retreating and/or changing through anthropogenic pressures associated with intense population growth and socio-ecological regime shifts (GARDNER et al., 2009; GIBSON et al., 2011). Human pressures are considered "new" disturbances with which organisms in tropical rainforests may not be evolutionay adapted (GEERAERT, 2014). Trends show a substantial reduction in closed-canopy forests, converted to other uses (e.g. the logging of a natural forest for agricultural use) and a fragmentation of forest remnants (DIAS et al., 2016). Consequently, most neotropical forests (and in general tropical ecosystems) are now imperilled (GIBSON et al., 2011; KIM et al., 2015; FRANÇA, 2015). These trends are also originating changes in ecosystem structure and functioning with significant impacts on the provision of economic goods, ecosystem services and unknown global environemtal consequences (NEWBOLD et al., 2015; LIN et al., 2018).

Particularly in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), the deforestation has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and possibly a disruption of complex global climate phenomena (e.g. HIDASI-NETO et al., 2012; PIRES et al., 2016; SOLAR et al., 2016). Several authores consider that the conservation of the Amazonia' ecosysvtems represents a core challenge for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately humankind (e.g. VIEGAS et al., 2014; LEAL et al., 2016; SOLAR et al., 2016). Although the Amazon is considered a biodiversity hotspot, our knowledge of

the diversity and distribution of species in the Amazon biome is still at an early stage of development (FABRÉ et al., 2012; CAJAIBA et al., 2015). Scientists have been studying the Amazonia ecosystems since the beginning of the 18th century and a huge number of books and articles focusing on its biological diversity are available (e.g. PITMAN et al., 2007), anyhow, and considering its vastness, the information available is still fragmented with most ecosystems functiononing and diversity unknown: e.g., many of the specimens that have been collected to date have not yet been studied (VERWEIJ et al., 2009; CAJAIBA et al., 2015).

Indicator/surrogate species to monitor/assess environmental changes is a widely used method by researchers (HEINK; KOWARIK, 2010; TIEDE et al., 2017; 2018). **GHANNEM** et al., Studies showed that knowledge on the homogeneity/heterogeneity of species composition in the ecosystems is essential for understanding and monitoring changes, whether they result from natural and/or anthropogenic pressures (ANDRADE et al., 2014; BARNES et al., 2016; BROSE; HILLEBRAND, 2016).

Soil arthropods are considered indicators of environmental quality due to their diversity and sensitivity to physical and biological characteristics (SANTORUFO et al., 2012; LUZ et al., 2013; SIQUEIRA et al., 2014; ZHU; ZHU, 2015; SPILLER et al., 2018). Among these arthropods, beetles (Insecta, Coleoptera) are assertive indicators, since in addition to their abundance, several ecological niches and diets were identified (MAGURA et al., 2013; BICKNELL et al., 2014; FILGUEIRAS et al., 2015; NAGY et al., 2016; QODRI et al., 2016). Moreover, they have wide geographic distribution, are abundant and active, namely in neotropical systems, throughout the year (KOTZE et al., 2011). However, due to their huge diversity and taxonomic impediment, studies on some Coleoptera species in tropical regions are scarce (BASELGA; NOVOA, 2008; PIMENTA, 2011). Even for groups that have been extensively investigated there is lack of basic ecological information on its natural history, geographic distribution, and their role in ecosystem dynamics (NOVOTNY et al., 2006; MORAES et al., 2013).

Given the rate at which we are changing neotropical ecosystems and landscapes (DIRZO et al., 2014; PIMM et al., 2014) and the importance of tropical forests for

global ecosystem services (e.g. SAATCHI et al., 2007) it is critical to understand the response of ecological indicators, such as beetles to the ongoing trends. This will not only increase our understanding of ecological systems, but will also allow accurate predictions of the consequences of human-driven actions on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning.

Area of study

The study was developed in the municipality of Uruará, southwestern Pará state. The region is located approximately 1000 km away from Belém, the capital of Pará state, and is crossed by the Transamazon Highway (official designation BR-230) (Figure 1). Uruará was part of the Altamira PIC (Integrated Colonization Project), one of the first official settlements in the Amazon (ARIMA et al., 2005), created to resettle families from the south, southeast and northeast of Brazil (PERZ; WALKER, 2002).

Uruará experienced two main large waves of in-migration in its development history due to a combination of pull and push factors (PPERZ; WALKER, 2002; PERZ et al., 2010). The first wave of in-migration appears in the early 1970s (WALKER et al., 2002), where the military government demarcated 100-hectare lots for the old colonists to grow annual crops initially (PERZ; WALKER, 2002). It later diversified into perennials and pastures due to the household life cycles (PERZ; WALKER, 2002). The second wave of large in-migration occurred throughout the whole 1980s due to the stimulation of economic boom and raising prices of perennial crops (PERZ et al., 2010). A third wave of great in-migration is currently occurring, mainly due to the construction of the Belo Monte dam in Vitoria do Xingu and Altamira.

Land cover is characterized by large deforested areas radiating from the main road (TransAmazon) to the feeder roads (travessões), and spreading westward over time from the area of initial settlement in the east. The area has unevenly distributed patches of high-fertility soils known as terra roxa. Extensive livestock production, exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) and cacao production are the main agro-pastoral strategies, but are usually complemented by annual crops and horticulture. In some parts of the study area, sandy soils predominate and pasture and annual crop production are favoured (GODAR et al., 2012).

The municipality of Uruará has fairly similar physiographical conditions, with neighboring municipalities within a radius of approximately 300 km, a predominance of moist humid upland forests and a dry season from July to Dezember (ALDRICH et al., 2006; GODAR et al., 2012).

In our study, we selected different areas that represented the main uses and land cover, namely (Figure 1 and Figure 2a-2e):

i. Native Vegetation – NV: Composed of vegetation whose facies is an upper canopy formed mainly by green trees, with crowns that touch each other, creating a dense and enclosed canopy all year round. In this ecosystem no traces of anthropic action were verified (for example, trails, residues, fires, selective cutting of wood, agricultural activities, among others) (Figure 2a).

ii. Maturing secondary succession - MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration): A secondary forest (or second-growth forest) is a forest or woodland area which has re-grown after abandonment of agriculture. Biological diversity gradually increases as long as there are primary remnants to supply seeds. The average height of the trees is over 12 meters and the average diameter is over 14 centimeters (Figure 2b).

iii. Early Secondary succession – *ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration):* Same as above. This phase typically lasts for up to six years and in some cases up to ten years, depending on soil quality and / or seed bank. The average height of trees is no more than four meters and the diameter of the main trees can reach eight centimeters (Figure 2c).

iv. Agriculture - Ag (cocoa plantations, Theobroma cacao L.): Agroecosystem represented by areas planted with cacao crops (*Theobroma cacao* L.) (Figure 2d).

v. Pasture for extensive livestock – Pa: Agroecosystem dominated by herbaceous vegetation (mainly species of the genus *Brachiaria* spp) used for extensive livestock farming (Figure 2e).



Figure 1. Location of the study region in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Location of the sampling areas: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Pa, Pasture; Ag, Agriculture.



Figure 2. Habitats studied in the municipality of Uruará, Pará. (A) Native Vegetation, (B) Maturing secondary succession, (C) Early Secondary succession, (D) Agriculture -Ag (cocoa plantations), (E) Pasture.

General objective of research

Although each chapter of this thesis presents specific objectives (see *Structure of thesis/ specific objectives*), our main aim was to evaluate the responses of soil beetle assembleges to increasing levels of stress in the Amazonia, in the scope of its usefulness as ecological indicators of anthropogenic disturbance. Therefore, we selected areas with different land use/land cover (agriculture, pasture, native vegetation and secondary vegetation different stages of regeneration, see Area of study).

Structure of thesis / specific objectives

The thesis is divided in interrelated but stand-alone chapters. The overlap in the text content between chapters has been kept to a minimum; however, there is some common material presented, particularly in the introductions to the chapters, methods and references. All chapters were published or submitted to scientific journals and books. Although Univates has its own standard format for submission of academic papers, the present thesis, except for chapter one and chapter ten (which obeys the format of Univates), meets the specific standards of each journal.

This **first chapter** presents a general introduction to the topic, in addition to the structuring of the thesis.

The second chapter, entitled "Assessing the potential role of ground beetles (coleoptera) as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems: A review", is the introductory part of this thesis. It describes the ecological role of tropical forests (with emphasis to the Brazilian Amazon), the main causes of deforestation and the impacts caused by these changes. Based on extensive bibliographical review, we examined the use of soil invertebrates as ecological indicators, focusing on soil surface Coleoptera. The advantages and disadvantages of the use of beetles to monitor the effects of anthropogenic changes on the functioning of tropical systems were discussed. We also highlighted the main advances and applications, as well as proposals for future studies with this group.

In the third chapter, entitled "Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon?" we examine the effects of anthropogenic impacts on Scarabaeidae composition. The chapter objetvies are to: (i) assess the effects of ecosystem substitution on neotropical Scarabaeidae assemblages and, (ii) demonstrate the use of Scarabaeidae as simple, suitable and intuitive ecological indicators for informing land use managers, namely by their ability of responding to key changes in such ecosystems and detecting levels of stress associated.

The fourth chapter, entitled "Attraction of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits in the Brazilian Amazon region", species richness and abundance of Scarabaeidae captured using various types of baits (human faeces, rotten banana, rotten meat and a nonbaited trap) was compared, to demonstrate attractiveness dissimilarities for several habitats of the Brazilian Amazon. In this study, species were classified in guilds for a more comprehensive analysis, according to their diet and habitat/nesting resources.

The fifth chapter, entitled "Can dung beetles (Scarabaeinae) indicate the status of Amazonia's ecosystems? Insights integrating anthropogenic disturbance with seasonal patterns" focuses its emphasis on evaluating the seasonal patterns of Scarabaeinae communities in a gradient of ecosystems/ habitats for to determine their usefulness as ecological indicators.

The sixth chapter, entiled "Seasonal patterns in the diversity of histerid beetles (Histeridae) are ecosystem specific? A case in Pará state, northern Brazil". The objective of this work was to characterize the seasonal variation in the community of Histeridae of within ecosystems in the Brazilian Amazon for to demonstrate the patterns of habitat preference and seasonal variations, and to verify their possibility to use as ecological indicators.

The seventh chapter, entitled "Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using rove beetles? A case study in the Brazilian Amazon", the responses of the Rove Beetles (Staphylinidae) to gradients of disturbance in ecosystems of the Brazilian Amazon were evaluated. Specifically, we assessed the possibility of using patterns in richness, abundance and taxonomic diversity of Rove Beetles as anthropogenic disturbance indicators.

The eighth chapter, entitled "Diversity of Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in different landscapes in northern Brazil", aimed to evaluate if the composition and diversity of species of Scolytinae vary among the different habitats and between seasons with the aimed to support research, add information about these insects, that which are important from the economic point of view.

The ninth chapter, entiled "How informative is the response of Ground Beetles' (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages to anthropogenic land use changes? Insights for ecological status assessments from a case study in the Neotropics" the effects of anthropogenic impacts on Carabidae composition are examined. The main objective was to analyse the dissimilarity of GB assemblages by testing the following hypotheses: (1) the GB community composition, using morphospecies, is sensitive to disturbance of reference ecosystems such as primary forest; (2) increasing disturbance can be assessed by an increasing dissimilarity of the selected ecological indicators from pristine forests, namely morphospecies richness, abundance, taxonomic diversity and ecological composition. These hypotheses were tested through representative gradients in order to provide new insights for the GB diversity standard assessments as indicators of disturbance in Neotropical ecosystems.

The **tenth chapter**, final part of the thesis, provides a summary and synthesis of the findings from each of the preceding chapters, and considers their importance for management, conservation and restoration policies on neotropical forests, as well as highlighting future research needs.

Finally, I present at the end of the thesis the appendices that demonstrate the publications that resulted from this doctoral research.

REFERENCES

ALDRICH, S.P.; WALKER, R.T.; ARIMA, E.Y.; CALDAS, M.M.; BROWDER, J.; PERZ, S. Land-cover and land-use change in the Brazilian Amazon: smallholders, ranchers, and frontier stratification. **Economic Geography**, v. 82, p. 265–288, 2006.

ANDERSON-TEIXEIRA, K.J.; SNYDER, P.K.; TWINE, T.E.; CUADRA, S. V.; COSTA, M.H.; DELUCIA, E.H. Climate-regulation services of natural and agricultural ecoregions of the Americas. **Nature Climate Change**, v. 2, p. 177-181, 2012.

ANDRADE, R.B.; BARLOW, J.; LOUZADA, J.; MESTRE, L.; SILVEIRA, J.; VAZ-DE-MELLO, F.; COCHRANE, M.A. Biotic congruence in humid tropical forests: A multi-taxa examination of spatial distribution and responses to forest disturbance. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 36, p. 572-581, 2014.

ARIMA, E.Y.; WALKER, R.T.; PERZ, S.G.; CALDAS, M.M. Loggers and Forest Fragmentation: Behavioral Models of Road Building in the Amazon Basin. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, v. 95, p. 525-541, 2005.

BARNES, A.D.; WEIGELT, P.; JOCHUM, M.; OTT, D.; HODAPP, D.; HANEDA, N.; BROSE, U. Species richness and biomass explain spatial turnover in ecosystem functioning across tropical and temperate ecosystems. **Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B**, v. 371, p. 1-8. 2016.

BASELGA, A.; NOVOA, F. Coleoptera in a relict forest of spain: Implications of hyperdiverse taxa for conservation strategies. **Annals of the Entomological Society of America**, v. 101, p. 402-410, 2008.

BERENGUER, E.; FERREIRA, J.; GARDNER, T.A.; ARAGÃO, L.E.O.C.; DE CAMARGO, P.B.; CERRI, C.E.; DURIGAN, M.; OLIVEIRA, R.C.; VIEIRA, I.C.G.; BARLOW, J. A large-scale field assessment of carbon stocks in human-modified tropical forests. **Global Change Biology**, v. 2005, p. 1-14, 2014.

BICKNELL, J.E., PHELPS, S.P., DAVIES, R.G., MANN, D.J., STRUEBIG, M.J., DAVIES, Z.G. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: evaluating bestpractice forestry in the neotropics. **Ecological Indicator**, 43, 154–161, 2014.

BROSE, U.; HILLEBRAND, H. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in dynamic landscapes. **Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B**, v. 371, p. 1-9, 2016.

CAJAIBA, R.L.; PERICO, E.; CABRAL, J.A.; SANTOS, M. Assessing the Potential Role of Ground Beetles (Coleoptera) as Ecological Indicators in Tropical Ecosystems: A Review. **Beetles**: Biodiversity, Ecology and Role in the Environment. 1ed.: Nova Science Publishers, v. 1, p. 51-84, 2015.

CARDINALE, B.J.; DUFFY, J.E.; GONZALEZ, A.; HOOPER, D.U.; PERRINGS, C.; VENAIL, P.; NARWANI, A.; MACE, G.M.; TILMAN, D.; WARDLE, D.;

KINZIG, A.P.; DAILY, G.C.; LOREAU, M.; GRACE, J.B.; LARIGAUDERIE, A.; SRIVASTAVA, D.S.;, NAEEM, S. Corrigendum: Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. **Nature**, v. 489, p. 326-326, 2012.

DIAS, L.C.; PIMENTA, F.M.; SANTOS, A.B.; COSTA, M.; LADLE, R. Patterns of land use, extensification, and intensification of Brazilian agriculture. **Global Change Biology**, v. 22, p. 2887-2903, 2016.

DIRZO, R.; YOUNG, H.S.; GALETTI, M.; CEBALLOS, G.; ISAAC, N.J.B.; COLLEN, B. Defaunation in the Anthropocene. **Science**, v. 345, p. 401-406, 2014.

FABRÉ, N.N.; BATISTA, V.S.; RIBEIRO, M.O.; LADLE, R. A New Framework for Natural Resource Management in Amazonia. **Ambio**, v. 41, p. 302–308, 2012.

FILGUEIRAS, B.K.C., TABARELLI, M., LEAL, I.R., VAZ-DE-MELLO, F.Z., IANNUZZI, L. Dung beetle persistence in human-modified landscapes: combining indicator species with anthropogenic land use and fragmentation-related effects. **Ecological Indicator**, 55, 65–73, 2015.

FOLEY, J.A.; ASNER, G.P.; COSTA, M.H.; COE, M.T.; DEFRIES, R.; GIBBS, H.K.; HOWARD, E.A.; OLSON, S.; PATZ, J.; RAMANKUTTY, N.; SNYDER, P. Amazonia revealed: forest degradation and loss of ecosystem goods and services in the Amazon Basin. **Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment**, v. 5, p. 25-32, 2007.

FRANÇA, F.M. Ecological impacts of selective logging in the Amazon: lessons from dung beetles. PhD Thesis. Postgraduate Program in Applied Ecology, Lavras, Brazil. Dua PhD with Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom. 2015.

GARDNER, T.A.; BARLOW, J.; CHAZDON, R.; EWERS, R.M.; HARVEY, C.A.; PERES, C.A.; SODHI, N.S. Prospects for tropical forest biodiversity in a human-modified world. **Ecology letters**, v. 12, p. 561-582, 2009.

GEERAERT, L. Effects of anthropogenic disturbances on ground beetle (Coleoptera, Carabidae) communities in Afromontane forests: a comparison between habitats with different levels of disturbance in Amani Nature Reserve, Tanzania. Master Thesis. Norwegian University of Life Sciences. 2014.

GHANNEM, S.; TOUAYLIA, S.; BOUMAIZA, M. Beetles (Insecta: Coleoptera) as bioindicators of the assessment of environmental pollution. **Human and Ecological Risk Assessment**: An International Journal, v. 24, p. 456-464, 2018.

GIBSON, L.; LEE, T.M.; KOH, L.P.; BROOK, B.W.; GARDNER, T.A.; BARLOW, J.; PERES, C.A.; BRADSHAW, C.J.A.; LAURANCE, W.F.; LOVEJOY, T.E.; SODHI, N.S. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. **Nature**, v. 478, p. 378-381, 2011.

GIBSON, L.; LEE, T.M.; KOH, L.P.; BROOK, B.W.; GARDNER, T.A.; BARLOW, J.; PERES, C.A.; BRADSHAW, C.J.; LAURANCE, W.F.; LOVEJOY, T.E.; SODHI, N.S. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. **Nature**, v. 478, p. 378–381, 2011.

GODAR, J.; TIZADO, E.J.; POKORNY, B. Who is responsible for deforestation in the Amazon? A spatially explicit analysis along the Transamazon Highway in Brazil. **Forest Ecology and Management**, v. 267, p. 58–73, 2012.

HAHN, M.B.; OLSON, S.H.; VITTOR, A.Y.; BARCELLOS, C.; PATZ, J.A.; PAN, W. Conservation efforts and malaria in the Brazilian Amazon. **The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene**, v. 90, p. 591–594, 2014.

HEINK, U.; KOWARIK, I. What are indicators? On the definition of indicators in ecology and environmental planning. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 10, p. 584-593, 2010.

HIDASI-NETO, J.; BARLOW, J.; CIANCIARUSO, M.V. Bird functional diversity and wildfires in the Amazon: the role of forest structure. **Animal Conservation**, v. 15, p. 407–415, 2012.

KIM, D.; SEXTON, J.O.; TOWNSHEND, J.R. Accelerated deforestation in the humid tropics from the 1990s to the 2000s. **Geophysical Research Letters**, v. 42, p. 3495-3501, 2015.

KOTZE, D.J., BRANDMAYR, P., CASALE, A. Forty years of carabid beetle research in Europe - from taxonomy, biology, ecology and population studies to bioindication, habit.at assessment and conservation. **Zookeys**, v. 100, p. 55–148, 2011.

LEAL, C.G.; POMPEU, P.S.; GARDNER, T.A.; LEITÃO, R.P.; HUGHES, R.M.; KAUFMANN, P.R.; ZUANON, J.; FERRAZ, S.F.B.; THOMSON, J.R.; MAC NALLY, R.; FERREIRA, J.; BARLOW, J. Multi-scale assessment of human-induced changes to Amazonian instream habitats. Landscape Ecology, v. 31, p. 1725–1745, 2016.

LIN, S.; WU, R.; YANG, F.; WANG, J.; WU, W. Spatial trade-offs and synergies among ecosystem services within a global biodiversity hotspot. **Ecological Indicators**, p. 84, p. 371-381, 2018.

LUZ, R.A.; FONTES, L.S.; CARDOSO, S.R.S; LIMA, E.F.B. Diversity of the Arthropod edaphic fauna in preserved and managed with pasture areas in Teresina-Piauí-Brazil. **Brazilian Journal of Biology**, v. 73, p. 483-489, 2013.

MAGURA, T., NAGY, D., TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. Rove beetles respond heterogeneously to urbanization. Journal Insect of Conservation, v. 17, p. 715–724, 2013.

MORAES, R.M., MENDONÇA JR, M.S., OTT, R. Carabid beetle assemblages in three environments in the *Araucaria* humid forest of Southern Brazil. **Revista Brasileira de Entomologia**, v. 57, 67–74, 2013.

NAGY, D.; MAGURA, T.; MIZSER, S.; DEBNÁR, Z.; TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. Recovery of surface-dwelling assemblages (Coleoptera: Carabidae, Staphylinidae) during clearcut originated reforestation with native tree species. **Periodicum Biologorum**, v. 118, p. 195-203, 2016.

NEWBOLD, T.; HUDSON, L.; HILL, S.; CONTU, S.; LYSENKO, I.; SENIOR, R.; BÖRGER, L.; BENNETT, D.; CHOIMES, A.; COLLEN, B.; DAY, J.; PALMA, A.; DÍAZ, S.; ECHEVERRIA-LONDOÑO, S.; EDGAR, M.; FELDMAN, A.; GARON, .; HARRISON, M.; ALHUSSEINI, T.; INGRAM, D.; ITESCU, Y.; KATTGE, J.; TUCK, S.; WEIHER, E.; WHITE, H.; EWERS, R.; MACE, G.; SCHARLEMANN, J.; PURVIS, A. Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. **Nature**, v. 520, p. 45–50, 2015.

NOVOTNY, V.; DROZD, P.; MILLER, S.E.; KULFAN, M.; JANDA, M.; BASSET, Y.; WEIBLEN, G.D. Why Are There So Many Species of Herbivorous Insects in Tropical Rainforests? **Science**, v. 313, p. 1115-1118, 2006.

PERZ, S.G.; LEITE, F.; SIMMONS, C.; WALKER, R.; ALDRICH, S.; CALDAS, M. Intraregional Migration, Direct Action Land Reform, and New Land Settlements in the Brazilian Amazon. **Bulletin of Latin American Research**, v. 29, p. 459-476, 2010.

PERZ, S.G.; WALKER, R. Household life cycles and secondary forest cover among small farm colonists in the Amazon. **World Development**, v. 30, p. 1009-1027, 2002.

PIMENTA, M. Chrysomelidae (Insecta/Coleoptera) como biondicadores de qualidade ambiental em áreas de cerrado no estado de Goiás – Brasil. Tese Doutorado. Universidade Federal de Goiás. 2011.

PIMM, S.L.; JENKINS, C.N.,; ABELL, R.; BROOKS, T.M.; GITTLEMAN, J.L.; JOPPA, L.N.; RAVEN, P.H.; ROBERTS, C.M.; SEXTON, J.O. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. **Science**, v. 344, p. 1246752-1246752, 2014.

PIRES, G.F.; ABRAHÃO, G.M.; BRUMATTI, L.M.; OLIVEIRA, L.J.; COSTA, M.; LIDDICOAT, S.; KATO, E.; LADLE, R. Increased climate risk in Brazilian double cropping agriculture systems: Implications for land use in Northern Brazil. **Agricultural and Forest Meteorology**, v. 228–229, p. 286-298, 2016.

PITMAN, N.C.A.; AZÁLDEGUI, M.C.L.; SALAS, K.; VIGO, G.T.; LUTZ, D.A. Written accounts of an Amazonian landscape over the last 450 years. **Conservation Biology**, v. 21, p. 253-262, 2007.

QODRI, A., RAFFIUDIN, R., NOERDJITO, W.A. Diversity and Abundance of Carabidae and Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) in Four Montane Habitat Types on Mt. Bawakaraeng, South Sulawesi. **HAYATI Journal of Biosciences**, v. 23, 22–28, 2016.

SAATCHI, S.S.; HOUGHTON, R.A.; ALVALA, R.; SOARES, J.V.; YU, Y. Distribution of aboveground live biomass in the Amazon basin. **Global Change Biology**, v. 13, p. 816-837, 2007.

SANTORUFO, L.; VAN GESTEL, C.A.; ROCCO, A.; MAISTO, G. Soil invertebrates as bioindicators of urban soil quality. **Environmental Pollution**, v. 161, p. 57-63, 2012.

SIQUEIRA, G. M.; PAZ-FERREIRO, J.; SILVA, E. F. F. Land Use Intensification Effects in Soil Arthropod Community of an Entisol in Pernambuco State, Brazil. **The Scientific World Journal**, v. 2014, p. 1-7, 2014.

SOLAR, R.R.C.; BARLOW, J.; ANDERSEN, A.N.; SCHOEREDER, J.H. ; BERENGUER, E.; FERREIRA, J.N.; GARDNER, T.A. Biodiversity consequences of land-use change and forest disturbance in the Amazon: A multi-scale assessment using ant communities. **Biological Conservation**, v. 197, p. 98-107, 2016.

SPILLER, M.S.; SPILLER, C.; GARLET, J. Arthropod bioindicators of environmental quality. **Revista Agro@mbiente**, v. 12, p. 425-441, 2018.

TIEDE, Y.; SCHLAUTMANN, J.; DONOSO, D.; WALLIS, C.; BENDIX, J.; BRANDLD, R.; FARWIG, N. Ants as indicators of environmental change and ecosystem processes. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 83, p. 527-537, 2017.

VERWEIJ, V.; SCHOUTEN, M.; VAN BEUKERING, P.; TRIANA, J.; VAN DER LEEUW, K.; HESS, S. **Keeping the Amazon forests standing: a matter of values**. WWF: Netherlands. 2009.

VIEGAS, G.; STENERT, C.; SCHULZ, U.H.; MALTCHIK, L. Dung beetle communities asbiological indicators of riparian forest widths in southern Brazil. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 36, p. 703-710, 2014.

WALKER, R.; PERZ, S.; CALDAS, M.; SILVA L.G.T. Land Use and Land Cover Change in Forest Frontiers: The Role of Household Life Cycles. **International Regional Science Review**, v. 25, p. 169-199, 2002.

ZHU, X.; ZHU, B. Diversity and abundance of soil fauna as influenced by long-term fertilization in cropland of purple soil, China. **Soil and Tillage Research**, v. 146, p. 39-46, 2015.

Chapter 2

ASSESSING THE POTENTIAL ROLE OF GROUND BEETLES (COLEOPTERA) AS ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN TROPICAL ECOSYSTEMS: A REVIEW

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba^{1,*}, *Eduardo Périco*², *João Alexandre Cabral*³ and Mário Santos³

¹Department of Environment-SEMMA, Uruará-PA, Brazil. ²Ecology and Remote Sensing, University Center Univates, Lajeado-RS, Brazil ³Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal.

*Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Published as book chapter:

Cajaiba, R.L.; Perico, E.; Cabral, J.A.; Santos, M. Assessing the potential role of ground beetles (Coleoptera) as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems: A Review. **Beetles:** Biodiversity, Ecology and Role in the Environment. 1ed.: Nova Science Publishers, 2015, v. 1, p. 51-84.

ABSTRACT

Emerging concerns with environmental issues has led researchers to look for indicators capable of providing information on the condition of ecosystems. Several animal species have been used for this role. Among these organisms, ground-beetles were found to be appropriate indicators, since they are adapted to all terrestrial habitats, being associated with ecosystem function and sensitive to ongoing changes. Several families of ground beetles, e. g. Carabidae, Cicindelidae, Scarabaeidae, Cerambycidae, Histeridae, Staphylinidae and Curculionidae were used in diverse ecological assessment studies due to its main characteristics, such as habitat fidelity and taxonomic diversity, and because they provide cheap and easy measurements from functionally diverse trophic chains.

Although the growing number of studies on ecological indicators little is known about the ecological patterns in the communities of ground beetles of tropical ecosystems. The present study provides a review on the use of ground beetles as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems, with focus on the Brazilian Amazon region. We discuss its use for monitoring the effects of anthropogenic induced changes, namely the conversion of forests to agriculture and farming practices, among others on the functioning of tropical systems. We also highlight the major advances and applications employed, as well as proposals for future studies with this group.

Keywords: Coleoptera, ecological indicators, tropical ecosystems

INTRODUCTION

Human action has caused directly or indirectly, the reduction and loss of biodiversity (Halffter, 2005) due to the change of the natural ecological processes and the emergence of new combinations of species, mainly by the habitats transformation, fragmentation and damage (Marques et al., 2002). Several factors have been identified including the suppression of natural habitats, ecosystem fragmentation and overexploitation of natural resources, climate change and the introduction of alien species. However, all these factors have an intimate relation with a primary cause, population growth (Ibama, 2004). This biodiversity loss threatens the sustainability of the entire system, with the consequent reduction of the environmental services, such as pest control, nutrient cycling and the maintenance of soil structure. In many situations the changes are enhanced by the use of pesticides, fertilizers and inadequate soil management that can generate even more negative impacts on the biota (Giller et al., 1997).

Insects have been shown to be appropriate ecological indicators for evaluating changes in the environment, due to several characteristics that they possess (Holloway et al., 1981). An excellent group are beetles (Coleoptera), the largest group of insects, with about four hundred thousand known species, distributed in more than a hundred families occupying practically all ecosystems and feeding on a variety food sources (Audino et al., 2007). Our knowledge of the diversity and distribution of species in the Amazon biome is still at an early stage of development (Silva et al, 2005; Peres, 2005). Although Amazonia has welcomed a steady stream of scientists since the beginning of the 18th century and a huge number of books and articles on its diversity are available (e.g. Pitman et al., 2007), they give a very fragmented picture of the region. Much of the region is still little explored by scientists and many of the specimens that have been collected to date have not yet been studied (Silva et al., 2005; Verweij et al., 2009). Understanding the extent and importance of insect diversity in the humid tropics is one of the biggest challenges in modern ecology (Godfray et al., 1999). The fact that only a fraction of tropical insects (certainly less than 20%) has been properly described is certainly not the least of the problems in this respect (Verweij et al., 2009).

Currently there is much speculation about the effects of human generated disturbance on the biodiversity of tropical forests, in particular, the impacts on species composition and on the ecological services provided (Whitmore and Sayer, 1992; Laurance and Bierregaard, 1997).

This chapter describes the ecological importance of tropical forests (with an emphasis on the Brazilian Amazon), the main causes of deforestation and the impacts caused by such changes. We examine the use of soil invertebrates as ecological indicators, with a focus on the Soil Surface Dwelling Beetles (SSDB), considering their sensitivity to landscape changes and their abundance. We discuss the advantages and disadvantages of its use to monitor the effects of anthropogenic changes on the functioning of tropical systems. We also highlight the major advances and applications employed, as well as proposals for future studies with this group.

CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF AMAZON DEFORESTATION

The Amazonian has circa 40% of the world's remaining tropical rainforests (Laurance et al., 2001) being considered a hotspot in biodiversity but also important for carbon storage and regional/global regulation of the hydrological cycles and climate (Fernandes, 2009).

Located in northern South America, the Amazon rainforest occupies 5.5 million square kilometers, spread over territories of Brazil, Venezuela, Colombia, Peru, Bolivia, Ecuador, Suriname, Guyana and French Guiana (Rivero and Covas, 2013). In Brazil, this type of ecosystem, occurs in the states of Amazonas, Amapa, Rondônia, Acre, Pará, Roraima and part of Mato Grosso, Tocantins e Maranhão (Figure 1).


Figure 1. Location of the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia) in South America.



Figure 2. Cumulative rate of deforestation (Km2) between 1988-2013 in the Brazilian Amazon (Inpe, 2014).



Figure 3. "Arc of deforestation" in the Brazilian Amazon - in dotted lines (adapted from Lui and Molina, 2009).

The deforestation of the Brazilian Amazon has attracted considerable attention over the last two decades (Souza-Rodrigues, 2011). According to satellite images, between 1988 to 2013 the accumulated rate of deforestation was 402.615 Km², divided by the states of Mato Grosso (137,251 Km²), Pará (136,127 Km²) and Rondônia (54,772 Km²) (Inpe, 2014) (Figure 2). Although large areas remain intact, the rate of forest loss is dramatic and future projections simulate its increase (Fearnside 2005a; Soares-Filho et al., 2005).

The current deforestation has focused on the axis set to the "Arc of deforestation" (Becker, 2004) (that goes from the south of Pará, passing to the north of Mato Grosso, Rondônia and southwest of Amazonas until it reaches Acre) (Figure 3), where deforestation has been buoyed by land speculation and, more recently, by increasing the areas occupied by exports such as soy and beef (Fernandes, 2009).

The process of deforestation in the Amazon was molded by settlement patterns of the past and driven by different factors. There are, however, temporal and spatial variations in deforestation (Laurance et al., 2001b) and the causes and dynamics are very distinctive for different locations. In fact it is difficult to generalize what drives or accurately predict the extension of the phenomena (Fernandes, 2009).

The causes of deforestation change constantly, being mostly associated with socio-economic pressures. The main is the rise in the population, previously dominated by economic extractive activities and family farming. Indeed, the population of the Amazon has increased considerably, from 2.5 million in 1960 to more than 20 million in 2000 (Ibge, 2000) further increasing the pressure on forests (Fernandes, 2009). Additionally new economic activities begin to stand out: ranching, logging, mining and intensive agriculture, besides the construction of hydropower plants (Angelo and Sá, 2007).

The advance of soy plantations in the region represents a major threat, encouraged by massive government investments in infrastructures, such as waterways, railroads and highways (Fearnside, 2001). The Brazilian Amazon produces more than a third of the country's soy and the state of Mato Grosso accounts for more than 20% of the national area of soybean cultivation (Ibge, 2006). The expansion of soy in the Amazon states totaled 14.1% per year (1990-2005) with major increases in the last five

years. The expansion of soybean production is causing serious deforestation, through the dynamics encompassed by forest burning/logging, implementation of livestock and subsequent conversion in intensive agriculture. With the increasing mechanization of production, several workers are excluded from these processes and tend to be displaced into marginal are as contributing to moving forest frontiers or expanding the areas occupied livestock and agriculture (Domingues and Bermann, 2012). According to Costa (2000) the cultivation of soy is only profitable if practiced in large areas, which demand large amounts of capital and technical expertise, generating a process of land and income concentration.

The logging of natural forests is another activity that plays a growing economic role in most of the Amazon region (Angelo and Sá, 2007). Forest is logged aiming first the trade of wood and possibly funding of economic activities that will be established next. When it comes to the implementation of another activity (Angelo and Sá, 2007), loggers acquire from ranchers the right to exploit logged areas (Veríssimo et al., 1995; Angelo and Sá, 2007). Most of the logging in the Amazon is illegal (Lentini et al., 2005), leading to the depletion of natural resources which could otherwise be used to generate sustainable socioeconomic development.

Due to the availability of cheap land to livestock, their numbers are expanding rapidly in the Amazon. Livestock is also present in small farms and it's the main land use associated with these properties. Increases in income expectations associated with livestock may have impacts on both types of agricultural systems of the Amazonia. That is, the increased expectation of profitability of livestock activity tends to have systemic effects with impacts on the rates of deforestation (Rivero et al., 2009). The expansion of livestock is associated with the increase of internal and external demands for beef, but is also influenced by other factors, such as reduction of transportation costs, increases in productivity and efficiency in management and the insignificant land price in the expansion regions of the Amazon (Rivero et al., 2009).

The construction of new roads and the rehabilitation of existing ones boost access to new areas, encouraging deforestation (Laurance et al., 2001; Nepstad et al., 2001; Soares-Filho et al., 2004) and in general anthropogenic pressures in areas adjacent to roads. The demographic distribution in the Amazon region shows a

tendency of concentration of the rural population next to urbanized areas with higher road density (Angelo and Sá, 2007). Of all deforestation that occurred in the Brazilian Amazon, 85% took place within a radius of 30 km from roads (Verweij et al., 2009). Many of these projects create corridors between densely populated areas and the remote Amazonian frontier (Laurence et al., 2001), facilitating the process of colonization, which subsequently leads to deforestation and other irreversible environmental effects. According to Cattaneo (2002) the reduction of transport costs would imply a significant increase in return on arable land, thus increasing the incentive to deforestation (Verweij et al., 2009).



Figure 4. Flowchart showing the main causes and effects of Amazon deforestation in Brazil: The causes which lead to deforestation are black boxes; and consequences for human society are indicated by gray boxes (Adapted the Davidson et al., 2012).

Forests also are lost due to flooding from reservoirs associated with hydroelectric dams that usually tend to occupy vast areas (Fearnside, 1995, 2008). Besides the destruction of forests and riparian systems, hydroelectric projects have

much wider impacts in encouraging road building, new migration, boosting deforestation (Fearnside 2005b, 2006, 2008). There are plans, in the near future, for more than 70 new dams that will submerge and destroy a total area of forest of more than 100,000 km² (Verweij et al., 2009). Figure 4 illustrates the main causes and effects of deforestation in the Amazon.

SURFACE SOIL INVERTEBRATES AS ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS OF Environmental Changes

To assess the state of degradation or conservation of an ecosystem, biologists use ecological indicators (Fränzle, 2006; Heink and Kowarik, 2010). These indicators must be highly sensitive to changes in the structure of an ecosystem, if possible providing information concerning the alteration in the structure and functioning on the system according to their presence, absence and/or abundance (Majer, 1981).

In this context, Lindenmayer et al. (2000) defines seven types of attributes with relevance as ecological indicators at the level of species, guilds and communities: (1) species whose presence indicates the presence of a set of other species, (2) key species whose addition to or loss from an ecosystem leads to major changes, (3) species whose presence indicates a biotic conditions of human change as air pollution or water pollution, (4) dominant species that provide much of the biomass or number of individuals in an area, (5), species that indicate particular environmental conditions, such as soil or certain types of rocks; (6) species considered sensitive and thus serving as an early warning of environmental change (also called bioindicators) and (7) a management indicator species, reflecting the effects of a disturbance regime or the effectiveness of efforts to mitigate particular disturbance. These seven types of attributes can be effectively classified in three classes of ecological indicators in function of their main assessment vocation: (1) biodiversity, (2), environment or (3) ecosystem integrity (McGeoch, 1998).

Biodiversity indicators provides descriptive data with ecological relevance, such as species richness, native vs. exotic composition and/or degree of endemism in a given habitat (Noss, 1990, Gaston and Blackburn, 1995; Cano and Schuster, 2008). Species or groups of species that exhibit predictable responses to environmental degradation or to other changes in the environmental status, providing cheap and easy measurements if standard methodologies are applied, are termed environmental indicators (Venier and Pearce, 2004). Finally, ecological integrity indicators that demonstrate the effects of ecosystem changes, such as changes to habitats, fragmentation, climate change, pollution and other factors that generate impact on biota (McGeoch, 1998; Cano and Schuster, 2008). All three categories of ecological indicators cannot necessarily be exclusive and the most promising approach depends on their suitability for the investigation of key cause-effect relationships, as well as for the quality of the monitoring data and final diagnosis in supporting local management decisions (Van Straalen and Krivolutsky, 1996; Gerlach et al., 2013) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Types of ecological indicators.

The concept of bioindication was initially developed for aquatic environments while its application to terrestrial ecosystems gained momentum from 1980 (McGeoch, 1998). Subsequently, several criteria were proposed for the choice of suitable more generic ecological indicators (Figure 6) to be used also at the level of terrestrial systems (Pearson, 1994; Andreasen et al., 2001; Dale and Beyelerb, 2001; Freitas et al., 2006):

- i.Taxonomy relatively well provided groups with taxonomic problems provide low quality information, because of the difficulty or impossibility of defining the boundaries between the species;
- ii.Knowledge about natural history, genetics, chemistry, and other aspects of biology

 must have a recognized response to environmental change as well as responding clearly to the disturbance. In this way, must inform about the structure, functioning and composition of the ecological system and should be monitored in environmental disturbances of short- and long-term;
- iii.Convenient diversity tremendous diversity can derail the process of sorting and analysis, while a very low diversity may compromise the quality of the data;
- iv.Short life cycle in theory, the lower the time of generation, the more rapidly the effects of environmental changes are perceived.
- v.Ecological diversity a group that has different species with ecological associations provides information on different compartments of the habitat.
- vi.Fidelity of habitat species with little faithfulness of habitat do not provide specific information.
- vii.Close association to resources or other species is not essential, but species closely related to each other are more informative (represent another taxonomic group or resource).
- viii."Sedentary" relative at one end, migratory species or very dispersive may be present in an environment without any relationship with the environmental conditions of the same.
- ix.Ease in sampling, sorting and identification, including for non-specialists.
- x.Little human use groups whose species have a high economic value (for example, hunted for consumption or ornamentation) may disappear from the system regardless of their conservation status.

We highlight the surface soil invertebrates as good environmental and ecological indicators as their small size makes them sensitive to local conditions, while their mobility enables them to rapidly move in response to changing conditions (Samways et al., 2010), both at the habitat level and according to the gradients of environmental impact intensity (Oliver et al., 1998; Lewinsohn et al., 2005).

Additionally as insects they tend to be very diverse and abundant when compared with the groups of vertebrates and plants (Figure 7). Although historically neglected in conservation and monitoring strategies, they are now becoming an important asset in the disciplines of landscape ecology and conservation (McGeoch et al., 2011; Gerlach et al., 2013).

Studies have been developed to evaluate the behavior of soil invertebrates in degraded environments and how these organisms respond to different restoration measures serving as a tool for monitoring (e.g. Correia, 2002; Rovedder et al., 2009; Cajaiba and Silva, 2014). Soil invertebrates composition reflects the functioning of the ecosystem due to its intimate association with litter fall-soil system processes and its great sensitivity to environmental changes (Ruf et al., 2003; Yi et al., 2006; Hoffmann et al., 2009; Oliveira and Souto, 2011).



Figure 6.Criteria for selection of ecological indicators.



Figure 7. Diversity of invertebrate species compared to other indicators groups (Adapted the Calor, 2009).

Functional groups of soil fauna may disappear or be reduced (in their abundance and richness) as a result of soil degradation processes or be displaced by few opportunist organisms, highly adapted to disturbances (Lavelle, 1996; Loranger et al., 1998). Thus, environmental indicators must be highly sensitive organisms to changes in the structure of an ecosystem, featuring the integrity of the soil (Maluche et al., 2003; Lima et al., 2006).

SOIL SURFACE COLEOPTERA AS INDICATORS OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

The insects of the order Coleoptera, known popularly as beetles represent one of the most diverse animal life groups on Earth, with about 4000 thousand species described (Lara, 1992; Costa, 1999; Cajaiba, 2013), representing more than a third of all known insect species (Figure 8). They occupy most of the Earth's environments, with the exception of the open seas, exhibiting diverse diets and lifestyles (Grebennikov and Leschen, 2010).

Beetles have characteristics that qualify them as appropriate for ecological studies (Gaston et al., 1992; Marinoni and Dutra, 1997; Carlton and Robinson, 1998; Didham et al., 1998) monitoring different compartments of the system (Marinoni,

2001). Several studies suggest that beetles are strongly associated with the structure of the habitat and factors associated with microclimates (Halffter and Mathews, 1966; Thiele, 1977; Schwarzkopf and Rylands, 1989; Bishop et al., 2009) that can be altered by anthropic activities. For example, beetles respond to environmental disorder (Koivula et al., 1999; Niemelä et al., 2000; Pearce et al., 2003; Pearson and Cassola, 2005, 2007; Kaiser et al., 2009; Negro et al., 2010; Vasquez-Velez et al., 2010), soil depth (Bultman and Uetz, 1984), soil disturbance (Bergeron, 1991; Pearce et al., 2003), local humidity (Epstein and Kulman, 1990; Rykken et al., 1997), temperature (Li and Jackson, 1996), soil pH (Paje and Mossakowski, 1984) and pollution (Garcia et al., 2010). Beetles were also used for indicating success in managing and restoration of habitats (Jacobs et al., 2010; Paoletti et al., 2010; Gomez, 2010).

Carabidae, Scarabaeidae, Cerambycidae, Staphylinidae and Coccinellidae are groups that have species with high ecological fidelity, diversified taxonomically and ecologically, easily collectable in large samples, easily identifiable and functionally diverse (Oliver and Beattie, 1996; Langor and Spence, 2006; Pearce and Venier, 2006). These families also form groups relatively well known with other species and resources (Brown, 1991; Vulinec, 2000; Nichols et al., 2008).

Monitoring changes has been investigated with the use of the family Scarabaeidae, subfamily Scarabaeinae mainly (Spector, 2006) due to its relation with the forest environment and mammals that inhabit it (Gill, 1991; Halffter, 1991; Davis et al., 2001; Nichols et al., 2008). Scarabaeidae were also used as ecological indicator (McGeoch et al., 2002; Spector, 2006; Nichols et al., 2007, 2008), considering this group close relationship and dependency on the environment in which they live and of the resources available to the community (Halffter and Arellano, 2002; McGeoch et al., 2002; Andresen, 2003; Spector and Ayzama, 2003; Larsen and Forsyth, 2005; Scheffler, 2005; Nichols et al., 2007; Almeida et al., 2011). Several studies demonstrate that the composition and structure of Scarabaeinae communities are affected in modified areas by human action (Klein, 1989; Didham et al., 1998; Halffter and Arellano, 2002; Scheffler, 2005; Nichols et al., 2005; Nichols et al., 2007), namely by habitat fragmentation and isolation (Klein, 1989; Andresen, 2003; Nichols et al., 2007; Escobar et al., 2008). In the tropical belt, their abundance and richness is heavily

influenced by the climate, namely by precipitation that sets the advent of most species (Halffter and Matthews, 1966; Gill, 1991; Hernández, 2007; Andresen, 2008).



Figure 8. Diversity of beetles compared to the main groups of insects (Adapted the Cajaiba, 2013).

Kimberling et al. (2001), Escobar et al. (2007) highlight the Scarabaeidae sedentary nature and vulnerability to environmental changes (e.g. vegetation cover, vegetation type, fragmentation, habitat loss, physical structure, altitude of ecosystem, among others). The scavenger habit of these species may also indicate abundance/diversity of vertebrates in forest environments (Halffter, 1991). Size and biomass of Scarabaeidae are related to the presence of groups of vertebrates due to food scraps associated (Klein, 1989; Estrada et al., 1993; Scheffler, 2005).

The family Carabidae has been suggested to be used as indicator in studies with biodiversity and for evaluating habitat changes, for their diversity in morphological, behavioral, ecological and taxonomic traits, abundance and sensitivity to environmental changes (Heliovaara and Vaisanen, 1993; Niemelä et al., 2000; Koivula et al., 2002; Rainio and Niemelä, 2003; Niemelä and Kotze, 2009). This group is also used in assessing the sustainability of agricultural systems, being negatively affected by intensive agriculture, mechanized control of weeds and fire (Stork and Eggleton,

1992), urbanization, crop and forest management, overgrazing by domestic livestock, tourist flow in natural landscapes and soil pollution (Avgm and Luff, 2010). Their dominance is altered with the rhythm and phenology of the crop, as well as by the microclimate (Kromp, 1999). The group has also been used as indicator of metal contamination in soils (Paoletti et al., 1991; Avgm and Luff, 2010). Pearce and Venier (2006) demonstrate in his review that typical forest species tend to prefer lower temperatures and higher humidity, while open-habitat species are associated with for higher temperatures and lower humidity. Thus, large fluctuations in temperature and moisture levels can disrupt the assemblages of Carabidae (Pearce and Venier, 2006). Several disadvantages were also discussed, including seasonal variations, the uneven distribution and high number of generalist species. Also in tropical regions their taxonomy and ecology are little known (Rainio, 2009).

The family Staphylinidae, have been proposed as bioindicators or surrogates (Bohac, 1999; Anderson and Ashe, 2000; Pohl et al., 2007) given that they are abundant and diverse; occupy a great variety of habitats worldwide; are easy to collect, given that the majority of the species are found among leaf litter and fallen trunks, forming one of the commonest groups of insects and ecologically the most important of the soil-related fauna (Bohac, 1999; Navarrete-Heredia et al., 2002; Newton et al., 2005; Vasquez-Velez et al., 2010). Their abundance and diversity are dependent on the moisture of the soil foliage. For example, in studies conducted by García-Cárdenas et al. (2001) in fragments of forest, a positive relation was observed between richness of staphylinids and leaf litter moisture, as well as between richness and area of the fragments (García-Cárdenas and Ulloa, 2005). Preliminary evaluations suggest that richness and diversity depend, to a great extent, on the habitats with greater plant heterogeneity such as forests and riparian corridors (Bermúdez et al., 2006; Vasquez-Velez et al., 2010). This family is many times associated with locations containing important concentrations of potassium and phosphorus, which are frequent in soils containing organic material (Dunxião et al., 1999). Many species of Staphylinidae are also associated with the soil of agricultural crops (Sotherton, 1984), namely direct planting systems (Stinner and House, 1990). These organisms have already been cited in studies of population surveys on crops such as soybeans, cacao, guava and eucalyptus forest (Zanuncio et al., 1993). The biggest problem in the use of Staphylinidae as ecological indicators lies in the difficulties of identifying the species based on the observation of internal structures (Hammond, 1997; Freitas et al., 2006).

Another family of Coleoptera which presents good characteristics to be used as ecological indicators of environmental integrity/disturbance is the Coccinellidae. The microclimatic conditions and dietary factors, accordingly with Iperti (1999), are important in determining the habitat of beetles of this family, because each species shows preferences to the type of vegetation stratification and its seasonal variations. The specie *Semiadalia undecimnotata* was considered very sensible to the increase in chemical and physical pollution, increased cultivation of cereal (which create problems on trophic chain) and the impact of climatic fluctuations (Wink et al., 2005). Thomazini and Thomazini (2002) noted that the number of species as well as individuals was considerably less on pasture than in other areas, when compared with primary woods and secondary vegetation. Despite the already mentioned features, there are few studies developed with this group in tropical regions.

The Cerambycidae are important part of forest ecosystems, occupying from the ground up to the treetops and, in the process of co-evolution between the communities of insects and flora, have also played the important role of pollinators (Hequet, 1996). These insects have been used for planning of conservation and monitoring, because they maintain a close relationship with the natural resources they use, being sensitive to environmental changes (Brown, 1997; Lewinsohn et al., 2005). According Marinoni and Ganho (2003), the population dynamics of some species of Cerambycidae (e.g. *Nyssodrysina lignaria*) is influenced by high temperatures, humidity and daylight. This group is easily collectable by several types of traps (Monné and Hovore, 2005) and participates in the process of decomposition of dead wood, incorporating nutrients and allowing the renewal of forests through the opening of spaces and consequent seed germination. In Brazil, some areas such as the South and Southeast regions have important studies on the fauna of Cerambycidae, but in the Caatinga, Pantanal and especially the Amazon forest little is known about their natural history, behavior and ecology (Martins, 1999; Silva et al., 2005; Souza and Silva, 2012).

The beetles of the family Tenebrionidae are common, easily captured in pitfall traps, and straightforwardly identifiable when compared with other groups.

Communities of these beetles are dependent on the availability of specific resources such as debris, vegetation cover and various environmental characteristics of soil such as humidity, hardness and granulometric composition (Henschel et al., 2010). They have also been considered sensitive biodiversity indicators due to its sensitivity to habitat loss and degradation. Their abundance and diversity is affected to forest fragmentation, fires, climatic factors, among others (Parenzee, 2001; Cheli, 2009; Fattorini et al., 2011; Thakare et al., 2012). The family also responds to vegetation post-fire recovery (Fattorini, 2010). Despite these advantages, deeper studies are needed to determine whether changes in diversity of Tenebrionidae are purely seasonal and bioecological results or whether they are influenced by land use changes (Henschel et al., 2010; Saji and Al Dhaheri, 2011).

Another group of beetles widely used in studies of conservation/degradation is the Histeridae family. These beetles are functional predators, both in larval stage and adulthood, using wide-ranging environments for their food, and debris attract the scavengers that comprise important portion of its diet (Summerlin et al., 1991). Theoretically the community of predatory insects that occurs in decomposed matter maintains is high diversity in environments with complex vegetation structure possibility by the existence of superior biomass of vertebrates (suppliers of resources) in these locations (Holloway and Schnell, 1997; Smith and Merrick, 2001). Lopes et al. (2005) studying restinga vegetation in the State of Espírito Santo, Brazil, found that species richness of Histeridae was practically equal in each of the four areas studied (Restinga arboreal, Restinga open from *Clusia* spp, Restinga burned and Pasture), but the pattern of diversity was very different, with great diversity in the pristine restinga arboreal environment. The same authors observed a tendency of decrease of diversity (H') and equity (J') with a reduction of the complexity of the vegetation. Summerlin (1989) mentions the trend of reduced abundance and high richness of Histeridae in forest environments, as opposed to greater abundance and reduced diversity of Histeridae in open habitats of grassland. For better understanding, studies with this family are necessary, because, as pointed out by Degallier et al. (2011) the number of known species in tropical areas is diminutive.

The Table 1 (the appendices) presents a summary of the main families of beetles used as indicators, as well as their advantages and disadvantages.

SOIL SURFACE BEETLESAS INDICATORS OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES IN THE TROPICS WITH A FOCUS ON THE BRAZILIAN AMAZON

Despite the recognized importance of using ground beetles as ecological indicators, its application in Brazil and more precisely in the Amazon, has been extremely limited. The effects of human actions (e.g. effects of deforestation, fire, grazing, logging and mining) on the functionality and structuring of ground beetles communities of the Amazonian forests are still poorly understood (Blanche et al., 2001; Dawes-Gromadzki, 2007; Andrade et al., 2011; Samu et al., 2011). Often, researcher's results are not comparable because of the lack of standardization in the sampling methodologies, hampering a direct comparison with other studies. In addition, there are few studies that examine long-term effects (Debinski and Holt, 2000; McGarigal and Cushman, 2002) owing practical difficulties and logistics of sampling and repetition in the same location and using the same methodology (Quintero and Halffter, 2009). As the number of forest areas to be searched or the total area under management increases, the number of researchers involved in surveys and the time required also increases, making surveys unfeasible (Aguilar-Amuchastegui and Henebry, 2007).

Studies with some families of Coleoptera such as Scarabaeidae, Carabidae, Staphylinidae have grown tremendously in the recent years, while for the other families most of the work are incipient. Amazonian Scarabaeidae beetles were studied in states Rondônia (Vulinec, 2000, 2002), Pará (Andresen, 2002, 2003; Scheffler, 2005; Gardner et al., 2008; Matavelli and Louzada, 2008; Vulinec et al., 2008; Barlow et al., 2010) and Amazonas (Vulinec, 2002; Quintero and Roslin, 2005; Radtke et al., 2007; Quintero and Halffter, 2009; Vulinec et al., 2009).

These studies highlight the effects of forest logging in the Amazon showing that abundance, species richness and composition of ground beetles is severely affected by forest fragmentation (Klein, 1989). According to the results of Imbrósio (2012), that performed studies in different soil uses (eucalyptus plantations, native forest and selective cutting of wood) and Gardner et al. (2008) in eucalyptus plantations, native and secondary forest, the system with original forest cover sustains a community with a different functional structure namely by the reduction in the variability in the more humanized systems. According to these studies, the fauna of dung beetles are severely depleted in eucalyptus plantations and secondary vegetation compared to areas of primary forest. According to the authors, dung beetle communities that are closely associated with tropical forest habitats are greatly influenced by differences in vegetation structure (Halffter & Arellano, 2002; Gardner et al., 2008), with individual species often having specific affinities for certain structural habitat properties (Davis et al., 2001; Gardner et al., 2008). Furthermore, secondary forests and Eucalyptus plantations, are typically characterized by low, relatively open canopies with hot and dry understory environments (Gardner et al., 2008). These microclimatic differences could help explain the observed impoverishment of dung beetle communities through a physiological intolerance to high temperatures (Chown, 2001; Campos and Hernández, 2013), the influence of solar radiation on adult activity patterns (Lobo et al., 1998; Moreira et al., 2009; Korasaki et al., 2013) or the influence of decreased soil moisture content on larval survival (Sowig, 1995; Gardner et al., 2008).

Teixeira (2006) analyzed the effect of isolation of forest islands and the effect of roads on the Scarabaeidae community noted that there was reduction of species in areas close to roads and in forest fragments when compared with intact and continuous regions. Vulinec (2002) in studies conducted in the States of Pará, Amazonas and Rondônia, noted that the diversity of most species of Scarabaeinae decreases in areas with high levels of impact (e.g. forest clearing and cutting), concluding that larger forest gaps affect the dynamics of this group. Scheffler (2005) examined the distribution and diversity of dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in intact forest and under three disturbance regimes (selective logging, clear-cutting and pasture), as a result, the author observed that Principal Components Analyses and the Sorensen's Index indicated that the intact and selectively logged areas were similar in terms of species composition but that the pasture areas and clear-cut areas had substantially different groups of species. Beetle size and diversity (as measured by species richness, Shannon index and Simpson's index) were lower in clear-cuts and pasture than in intact forest. While the fact that selective logging has a relatively minor impact on the dung beetle community is heartening, the projected increase in the amount of highly disturbed landscape in Amazonia is expected to have a severe impact on dung beetle biodiversity in the region (Scheffler, 2005).

PERSPECTIVES AND CHALLENGES

Despite already having a reasonable number of researchers and publications, the use of ecological indicators in Brazil is in its initial stage. However, these studies were restricted mostly to the South and Southeast of the country. The Amazon has still few studies with ecological indicators/ground beetles, and can be considered insignificant when compared with its biodiversity and environmental problems. Systematics, general inventories, and testing the effects of habitat disturbance should be considered a priority by research groups engaged in biology and natural resources managing (Freitas et al., 2006).

While recognizing the qualities of Coleoptera for ecological integrity studies, several works should also try to solve the highlighted difficulties/disadvantages identified. The key problem is the taxonomic challenge, considering that a low proportion of species are known or described (Samways et al., 2010; Cardoso et al., 2011; Gerlach et al., 2013). The rates of knowledge differ markedly, hindering the identification by non-specialists, and some of the taxa proposed for indicators can only be reliably identified by taxonomic specialists (Behan-Pelletier, 1993; Báldi, 2003). Thus, a group of invertebrates can show excellent characteristics to be used as ecological indicators, but their widespread practice can be impeded by taxonomic difficulties (Hodkinson and Jackson, 2005). A solution to overcome these challenges is the new advances in molecular identification techniques (particularly DNA barcoding) (Janzen et al., 2005). DNA barcoding (Hebert et al., 2003) has been particularly successful in the identification and delimitation of new species from various groups (Hebert et al., 2004; Ward et al., 2005; Cywinska et al., 2006; Hajibabaei et al., 2006a, b; Smith et al., 2007; Borisenko et al., 2008; Kerr et al., 2009). This method has

received increased acceptance because it is simple and affordable (Padial and De La Riva, 2007; Pires and Marinoni, 2010). The advantages of the method would be the possibility of identifying individuals at any stage of development and the prospect of discriminating between morphologically identical species (Pires and Marinoni, 2010).

Another criterion that could "attenuate" this disadvantage would be sorting by morphospecies. This approach involves, above all, the creation of a reference collection of all new species found throughout the study. The fundamental key to this approach is that individuals of a species found in different samples are assigned the same species name (morphospecie). This allows the researcher to study the diversity and composition changes through a study, without having to wait for the species to be correctly identified (or described) (Gerlach et al., 2013), speeding the process until more accurate results are completed (Oliver and Beattie, 1996). Therefore, the approach by morphospecies is no substitute for taxonomy, just accelerate the studies and seems to provide good results concerning structuring and functioning of systems (Samways et al., 2010; Gerlach et al., 2013). Added to these factors, some impediments to the use of ground beetles as indicators (Cardoso et al., 2011):

- i.Public dilemma invertebrates and their ecological services are mostly unknown to the public;
- ii.Political dilemma policymakers and stakeholders are unaware the problems of invertebrate conservation;
- iii.Scientific dilemma the study of soil invertebrates is scarce and underfunded.
- iv.Linnean shortfall most species are not described;
- v.Wallacean shortfall the distribution of species described is virtually unknown;
- vi.Prestonian shortfall the abundance of species and their changes in time and space are unknown;
- vii.Hutchinsonian shortfall the ways of life of the species and their sensitivity to changes in habitat are largely unknown.

Besides the above-mentioned factors, many of the challenges of research applied to soil beetles could be significantly improved through a greater effort to collect standardized data sets on the species and patterns of functional response to disturbance. This could include the creation of a wide range of public available resources, including a comprehensive online catalog, new keys to genera and species and standardized survey protocols (Nichols and Gardner, 2011). Additionally, greater financial support to researchers and incentives for conducting research in more remote regions would help in solving these challenges.

FINAL REMARKS

In the last decade, there has been a growing recognition of the value of using ecological indicators for monitoring changes in terrestrial environments. Ground beetles are good indicators of biodiversity and environmental quality in a variety of spatial and temporal scales. This is because they are sensitive to climatic and ecological conditions, as well as to edaphic, physiognomic, trophic and microclimatic factors (Davis et al., 2004).

However, before choosing suitable ecological indicators, certain steps must be followed. It is necessary to define clearly the goals and endpoints of the study (McGeoch, 1998). It must be determined what to measure, how it will be measured, and why. Account must be taken in accordance with the nature of the problem, even if it is a response to a single pollutant in a restricted location or an attempt to compare the biodiversity of a wider area. The lack of accuracy at this stage will result in inadequate indication and results of little reliability (Hodkinson and Jackson, 2005). Only after establishing the groundwork it's possible to select the indicator group appropriate to support the rigorous protocols required (Hodkinson and Jackson, 2005).

Sometimes taxa that are good indicators at a spatial scale could lose their reliability at higher or lower scales (Allen et al., 1999). Instead of focusing on a few indicator species, more reliable information can be obtained from studies of a set of species/groups or at the community level, with measurements made not at the level of presence/absence but as numbers, biomass and dominance. The use of trophic guilds as detritivores, predators, parasitoids, decomposers, saprophagous, among others, may also reveal interesting differences in the landscape (Paoletti, 1999).

Selecting the appropriate indicator taxon is a compromise between advantages and drawbacks. The success of using ground beetles is based on cost-effective data collection and sensitivity to different environmental factors (Rainio and Niemelä, 2003). Despite the advantages and features already mentioned and the ecological importance of beetles, species identification is still very difficult for some groups, which added to the lack of systematic studies and natural history causes some beetles to be unsuitable for indicator studies (Gaston et al., 1992; Marinoni and Dutra, 1997; Freitas et al., 2006). However, these features are common to most invertebrate groups.

Finally, many existing studies on the change of habitat suffer from methodological limitations that may interfere with the interpretation of results (Gardner et al., 2007a) and such sampling problems are increasingly recognized in studies of biodiversity in general (Hamer and Hill, 2000; Hill and Hamer, 2004; Barlow et al., 2007a, b, c; Gardner et al., 2007b; Koh, 2007; Gardner et al., 2008). We stress here the importance of inventories well conducted, suggesting further discussion about general protocols and standardization of methods, taking into account the particularities of each group. The differences of method and the absence of general protocols, scientifically tested and feasible, can simplify complex realities, leading to wrong decisions (Silveira et al., 2010). However, more consistent studies it is necessary for understand the relationship between beetles and environment, and further explore the technique of beetles as ecological indicators, which might be applied to monitoring and evaluation of environment.

APPENDICES

Table 1. Advantages and limitations of ground beetles used with potential use as ecological indicators

| Family | Main studies | Advantages | Limitations | Reference |
|---------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|
| Carabidae | Agriculture; Forest | Each type of habitat | Due to the high | Basedow (1990); |
| | fire; Pollution by | has given set of | number of | Eyre and Luff |
| | metals; Urban | species with | carabidae | (1990); Paoletti et |
| | ecology; | generalist and | generalist species | al. (1991); Stork |
| | Insecticides; Climate | specialist species. | have been | and Eggleton, |
| | change. | Thus, species of | criticized as | (1992); Halme |
| | | Carabidae | bioindicators. | and Niemelä |
| | | individual or sets of | | (1993); |
| | | species can be used | | Butterfield |
| | | as bioindicators. | | (1996); Rykken et |
| | | | | al. (1997); Venn |
| | | | | (2000); Niemelä |
| | | | | et al. (2000); |
| | | | | Niemelä (2001); |
| | | | | Maryański et al. |
| | | | | (2002); Mozdzer |
| | | | | et al. (2003); |
| | | | | Ermakov (2004), |
| | | | | Gongalsky et al. |
| | | | | (2004); Schwerk |
| | | | | et al. (2006); |
| | | | | Belskaya and |
| | | | | Zinoviev (2007); |
| | | | | Cárdenas and |
| | | | | Hidalgo (2007). |
| Scarabaeidae | Deforestation; | Can represent to | - | Howden and |
| | Fragmentation; | other animals | | Nealis (1975); |
| | Logging; | (vertebrates); | | Wolda (1987); |
| | Agriculture; | Easily collectable | | Klein (1989); |
| | Reduction of | for several types of | | Nummelin and |
| | rainfall; Livestock; | traps; Close | | Hanski (1989); |
| | Reduction of | relationship and | | Estrada et al. |
| | mammals. | dependency on the | | (1993); Hill et al |
| | | environment in | | (1995); Intachat |
| | | which they live. | | et al. (1999); |
| | | | | Nummelin |
| | | | | (1996); Andresen |
| | | | | (2003); Scheffler |
| | | | | (2005); Nichols et |
| | | | | ai. (2007); Hománda – |
| | | | | (2007), Essabar |
| | | | | (2007); ESCODAr |
| | | | | et al. (2008) ; |
| Stanbarl's '1 | Energy and a time to | | | Andresen (2008). |
| Stapnylinidae | Fragmentation; | Easily collectable | I ne biggest | Source (1084), Stimmer |
| | Agriculture; | for several types of | problem in the | (1984); Stinner |

| Family | Main studies | Advantages | Limitations | Reference |
|---------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| | Fertilization of soil; | traps; Close | use of | and House |
| | Seasonality; | relationship and | Staphylinidae as | (1990); Zanuncio |
| | Insecticides; | dependency on the | biological | et al. (1993); |
| | Herbicides. | environment in | indicators lies in | Dunxião et al. |
| | | which they live. | the difficulties of | (1999); Bohac |
| | | | identifying the | (1999); Hunter |
| | | | species, since this | (2002); Büchs |
| | | | is often subject to | (2003). |
| | | | the observation of | |
| | | | internal | |
| | | | structures. | |
| Coccinellidae | Climatic conditions; | Each species shows | Few studies | Iperti (1999); |
| | Food factors; | preferences to the | developed with | Thomazini and |
| | Urbanization; Use of | type of vegetable | this group in | Thomazini |
| | pesticides; | strata and different | tropical regions. | (2002); Wink et |
| | Deforestation; | seasonality. | | al. (2005). |
| | Physical and | | | |
| | chemical pollution. | | | |
| Cerambycidae | Planning of | Easily collectable | Little is known | Hequet, 1996; |
| | conservation and | for several types of | about their | Brown, 1997; |
| | monitoring; | traps. | ecology, mainly | Marinoni and |
| | Influence of | | in tropical forests. | Ganho (2003) |
| | temperatures and | | | |
| | humidity | | | |
| Tenebrionidae | Climatic factors; | Are relatively | Few studies | Parenzee (2001); |
| | Effects of fire; | plentiful, easily | developed with | Cheli (2009 <u>);</u> |
| | Influence of land | captured in pitfall | this group in | Fattorini et al |
| | use. | traps and readily | tropical regions. | (2011); Fattorini |
| | | identifiable when | | (2010); Henschel |
| | | compared with | | et al. (2010); Saji |
| | | other groups. | | and Al Dhaheri |
| | | Sensitive to the | | (2011); Thakare |
| | | change of | | et al. (2012). |
| | | biodiversity | | |
| Histeridae | Effect of fire; | Close relationship | Few studies | Holloway and |
| | Pasture; | and dependency on | developed with | Schnell (1997); |
| | Replacement of | the environment in | this group in | Smith and |
| | natural landscape by | which they live. | tropical regions. | Merrick (2001); |
| | agricultural | | | Lopes et al. |
| | activities. | | | (2005) |

REFERENCES

- Aguilar-Amuchastegui, N; Henebry, GM. (2007). Assessing sustainability indicators for tropical forests: Spatio-temporal heterogeneity, logging intensity, and dung beetle communities. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 253, 56-67.
- Allen, AP; Whittier, TR; Larsen, DP; Kaufmann, PR; Connor, RJO; Hughes, RM; Stemberger, RS; Dixit, S; Brinkhurst, RO; Herlihy, AT; Paulsen, SG. (1999). Concordance of taxonomic composition patterns across multiple lake assemblages: effects of scale, body size, and land use. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 56, 2029-2040.
- Almeida, S; Louzada, J; Sperber, C; Barlow, J. (2011). Subtle land-use change and tropical biodiversity: dung beetle communities in cerrado grasslands and exotic pastures. *Biotropica*, 43, 704-710.
- Anderson, RS; Ashe, JS. (2000). Leaf litter inhabiting beetles as surrogates for establishing priorities for conservation of selected tropical montane cloud forest in Honduras, Central America (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae and Curculionidae). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 9, 617-653.
- Andrade, RB; Barlow, J; Louzada, J; Vaz-de-Mello, FZ; Souza, M; Silveira, JM; Cochrane, MA. (2011). Quantifying responses of dung beetles to fire disturbance in tropical forests: The importance of trapping method and seasonality. *PLoS ONE*, 6, 1-9.
- Andreasen, JK; O'Neill, RV; Noss, R; Slosser, NC. (2001). Considerations for the development of a terrestrial index of ecological integrity. *Ecological Indicators*, 1, 21-35.
- Andresen, E. (2003). Effect of forest fragmentation on dung beetle communities and functional consequences for plant regeneration. *Ecography*, 26, 87-97.
- Andresen, E. (2008). Short-term temporal variability in the abundance of tropical dung beetles. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, *2*, 120-124.
- Angelo, H; Sá, SPP. (2007). O desflorestamento na Amazônia brasileira. *Ciência Florestal*, 17, p. 217-227.
- Audino, LD; Nogueira, JM; Silva, PG; Neske, MZ; Ramos, AHB; Moraes, LP; Borba MFS. (2007). Identificação dos coleópteros (Insecta: Coleoptera) das regiões de Palmas (município de Bagé) e Santa Barbinha (município de Caçapava do Sul), RS. Embrapa: Pecuária Sul.
- Avgin, SS; Luff, ML. (2010). Ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) as bioindicators of human impact. *Munis Entomology & Zoology*, 5, p. 209-215.
- Báldi, A. (2003). Using higher taxa as surrogates of species richness: a study based on 3700 Coleoptera, Diptera, and Acari species in Central-Hungarian reserves. *Basic* and Applied Ecology, 4, 589-593.
- Barlow, J; Gardner, TA; Araujo, IS; Ávila-Pires, TC; Bonaldo, AB; Costa, JE; Esposito, MC; Ferreira, LV; Hawes, J. Hernandez, MIM; Hoogmoed, MS; Leite, RN; Lo-Man-Hung, NF; Malcolm, JR; Martins, MB; Mestre, LAM; Miranda-

Santos, R.; Nunes-Gutjahr, AL; Overal, WL; Parry, L; Peters, SL; Ribeiro-Junior, MA; Silva, MNF; Motta, CS; Peres, CA. (2007c). Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary and plantation forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 18555-18560.

- Barlow, J; Louzada, J; Parry, L; Hernández, MIM; Hawes, J; Peres, CA; Vaz-de-Mello, FZ; Gardner, T. (2010). Improving the design and management of forest strips in human-dominated tropical landscapes: a field test on Amazonian dung beetles. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47, 779-788.
- Barlow, J; Mestre, LAM; Gardner, TA; Peres, CA. (2007a). The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for Amazonian birds. *Biological Conservation*, *126*, 212-231.
- Barlow, J; Overal, WL; Araujo, IS; Gardner, TA; Peres, CA. (2007b). The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for fruit-feeding butterflies in the Brazilian Amazon. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *44*, 1001-1012.
- Basedow, T. (1990). Effects of insecticides on Carabidae and the significance of these effects for agriculture and species number. In E Stork (Ed.). *The Role of Ground Beetles in Ecological and Environmental Studies* (pp. 115-125). Intercept Ltd Andover, UK.
- Becker, BK. (2004). *Amazônia*: geopolítica na virada do III milênio. Rio de Janeiro: Garamond.
- Behan-Pelletier, VM. (1993). Diversity of soil arthropods in Canada: systematic and ecological problems. *Memoirs of the Entomological. Society of Canada, 165,* 11-50.
- Belskaya, EA; Zinoviev, EV. (2007). Structure of the complexes of carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) in natural and industry-disturbed forest ecosystems in the south-west of the Sverdlovsk region. *Siberian Journal of Ecology*, *4*, 533-543.
- Bergeron, Y. (1991). The influence of island and mainland lakeshore landscape on boreal forest fire regime. *Ecology*, 72, 1980-1992.
- Bermúdez, C; Gutiérrez, C; Chacón, P. (2006). *Estimación de la diversidad de coleópteros Staphylinidae en el paisaje del bosque seco tropical*. In: Libro de Resúmens II Congreso Colombiano de Zoología, Santa Marta, Colombia, p 407.
- Bishop, DJ; Majka, CG; Bondrup-Nielsen, S; Peck, SB. (2009). Dead-wood and saproxylic beetle diversity in naturally disturbed and managed spruce forests in Nova Scotia. *Zookeys*, 22, 309-340.
- Blanche, KR; Andersen, NA; Ludwig, JA. (2001). Rainfall-contingent detection of fire impacts: Responses of beetles to experimental fire regimes. *Ecological Applications*, 11, 86-96.
- Bohac, J. (1999). Staphylinid beetles as bioindicators. Agriculture, Ecossystems and Environment, 74, 357-372.
- Borisenko, AV; Burton, KL; Ivanova, NV; Hanner, RH; Hebert, PDN. (2008). DNA barcoding in surveys of small mammal communities: a field study in Suriname. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 8, 471-479.

- Brown, KS. (1991). Conservation of neotropical environments: Insects as Indicators.In: NM Collins; JA Thomas (Eds.). *The conservation of insects and their habitats*. (pp. 349-404). Academic Press, London.
- Brown, KS. (1997). Diversity, disturbance, and sustainable use of Neotropical forests: insects as indicators for conservation monitoring. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 1, 25-42.
- Büchs, W. (2003). Biodiversity and agri-environmental indicators-general scopes and skills with special reference to the habitat level. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 98, 35-78.
- Bultman TL; Uetz GW. (1984). Effect of structure and nutritional quality of litter on abundance of litter-dwelling arthropods. *The American Midland Naturalist, 111*, 165-172.
- Butterfield, J. (1996). Carabid life-cycle strategies and climate change: a study on an altitude transect. *Ecological Entomology*, 21, 9-16.
- Cajaiba, RL. (2013). *Introdução à Entomologia*. Pará de Minas, MG: VirtualBooks Editora.
- Cajaiba, RL; Silva, WB. (2014). Mirmecofauna (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) em fragmento florestal urbano no município de Uruará-Pa. *Enciclopédia Biosfera, Centro Científico Conhecer, 10,* 2226-2238.
- Calor, AR. (2009). *Insecta*. Disponível em: Museu de Zoologia Virtual, Universidade Federal da Bahia, http://www.mzufba.ufba.br/insetos.html). Acessed in 01 jun 2014.
- Campos, RC; Hernández, MIM. (2013). Dung beetle assemblages (Coleoptera, Scarabaeinae) in Atlantic forest fragments in southern Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Entomologia*, 57, 47-54.
- Cano, EB; Schuster, JC. (2008). *Beetles as indicators for forest conservation in Central America*. Encyclopedy of Life Support Systems (UNESCO-EOLSS).
- Cárdenas, AM; Hidalgo, JM. (2007). Application of the mean individual biomass (MIB) of ground beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) to assess the recovery process of the Guadiamar Green Corridor (southern Iberian Peninsula). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 16, 4131-4146.
- Cardoso, P; Erwin, TL; Borges, PAV; New, TR. (2011). The seven impediments in invertebrate conservation and how to overcome them. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 2647-2655.
- Carlton, CE; Robinson, HW. (1998). Diversity of litter-dwelling beetles in the Ouachita highlands of Arkansas, USA (Insecta: Coleoptera). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 7, 1589-1605.
- Cattaneo, A. (2002). Balancing agricultural development and deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon.Research Report 129, International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington DC.

- Cheli, GH; Corley, J; Castillo, LD; Martinez, F. (2009). Una aproximación experimental a la preferencia alimentaria de *Nyctelia circumundata* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) en el Noreste de la Patagonia. *Interciencia*, *34*, 771-776.
- Chown, SL. (2001). Physiological variation in insects: hierarchical levels and implications. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 47, 649-660.
- Correia, MEF. (2002). Potencial de utilização dos atributos das comunidades de fauna de solo e de grupos chave de invertebrados como bioindicadores do manejo de ecossistemas. Seropédica: Embrapa Agrobiologia.
- Costa, C. (1999). Coleoptera. In CRF Brandão; EM Cancello (Eds.). *Invertebrados Terrestres*: Síntese do conhecimento ao final do século XX (pp. 225-243). São Paulo, FAPESP.
- Costa, FG. (2000). Avaliação do potencial de expansão da soja na Amazônia Legal: uma aplicação do modelo de Von Thünen. MSc. Thesis. Universidade de São Paulo-USP, Piracicaba, SP.
- Cywinska, A; Hunter, FF; Hebert, PDN. (2006). Identifying Canadian mosquito species through DNA barcodes. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 20, 413-424.
- Dale, VH; Beyelerb, SZ. (2001). Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. *Ecological Indicators*, 1, 3-10.
- Davidson, EA; Araújo, AC; Artaxo, P; Balch, JK; Brown, IF; Bustamante, MMC; Coe, MT; DeFries8, RS; Keller, M; Longo, M; Munger, JW; Schroeder, W; Soares-Filho, BS; Souza Jr, CM ; Wofsy, SC. (2012). The Amazon basin in transition. *Nature*, 481, p. 321-329.
- Davis, AJ; Holloway, JD; Huijbregts, H; Krikken, J; Kirk-Spriggs, AH; Sutton, SL. (2001). Dung beetles as indicators of change in the forests of northern Borneo. *Journal of Appllied Ecology*, 38, 593-616.
- Davis, ALV; Scholtz, CH; Dooley, PW; Bham, N; Kryger, U. (2004). Scarabaeinae dung beetles as indicators of biodiversity, habitat transformation and pest control chemicals in agro-ecosystems. *South African Journal of Science*, *100*, 415-424.
- Dawes-Gromadzki, TZ. (2007). Short-term effects of low intensity fire on soil macroinvertebrate assemblages in different vegetation patch types in Australian tropical savanna. *Austral Ecology*, *32*, 663-668.
- Debinski, DM; Holt, RD. (2000). A survey and overview of habitat fragmentation experiments. *Conservation Biology*, 14, 342-355.
- Degallier, N; Leivas, FWT; Moura, DP. (2011). Histerid beetles of French Guiana. V. Revision of the genus Ebonius Lewis (Coleoptera, Histeridae, Omalodini). *Zootaxa*, 2824, 44-52.
- Didham, RK; Hammond, PM; Lawton, JH; Eggleton, P; Stork, NE. (1998). Beetles species responses to Tropical Forest fragmentation. *Ecological Monographs*, 68, 295-323.
- Domingues, MS; Bermann, C. (2012). O arco de desflorestamento na Amazônia: da pecuária à soja. *Ambiente & Sociedade, 15*, 2, 1-22.

- Dunxião, H; Chunru, H; Yaling, X; Banwang, H; Liyuan, H; Paoletti, MG. (1999). Relationship between soil arthropods and soil properties in a Suburb of Qianjiang City, Hubei, China. *Critical Rewiews in Plant Sciences*, *18*, 467-473.
- Epstein, ME; Kulman, HM. (1990). Habitat distribution and seasonal occurrence of Carabid beetles in East Central Minnesota. *The American Midland Naturalist*, *123*, 209-225.
- Ermakov, AI. (2004). Structural changes in the carabid fauna of forest ecosystems under a toxic impact. *Russian Journal of Ecology*, *35*, 403-408.
- Escobar, F; Halffter, G; Arellano, L. (2007). From forest to pasture: an evaluation of the influence of environment and biogeography on the structure of dung beetle (Scarabaeinae) assemblages along three altitudinal gradients in the Neotropical region. *Ecography*, *30*, 193-208.
- Escobar, F; Halffter, G; Solís, A; Halffter, V; Navarrete, D. (2008). Temporal shifts in dung beetle community structure within a protected area of tropical wet forest: a 35-year study and its implications for long-term conservation. *Journal of Appllied Ecology*, 45, 1584-1592.
- Estrada, A; Halffter, G; Estrada, RC; Meritt, A. (1993). Dung beetles attracted to mammalian herbivore (Alouattapalliata) and omnivore (Nasuanarica) dung in the tropical rain forest of Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, *9*, 45-54.
- Eyre, MD; Luff, ML. (1990). A preliminary classification of European grassland habitats using carabid beetles. In NE Stork (Ed.). *The Role of Ground Beetles in Ecological and Environmental Studies* (pp. 227-236). Intercept, Andover, UK.
- Fattorini, S. (2010). Effects of fire on tenebrionid communities of a Pinus pinea plantation: a case study in a Mediterranean site. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, *9*, 1237-1250.
- Fattorini, S; Dennis, RLH; Cook, LM. (2011). Conserving organisms over large regions requires multi-taxa indicators: one taxon's diversity-vacant area is another taxon's diversity zone. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 1690-1701.
- Fearnside, PM. (1995). Hydroelectric dams in the Brazilian Amazon as sources of 'greenhouse' gases. *Environmental Conservation*, 22, 7-19.
- Fearnside, PM. (2001). Soybean cultivation as a threat to the environment in Brazil. *Environmental Conservation*, 28, 23-38.
- Fearnside, PM. (2005a). Deforestation in Brazilian Amazonia: History, rates and consequences. *Conservation Biology*, *19*, 680-688.
- Fearnside, PM. (2005b). Brazil's Samuel Dam: Lessons for hydroelectric development policy and the environment in Amazonia. *Environmental Management*, 35, 1-19.
- Fearnside, PM. (2006). Dams in the Amazon: Belo Monte and Brazil's Hydroelectric Development of the Xingu River Basin. *Environmental Management*, *38*, 16-27.
- Fearnside, PM. (2008). Amazon Forest Maintenance as a Source of Environmental Services. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, 80, 101-114.

- Fernandes, AL. (2009). The social and environmental impacts of industrial agriculture in the Legal Amazon. In *Anais XIV Simpósio Brasileiro de Sensoriamento Remoto*, *Natal, Brasil*, (pp. 159-165). INPE.
- Fränzle, O. (2006). Complex bioindication and environmental stress assessment. *Ecological Indicators*, *6*, 114-136.
- Freitas, AVL; Leal, IR; Uehara-Prado, M; Iannuzzi, L. (2006). Insetos como indicadores de conservação da paisagem. In CFD Rocha; M, Van Sluys; HG Bergallo; MAS Alves. (Org.). *Biologia da Conservação* (pp. 357-385). São Carlos, Rima Editora.
- Garcia, M; Ortego, F; Castanera, P; Farinos, GP. (2010). Effects of exposure to the toxin Cry1Ab through Bt maize fed-prey on the performance and digestive physiology of the predatory rove beetle Atheta coriaria. *Biological Control, 55*, 225-233.
- García-Cárdenas, R; Armbrecht, I; Ulloa, CP. (2001). Staphylinidae (Coleoptera): Composición y mirmecofilia en bosques secos relictuales de Colombia. *Folia Entomológica Mexicana, 40*, 1-10.
- García-Cárdenas, R; Ulloa, CP. (2005). Estafilínidos (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) en fragmentos de bosque seco del valle geográfico del río Cauca. *Revista Colombiana de Entomología*, *31*, 43-50.
- Gardner, TA; Barlow, J; Parry, LTW; Peres, CA. (2007a). Predicting the uncertain future of tropical forest species in a data vacuum. *Biotropica*, *39*, 25-30.
- Gardner, TA; Hernández, MIM; Barlow, J; Peres, CA. (2008). Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for neotropical dung beetles. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *45*, 883-893.
- Gardner, TA; Ribeiro, MA; Barlow, J; Ávila-Pires, TAS; Hoogmoed, M; Peres, CA. (2007b). The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for a neotropical herpetofauna. *Conservation Biology*, *21*, 775-787.
- Gaston, KJ; Blackburn, TM. (1995). Mapping biodiversity using surrogates for species richness: macro-scales and New World birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, 262, 335-341.
- Gaston, KJ; Warren, PH; Hammond, PM. (1992). Predator: non-predator ratios in beetle assemblages. *Oecologia*, 90, 417-421.
- Gerlach, J; Samways, M; Pryke, J. (2013). Terrestrial invertebrates as bioindicators: an overview of available taxonomic groups. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 17, 831-850.
- Gill, BD. (1991). Dung beetle in Tropical American Forest. In I Hanski; Y Cambefort (Eds.). *Dung beetle ecology*. (pp. 211-229). Princeton, Princeton University Press.
- Giller, KE; Beare, MH; Lavelle, P; Izac, AMN; Swift, MJ. (1997). Agricultural intensification, soil biodiversity and agroecosystem function. *Applied Soil Ecology 6*, 3-16.

- Godfray, HCJ; Lewis, OT; Memmott, J. (1999). Studying insect diversity in the tropics. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B, 354*, 1811-1824.
- Gomez, AD. (2010). Activity density versus biomass distribution patterns among ground-beetle species as bioindicator for conservation planning over a wide range of altitudes in Tenerife (Canary Islands). *Ecological Indicator*, *10*, 1213-1217.
- Gongalsky, KB; Chudnyavtseva, II; Pokarzhevskii, AD; Samonov, AE; Slobodyan, VY. (2004). Arsenic bioaccumulation by beetles in an arsenic-rich region. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 72, 1115-1121.
- Grebennikov, VV; Leschen, RAB. (2010). External exoskeletal cavities in Coleoptera and their possible mycangial functions. *Entomological Science*, 13, 81-98.
- Hajibabaei, M; Janzen, DH; Burns, JM; Hallwachs, W; Hebert, PDN. (2006a). DNA barcodes distinguish species of tropical Lepidoptera. *Proceedings of the National* of Sciences, 103, 968-971.
- Hajibabaei, M; Smith, MA; Janzen, DH; Rodriguez, JJ; Whitfiels, JB; Hebert, PDN. (2006b). A minimalist barcode can identify a specimen whose DNA is degraded. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 6, 959-964.
- Halffter, G. (1991). Historical and ecological factors determining the geographical distribution of beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae). *Folia Entomológica Mexicana*, 82, 195-238.
- Halffter, G. (2005). Towards a culture of biodiversity conservation. Acta Zoológica Mexicana, 21, 133-153.
- Halffter, G; Arellano, L. (2002). Response of dung beetle diversity to human-induced changes in a tropical landscape. *Biotropica*, *34*, 144-154.
- Halffter, G; Matthews, EG. (1966). The natural history of dung beetles of the subfamily Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Folia Entomológica Mexicana*, *12*, 1-312.
- Halme, E; Niemelä, J. (1993). Carabid beetles in fragments of coniferous forest. *Annales Zoologici Fennici, 30*, 17-30.
- Hamer, KC; Hill, JK. (2000). Scale-dependent effects of habitat disturbance on species richness in tropical forests. *Conservation Biology*, *14*, 1435-1440.
- Hammond, HEJ. (1997). Arthropod biodiversity from Populus coarse woody material in North-central Alberta: a review of taxa and collection methods. *The Canadian Entomologist*, *129*, 1009-1033.
- Hebert, PDN; Cywinska, A; Ball, SL; Waard, JR. (2003). Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 270, 313-321.
- Hebert, PDN; Stoeckle, MY; Zemlak, TS; Francis, CM. (2004). Identification of birds through DNA barcodes. *Plos Biology*, 2, 1657-1663.
- Heink, U; Kowarik, I. (2010). What are indicators? On the definition of indicators in ecology and environmental planning. *Ecological Indicators*, *10*, 584-593.
- Heliovaara, K; Vaisanen, R. (1993). Insects and Pollution. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

- Henschel, JR; Grohmann, C; Siteketa, V; Linsenmair, KE. (2010). Monitoring Tenebrionid Beetle Biodiversity in Namibia. *African Study Monographs*, 40, 91-102.
- Hequet V. (1996). Longicornes de Guyane. Cayenne, Orstom: Silvolab.
- Hernández, MIM. (2007). Besouros escarabeíneos (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) da Caatinga paraibana, Brasil. *Oecologia Brasiliensis, 11*, 356-364.
- Hill, JK; Hamer, KC. (2004). Determining impacts of habitat modification on diversity of tropical forest fauna: the importance of spatial scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *41*, 744-754.
- Hill, JK; Hamer, KC; Lace, LA; Banham, WMT. (1995). Effects of selective logging on tropical forest butterflies on Buru, Indonesia. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *32*, 754-760.
- Hodkinson, IA; Jackson, JK. (2005). Terrestrial and Aquatic Invertebrates as Bioindicators for Environmental Monitoring, with Particular Reference to Mountain Ecosystems. *Environmental Management*, 35, 649-666.
- Hoffmann, RB; Nascimento, MSV; Diniz, AA; Araújo, LHA; Souto, JS. (2009). Diversidade da mesofauna edáfica como bioindicadora para o manejo do solo em Areia, Paraíba, Brasil. *Revista Caatinga*, 22, 121-125.
- Holloway, AK; Schnell, GD. (1997). Relationship between numbers of the endangered American burying beetle *Nicrophorus americanus* Oliver (Coleoptera: Silphidae) and available food resourses. *Biological Conservation*, *81*, 145-152.
- Holloway, JD; Bradley, JD; Carter, JD. (1981). *CIE guides to insects of importance to man*. Lepidoptera, 1.C.A.B. International: Wallinford.
- Howden, HF; Nealis, VG. (1975). Effects of clearing in a tropical rain forest on the composition of the coprophagous scarab beetle fauna (Coleoptera). *Biotropica*,7, 77-83.
- Hunter, MD. (2002). Lanscape structure, habitat fragmentation, and the ecology of insects. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, *4*, 159-166.
- Imbrósio, WB. (2012). Resposta da diversidade funcional de scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) aos diferentes usos de solo na Amazônia. MSc. Thesis. Universidade Federal de Lavras, Minas Gerais, Brasil.
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística IBGE. (2000). *Censo demográfico do Brasil*. Available on: www.ibge.gov.br. [Accessed in: 20/01/2014].
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística-IBGE. (2006). *Soja bate novo recorde de produção em 2006*. http://saladeimprensa.ibge.gov.br/noticias?view=noticia&id=1& busca=1&idnoticia=931. [Accessed in: 15/04/2014].
- Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis-IBAMA. (2004). *Contextualização de Unidades de Conservação*: Curso de Capacitação de Analistas Ambientais. [Palestra]. Brasília.

- Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais-INPE. (2014). *Monitoramento da Floresta Amazônica brasileira por satélite*.Available on: http://www.obt.inpe.br/prodes/ prodes_1988_2013.htm [Accessed in: 21/05/2014).
- Intachat, J; Holloway, JD; Speight, MR. (1999). The impact of logging on geometroid moth populations and their diversity in lowland forests of Peninsular Malaysia. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science*, 11, 61-78.
- Iperti, G. (1999). Biodiversity of predaceous coccinellidae in relation to bioindication and economic importance. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 74, 323-342.
- Jacobs, CT; Scholtz, CH; Escobar, F; Davis, ALV. (2010). How might intensification of farming influence dung beetle diversity (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in Maputo Special Reserve (Mozambique)? *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 14, 389-399.
- Janzen, DH; Hajibabaei, M; Burns, JM; Hallwachs, W; Remigio, E; Hebert, PDN. (2005). Wedding biodiversity inventory of a large and complex Lepidoptera fauna with DNA barcoding. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Societ B*, 360, 1835-1845.
- Kaiser, W; Avenant, NL; Haddad, CR. (2009). Assessing the ecological integrity of a grassland ecosystem: the applicability and rapidity of the SAGraSS method. *African Journal of Ecology*, 47, 308-317.
- Kerr, KCR; Lijtmaer, DA; Barreira, AS; Hebert, PDN; Tubaro, PL. (2009). Probing evolutionary patterns in neotropical birds through DNA barcodes. *Plos One* 4:e4379.
- Kimberling, DN; Karr, JR; Fore, LS. (2001). Measuring human disturbance using terrestrial invertebrates in the shrub-steppe of eastern Washington (USA). *Ecological Indicators*, *1*, 63-81.
- Klein, BC. (1989). Effects of forest fragmentation on dung and carrion beetles communities in Central Amazonia. *Ecology*, 70, 1715-1725.
- Koh, LP. (2007). Impacts of land use change on south-east Asian forest butterflies: a review. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44, 703-713.
- Koivula, M; Kukkonen, J; Niemelä, J. (2002). Boreal carabid-beetle (Coleoptera, Carabidae) assemblages along the clear-cut originated succession gradient. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 11, 1269-1288.
- Koivula, M; Punttila, P; Haila, Y; Niemela, J. (1999). Leaf litter and the smallscale distribution of carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) in the boreal forest. *Ecography*, 22, 424-435.
- Korasaki, V; Braga, RF; Zanetti, R; Moreira, FMS; Vaz-de-Mello, FZ; Louzada, J. (2013). Conservation value of alternative land-use systems for dung beetles in Amazon: valuing traditional farming practices. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22, 1485-1499.
- Kromp, B. (1999). Carabid beetles in sustainable agriculture: a review on pest control efficacy, cultivation impacts and enhancement. *Agriculture, Ecosystem & Environment*, 74, 187-228.

- Langor, DW; Spence, JR. (2006). Arthropods as ecological indicators. *The Forestry Chronicle*, 82, 344-350.
- Lara, FM. (1992). Princípios de Entomologia. Ícone: São Paulo, SP.
- Larsen, TH; Forsyth, A. (2005). Trap spacing and transect design for dung beetle biodiversity studies. *Biotropica*, *37*, 322-325.
- Laurance, WF; Albernaz, AKM; Costa, C. (2001b). Is deforestation accelerating in the Brazilian Amazon? *Environmental Conservation*, 28, 4, 305-311.
- Laurance, WF; Bierregaard, RO. (1997). *Tropical Forest Remnants*: Ecology, Management, and Conservation of Fragmented Communities. The University of Chicago Press: Chicago, IL.
- Laurance, WF; Cochrane, MA; Bergen, S; Fearnside, PM; Delamônica, P; Barber, C; D'Angelo, S; Fernandes, T. (2001). The future of the Brazilian Amazon. *Science*, 291, 438-439.
- Lavelle, P. (1996). Diversity of soil fauna and ecosystem function. *Biology International*, 33, 3-15.
- Lentini, M; Pereira, D; Celentano, D; Pereira, R. (2005). Fatos Florestais da Amazônia. Belém, Brazil: Imazon.
- Lewinsohn, TH; Freitas, AVL; Prado, PI. (2005). Conservação de invertebrados terrestres e seus habitats no Brasil. *Megadiversidade*, 1, 62-69.
- Li, D; Jackson, RR. (1996). Prey preferences of Portia fimbriata, naaraneophagic, webbuilding jumping spider (Araneae: Salticidae) from Queensland *.Insect Behavior*, 9, 613-642.
- Lima, AA; Lima, WL; Berbara, RLL. (2006). Diversidade da mesofauna de solo em sistemas de produção agroecológica. *Revista Brasileira de Agroecologia*, 1, p. 1199-1202.
- Lindenmayer, DB; Margules, CR; Botkin, DB. (2000). Indicators of biodiversity for ecologically sustainable forest management. *Conservation Biology*, *14*, 941-950.
- Lobo, JM; Lumaret, JP; Jay-Robert, P. (1998). Sampling dung beetles in the French Mediterranean area: effects of abiotic factors and farm practices. *Pedobiologia*, 42, 252-266.
- Lopes, PP; Louzada, JNC; Oliveira-Rebouças, P L; Nascimento, LM; Santana-Reis, VPG. (2005). Resposta da Comunidade de Histeridae (Coleoptera) a Diferentes Fisionomias da Vegetação de Restingas no Espírito Santo. *Neotropical Entomology*, 34, 025-031.
- Loranger, G; Ponge, JF; Blanchart, E; Lavelle, P. (1998). Influence of agricultural practices on arthropod communities in a vertisol (Martinique). *European Journal of Soil Biology*, *34*, 157-165.
- Lui, GH; Molina, SMG. (2009). Ocupação humana e transformação das paisagens na Amazônia brasileira. *Amazônica Revista de Antropologia, 1*, 200-229.
- Majer JD. (1981). *The role of invertebrates in bauxite mine rehabilitation*. Bulletin, 93.Peth: Forests Departament of Western Australia.

- Maluche, CRD; Santos, JCP; Sinhorati, D; Amarante, CVT; Baretta, D. (2003). Fauna edáfica como bioindicadora da qualidade do solo em pomares de macieiras conduzidos nos sistemas orgânico e convencional (pp. 1-4). In: Congresso Brasileiro de Agroecologia. Porto Alegre: EMATER/RS-ASCAR.
- Marinoni, RC. (2001). Os grupos tróficos em Coleoptera. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia, 18, 205-224.
- Marinoni, RC; Dutra, RRC. (1997). Famílias de Coleoptera capturados com armadilhas Malaise em oito localidades do estado do Paraná, Brasil. Diversidades alfa e beta. *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia*, 14, 751-770.
- Marinoni, RC; Ganho, NG. (2003). Sazonalidade de *Nyssodrysina lignaria* (Bates) (Coleoptera, Cerambycidae, Lamiinae) no Estado do Paraná, Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia*, 20, 141-152.
- Marques, AAB; Fontana, CS; Vélez, E; Bencke, GA; Schneider, M; Reis, RE. (2002). Lista de Referência da Fauna Ameaçada de Extinção no Rio Grande do Sul. Decreto nº 41.672, de 10 de junho de 2002. Porto Alegre: FZB/MCTPUCRS/PANGEA.
- Martins, UR. (1999). Cerambycidae. In CRF Brandão; EM Cancello (Eds.). Biodiversidade do Estado de São Paulo, Brasil. (pp. 125-132). São Paulo, FAPESP.
- Maryański, M; Kramarz, P; Laskowski, R; Niklińska, M. (2002). Decreased energetic reserves, morphological changes and accumulation of metals in carabid beetles (*Poecilus cupreus* L.) exposed to Zinc-and Cadmium-contaminated food. *Ecotoxicology*, 11, 127-139.
- Matavelli, RA; Louzada, JNC. (2008). Invasion of intra-Amazonian savannas by the dung beetle *Digitontophagus gazelle* (Fabricius, 1787) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Acta Amazonica, 38*, 153-158.
- McGarigal, K; Cushman, S. (2002). Comparative evaluation of experimental approaches to the study of habitat fragmentation effects. *Ecological Applications*, *12*, 335-345.
- McGeoch, MA. (1998). The selection, testing and application of terrestrial insects as bioindicators. *Biology Review*, 73, 181-201.
- McGeoch, MA; Rensburg, BJV; Botes, A. (2002). The verification and application of bioindicators: a case study of dung beetles in a savanna ecosystem. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *39*, 661-672.
- McGeoch, MA; Sithole, H; Samways, MJ; Simaika, JP; Pryke, JS; Picker, M; Uys, C; Armstrong, AJ; Dippenaar-Schoeman, AS; Engelbrecht, IA; Braschler, B; Hamer, M. (2011). Conservation and monitoring of invertebrates in terrestrial protected areas. *Koedoe*, 53, 1-13.
- Monné, MA; Hovore FT. (2005). *Electronic Checklist of the Cerambycidae of the Western Hemisphere*.<http://www.cerambycids.com/checklist>. [Accessed in 08/05/2014].

- Moreira, FMS; Nóbrega, RSA; Jesus, EC; Ferreira, DF; Pérez, DV. (2009). Differentiation in the fertility of inceptisols as related to use in the upper Solimões river region, western Amazon. *Scince of the Total Environment, 408*, 349-355.
- Mozdzer, T; Kramarz, P; Piúkiewicz, A; Niklińska, M. (2001). Accumulation of cadmium and zinc in the larval stage of the ground beetle, Pterostichus oblongopunctatus. In Abstracts of the SECOTOX World Congress: Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety on the Verge of Third Millennium: Trends, Threats and Challenges, Kraków, Poland.
- Navarrete-Heredia, JL; Newton, AF; Thayer, MK; Ashe, JS; Chandler, DS. (2002). *Guía ilustrada para los géneros de Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) de México*. Universidad de Guadalajara and CONABIO: Guadalajara, Mexico.
- Negro, M; Isaia, M; Palestrini, C; Schoenhofer, A; Rolando, A. (2010). The impact of high-altitude ski pistes on ground-dwelling arthropods in the Alps. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, *19*, 1853-1870.
- Nepstad, DC; Carvalho, G; Barros, AC; Alencar, A; Capobianco, JP; Bishop, J; Moutinho, P; Lefebvre, P; Silva, UL; Prins, E. (2001). Road paving, fire regime feedbacks, and the future of Amazon forests. *Forest Ecolology an Management*, 154, 395-407.
- Newton, AF; Gutiérrez-Chacón, C; Chandler, DS. (2005). Checklist of the Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) of Colombia. *Biota Colombiana*, 6, 1-72.
- Nichols, E; Larsen, T; Spector, S; Davis, AL; Escobar, F; Favila, M; Vulinec, K. (2007). Global dung beetle response to tropical forest modification and fragmentation: A quantitative literature review and meta-analyses. *Biological Conservation*, 137, 1-19.
- Nichols, E; Spector, S; Louzada, J; Larsen, T; Amezquita, S; Favila, ME. (2008). Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. *Biological Conservation*, 141, 1461-1474.
- Nichols, ES; Gardner, TA. (2011). Dung Beetles as a Candidate Study Taxon in Applied Biodiversity Conservation Research. In LW Simmons; TJ Ridsdill-Smith (Eds.).*Ecology and Evolution of Dung Beetles*. (pp. 267-290). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK.
- Niemelä, J. (2001). Carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) and habitat fragmentation: a review. *European Journal of Entomology*, *98*, 127-132.
- Niemelä, J; Kotze, DJ. (2009). Carabid beetle assemblages along urban to rural gradients: A review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 92, 65-71.
- Niemelä, J; Kotze, J; Ashworth, A; Brandmayr, P; Desender, K; New, T; Penev, L; Samways, M; Spence, J. (2000). The search for common anthropogenic impacts on biodiversity: a global network. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, *4*, 3-9.
- Noss, RF. (1990). Indicators for Monitoring biodiversity: A hierarchical approach. *Conservation Biology*, *4*, 354-364.
- Nummelin, M. (1996). The community structure of arthropods in virgin and managed sites in the Kibale Forest, Western Uganda. *Tropical Ecology*, *37*, 203-213.

- Nummelin, M; Hanski, I. (1989). Dung beetles of the Kibale Forest, Uganda: comparison between virgin and managed forests. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, *5*, 349-352.
- Oliveira, EM; Souto, JS. (2001). Mesofauna edáfica como indicadora de áreas degradadas. *Revista Verde de Agroecologia e Desenvolvimento Sustentável*, 6, 01-09.
- Oliver, I; Beattie, A; York, A. (1998). Spatial fidelity of plant, vertebrate, and invertebrate assemblages in multipleuse forest in eastern Australia. *Conservation Biology*, *12*, 822-835.
- Oliver, I; Beattie, AJ. (1996). Invertebrate morphospecies as surrogates for species: a case study. *Conservation Biology*, *10*, 99-109.
- Padial, JM; De La Riva, I. (2007). Integrative taxonomists should use and produce DNA barcodes. *Zootaxa*, 1586, 67-68.
- Paje, F; Mossakowski, D. (1984).pH-preferences and habitat selection in Carabid beetles. *Oecologia*, 64, 41-46.
- Paoletti, MG. (1999). Using bioindicators based on biodiversity to assess landscape sustainability. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 74, 1-18.
- Paoletti, MG; D'Inca, A; Tonin, E; Tonon, S; Migliorini, C; Petruzzelli, G; Pezzarossa, B; Gomiero, T; Sommaggio, D. (2010). Soil invertebrates as bio-indicators in a natural area converted from agricultural use: the case study of Vallevecchia-Lugugnana in north-eastern Italy. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, 34, 38-56.
- Paoletti, MG; Favretto, MR; Stimer, BR; Purrigton, FF; Bater, JE. (1991). Invertebrates as bioindicators of soil use. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 34*, 341-362.
- Parenzee, L. (2001). *Use of Tenebrionid Beetles as Indicators of Habitat Quality*.MSc. Thesis. University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.
- Pearce, JL; Venier, LA. (2006). The use of ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) and spiders (Araneae) as bioindicators of sustainable forest management: A review. *Ecological Indicators*, 6, 780-793.
- Pearce, JL; Venier, LA; McKee, J; Pedlar, J; Mckenney, D. (2003). Influence of habitat and microhabitat on Carabid (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages in four stand types. *Canadian Entomologist*, 135, 337-357.
- Pearson, DL. (1994). Selecting indicator taxa for the quantitative assessment of biodiversity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B*, 345, 75-79.
- Pearson, DL; Cassola, F. (2005). A quantitative analysis of species descriptions of tiger beetles (Coleoptera: Cicindelidae), from 1758 to 2004, and notes about related developments in biodiversity studies. *The Coleopterists Bulletin*, 59, 184-193.
- Pearson, DL; Cassola, F. (2007). Are we doomed to repeat history? A model of the past using tiver beetles (Coleopter: Cicindelidae) and conservation biology to anticipate the future. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 11, 47-59.
- Peres, CA. (2005). Why we need mega reserves in Amazonia. *Conservation Biology*, 19, 728-733.
- Pires, AC; Marinoni, L. (2010). DNA barcoding and traditional taxonomy unified through Integrative Taxonomy: a view that challenges the debate questioning both methodologies. *Biota Neotropica*, *10*, 339-346.
- Pitman, NCA; Azáldegui, MCL; Salas, K; Vigo, GT; Lutz, DA. (2007). Written accounts of an Amazonian landscape over the last 450 years. *Conservation Biology*, 21, 253-262.
- Pohl, GR; Langor, DW; Spence, JR. (2007). Rove beetles and ground beetles (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae, Carabidae) as indicators of harvest and regeneration practices in western Canadian foothills forests. *Biological Conservation*, 37, 294-307.
- Quintero, I; Halffter, G. (2009). Temporal changes in a community of dung beetles (Insecta: Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) resulting from the modification and fragmentation of tropical rain forest. *Acta Zoológica Mexicana*, 25, 625-649.
- Quintero, I; Roslin, T. (2005). Rapid recovery of dung beetle communities following habitat fragmentation in Central Amazonia. *Ecology*, *86*, 3303-3311.
- Radtke, MG; Fonseca, CRV; Williamson, GB. (2007). The old and young Amazon: dung beetle biomass, abundance, and species diversity. *Biotropica*, *39*, 725-730.
- Rainio, J. (2009). Carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) as indicators of environmental change in Ranomafana National Park, Madagascar. MSc. Thesis. University of Helsinki, Finland.
- Rainio, J; Niemelä, J. (2003): "Ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) as bioindicators". *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 12, 487-506.
- Rivero, S; Almeida, O; Ávila, S; Oliveira, W. (2009). Pecuária e desmatamento: uma análise das principais causas diretas do desmatamento na Amazônia. *Nova Economia*, *19*, 41-66.
- Rivero, S; Covas, T. (2013). The Processing and Marketing of Seeds from the Amazon City of Porto Velho, RO. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 8, 321-331.
- Rovedder, APM; Eltz, FLF; Drescher, MS; Schenato, RB; Antoniolli, ZI. (2009). Organismos edáficos como bioindicadores da recuperação de solos degradados por arenização no Bioma Pampa. *Ciência Rural, 39*, 1061-1068.
- Ruf, A; Beck, L; Dreher, P; Hund-Rinke, K; Römbke, J; Spelda, J. (2003). A biological classification concept for the assessment of soil quality: "Biological soil classification scheme" (BBSK). Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environmental, 98, 263-271.
- Rykken, JJ; Capen, DE; Mahabir, SP. (1997). Ground beetles as indicators of land type diversity in the green mountains of Vermont. *Conservation Biology*, *11*, 522-530.
- Saji, A; Al Dhaheri, S. (2011). Ecological Distribution and Seasonality of Darkling Beetles (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) in the Western Region of Abu Dhabi, UAE Middle-East. *Journal of Scientific Research*, 9, 704-710.

- Samu, F; Kadar, F; Onodi, G; Kertesz, M; Sziranyi, A; Szita, E; Fetyko, K; Botos, E; Altbacker, V. (2010). Differential ecological responses of two generalist arthropod groups, spiders and carabid beetles (Araneae, Carabidae), to the effects of wildfire. *Community Ecology*, 11, 129-139.
- Samways, MJ; McGeoch, MA; New, TR. (2010). *Insect conservation*: a handbook of approaches and methods. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Scheffler, PY. (2005). Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) diversity and community structure across three disturbance regimes in eastern Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 21, 9-29.
- Schwarzkopf, L; Rylands, AB. (1989). Primate species richness in relation to habitat structure in Amazonian rainforest fragments. *Biological Conservation*, 48, 1-12.
- Schwerk, A; Salek, P; Duszczyk, M; Szyszko, J. (2006). Variability of Carabidae in time and space in open areas. *Entomologica Fennica*, *17*, 258-268.
- Silva, CF; Fernandes, GW; Santos, JC. (2005). Comportamento de Dorcadocerus barbatus (Olivier) (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae) em Lantana camara L. (Verbenaceae). In: Congresso de Ecologia do Brasil: Caxambu. Resumo n. 616.
- Silva, JMC; Rylands, AB; Fonesca, GAB. (2005). The fate of the Amazonian areas of endemism. *Conservation Biology*, *19*, 689-694.
- Silveira, LF; Beisiegel, BM; Curcio, FF; Valdujo, PH; Dixo, M; Verdade, VK; Mattox, GMT; Cunningham, PTM. (2010). Para que servem os inventários de fauna? *Estudos Avançados*, 24, 173-207.
- Smith, MA; Wood, DM; Janzen, DH; Hallwachs, W; Hebert, PD. (2007). DNA barcodes affirm that 16 species of apparently generalist tropical parasitoid flies (Diptera, Tachinidae) are not all generalists. *Proceedings of the National of Sciences*, 104, 4967-4972.
- Smith, RJ; Merrick, MJ. (2001). Resource availability and population dynamics of Nicrophorus investigator, an obligate carrion breeder. *Ecological Entomology*, 26, 173-180.
- Soares-Filho, BS; Alencar, A; Nepstad, D; Cerqueira, G; Diaz, M; Del, CV; Rivero, S; Solórzano, L; Voll, E. (2004). Simulating the response of landcover changes to road paving and governance along a major Amazon highway: The Santarém-Cuiabá corridor.*Global Change Biology*, 10, 745-764.
- Soares-Filho, BS; Nepstad, DC; Curran, L; Cerqueira, GC; Garcia, RA; Ramos, CA; Voll, E; McDonald, V; Lefebvre, P; Schlesinger, P; McGrath, D. (2005). Cenários de desmatamento para a Amazônia. *Estudos Avançados*, 19, 137-152.
- Sotherton, NW. (1984). The distribution and abundance of predatory arthropods overwintering on farmland. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 105, 423-429.
- Souza, DS; Silva, AA. (2012). Cerambycidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) of the Parque Natural Municipal de Porto Velho, Rondônia, Western Amazon, Brazil. *Biota Neotropica*, *12*, 237-240.
- Souza-Rodrigues, EA. (2011). Demand for Deforestation in the Amazon. Job Market Paper. Availabe in:

http://cbey.yale.edu/uploads/Environmental%20Economics%20 Seminar/Souza-Rodrigues_Deforestation.pdf. [Accessed in 05/02/2014].

- Sowig, P. (1995). Habitat selection and offspring survival rate in three paracoprid dung beetles: the influence of soil type and soil moisture. *Ecograpahy*, *18*, 147-154.
- Spector, S. (2006). Scarabaeine dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae): an invertebrate focal taxon for biodiversity research and conservation. *The Coleopterists Bulletin*, *5*, 71-83.
- Spector, S; Ayzama, S. (2003). Rapid turnover and edge effects in dung beetle assemblages (Scarabaeidae) at a Bolivian Neotropical forest-savanna ecotone. *Biotropica*, *35*, 394-404.
- Stinner, BR; House, GJ. (1990). Arthropods and other invertebrates in conservationtillage agriculture. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 35, 299-318.
- Stork, NE; Eggleton, P. (1992). Invertebrates as determinants and indicators of soil quality. *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture*, 7, 38-47.
- Summerlin, JW. (1989). Techniques for collecting, rearing and handling histerid beetles. *Southwester Entomology*, 14, 127-132.
- Summerlin, JW; Fincher, GT; Roth, JP; Meola, SM. (1991). Laboratory observations on the life history and habitats of *Phelisterhae morrhous*. *Southwester Entomology 16*, 311-315.
- Teixeira, FM. (2006). A composição de Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) coprófagos na Região de Alter do Chão, Pará: A influência dos biomas Amazônia e Cerrado e da sazonalidade e os efeitos de tamanho de área, isolamento e proximidade de estradas. MSc. Thesis. Universidade Federal do Pará, Brasil.
- Thakare, VG; Zade, VS; Hegde, VD. (2012). Darkling Beetles (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) of Melghat Tiger Reserve, Central India. *Journal on New Biological Reports*, 1, 29-32.
- Thiele, HU. (1977). Carabid Beetles in Their Environments. Berlin: Springer Verlag.
- Thomazini, MJ; Thomazini, APBW. (2002). *Levantamento de Insetos e Análise Entomofaunística em Floresta, Capoeira e Pastagem no Sudeste Acreano*. Boletim de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento (Embrapa Acre).
- Van Straalen, NM; Krivolutsky, DA. (1996). *Bioindicator Systems for Soil Pollution*. Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht.
- Vasquez-Velez, LM; Bermudez, C; Chacon, P; Lozano-Zambrano, FH. (2010). Analysis of the richness of Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) on different scales of a sub-Andean rural landscape in Colombia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19, 1917-1931.
- Venier, LA; Pearce, JL. (2004). Birds as indicators of sustainable forest management. *Forestry Chronicle*, 80, 61-66.
- Venn, S. (2000). *The effects of urbanization on boreal forest ecosystems*. MSc. Thesis. University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland.

- Veríssimo, A; Barreto, P; Tarifa, R; Uhl, C. (1995). Extraction of a high-value natural resource in Amazonia: the case of Mahogany. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 72, 39-60.
- Verweij, V; Schouten, M; Van Beukering, P; Triana, J; Van der Leeuw, K; Hess, S. (2009). Keeping the Amazon forests standing: a matter of values. WWF: Netherlands.
- Vulinec, K. (2000). Dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae), monkeys and conservation in Amazonia. *Florida Entomologist*, 83, 229-241.
- Vulinec, K. (2002). Dung beetle communities and seed dispersal in primary forest and disturbed land in Amazonia. *Biotropica*, *34*, 297-309.
- Vulinec, K; Fonseca, CRV; Mellow, DJ. (2009). Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera: Lamellicornia) coprófagos da Reserva Florestal Ducke, Manaus, Brasil. In: CRV Fonseca; C Magalhães; JA Rafael; E Franklin (Org.). A fauna de Artrópodes da Reserva Florestal Ducke. Parte II - Biologia e Ecologia (pp. 249-261). Manaus, INPA.
- Freitas, AVL; Leal, IR; Uehara-Prado, M; Iannuzzi, L. (2006). Insetos como indicadores de conservação da paisagem. In CFD Rocha; M Van Sluys; HG Bergallo; MAS Alves. (Org.). *Biologia da Conservação* (pp. 357-385). São Carlos, Rima Editora.
- Vulinec, K; Lima, AP; Carvalho-Jr, EAR; Mellow, DJ. (2008). Dung beetles and longterm habitat fragmentation in Alter do Chão, Amazônia, Brazil. *Tropical Conservation Science*, 1, 111-121.
- Ward, RD; Zemlak, ST; Innes, BH; Last, PR; Hebert, PDN. (2005). DNA barcoding Australia's fish species. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 360*, 1847-1857.
- Whitmore, TC. (1997). Tropical forest disturbance, disappearance, and species loss. In WF Laurance; RO Bierregaard (Eds.). *Tropical Forest Remnants: Ecology, Management, and Conservation of Fragmented Communities.* (pp. 3-12). The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Wink, C; Guedes, JVC; Fagundes, CK; Rovedder, AP. (2005). Insetos edáficos como indicadores da qualidade ambiental. *Revista de Ciências Agroveterinárias*, 4, 60-71.
- Wolda, H. (1987). Altitude, habitat and tropical insect diversity. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *30*, 313-323.
- Yi, L; You, W; Song, Y. (2006). Soil animal communities at five succession stages in the litter of the evergreen broad-leaved forest in Tiantong, China.*Frontiers of Biology in China*, *1*, 142-150.
- Zanuncio, JC; Bragança, MAL; Laranjeiro, AJ; Fagundes, M. (1993). Coleópteros associados à eucaliptocultura nas regiões de São Mateus e Aracruz, Espírito Santo. *Revista Ceres, 40*, 584-590.

Chapter 3

Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon?

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba^{a,c,*}, Eduardo Périco^a, Marina Schmidt Dalzochio^a, Wully Barreto da Silva^b, Rita Bastos^c, João Alexandre Cabral^c, Mário Santos^c

^a University Center Univates, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil
^b Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil
^c Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal.

*Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Published in Ecological Indicators

Cajaiba, R.L.; Perico, E.; Dalzochio, M.S.; Silva, W.B.; Bastos, R.; Cabral, J.A.; Santos, M.G. Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? **Ecological Indicators**, v. 74, p. 285-294, 2017.

Abstract

Scarab beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) have been used to investigate the effects of environmental disturbances on forest structure and diversity. This group is recognized as sensitive to habitat perturbations and ecosystem changes. Here we examine the effects of anthropogenic impacts on Scarabaeidae composition, testing the following hypotheses: (1) Scarab beetle communities react to land use disturbances with predictable trends, (2) disturbed habitats are able to retain only a part of the Scarab beetle community of native forests or late secondary forests; (3) habitats largely differ in terms of species richness, taxonomic diversity and ecological composition, supporting exclusive and indicator species. We selected areas of native forest, agriculture, pasture for extensive livestock and secondary forests in different stages of regeneration. Our results show that the Scarabaeidae species were not indifferent to the gradient of structural changes represented by the studied areas. In fact, their patterns of habitat preference reveals communities more abundant and diverse in pristine habitats. In contrast, disturbed habitats, dominated by agricultural activities and pasture, indicated clear detrimental effects on the abundance of all forest Scarab beetle specialists. On the other hand, the generalist species, mainly associated with open environments, seemed to be favoured by the prevailing conditions induced by agricultural activities. Overall, the composition of the Scarab beetle communities is variable and sensitive to those structural gradients and, therefore, capable of responding as useful ecological indicators for assessing the extent of land use change or degradation.

Keywords: Land use change; Indicator species; Landscape heterogeneity; Scarabaeidae; Brazilian Amazon.

Introduction

There is enormous concern and speculation about the effects of human disturbance in the biodiversity of tropical ecosystems, namely the impacts on species composition and the modifications in the ecological services provided (e.g. Morris, 2010; Aerts and Honnay, 2011; Cajaiba et al., 2015a). The deforestation in the neotropics, namely in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and the disruption of complex global climate phenomena (e.g. Hassan et al., 2005; Morris, 2010). Therefore, the conservation of the Amazonia' ecosystems represents a growing core challenge for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately humankind (e.g. Viana and Pinheiro, 1988; Viegas et al., 2014). Even though a steady stream of scientists and a large number of publications and projects have been investigating this problem, they provide a very fragmented picture concerning the environmental changes and its ecological consequences. Furthermore, considering its vastness, most of the Amazonia' ecosystems are still marginally studied (Verweij et al., 2009; Teston et al., 2012).

Terrestrial invertebrates and especially insects play a crucial role in most ecological processes and are key components of ecosystems' structure and functioning (Bicknell et al., 2014; Viegas et al., 2014; Cajaiba and Silva, 2015; Cajaiba et al., 2015b; Campos and Hernández, 2015). In this context, insects' abundance and richness are related with other taxa, climate and soil characteristics, thus representing potential target indicators of environmental changes (e.g. Nichols et al., 2008; Cajaiba et al., 2015a). Therefore, the understanding of the ecological relevance of insects in the humid tropics could even support decision-making and robust management/recovery of imperilled ecosystems in the scope of the need for rapid, standardized and costsaving assessment methodologies (Godfray et al., 1999). Among insects, ground beetles of the family Scarabaeidae (Scarab beetles) share several features that make them highly appropriate for ecological studies, namely because they usually occur in high densities, they are functionally diverse in the tropical food webs, they are sensitive to landscape and habitat changes, and they provide cheap and easy measurements if standard methodologies are applied (Nichols et al., 2013; Bicknell et al., 2014; Viegas et al., 2014; Cajaiba et al., 2015b; Filgueiras et al., 2015).

The diversity of Scarab beetles (SB) is deeply interrelated with the structure of the habitats, with most species being highly sensitive to microclimate variations (Nichols et al., 2008; Lopes et al., 2011). In fact, SB communities respond quickly to changes in the vegetation canopy and vegetation diversity, fragmentation and/or isolation of tropical forests remnants (e.g. Nichols et al., 2007; Viegas et al., 2014; Campos and Hernández, 2015). Light intensity and humidity (Nichols et al., 2008) determined mostly by vegetation cover, soil type (Gardner et al., 2008) and the availability of faeces as a food source (Davis and Philips, 2009) are considered determinants for SB distribution. Their dependence on the faeces of vertebrates makes them also useful to monitor mammal communities (Estrada et al., 1999; Nichols et al., 2007). Additionally they are a low cost trap with relative straightforward identification (Gardner et al., 2008). Few studies relate the effects of pristine forest substitution by other anthropogenic ecosystems, such as pastures or agriculture, in the composition of SB communities in the Amazonia (Scheffler, 2005; Quintero and Halffter, 2009; Silva et al., 2014). We studied SB assemblage through habitat gradients ranging from primary forest to secondary forests, cocoa plantations and pastures in the Amazonia context. We based our analyses on three main hypotheses: (1) SB communities react to disturbances with predictable trends, (2) disturbed habitats are able to retain only a part of the SB community of native forests or late secondary forests, (3) habitats largely differ in terms of species richness, taxonomic diversity and ecological composition, supporting exclusive and indicator species compositions. Specifically, in this study we intended to: (i) assess the effects of ecosystem substitution on a neotropical SB assemblage and, (ii) demonstrate the use of SB as simple, suitable and intuitive ecological indicators for informing land use managers, namely by their capability of responding with rigour to key changes in such ecosystems, namely by detecting different levels of impacts.

Material and Methods

Study area

This study was performed near the city of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil (Fig. 1). The territorial extension of the municipality is 10796 km² and its population encompasses circa 44789 inhabitants. The dominant land use/ land cover (LU/LC) is

natural forest (69% of the area) and deforestation is concentrated mainly in the southcentral part of the territory and near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental threats (Cajaiba et al., 2015b). The studied areas contain the pertinent gradients, in terms of biophysical and ecological characteristics, for testing the response of Scarab beetle (SB) communities (Cajaiba et al., 2015b) facing the main anthropogenic drivers. These gradients encompass: Native Vegetation – NV, Early Secondary succession – ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration), Mature Secondary succession - MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Agriculture - Ag (cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock - Pa. The climate of the study area is classified as Aw (Köppen), hot and humid and the average annual rainfall is 2000 mm (Cajaiba, 2014).



Fig 1. Location of the study region in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Location of the sampling areas: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Pa, Pasture; Ag, Agriculture.

Scarab beetle sampling

Sampling was carried out during the year 2015, in the months of February/ March (rainy season), June (final of rainy season and early dry season) and September/ October (dry season). This allowed integration of annual seasonal differences in the activity of SB (Kasule, 1968). The sample points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, to ensure that most beetles captured were associated to the ecosystem in study (Buse and Good, 1993). Pitfall traps with 75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep were filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension. A roof was attached to each trap to prevent rainwater from entering the trap, remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection. Each pitfall contained different baits such as human faeces, meat and banana in order to attract different species according to their feeding habits (non-baited pitfalls were used as control).

In each study site (NV, MS, ES, Ag and Pa) seven sample points were placed 100 m apart. Each sample point contained four pitfall traps including the different baits (faeces, carrion, banana and non-baited), separated by 5 meters. The distance between pitfall traps allowed individuals to choose their preferential food resource (Almeida and Louzada 2009, Silva et al 2012). This protocol was applied to all areas and periods of collections, totalizing a sampling effort of 840 traps. The SB specimens collected were conserved in 70% ethanol and subsequently preserved in entomological blankets and identified in the laboratory to the species level where possible or assigned to morphospecies. In order to complement the pitfall derived information (Cajaiba et al., 2014), specific methods were used to collect leaf litter invertebrates. Ten random sampling points of 1 m² were selected in each ecosystem and sampling period. At each collection point ('litter-only'), only the loose soil was gently scraped with a metal trowel, to include those SB into the samples that fell out of the leaf litter during this collection procedure. We refrained from simply separating leaf litter and soil, considering that when we remove the litter, SB might flee the litter and hide in the loose topsoil.

Environmental variables

Fourteen microclimate and habitat variables were measured by location (Felton et al., 2006): Temperature-T, Humidity-H, Precipitation-P, Circumference at Breast Height-CBH, Circumference at Ankle Height-CAH, Canopy Cover-CC, Number of Plant Species-NPS, Number of Plants-NP, Number of Species of Shrubs-NSS, Number

of Shrubs-NS, Percentage of Exposed Soil-PES, Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover-PGC, Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover-PLC, Height of Leaf Litter-HLL. The T, H and P of each point were measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). To assess the environmental complexity of each sampling site, the quadrat-section method was adopted (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using a cross as a reference, four quadrants (northeast, northwest, southeast, southwest) were marked and, in each quadrant the following variables were measured: the distances to the centre of the cross, height, crown diameter and trunk diameter of all trees with circumference at breast height (CBH) greater than 15 cm and all shrubs with CAH less than 15 cm and height greater than 1 m. Trunk diameter was taken at breast height (1.3 m) for the trees and ankle height (CAH = 0.1 m) for the shrubs. In each quadrant, the HLL in 1 m \times 1 m marked square (using PVC pipe) was measured with a ruler, and the percentages of PLC, PGC and PES were measured by visual estimation using the following classes, 0-5%, 6-25%, 26–50%, 51–75%, 76–95% and 96–100% (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using these same classes, the percentage of CC in the four quadrats was calculated with a convex spherical densiometer (D) Lemmon (Lemmon, 1954).

Assemblage analysis

Species richness, Abundance, Shannon-Weiner diversity index and dominance Berger Parker index of each sampling site were measured, and differences among sites were gauged using One-Way-Analysis-of-Variance (ANOVA) and subsequent Tukey post hoc tests to check for specific differences. Before applying ANOVA, the normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test. The taxonomic composition of SB communities between sites was compared using Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA).

Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables

Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) was used to estimate the influence of the fourteen environmental variables on SB communities. Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was used to reduce variables to 4 principal components (PC). The CCA was performed with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on two axes.

IndVal

To determine possible indicator species, single value indicator (IndVal) developed by Dufrêne and Legendre (1997) was calculated, combining specificity (patterns of relative abundance) of a given species in a given environment with its fidelity within that environment (patterns of incidence). Species with a high specificity and high fidelity within a habitat are considered to achieve the highest indicator value. Only taxa with IndVal>25% were saved in the final lists (Dufrene and Legendre, 1997). This analysis was performed in R 3.2.4 program (R Core Team, 2016) using the *indicspecies* package 1.7.5 (De Cáceres and Jansen, 2015) with 9999 permutations, using data for beetle abundance.

Results

Assemblages analysis

A total of 15109 Scarab beetles were captured, distributed by nine genera and 112 species. From these, 86 species (8804 specimens) were identified in the Natural Vegetation (NV), 69 species (3941 individuals) in the Mature Secondary succession (MS), 33 species (707 individuals) in Early Secondary succession (ES), 38 species (1219 individuals) in Pasture (Pa) and 33 species (438 individuals) in Agriculture (Ag). The genus *Ateuchus* (15 species) and *Canthon* (19 species) were prevalent in all communities, with 43 percent of all specimens captured (Appendix A). Rarefaction curves for all sites reached their asymptotes values, supporting the sampling effort undertaken (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Scarab beetles individual-based rarefaction curves for the studied sites (centre lines). External lines indicate 95% confidence intervals. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

The species richness varied significantly between the study sites (F4,205 = 106.74, p<0.01). The average Scarab beetle (SB) richness was significantly higher in NV (p<0.01), differing from the other habitats considered. The second largest species richness was observed in MS, although less than NV but higher than the other sites categories (p<0.05). There was no difference in richness between ES, Pa and Ag (p>0.05) (Fig. 3a). The abundance of SB varied significantly between the study sites (F4,205=65.72, p<0.001). Mean abundance was significantly higher in NV (p<0.01), differing from the other sites. The second largest abundance was observed in MS, being less than NV and higher than the others (p<0.05) ((Fig. 3b).

Shannon diversity reached higher values in NV (H' = 3.73), followed by MS (H' = 3.64), while Ag and Pa showed greater dominance of specific species (D = 0.24 and D = 0.18, respectively) (Appendix A). The Shannon diversity varied significantly between the study sites (F4,205 = 88.32, p = 0.0001). Shannon was significantly higher

in NV (p<0.01) differing from other areas. MS presented the second highest index, being different from the other sites (p<0.01). On the other side, Pa and Ag were similar each other and different from NV (p<0.001), MS (p<0.01) and ES (p<0.05) (Fig. 3c). There was a significant difference in the Berger-Parker dominance index of the five sites studied (F4,205=34.35, p<0.01), with NV differing from Pa (p<0.05), Ag (p<0.05) and ES (p<0.01) ((Fig. 3d).



Fig. 3. Box and Whisker plots expressing the differences in the projected values for (a) Number of species (\pm SE) (b) number of individuals (\pm SE), (c) Shannon diversity (\pm SE) and (d) Berger-Parker dominance (\pm SE) of Scarabaeidae community in the different habitats considered. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

Of the 112 species sampled, 16 species were collected exclusively on native vegetation, followed by pastures with eight unique species and late secondary vegetation with five (Appendix A). There was a greater sharing of species between native vegetation and late secondary vegetation (64 species, ~57%). Native vegetation showed greater dissimilarity with cocoa, secondary vegetation and pasture (Table 1). However, a Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) showed that SB taxonomic composition varied significantly among the five sites studied (F_{4,207} = 36.59, p<0.001).

Table 1. Dissimilarity percentage among the five studied areas, with significant difference (p<0.01) according to PERMANOVA (F4,207 = 36.59). NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

| Habitat | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa |
|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|----|
| NV | 0 | - | - | - | - |
| MS | 70.68 | 0 | - | - | - |
| ES | 92.77 | 81.94 | 0 | - | - |
| Ag | 93.54 | 85.22 | 87.04 | 0 | - |
| Pa | 92.74 | 88.24 | 83.30 | 84.35 | 0 |

Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables

PC1 was positive correlated with the following environmental variables: Circumference at Breast Height (CBH); Circumference at breast ankle (CBA); Canopy Cover (CC); Number of Plant Species (NPS); Height of Leaf Litter (HLL); Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover (PLC); Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover (PGC); Number of Plants (NP); Number of Species of Shrubs (NSS), and negative correlated with Temperature (T) and Percentage of Exposed Soil (PES). PC2 was positive correlated with Humidity (H), PC3 positive correlated with Number of Shrubs (NS) and PC4 with Precipitation (P), also positively.

The first two axes generated by CCA explained 74.3% (50.1% in axis 1 and 24.2% in axis 2) of the total variation in the SB composition. Among the PC's, environmental variables represented by PC1 (R=-0.8313) were the most important

factors affecting the first axis, and the Number of shrubs (NS) (represented by PC3) (R=-0.7431) had a great correlation with the second axis (Fig. 4).

The SB communities in Mature Secondary succession (MS) was mainly determined by Number of shrubs (NS) (PC3), among which Pasture was correlated with Humidity (H) (PC2) and Precipitation (P) (PC4); Agriculture (Ag) was correlated with H (PC2) and P (PC4), as well as environmental variables represented by PC1; Habitats Native Vegetation (NV) and Early Secondary succession (ES) were correlated with environmental variables represented by PC1.

At the species level, *T. externepunctatum* was associated to sites with the highest percentage of exposed soils – PES; *C. mutabilis* and *C. lituratus* were associated with precipitation – P; *A. platensis, Aphodius* sp2, *Blackburneus* sp1 and *Canthidium* sp2 were associated with temperature – T; *E. parallelus* was associated Height of Leaf Litter – HLL; *Eurysternus* sp2 was associated with humidity – H; and *O. carinifrons* was associated with Canopy Cover – CC and Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover – PLC.



Axis 1 (50.1%)

Fig. 4. Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) used to estimate the influence of environmental variables on Scarabaeidae communities. Four axes were considered in the Principal Components Analysis (PCA), including 4 principal components (PC). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession (15 years of natural regeneration of vegetation); ES, Early secondary succession (five years of natural regeneration of vegetation); Ag, Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa, Pasture.

IndVal

According to IndVal, 23 SB species were significantly associated with NV, 8 SB species were associated with PA, and 6 with ES. Ag and MS have only 1 associated species. The genus that presented the highest number of indicator species (5 species) was *Onthophagus*, 4 for native vegetation and 1 for pasture. *Canthon* also features 5 species, all associated to altered habitats, including 3 to ES and 1 for Ag and Pa. In general, 14 genera have exclusive species for sites (NV: *Uroxys, Oxysternon, Coprophanaeus, Eurysternus, Dichotomius, Scybalocanthon, Deltochilum, Phanaeus;* ES: *Diabroctis, Ataenius, Cryptocanthon;* Pa: *Aphodius, Gromphas e Sulcophanaeus*) (Table 2).

Table 2. Analysis of SB' indicator species (IndVal) from NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture (only taxa with IndVal>25%).

| Species | Indicator value | р | Site |
|--|-----------------|-------|------|
| Ateuchus connexus (Harold 1868) | 1.000 | 0.005 | NV |
| Uroxys sp1 | 0.976 | 0.005 | NV |
| Uroxys sp2 | 0.964 | 0.005 | NV |
| Onthophagus haemathopus (Harold 1875) | 0.864 | 0.005 | NV |
| Onthophagus bidentatus (Drapiez 1819) | 0.843 | 0.005 | NV |
| Ateuchus murrayi (Harold 1868) | 0.837 | 0.005 | NV |
| Ontherus carinifrons (Luederwaldt 1930) | 0.829 | 0.005 | NV |
| Ateuchus pygidialis (Harold 1868) | 0.825 | 0.005 | NV |
| Oxysternon durantoni (Arnaud 1984) | 0.816 | 0.005 | NV |
| Coprophanaeus telamon (Erichson 1847) | 0.756 | 0.005 | NV |
| Onthophagus clypeatus (Blanchard 1846) | 0.690 | 0.005 | NV |
| Eurysternus strigilatus (Génier 2009) | 0.667 | 0.005 | NV |
| Dichotomius boreus (Olivier 1789) | 0.595 | 0.005 | NV |
| Onthophagus sp2 | 0.563 | 0.005 | NV |
| Dichotomius subaeneus (Castelnau 1840) | 0.535 | 0.005 | NV |
| Oxysternon sp1 | 0.512 | 0.005 | NV |
| Eurysternus ventricosus (Gill 1990) | 0.448 | 0.005 | NV |
| Scybalocanthon sexpilotus (Guérin 1855) | 0.444 | 0.005 | NV |
| Coprophanaeus sp1 | 0.352 | 0.005 | NV |
| Canthidium sp3 | 0.342 | 0.005 | NV |
| Deltochilum carinatum (Westwood 1848) | 0.309 | 0.010 | NV |
| Dichotomius melzeri (Luederwaldt 1922) | 0.309 | 0.010 | NV |
| Phanaeus bispinus (Bates 1868) | 0.309 | 0.010 | NV |
| Ateuchus sp8 | 0.674 | 0.005 | MS |
| Canthon sp6 | 0.772 | 0.005 | ES |
| Diabroctis mimas (Linné 1758) | 0.577 | 0.005 | ES |
| Canthon chalybaeus (Blanchard 1846) | 0.535 | 0.005 | ES |
| <i>Canthon</i> sp7 | 0.408 | 0.005 | ES |
| Ataenius sp4 | 0.282 | 0.005 | ES |
| Cryptocanthon peckorum (Howden 1973) | 0.267 | 0.025 | ES |
| <i>Canthon</i> sp1 | 0.674 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Onthophagus hirculus (Mannerheim 1829) | 0.716 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Canthon histrio (LePeletier e Serville 1828) | 0.469 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Ontherus pubens (Genier 1966) | 0.469 | 0.005 | Pa |

| Aphodius sp4 | 0.442 | 0.005 | Pa |
|-------------------------------------|-------|-------|----|
| Canthidium aff. ardens (Bates 1887) | 0.413 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Gromphas aeruginosa (Perty 1830) | 0.413 | 0.005 | Ра |
| Aphodius sp3 | 0.383 | 0.005 | Ра |
| Sulcophanaeus sp1 | 0.271 | 0.020 | Pa |

Discussion

Although considerable effort has been made to identify the most appropriate ecological indicators for assessing the status of disturbed habitats, this exercise have revealed widely differing views on why and what to measure and quantify. Since the conventional measures regarding biodiversity studies require multiple specialization levels and are difficult to implement due to resource constraints, we proposed alternative indicators capable of responding with comparable rigour to key changes in such habitats by using the species composition of Scarab beetles (SB) assemblages as surrogates. This proposal can only be properly addressed when the sampling effort associated with the heterogeneity of the habitats is considered in the scope of the need for rapid, standardized and cost-saving assessment methodologies (Scott and Anderson, 2003). In this context, the rarefaction curves of our work, depicted their asymptotes values, indicate that the sampling effort was enough to sample most SB fauna in heterogeneous habitats. The species richness (112 species) is comparatively higher when compared to the values reported from Malaysia (Davis, 2000), Peru (Valencia, 2001), French Guyana (Feer, 2000), African rain forests (Cambefort and Walter, 1991) rain forests of Mexico (Estrada and Coates-Estrada, 2002), Colombia (Escobar, 2000), Australia (Howden et al., 1991) and even to the Brazilian rain forests (Korasaki et al., 2013; Silva et al., 2014; França et al., 2016).

Assemblages analysis

The complexity of the habitat appears to influence species richness, diversity and the abundance of Scarab beetles, corroborating the results of Tews et al. (2004) and Navarrete and Halffter (2008). The applied indexes attained higher values for native vegetation and/or mature secondary vegetation, as a result of greater environmental complexity observed in relation to areas of anthropic influence (as pastures, cocoa and vegetation in initial stage of regeneration). In fact, environmental complexity allows the coexistence of a larger set of species in pristine areas, due to the wider variety of resources offered (Blake and Kar, 1987; Casas et al., 2016). This also justifies the extraordinary abundance of a few species in pastures and agriculture (for details see Appendix A), mostly adapted to homogeneous microclimatic and structural factors (Quintero and Halffter, 2009; Silva et al., 2014). According to Harper and Hawksworth (1994), Vinod and Sabu (2007), a taxonomic composition index is a measure of spread of biodiversity, indicating differences among habitats. The PERMANOVA analysis corroborated this finding showing that the most pristine habitats are similar, while the most disturbed environments form the farthest group. The observed differences in the composition of the beetles in this study might also be explained by the diversity of mammals (primarily primates) in native vegetation and late secondary vegetation, leading to superior availability of food resources for the Scarab beetles (SB). Furthermore, these areas have a higher fruit production, which serve as a secondary food resource for several species of SB (Culot et al., 2013; Silva and Hernández, 2016). Disturbed habitats, such as pastures and cocoa, are typically characterized by a relatively open canopy with hot and dry understory environments (Gardner et al., 2008), which might explain the impoverishment observed in the communities of SB. In fact, SB are intolerante to high temperatures (Chown, 2001; Campos and Hernandez, 2013), to solar radiation on adult activity patterns (Moreira et al., 2009; Korasaki et al., 2013) and to the decrease of soil moisture on survival of larvae, all considered limiting factors for several SB species (Gardner et al., 2008; Cajaiba et al., 2015a).

Association of Scarab beetle assemblages with environmental variables

The PCA/CCA analysis demonstrated that SB assemblages of anthropogenic habitats (Pasture and Agriculture) are mainly influenced by patterns of humidity and precipitation. In contrast, the communities of primary forest (native vegetation) are positively influenced by the structural vegetation characteristics, soil, and temperature, which are also important determinants of dung beetle communities in other regions of Brazil (Campos and Hernández, 2013; Silva and Hernández, 2016).

The lower temperatures that occur in pristine forests affect positively larger SB, such as *C. telamon* and *O. durantoni*, found exclusively on primary forest. These low temperatures increase their ability to build nests in underground galleries, increasing the survival rate of larvae in response to moist soils (Anduaga, 2004). These results are similar to the findings on the Amazon by Gardner et al. (2008) who observed an increased abundance of larger SB species in more pristine areas, suggesting that the differences in SB communities can be explained by changes in the structure of the vegetation.

The species richness observed in forest areas and/or mature succession could be associated with the availability of niches and food resources. On the other hand, disturbed areas support mostly generalist and tolerant SB species. In fact, the distribution of dung beetles along different environmental characteristics seems to demonstrate discrete associations with particular biotypes within the landscape (Viegas et al., 2014; Silva and Hernández, 2016). Furthermore, the species richness, abundance and biomass seem to be negatively affected in disturbed habitats (Gardner et al., 2008; Silva and Hernández, 2016). These environmental characteristics are also expected to affect the distribution of some mammalian species (Culot et al., 2013) and therefore, the intake of food resources for dung beetles (Silva and Hernández, 2016). Our results also substantiate the meta-analysis carried out by Rey Benayas et al. (2009), which concluded that restoration efforts tend to increase species richness, diversity and abundance of SB. Nichols et al. (2007) concluded that the land use systems with a high degree of forest cover harbour SB assemblages, similar to the results found in the pristine forests of our study area.

Value indicator - IndVal

The IndVal has been used in several works (Barlow et al., 2010; Viegas et al., 2014; Bicknell et al., 2014), due to its efficiency in identifying habitat bioindicators (Shahabuddin et al., 2005; Korasaki, 2010). In this study, *O. hirculus, Canthon* sp6 and *Canthon* sp1, appear as good surrogates of disturbed environments, namely in pastures, early secondary vegetation and cacao, respectively. It is interesting to highlight the ecological function of the *O. hirculus* (pasture indicator), because it is an excavator, providing valuable services in removing faecal masses on pasture area and contributing

to the biological control of fly and helminth parasites of veterinary importance (Silva et al., 2012). On the other hand, the species *A. connexus*, *Uroxys* sp1 and sp2, *O. haemathopus*, *O. bidentatus*, *A. murrayi*, *O. carinifrons*, *A. pygidialis*, *O. durantoni* and *C. telamon* are indicators of native vegetation and *Ateuchus* sp8 mature secondary vegetation. These species are commonly collected in primary forests and secondary late vegetation (Korasaki, 2010; Korasaki et al., 2012).

The results of this analysis, signals indicator species for all habitats might help with the management of neotropical systems highly affected by several anthropogenic pressures (Simões, 2013), allowing environmental managers and decision-makers, to anticipate impacts and support the development of measures to minimize the problems identified, in addition to support the management strategies and restoration of the forest ecosystems for a certain region of interest. Our work should be complemented by ecological and behavioural studies to understand and assess the state of conservation of the ecosystems considered (Brown, 1997), because ecological assessment and monitoring are important procedures to address effective management of ecosystems and natural resources, in which the use of essential indicators of ecosystem integrity is considered crucial to measure and evaluate the status and trends of target environmental systems (Kandziora et al. 2013).

Conclusion

Our results suggest a decrease in species richness and abundance of Scarabaeidae throughout gradients of habitat disturbance of the native tropical forests in Amazonia, with main finding supporting to the hypotheses that: (1) habitats largely differ in terms of species richness, taxonomic and ecological composition, with each habitat supporting exclusive and indicator species; (2) disturbed habitats (i.e. replacement of native forests by pasture or crops) are able to retain less species of Scarabaeidae than native forests or late secondary forests; (3) forest generalist species with more preserved habitat requirements may disappear after the destruction or depletion of their habitat. Our findings highlight the role of Scarabaeidae as a suitable key taxonomic group to evaluate the ecological status of changing neotropical ecosystems. Nevertheless, since the ecological status of the studied habitats can be only partly assessed by the Scarab beetles (SB) composition, this approach also provides a useful starting point, allowing the precise development of more complete standardized data sets and information on the patterns of the species' functional response to changing ecosystems.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank SEMMA/ Uruará for logistics support. We also thank the Lucas Paixão, Edielson Mendes, Ediones Santos and Sidicley Santos for assistance in the field works. Dr. Thiago Bernardi (UFPA) for support in statistical analysis.

References

- Aerts, R., Honnay, O., 2011. Forest restoration, biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. BMC Ecology 11, 1-10.
- Almeida, S.S.P., Louzada, J.N.C., 2009. Estrutura da comunidade de Scarabaeinae (Scarabaeidae: Coleoptera) em fitofisionomias do Cerrado e sua importância para a conservação. Neotrop. Entomol. 38, 32-43.
- Anduaga, S., 2004. Impact of the activity of dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) inhabiting pasture land in Durango, Mexico. Environ. Entomol. 33, 1306-1312.
- Barlow, J., Louzada, J., Parry, L., Hernández, M.I.M., Hawes, J., Peres, C.A., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z., Gardner, T.A., 2010. Improving the design and management of forest strips in humandominated tropical landscapes: A field test on Amazonian dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 779-788.
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J., Davies, Z.G., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. Ecol. Indic. 43, 154-161.
- Blake, J.G., Karr, J.R., 1987. Breeding birds of isolated woodlots: area and habitat relationships. Ecology 6, 1724-1734.
- Brown, K.S., 1997. Diversity, disturbance, and sustainable use of Neotropical forests: insects as indicators for conservation monitoring. J. Insect Conserv., 1, 25-42.
- Buse, A., Good, J.E.G., 1993. The effect of conifer forest design and management on abundance and diversity of rove beetles (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae) - implications for conservation. Biol. Conserv. 64, 67-76.
- Cajaiba, R.L., 2014. Morcegos (Mammalia, Chiroptera) em cavernas no município de Uruará, Pará, norte do Brasil. Biota Amazônia 4, 81-86.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2015b. A Minimal Invasive Method to Forecast the Effects of Anthropogenic Disturbance on Tropical Cave Beetle Communities. Neotrop. Entomol. 4, 1-9.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Paixão, L.J., Santos, S.M., Barbosa, I.M., Silva, W.B., 2014. Inventário de araneofauna (Arachnida, Araneae) coletadas em pastagens no município de Uruará, Pará, Brasil. Biota Amazônia 4, 98-101.

- Cajaiba, R.L., Perico, E., Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2015a. Beetles: Biodiversity, Ecology and Role in the Environment. In: Stack, C. (Ed). Assessing the Potential Role of Ground Beetles (Coleoptera) as Ecological Indicators in Tropical Ecosystems: A Review. New York: Nova Science Publishers, pp. 51-84.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Silva, W.B., 2015. Abundância e Diversidade de Coleoptera (Arthropoda: Insecta) de Solo em Fragmentos de Capoeira ao Entorno da Zona Urbana do Município de Uruará-PA, Brasil. EntomoBrasilis 8, 30-37.
- Cambefort, Y., Walter, P., 1991. Dung beetles in Tropical Forests in Africa. In: Hanski, I., Cambefort, Y. (ed.). Dung beetle ecology. Princeton University Press; pp. 198-210.
- Campos, R.C., Hernández, M.I.M., 2013. Dung beetle assemblages (Coleoptera, Scarabaeinae) in Atlantic forest fragments in southern Brazil. Rev. Bras. Entomol 57, 47-54.
- Campos, R.C., Hernández, M.I.M., 2015. Changes in the dynamics of functional groupsin communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. Ecol. Indic. 49, 216-227.
- Casas, G., Darski, B., Ferreira, P.M.A., Kindel, A., Müller, S.C., 2016. Habitat structure influences the diversity, richness and composition of bird assemblages in successional Atlantic rain forests. Tropical Conservation Science 9, 503-524.
- Chown, S.L., 2001. Physiological variation in insects: hierarchical levels and implications. J. Insect. Physiol. 47, 649-660.
- Culot, L., Bovy, E., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Guevara, R., Galetti, M., 2013. Selective defaunation affects dung beetle communities in continuous Atlantic rainforest. Biol. Conserv. 163, 79-89.
- Davis, A.J., 2000. Species richness of dung-feeding beetles (Coleoptera: Aphodiidae, Scarabaeidae, Hybosoridae) in Tropical rainforest at Danum Valley, Sabah, Malaysia. Coleopts. Bull. 54, 221-231.
- Davis, A.L.V., Philips, T.K., 2009. Regional fragmentation of rain forest in West Africa and its effect on local dung beetle assemblage structure. Biotropica 41, 215-220.
- De Caceres, M., Jansen, F., 2015. Package 'indicspecies'. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=indicspecies>.

- Dufrêne, M., Legendre, P., 1997. Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol. Monogr. 67, 345-366.
- Escobar, F., 2000. Diversidad de coleopteros coprofagos (Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) en un mosaico de habitats en al Reserva Natural Nukak, Guaviare, Colombia. Acta Zool. Mex., 79, 103-121.
- Estrada, A., Anzures, A., Coates-Estrada, R., 1999. Tropical rain forest fragmentation, Howler Monkeys (*Alouatta palliata*) and dung beetles at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. American Journal of Primatology 48, 253-262.
- Estrada, A., Coates-Estrada, R., 2002. Dung beetles in continuous forest, forest fragments and in an agricultural mosaic habitat island at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. Biodivers. Conserv. 11, 1903-1918.
- Feer, F., 2000. Les Coléoptères Coprophages Et Nécrophages (Scarabaeidae S. Str. Et Aphodiidae) De La Forêt De Guyane Française: Composition Spécifique Et Structure Des Peuplements. Ann. Soc. Entomol. Fr. 36, 29-43.
- Felton, A., Felton, A.M., Wood, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2006. Vegetation structure, phenology, and regeneration in the natural and anthropogenic tree-fall gaps of a reduced-impact logged subtropical Bolivian forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 235, 186-193.
- Filgueiras, B.K.C., Tabarelli, M., Leal, I.R., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Iannuzzi, L., 2015. Dung beetle persistence in human-modified landscapes: Combining indicator species with anthropogenic land use and fragmentation-related effects. Ecol. Indic. 55, 65-73.
- França, F., Louzada, J., Korasaki, V., Griffiths, H., Silveira, J.M., Barlow, J., 2016. Do space-for-time assessments underestimate the impacts of logging on tropical biodiversity? An Amazonian case study using dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 1-8.
- Gardner, T.A., Hernández, M.I.M., Barlow, J., Peres, C.A., 2008. Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for neotropical dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 883-893.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Lewis, O.T., Memmott, J., 1999. Studying insect diversity in the tropics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 354, 1811-1824.
- Harper, J.L., Hawksworth, D.L., 1994. Biodiversity: measurement and estimation. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 345, 5-12.

- Hassan, R., Scholes, R., Ash, N., 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends, vol. 1. New York, Island Press.
- Howden, H.F., Howden, A.T., Storey, R.I., 1991. Nocturnal perching of Scarabaeidae dung beetles (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae) in an Australian tropical rain forest. *Biotropica* 23, 51-57.
- Kandziora, M., Burkhard, B., Müller, F., 2013. Interactions of ecosystem properties, ecosystem integrity and ecosystem service indicators - a theoretical matrix exercise. Ecol Indic 28, 54-78
- Kasule, F.K., 1968. Field studies on the life-histories of some British Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Trans. Soc. Brit. Entomol. 18, 49-80.
- Korasaki, V., 2010. Respostas espaciais e temporais da comunidade de escarabeíneos e formigas ao gradiente de uso da terra, no oeste da Amazônia. Tese, UFLA, 2010. 203 f.
- Korasaki, V., Braga, R.F., Zanetti, R., Moreira, F.M.S, Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Louzada, J., 2013. Conservation value of alternative land-use systems for dung beetles in Amazon: valuing traditional farming practices. Biodivers. Conserv. 22, 1485-1499.
- Korasaki, V., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z., Braga, R.F., Zanetti, R., Louzada, J., 2012. Taxocenose de Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) em Benjamin Constant, AM. Acta Amazônica 42, 423-432.
- Lopes, J., Korasaki, V., Catelli, L.L., Marçal, V.V.M., Nunes, M.P.B.P., 2011. A comparison of dung beetle assemblage structure (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) between an Atlantic forest fragment and adjacent abandoned pasture in Paraná, Brazil. Zoologia 28, 72-79.
- Moreira, F.M.S., Nóbrega, R.S.A., Jesus, E.C., Ferreira, D.F., Pérez, D.V., 2009. Differentiation in the fertility of inceptisols as related to use in the upper Solimões river region, western Amazon. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 349-355.
- Morris, R.J., 2010. Anthropogenic impacts on tropical forest biodiversity: a network structure and ecosystem functioning perspective. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 3709-3718.
- Navarrete, D., Halffter, G., 2008. Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) diversity in continuous forest, forest fragments and cattle pastures in

a landscape of Chiapas, Mexico: the effects of anthropogenic changes. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 2869-2898.

- Nichols, E., Larsen, T., Spector, S., Davis, A.L., Escobar, F., Favila, M., Vulinec, K., 2007. Global dung beetle response to tropical forest modification and fragmentation: a quantitative literature review and meta-analysis. Biol. Conserv. 137, 1-19.
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461-1474.
- Nichols, E., Uriarte, M., Bunker, D.E., Favila, M.E., Slade, E.M., Vulinec, K., Larsen, T.,Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Louzada, J., Naeem, S., Spector, S.H., 2013. Traitdependent response of dung beetle populations to tropical forest conversion at local andregional scales. Ecology 94, 180-189.
- Quintero, I., Halffter, G., 2009. Temporal changes in a community of dung beetles (Insecta: Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) resulting from the modification and fragmentation of tropical rain forest. Acta Zoológica Mexicana 25, 625-649.
- Rey Benayas, J.M., Newton, A.C., Diaz, A., Bullock, J.M., 2009. Enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services by ecological restoration: a meta-analysis. Science 325, 1121-1124.
- Scheffler, P.Y., 2005. Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) diversity and community structure across three disturbance regimes in eastern Amazonia. Journal of Tropical Ecology 21, 9-19.
- Scott, W.A., Anderson, R., 2003. Temporal and spatial variation in carabid assemblages from the United Kingdom Environmental Change Network. Biol. Conserv. 110, 197-210.
- Shahabuddin, Christian, H.S., Tscharntke, T., 2005. Changes of dung beetle communities from rainforest towards agroforestry systems and annual cultures in Sulawesi (Indonesia). Biodivers. Conserv. 14, 863-877.
- Silva, P.G., Hernández, M.I.M., 2016. Spatial variation of dung beetle assemblages associated with forest structure in remnants of southern Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Rev. Brasil. Entomol. 60, 73-81.

- Silva, P.G., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Di Mare, R.A., 2012. Attractiveness of different baitto the Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in forest fragments in extreme Southern Brazil. Zool. Stud. 51, 429-441.
- Silva, R.J., Coletti, F., Costa, D.A., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z., 2014. Rola-bostas (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) de florestas e pastagens no sudoeste da Amazônia brasileira: Levantamento de espécies e guildas alimentares. Acta Amazônica 44, 345-352.
- Silva, R.J., Diniz, S., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., 2010. Heterogeneidade do habitat, riqueza e estrutura da assembleia de besouros rola-bostas (Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) em áreas de cerrado na Chapada dos Parecis, MT. Neotrop. Entomol. 39, 934-941.
- Simões, T.R.O., 2013. Diversidade de besouros indicadores em fragmentos florestais nativos e exóticos na região de Anitápolis - Santa Catarina, Brasil. Monografia (UFSC), 63f.
- Teston, J.A., Novaes, J.B, Almeida Júnior, J.O.B., 2012. Abundância, Composição e Diversidade de Arctiinae (Lepidoptera, Arctiidae) em um fragmento de floresta na Amazônia Oriental em Altamira, PA, Brasil. Acta Amazônica 42, 105-114.
- Tews, J., Brose, U., Grimm, V., Tielborger, K., Wichmann, M.C., Schwager, M., Jeltsch, F., 2004. Animal species diversity driven by habitat heterogeneity/diversity: the importance of keystone structures. J. Biogeogr. 31, 79-92.
- Valencia, G., 2001. Diversity and Trophic Relationships of Dung Beetles of the Lower Urubamba Region, Peru. In: Alonso, A., Dallmeier, F., Campbell, P. (ed.).
 Urubamba: The Biodiversity of a Peruvian Rainforest. SI/MAB Series #7, Smithsonian Institution; Washington, DC: 2001. pp. 121-128.
- Verweij, V., Schouten, M., Van Beukering, P., Triana, J., Van der Leeuw, K., Hess, S., 2009. Keeping the Amazon forests standing: a matter of values. WWF: Netherlands.
- Viana, V.M., Pinheiro, L.A.F.V., 1988. Conservação da biodiversidade em fragmentos florestais. IPEF 32, 25-42.
- Viegas, G., Stenert, C., Schulz, U.H., Maltchik, L., 2014. Dung beetle communities as biological indicators of riparian forest widths in southern Brazil. Ecol. Indic. 36, 703-710.

Vinod, K.V., Sabu, T.K., 2007. Species Composition and Community Structure of Dung Beetles Attracted to Dung of Gaur and Elephant in the Moist Forests of South Western Ghats. J. Insect. Sci. 7, 1-14.

Appendix A

Total numbers of Scarabaeidae species in the environments different in the Brazilian Amazon. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Mature secondary succession (15 years of regeneration); ES =Early secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture.

| Species | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa |
|---------------------------|-----|-----|----|----|----|
| Coprophanaeus lancifer | 48 | 39 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Coprophanaeus telamon | 41 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Coprophanaeus degallieri | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| Coprophanaeus sp1 | 7 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Oxysternon durantoni | 105 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Oxysternon conspicillatum | 23 | 0 | 43 | 0 | 0 |
| Oxysternon sp1 | 19 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sulcophanaeus faunus | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sulcophanaeus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 |
| Eurysternus atrosericus | 81 | 30 | 0 | 8 | 0 |
| Eurysternus parallelus | 133 | 54 | 6 | 24 | 0 |
| Eurysternus caribaeus | 174 | 76 | 11 | 9 | 0 |
| Eurysternus wittmerorum | 71 | 54 | 9 | 3 | 0 |
| Eurysternus strigilatus | 37 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Eurysternus ventricosus | 17 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Eurysternus foedus | 21 | 20 | 8 | 5 | 0 |
| Eurysternus hamaticollis | 14 | 12 | 12 | 0 | 0 |
| <i>Eurysternus</i> sp1 | 75 | 32 | 9 | 16 | 0 |
| <i>Eurysternus</i> sp2 | 46 | 46 | 21 | 0 | 0 |
| <i>Eurysternus</i> sp3 | 90 | 118 | 44 | 0 | 0 |
| Uroxys sp1 | 320 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Uroxys sp2 | 90 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus pygidiali | 101 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus murrayi | 470 | 98 | 0 | 0 | 98 |
| Ateuchus connexus | 304 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus pygidialis | 123 | 51 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus candezei | 133 | 44 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus simplex | 59 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus sp1 | 29 | 33 | 11 | 11 | 24 |
| Ateuchus sp2 | 51 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 36 |
| Ateuchus sp3 | 296 | 98 | 26 | 4 | 0 |
| Ateuchus sp4 | 181 | 55 | 4 | 0 | 12 |
| Ateuchus sp5 | 320 | 88 | 31 | 2 | 0 |
| Ateuchus sp6 | 68 | 37 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus sp7 | 28 | 47 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ateuchus sp8 | 0 | 43 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| Ateuchus sp9 | 323 | 109 | 6 | 0 | 0 |

| Anomiopus sp1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
|---------------------------|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|
| Canthon luteicollis | 136 | 107 | 31 | 9 | 6 |
| Canthon simulans | 11 | 25 | 66 | 15 | 232 |
| Canthon chalybaeus | 0 | 0 | 15 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthon aequinoctialis | 81 | 36 | 0 | 12 | 0 |
| Canthon fulgidus | 68 | 84 | 48 | 12 | 106 |
| Canthon quadriguttatus | 21 | 9 | 0 | 3 | 11 |
| Canthon triangularis | 165 | 89 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthon subhyalinus | 26 | 27 | 0 | 2 | 3 |
| Canthon lituratus | 68 | 15 | 77 | 0 | 98 |
| Canthon mutabilis | 0 | 0 | 33 | 0 | 16 |
| Canthon histrio | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12 |
| Canthon sp1 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 21 | 0 |
| Canthon sp2 | 312 | 90 | 11 | 106 | 77 |
| Canthon sp3 | 24 | 5 | 0 | 27 | 0 |
| Canthon sp4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 29 | 14 |
| Canthon sp5 | 36 | 53 | 32 | 25 | 111 |
| Canthon sp6 | 21 | 0 | 16 | 9 | 0 |
| Canthon sp7 | 0 | 0 | 30 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthon sp8 | 0 | 0 | 7 | 0 | 0 |
| <i>Canthonella</i> sp1 | 26 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 16 |
| Deltochilum orbiculare | 61 | 28 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| Deltochilum submetallicum | 337 | 173 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Deltochilum carinatum | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Deltochilum icarus | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Deltochilum sp1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Sylvicanthon sp1 | 15 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| Scybalocanthon sexpilotus | 12 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthidium deyrollei | 548 | 236 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthidium ardens | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12 |
| <i>Canthidium</i> sp1 | 6 | 23 | 0 | 20 | 10 |
| Canthidium sp2 | 9 | 3 | 0 | 7 | 20 |
| Canthidium sp3 | 54 | 14 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Canthidium sp4 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 |
| Canthidium sp5 | 487 | 196 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius apicalis | 43 | 21 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius boreus | 28 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius subaeneus | 80 | 82 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius lucasi | 78 | 70 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius subaeneus | 21 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius sp1 | 404 | 297 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius sp2 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius worontzowi | 10 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dichotomius melzeri | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | | | |

| Deltochilum carinatum | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
|-------------------------------------|-------|-------|------|------|-------|
| Ontherus carinifrons | 463 | 201 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ontherus pubens | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 23 |
| Ontherus sp1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Onthophagus bidentatus | 302 | 98 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Onthophagus haemathopus | 213 | 69 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Onthophagus clypeatus | 37 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Onthophagus hirculus | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 54 |
| Onthophagus sp1 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 |
| Onthophagus sp2 | 26 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Onthophagus sp3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ataenius platensis | 27 | 3 | 0 | 6 | 26 |
| Ataenius sp1 | 24 | 19 | 27 | 17 | 43 |
| Ataenius sp2 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 8 |
| Ataenius sp3 | 0 | 13 | 2 | 4 | 12 |
| Ataenius sp4 | 0 | 0 | 6 | 3 | 0 |
| Phanaeus chalcomelas | 9 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Phanaeus bispinus | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Phanaeus sp1 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Aphodius sp1 | 13 | 19 | 2 | 10 | 12 |
| Aphodius sp2 | 7 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 13 |
| Aphodius sp3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12 |
| Aphodius sp4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Blackburneus sp1 | 12 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 12 |
| Diabroctis mimas | 0 | 0 | 25 | 0 | 0 |
| Cryptocanthon peckorum | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 |
| Trichillum externepunctatum | 0 | 0 | 29 | 0 | 65 |
| Scarabaeidae 1 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 2 |
| Digitonthophagus gazela | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 |
| Gromphas aeruginos | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 18 |
| Macraspis sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 |
| Abundance | 8.804 | 3.941 | 707 | 438 | 1.219 |
| Richness (S) | 86 | 69 | 44 | 33 | 38 |
| Shannon-Weiner diversity index (H') | 3.73 | 3.64 | 3.16 | 2.95 | 2.96 |
| Dominance Berger Parker (D) | 0.06 | 0.08 | 0.10 | 0.24 | 0.18 |

Chapter 4

Attractiveness of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits in the Brazilian Amazon region

Reinaldo L. Cajaiba^{1,3*}, Eduardo Périco¹, Wully B. da Silva² & Mário Santos³ 1. University Center Univates, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil; reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com, perico@univates.br

2. Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil; wully_bio@hotmail.com

3. Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal; mgsantoss@gmail.com

*Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Published in Revista de Biologia Tropical

Cajaiba, R.L.; Perico, E.; Silva, W.B.; Santos, M. Attractiveness of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits in the Brazilian Amazon region. **Revista de Biologia Tropical**, v. 65, p. 917-924, 2017

Abstract

Dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) are considered essential for enhancing the physicochemical characteristics of soils, principally by changing organic materials (e.g. dead animals, faeces, fruits e leaf litter). This study compared the species richness and abundance of dung beetles captured using various types of baits, to demonstrate attractiveness differences in variable habitats of the Brazilian Amazon. Samplings were carried out with pitfall traps baited with human faeces, rotten banana, rotten meat and a non-baited trap, in February, March, June, September and October 2015. Habitats included native forests, agriculture areas, pastures and disturbed forests in different regeneration stages. A total of 13 736 Scarabaeinae beetles were captured, distributed over 98 species. Most individuals were captured using traps baited with faeces (76.7 % of individuals), followed by rotten meat baited traps (17.8 % of individuals), fermented banana baited traps (3.9 % of individuals) and finally by nonbaited traps (1.6 % of individuals). A significant difference in attractiveness of the different baits used and habitats types was observed. Most of the captured assemblages were composed by coprophagous (42 %), generalist species (32 %), necrophagous (15 %) and none was classified as saprophagous. Approximately 54 % of the specimens were tunnelers, 25 % were rollers and 12 % were dwellers. The species of Scarabaeinae sampled in the region revealed qualitative and quantitative differences among their assemblages and the phytophysiognomies. The forest environments housed the greatest species richness observed, and a fraction of these is exclusive of those areas. We concluded that some species of Scarabaeinae have an important potential as disturbance indicators in the Amazonian ecosystem.

Key words: dung beetles, dung attractiveness, food preference, trophic guild, tropical forest.
The subfamily Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) includes dung beetles (DB), a globally distributed group of detritus-feeding insects, determinant of ecological functions such as nutrient recycling, secondary seed dispersal, bioturbation, and natural control of cattle parasites (Nichols et al., 2008; Simmons & Ridsdill-Smith, 2011). Their contribution to the improvement of the physico-chemical properties of the soil and plants is associated with increased edaphic aeration and hydration (Andresen, 2002; Nichols et al., 2008).

Mammalian dung is one of the most important food resources for dung beetle communities, being also the dominant substrate for oviposition (Filgueiras, Liberal, Aguiar, Hernández, & Iannuzzi, 2009). Anyhow, in the Neotropics, fungi, plants and carcasses are also used by several species as food resource (Halffter & Matthews, 1966). This seems related to the local availability of the ecosystem that provides food for the maintenance of diverse DB strategies. When the food source is not available due to various limiting factors, several DB can use other similar state resources (in the process of decomposition) as food (Da Silva & Audino, 2011). This feeding diversification observed in the Neotropics is believed to have occurred during the extinction of large mammals in the late Pleistocene (Halffter, 1991; Larsen, Lopera, & Forsyth, 2006).

In tropical regions, the main types of baits used for monitoring DB are cattle dung (Andresen, 2008; Ueda, Dwibadra, Noerdjito, Kon, & Fukuyama, 2015) and human faeces (Vieira, Louzada, & Spector, 2008). Alternative baits have included the dung of other mammals, rotting fruits (Vieira et al., 2008; Ueda et al., 2015) and carrion (Ueda et al., 2015). Different food preferences reduce inter specific competition, allowing the coexistence of diverse DB species, in particular neotropical ecosystems. Indeed the occupation of diverse ecological niches increases diversity for specific locations (Da Silva & Audino, 2011). The presence/ abundance and type of food types, associated with other factors such as climate, animal migrations and life cycles, in addition to altitude and landscape features, might affect the spatial and temporal distribution of Scarabaeinae (Filgueiras et al., 2009).

The use of DB in the Brazilian Amazon is in its initial stage, despite already having a reasonable number of publications associated, mostly restricted to the South and Southeast part of the country. Furthermore, the DB research and applications could be significantly improved through using standardized methods and data sets, supported on the species preferences and patterns of functional response to disturbance (Cajaiba, Perico, Cabral, & Santos, 2015a). In fact, understating food preferences of DB assemblages is fundamental to enlighten managers on the effects of changes occurring in tropical regions. The use of trophic guilds/functional guilds (necrophagous, saprophagous, coprophagous, tunnelers, dwellers and rollers) may also reveal interesting differences in the structure and functioning of ecosystems and landscape (Paoletti, 1999).

The present study compared the DB richness, abundance and functional diversity when captured using different types of baits in variable habitats of the Brazilian Amazon, in order to: a) assess the general attractiveness of baits, and b) gauge the relation between specific baits' diversity and the dominant habitats. The presented method and results could be used to support a standardization of field work for effective ecological monitoring of this group studies in Neotropical areas.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study sites

The study was performed in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, Northern Brazil (-03°43'27"S; -53°44'8"W). The dominant land use/land cover of the study area was a natural forest (69 % of the area), where deforestation is mainly concentrated in the South-central part of the territory, near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental threats (Cajaiba, Cabral, & Santos, 2015b). The studied areas encompass habitats that, in terms of physical characteristics and anthropogenic disturbances, are representative of the regional habitas: Native Vegetation-NV, Mature Secondary succession-MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Early Secondary succession-ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration), Agriculture-Ag (cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock-Pa. This habitats gradient was considered fundamental to

analyse the response of DB communities (Cajaiba et al., 2015b). The climate of the study area is classified as Aw (Köppen), hot and humid and the average annual rainfall is 2 000 mm (Peel, Finlayson, & Mcmahon, 2007).

Sampling method

Sampling was carried out during the year 2015, in the months of February, March, June, September and October. The sample points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, to guarantee that most DB captured in the pitfalls were associated to the specific LU/LC monitored. Pitfall traps (75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep) were filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension (Cajaiba et al., 2015b). A roof was attached to each pitfall to prevent rainwater from entering, remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection. Each pitfall contained different baits: Human faeces-HF; Rotten meat-RM; Rotten banana-RB in order to attract different species according to their feeding habits and non-baited pitfalls were used as control-Co.

In each study site (NV, ES, MS, Ag and Pa) seven sample points were placed 100 m apart. Each sample point contained four pitfall traps separated by five meters and included the different baits (HF, RM, RB, Co). The distance between pitfall traps allowed individuals to choose their preferential food resource (Almeida & Louzada, 2009; Da Silva, Vaz-De-Mello, & Di Mare, 2012). The Scarabaeinae collected were conserved in 70 % ethanol and taken into the laboratory and identified to the species level when possible. The identification was based on the keys proposed by Vaz-de-Mello, Edmonds, Campo, and Schoolmeesters (2011) and Pacheco and Vaz-de-Mello (2015).

Species were classified within guilds, according to their use of food and nesting resources. Nesting guild included rollers (those that roll balls of food on the surface of soil to some distance from the source of resource, where they bury them); tunnelers (those that carry food resource into the soil, making tunnels on the side or below the resource); and dwellers (which do not reallocate food, using it directly in the source) (Simmons & Ridsdill-Smith, 2011; Da Silva & Di Mare, 2012). Concerning the feeding guild, species were classified as coprophagous (≥ 80 % of captures occurred in

traps baited with faeces), necrophagous (≥ 80 % of captures occurred in traps baited with rotten meat), saprophages (≥ 80 % of captures occurred in traps baited with rotten banana) and generalists (species not covered in the previous groups) (Almeida & Louzada, 2009; Da Silva & Di Mare, 2012).

Two way analysis of variance (ANOVA)/Kruskal-Wallis tests, and associated multiple comparisons tests, Tuckey and Dunn were used for testing: a) possible differences of nesting guild selection (tunnelers, dweller, rollers) and feeding guild selection (coprophagous, necrophagous, saprophages and generalist) within the different habitats; b) possible differences in richness and abundance of Scarabaeinae by bait, and c) differences in abundance and richness of the Scarabaeinae by baits within the habitats studied. The normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test. In order to homogenize the variances and normalize the residues, both the abundance and richness changed to logarithmic values (log+1). All analyses were performed using PAST software version 3.14 (Hammer, Harper, & Ryan, 2001).

RESULTS

General results/Functional diversity

A total of 98 species and 13 736 scarabaeine beetles were captured. The most abundant species were *Canthidium deyrollei* Harold 1867 (985 individuals), *Canthidium* sp. 4 (890 individuals), *Dichotomius* sp.1 (701 individuals), *Ateuchus murrayi* Harold 1868 (666 individuals), *Ontherus carinifrons* Luederwaldt 1930 (664 individuals) and *Deltochilum submetallicum* Castelnau 1840 (612 individuals). Of the total number of collected individuals, 76.7 % were captured in faeces baited traps, 17.8 % in rotten meat traps, 3.9 % in rotten banana traps, and only 1.6 % in non-baited traps. Eight species were captured in all traps.

Considering the feeding guild, coprophagous comprised 42% of the collected specimens, 32% were considered generalists, and only 15% were determined as necrophagous (Appendix 1). The coprophagous were more abundant in NV when compared to other habitats ($F_{4,205} = 12.35$, P < 0.001), namely between NV vs MS (Q 5.69, P < 0.01), NV vs ES (Q 8.12, P < 0.001), NV vs Pa (Q 7.83, P < 0.001) and NV

vs Ag (Q 8.33, P < 0.0001). Generalists were also more abundant in NV when compared to other habitats ($F_{4,155} = 12.75$, P < 0.05), specifically between NV vs MS (Q 5.52, P < 0.05), NV vs ES (Q 8.32, P < 0.001), NV vs Pa (Q 7.53, P < 0.001) and NV vs Ag (Q 8.65, P < 0.0001). In relation to the necrophagous abundance, no statistical differences were detected ($F_{4,70} = 2.40$, P = 0.06) (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Abundance of Scarabaeinae feeding guilds by habitat. NV: Native vegetation; MS: Mature secondary; ES: Early secondary; Ag: Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa: Pasture.

Concerning the nesting guild, approximately 54 % of the specimens (53 species) were tunnelers, 25 % were rollers (25 species) and 12 % were dwellers (12 species). The tunnelers were more abundant in NV when compared to other habitats ($F_{4,255} = 18.04$, P < 0.05), namely between NV vs MS (Q 6.61, P < 0.05), NV vs ES (Q 9.87, P < 0.05), NV vs Pa (Q 9.52, P < 0.05) and NV vs Ag (Q 9.92, P < 0.001). The number of rollers was significantly higher in NV ($F_{4,124} = 2.82$, P = 0.02), with significant differences between NV vs ES (Q 3.93, P = 0.04) and NV vs Ag (Q 4.26, P = 0.02). Due to the low abundance of dweller species (12 species) it was not possible to perform statistical analysis (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Abundance of Scarabaeinae on the behavioral guild in different habitats studied. NV: Native vegetation; MS: Mature secondary; ES: Early secondary; Ag: Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa: Pasture.

Bait atractivness

Kruskal-Wallis tests showed significant statistical differences in the medians of species richness by bait types (Kruskal-Wallis = 252.8, d.f. = 3, P < 0.01). According to an a posteriori Dunn's test, significant differences were found between medians of HF vs RM (71.59, P < 0.05), HF vs RB (146.59, P < 0.01), HF vs Co (160.79, P < 0.0001), RM vs RB (75.01, P < 0.01), RM vs Co (89.20, P < 0.01). There was no difference between RB and Co (14.20, P > 0.05) (Fig. 3A).

Kruskal-Wallis tests also showed significant statistical differences in the medians of species abundance by bait types (Kruskal-Wallis = 252.8, d.f. = 3, P < 0.01). Significant differences were found between medians of HF vs RM (52.22, P < 0.05), HF vs RB (193.87, P < 0.001), HF vs Co (225.05, P < 0.0001), RM vs RB (141.64, P < 0.01), RM vs Co (172.84, P < 0.05). There was no difference between the average RB vs Co (31.20, P > 0.05) (Fig. 3B).



Fig. 3. Differences between abundance (A) and species richness (B) of the Scarabaeinae studied with different bait type. Co: Control bait; RB: Rotten banana; RM: Rotten meat; HF: Human faeces. The values followed by the same letters are not different according to Dunn test.

When the richness of the Scarabaeinae was tested for the different kinds of baits among habitats, significant differences among bait types (F = 51.71, d.f. = 3, P < 0.001) and habitats (F = 29.1, d.f. = 4, P < 0.001) were found (Fig. 4A). When the abundance of the Scarabaeinae was tested for the different kinds of bait among habitats, significant differences among bait types (F = 61.2, d.f. = 3, P < 0.01) and habitats (F = 47.18, d.f. = 4, P = 0.001) were found (Fig. 4B).



Fig. 4. Differences between species richness (a) and abundance (b) of the Scarabaeinae studied in different habitats (NV=Native vegetation, MS=Mature secondary, ES=Early secondary, Ag=Agriculture, Pa=Pasture) for each bait type (Co=Control bait, RB=Rotten banana, RM=Rotten meat, HF=Human feces).

DISCUSSION

Considering the functional diversity, this work revealed that conserved environments such as NV and MS in this region, hold a larger proportion of Dung Beetle (DB) tunnelers, rollers and dwellers. Anthropogenic disturbances may alter the composition of scarabaeines, changing the primary "services" of dung beetles such as the reduction and decomposition of organic materials through burial and removal. These actions are fundamental for the conversion of biomasses, conserving energy and recycling nutrients in the ecosystem (Arellano, 2016). This group is also involved in other functions which include reducing compaction and improving soil fertility, dispersal of seeds, control of vectors of diseases (e.g. flies) and protection of agricultural/wild seeds against pests (Nichols et al., 2008).

Human actions that reduce specific mammal groups may have direct effects on DB fauna, which in turn may alter nutrient cycling processes and secondary dispersion of seeds (Andresen, 2002). In addition, the biological effects of a reduction in fauna may impact processes (e.g. behavioural / physiological, ecological, and evolutionary) at different environmental scales (e.g., local, regional, ecosystemic, and global) (Galetti & Dirzo, 2013; Bogoni & Hernández, 2014). The high coprophagy specialization in the Scarabaeinae seems to be related to the regular availability of mammal dung in the ecosystem (Halffter & Matthews, 1966) contrary to the rotting fruits and carcasses of dead animals that might be seasonally and spatially limited (Louzada & Lopes, 1997). Considering that an important proportion of the nutrients consumed by vertebrates remain in their faeces and leftovers (Steinfeld et al., 2006), the ecological function performed by DB is fundamental for nutrient cycles and ecosystem productivity (Huerta, Martínez, Montes, & Favila, 2013; Arellano, 2016). For example if fresh dung is not rapidly incorporated into the soil, most nitrogen is lost through ammonia volatilization (West & Nelson, 2003).

Although generalists, several species present feeding preferences for certain types of resource (Da Silva et al., 2012). In fact, tunnelers were dominant in relation to the other guilds, a common pattern in the Neotropics. The distribution of behavioral guilds seems to be the result of local diversity of DB species in the Neotropics (Louzada & Lopes, 1997; Lima, Silva, Bianch, Da Silva, & Di Mare, 2015).

When considering bait attractiveness, Halffter and Edmonds (1982) suggested that DB have physiological needs at different times of the year due to their life cycle, which may also explain the use of different food resources (Da Silva & Di Mare, 2012). Anyway, a clear distinction of attractiveness of the different types of baits to Scarabaeinae within habitats was detected. HF presented the highest abundance and richness in all habitats. In fact, the majority of collected individuals were coprophagous, i.e. preferred stool baits. The results obtained are in agreement with other studies in tropical forests and in other types of landscapes in tropical regions (Halffter & Matthews, 1966; Filgueiras et al., 2009; Da Silva et al., 2012). The preference for faeces of omnivorous mammals for nesting and feeding by adults and larvae seems to have resulted from evolutionary processes (Simmons & Ridsdill-Smith, 2011; Da Silva et al., 2012; Da Silva & Di Mare, 2012). This perspective suggests that loss of mammals (i.e., and their feces as a food resource) may alter competitive interactions between dung beetles species and may even cause local extinction of highly specialized species (Bogoni & Hernández, 2014). RM baits were also quite attractive highlighting the importance of this group in nutrient cycling processes in the environments where they live: according to Halffter and Matthews (1966) and Da Silva and Di Mare (2012) species of DB that feed on dead animal evolved with scarcity of large mammals and lower supply of excrement in the Neotropics (Halffter, 1991).

Traps with bait tend to be selective: if the aim of a specific work is an assessment of the overall community, different baits should be used to collect most diversity and estimate relative abundances (Rafael, 2002); if the goal of the research is collecting specific species and/or groups (e.g. trophic/functional guilds), particular baits should be used (Marchiori, 2016). Collection methodologies described here provide an approach to improve the detection and description of the responses of DB to disturbance and anthropogenic pressures, and facilitate a greater integration of ecological data collection efforts in tropical regions. Although spatially and temporally restricted, the results of this study highpoint the attractiveness of several baits and the feeding preference of some species of DB.

Although highly specialized in mammalian excrement due to evolutionary processes, many Neotropical species of Scarabaeinae show plasticity in their diet (Larsen et al., 2006). This process seems related to the local availability of the ecosystem to provide food, i.e... when the preferred food is not available, due to different limiting factors, many Scarabaeinae may use other resources in similar state (in decomposition process).

The DB sampled in the Amazon region reveal qualitative and quantitative differences among their assemblages and the phytophysiognomies sampled. The forest environments housed the greatest species richness observed and a fraction of these is exclusive of this environment and hardly occurs in other types of ecosystems (Cajaiba, Périco, Dalzochio, Silva, Bastos, Cabral, & Santos, 2017). However, another part of this fauna is adapted to the open environment, being largely represented by coprophagy species. In this way, the landscape context is very important to the DB, because complementarity of habitats can present a particular diversity that increases the diversity of the landscape (Almeida & Louzada, 2009). Studies like this, focused in the knowledge of the biology and distribution of Scarabaeinae, are essential to support any future initiative for biodiversity and ecosystems conservation (Da Silva et al., 2012; Lima et al., 2015).

RESUMEN

Atracción de Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) por diferentes cebos en la región Amazónica Brasileña. Los escarabajos peloteros (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) son considerados fundamentales para la mejora de las características físico-químicas de los suelos, es decir, para la descomposición de materiales orgánicos (p. ej., animales muertos, heces, frutas y hojarasca). Este estudio compara la riqueza de especies y la abundancia de escarabajos peloteros, capturados utilizando diversos tipos de cebos, para demostrar diferencias en la atracción en hábitats de la Amazonía Brasileña. Se realizaron muestreos con trampas cebadas con heces humanas, plátano podrido, carne podrida y una trampa sin cebo. Los hábitats incluyen bosques nativos, zonas de agricultura, pastos y bosques alterados en diferentes fases de regeneración. Se capturaron un total de 13 736 escarabajos Scarabaeinae, distribuidos en 98 especies. La mayoría de los individuos fueron capturados en trampas cebadas con heces (76.7 % de los individos), seguido por las trampas con cebo de carne podrida (17.8 % de los indivíduos), trampas con cebo de plátano fermentada (3.9 % de los individuos) y finalmente por las trampas sin cebo (1.6 % de los individuos). Se observó una diferencia significativa en la atracción de los diferentes cebos y hábitats. La mayoría de la comunidad capturada estuvo compuesta de escarabajos coprófagos (42 %), especies generalistas (32 %) y necrófagos (15 %) y ninguno fue clasificado como saprófago. Aproximadamente, el 54 % de las muestras fueron excavadores, 25 % eran rodadores y el 12 % eran residentes. Las especies de scarabaeinae muestreadas en la región revelaron diferencias cualitativas y cuantitativas entre sus ensamblajes y las fitofisiognomías muestreadas. Los ambientes forestales albergaron la mayor riqueza de especies observada y una fracción de ellas es exclusiva de este entorno. Concluimos que algunas especies de Scarabaeinae tienen un potencial importante como indicadores de perturbación en el ecosistema amazónico.

Palabras clave: Escarabajos peloteros, atracción del estiércol, preferencia de alimentación, agrupación trófica, bosque tropical.

REFERENCES

Almeida, S. S. P., & Louzada, J. N. C. (2009). Estrutura da comunidade de Scarabaeinae (Scarabaeidae: Coleoptera) em fitofisionomias do Cerrado e sua importância para a conservação. *Neotropical Entomology*, 38, 32-43.

Andresen, E. (2002). Dung beetles in a Central Amazonian rainforest and their ecological role as secondary seed dispersers. *Ecological Entomology*, 27, 257-270.

Andresen, E. (2008). Dung beetle assemblages in primary forest and disturbed habitats in a tropical dry landscape in western Mexico. *Journal Insect of Conservation*, 12, 639-650.

Arellano, L. (2016). A Novel method for measuring dung removal by tunneler dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) in pastures. *The Coleopterists Bulletin*, 70, 185-188.

Bogoni, J. A., & Hernández, I. M. (2014). Attractiveness of native mammal's faeces of different trophic guilds to dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae). *Journal of Insect Science*, *14*, 1-7.

Cajaiba, R. L., Cabral, J. A., & Santos, M. (2015b). A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. *Neotropical Entomology*, *4*, 1-9.

Cajaiba, R. L., Perico, E., Cabral, J. A., & Santos, M. (2015a). Assessing the potential role of ground beetles (Coleoptera) as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems: A review, p. 51-84. In: STARCK C (Ed). *Beetles*: Biodiversity, ecology and role in the environment. 1ed.: Nova Science Publishers, v. 1.

Cajaiba, R. L., Perico, E., Dalzochio, M. S., Silva, W. B., Bastos, R., Cabral, J. A., & Santos, M. G. (2017). Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? *Ecological Indicators*, *74*, 285-294.

Da Silva, P. G., & Audino, L. D. (2011). Escarabeíneos (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) atraídos a diferentes iscas em campo nativo de Bagé, Rio Grande do Sul, Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Zoociências*, *13*, 241-247.

Da Silva, P., G., & Di Mare, R. A. (2012). Escarabeíneos copro-necrófagos (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae, Scarabaeinae) de fragmentos de Mata Atlântica em Silveira Martins, Rio Grande do Sul, Brasil. *Iheringia Serie Zoologia, 102*, 197-205.

Da Silva, P. G., Vaz-De-Mello, F. Z., & Di Mare, R. A. (2012). Attractiveness of Different Bait to the Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in Forest Fragments in Extreme Southern Brazil. *Zoological Studies*, *51*, 429-441.

Filgueiras, B. K. C., Liberal, C. N., Aguiar, C. D., Hernández, M. M., & Iannuzzi, L. (2009). Attractivity of omnivore, carnivore and herbivore mammalian dung to Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae) in a tropical Atlantic rainforest remnant. *Revista Brasileira de Entomologia*, *53*, 422-427.

Galetti, M., & Dirzo, R. (2013), Ecological and evolutionary consequences of living in a defaunated world. *Biological Conservation*, *163*, 1-6.

Halffter, G. (1991). Historical and ecological factors determining the geographical distribution of beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae). *Folia Entomologica Mexicana*, 82, 195-238.

Halffter, G., & Edmonds, W. D. (1982). *The nesting behavior of dung beetles* (*Scarabaeinae*): *an ecologic and evolutive approach*. México D.F., Mexico: Man and Biosphere Program Unesco, 177 pp.

Halffter, G., & Matthews, E. G. (1966). The natural history of dung beetles of the subfamily Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Folia Entomologica Mexicana*, *12*, 1-312.

Hammer, O., Harper, D. A. T, & Ryan, P. D. (2001). PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. *Palaeontologia Electronica*, *4*, 1-9.

Huerta, C, Martínez, M. I., Montes, O. E., & Favila, M. E. (2013). The role of dung beetles in the sustainability of pasture and grasslands, p. 441-463. In: Yáñez-Arancibia, A., Dávalos-Sotelo, R., Day, J. W., & Reyes, E. (Eds). *Ecological Dimensions for Sustainable Socio Economic Development*. WitPress, Southampton, Boston, MA, pp. 441-463.

Larsen, T. H., Lopera, A., & Forsyth, A. (2006). Extreme trophic and habitat specialization by Peruvian dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae). *The Coleopterists Bulletin, 60*, 315-324.

Lima, J. D. N., Silva, V. C., Bianch, V., Da Silva, P. G., & Di Mare, R. A. (2015). Estrutura e organização de assembleias de Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae) em diferentes fitofisionomias no sul do Brasil. *Iheringia, Série Zoologia, 105*, 393-402.

Louzada, J. N. C., & Lopes, F. S. (1997). A comunidade de Scarabaeidae copronecrófagos (Coleoptera) de um fragmento de Mata Atlântica. *Revista Brasileira de Entomologia, 41*, 117-121.

Marchiori, C. H. (2016). Técnicas de coleta e captura de insetos das ordens Diptera e Hymenoptera coletadas no estado de Goiás. *Biológico*, 78, 1-5.

Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amézquita, S., & Favila, M. E. (2008). Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. *Biological Conservation*, 141, 1461-1474.

Pacheco, T. L., & Vaz-de-Mello, F. Z. (2015). Dung beetles of the tribe Phanaeini (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidade: Scarabaeinae) from Roraima state, Northern Brazil: checklist and key to species. *Biota Neotropica*, *15*(2), e20140145.

Paoletti, M. G. (1999). Using bioindicators based on biodiversity to assess landscape sustainability. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 74, 1-18.

Peel, M. C., Finlayson, B. L., & Mcmahon, T. A. (2007). Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 11, 1633-1644.

Rafael, J. A. (2002). *A amostragem*. Protocolo e *técnicas de captura de Diptera*. 2th.ed., Zaragoza: PrIBES, p. 301-304.

Simmons, L. W., & Ridsdill-Smith, T. J. (2011). Reproductive competition and its impact on the evolution and ecology of dung beetles, p. 1-20. In: Simmons, L. W., & Ridsdill-Smith, T. J. (Eds). *Ecology and Evolution of Dung Beetles*. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK.

Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M., & Haan, C. (2006). *Livestock's Long Shadow*: Environmental issues and options. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.

Ueda, A., Dwibadra, D., Noerdjito, W. A., Kon, M., & Fukuyama, K. (2015). Comparison of baits and types of pitfall traps for capturing dung and carrion scarabaeoid beetles in East Kalimantan. *Bulletin of FFPRI*, *14*, 15-28.

Vaz-de-Mello, F. Z., Edmonds, W. D., Campo, F. C., & Schoolmeesters, P. (2011). A multilingual key to the genera and subgenera of the subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Zootaxa*, 2854, 1-73.

Vieira, L., Louzada, J. N. C., & Spector, S. (2008). Effects of degradation and replacement of Southern Brazil coastal sandy vegetation on the dung beetles (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae). *Biotropica*, *40*, 719-727.

West, C. P., & Nelson, C. J. (2003). Naturalized grassland ecosystems and their management, p. 315-337. In: Barnes, R. F., Nelson, C. J., Collins, M., Moore, K. J. (Eds). *Forages*: An Introduction to Grassland Agriculture. Blackwell Publishing Professional, Ames, IA.

Appendix 1

Numbers of individuals of species of the Scarabaeinae captured with pitfall traps baited with Human Feces (HF), Rotten Meat (RM) Rotten Banana (RB) and Control (Co), in the municipality of Uruará, state of Para, northern Brazil. TH: Trophic Habit of the species (C, coprophagous; N, necrophagous; G, generalist); BG: Behavioral Guild (T, tunneler; R, roller; D, dweller). *insufficient number of individuals or undefined.

| | Bait | | | | | | |
|--|------|-----|----|----|-------|----|----|
| Species | HF | RM | RB | Co | Total | TH | BG |
| Coprophanaeus lancifer (Linnaeus, 1767) | 3 | 83 | - | - | 86 | Ν | Т |
| Coprophanaeus telamon (Erichson 1847) | - | 41 | - | - | 41 | Ν | Т |
| Coprophanaeus degallieri (Arnaud 1997) | 2 | 1 | - | - | 3 | * | Т |
| Coprophanaeus sp | 7 | 1 | - | - | 8 | С | Т |
| Oxysternon durantoni (Arnaud 1984) | 105 | - | - | - | 105 | С | * |
| Oxysternon conspicillatum (Weber 1801) | 43 | 23 | - | - | 66 | G | * |
| Oxysternon sp | 19 | - | - | - | 19 | С | * |
| Scarabaeinae 1 | 6 | - | - | - | 6 | С | Т |
| Scarabaeinae 2 | 3 | - | - | - | 3 | * | Т |
| Eurysternus atrosericus (Génier 2009) | 87 | 24 | - | - | 111 | G | D |
| Eurysternus parallelus (Castelnau 1840) | 157 | 60 | - | - | 217 | G | D |
| Eurysternus caribaeus (Herbst 1789) | 156 | 108 | 6 | - | 270 | G | D |
| Eurysternus wittmerorum (Martinez 1988) | 98 | 39 | - | - | 137 | G | D |
| Eurysternus strigilatus (Génier 2009) | 46 | 9 | - | - | 55 | С | D |
| Eurysternus ventricosus (Gill 1990) | 12 | 8 | - | - | 20 | G | D |
| Eurysternus foedus (Guérin-Méneville 1844) | 54 | - | - | - | 54 | С | D |
| Eurysternus hamaticollis (Balthasar, 1939) | 38 | - | - | - | 38 | С | D |
| Eurysternus sp1 | 62 | 73 | - | - | 135 | G | D |
| Eurysternus sp2 | 59 | 86 | - | - | 145 | G | D |
| Eurysternus sp3 | 179 | 42 | - | - | 221 | С | D |
| Uroxys sp1 | 316 | - | - | 4 | 320 | С | Т |
| Uroxys sp2 | 90 | - | - | - | 90 | С | Т |
| Ateuchus murrayi (Harold 1868) | 627 | - | 39 | - | 666 | С | Т |
| Ateuchus connexus (Harold 1868) | 304 | - | - | - | 304 | С | Т |
| Ateuchus pygidialis (Harold 1868) | 17 | 95 | - | 10 | 122 | Ν | Т |
| Ateuchus candezei (Harold 1868) | 37 | 84 | 53 | 2 | 176 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus simplex (Serville 1828) | - | 58 | - | - | 58 | Ν | Т |
| Ateuchus sp1 | 57 | 24 | 27 | 9 | 117 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp2 | 17 | 36 | 3 | - | 56 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp3 | 164 | 141 | 80 | 32 | 417 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp4 | 151 | 50 | 36 | 11 | 248 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp5 | 253 | 129 | 81 | 26 | 489 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp6 | 67 | 4 | 25 | - | 96 | G | Т |
| Ateuchus sp7 | 83 | - | 10 | - | 93 | С | Т |
| Ateuchus sp8 | 43 | - | 0 | - | 43 | С | Т |
| Anomiopus sp | 2 | -0 | 0 | - | 2 | * | * |
| Canthon luteicollis (Erichson 1847) | 213 | 57 | 11 | - | 281 | G | R |
| Canthon simulans (Martínez 1950) | 258 | 82 | 7 | - | 347 | G | R |
| Canthon chalybaeus (Blanchard 1846) | 3 | 12 | - | - | 15 | Ν | R |
| Canthon aequinoctialis (Harold 1868) | 58 | 61 | - | 10 | 129 | G | R |
| Canthon fulgidus (Redtenbacher 1867) | 204 | 60 | 37 | 16 | 317 | G | R |

| Canthon auadriguttatus (Olivier 1789) | 41 | - | 3 | _ | 44 C | R |
|---|-----------|---------|----|----|---------------|--------|
| Canthon triangularis (Drury 1770) | 159 | 95 | - | - | 254 G | R |
| Canthon subhyalinus (Harold 1867) | 58 | - | - | - | 58 C | R |
| Canthon lituratus (Germar 1813) | 234 | 24 | _ | _ | 258 C | R |
| Canthon mutabilis (Lucas 1857) | 14 | 35 | _ | - | 49 G | R |
| <i>Canthon histrio</i> (LePeletier e Serville 1828) | - | 12 | _ | _ | 12 N | R |
| Canthon (Glaphyrocanthon) spl | 14 | 9 | _ | _ | 23 G | R |
| Canthon sp1 | 380 | 137 | 49 | 30 | 596 G | R |
| Canthon sp? | 65 | 44 | - | - | 109 G | R |
| Canthon sp2 | 38 | 5 | _ | _ | 43 C | R |
| Canthon sp3 | 170 | 19 | 16 | 25 | 230 G | R |
| Canthon sp5 | 170 | 33 | 10 | 23 | 230 U 42 N | R |
| Canthon sp5 | / | 30 | | - | 30 N | R |
| Canthon spo | | 30 7 | | _ | JU N 7 N | R |
| Canthonella sp | - 22 | 16 | - | - | 40 G | к * |
| Deltachilum orbigulare (yon Longborgo 1874) | 08 | 10 | - | - | 49 U | D |
| Deltochilum submetalligum (Costelnou 1840) | 90 612 | 14 | 2 | - | 114 C | D D |
| Deltochilum submetuticum (Castelliau 1840) | 5 | - | - | - | 012 C | D N |
| Deltochilum carma (Olivier 1780) | 5 | - | - | - | | л D |
| Detrochium icarus (Olivier 1789) | 0 | - | - | - | | R |
| Deitocnium sp | 12 | - | - | - | | K |
| Scybalocanthon sexpilotus (Guerin, 1855) | 13 | - | - | - | 13 C | * |
| Sylvicanthon sp | 14 | 13 | - | - | 2/ G | т т |
| Canthidium deyrollei (Harold 1867) | 950 | 34 | - | - | 984 C | Т |
| Canthidium ardens (Bates 1887) | 12 | 0 | - | - | 12 C | T |
| Canthidium spl | 42 | 11 | - | - | 53 C | T |
| Canthidium sp2 | 17 | 19 | - | - | 36 G | T |
| Canthidium sp3 | 68 | - | - | - | 68 C | Т |
| Canthidium sp4 | 3 | - | - | 7 | 10 G | Т |
| <i>Canthidium</i> sp5 | 878 | - | 12 | - | 890 C | Т |
| Dichotomius apicalis (Luederwaldt 1931) | 64 | - | - | - | 64 C | Т |
| Dichotomius boreus (Olivier 1789) | 34 | - | - | - | 34 C | Т |
| Dichotomius subaeneus (Castelnau 1840) | 183 | - | - | - | 183 C | Т |
| Dichotomius lucasi (Harold 1869) | 24 | 124 | - | - | 148 N | Т |
| Dichotomius worontzowi (Pereira 1942) | - | 16 | - | - | 16 N | Т |
| Dichotomius melzeri (Luederwaldt 1922) | 4 | - | - | - | 4 C | Т |
| Deltochilum carinatum (Westwood 1848) | 3 | - | - | - | 3 * | R |
| Dichotomius sp1 | 701 | - | - | - | 701 C | Т |
| Dichotomius sp2 | - | 3 | - | - | 3 * | Т |
| Ontherus carinifrons (Luederwaldt 1930) | 664 | - | - | - | 664 C | Т |
| Ontherus pubens (Genier 1966) | 23 | - | - | - | 23 C | Т |
| Ontherus sp | - | - | 2 | - | 2 * | Т |
| Onthophagus bidentatus (Drapiez 1819) | 400 | - | - | - | 400 C | Т |
| Onthophagus haemathopus (Harold 1875) | 282 | - | - | - | 282 C | Т |
| Onthophagus clypeatus (Blanchard 1846) | - | 37 | - | - | 37 N | Т |
| Onthophagus hirculus (Mannerheim 1829) | 9 | 45 | - | - | 54 N | Т |
| Onthophagus sp1 | 8 | 1 | 2 | - | 11 G | Т |
| Onthophagus sp2 | - | 30 | - | - | 30 N | Т |
| Onthophagus sp3 | - | 3 | - | - | 3 * | Т |
| Phanaeus chalcomelas (Perty 1830) | - | 14 | - | - | 14 N | Т |
| Phanaeus bispinus (Bates 1868) | 4 | _ | - | - | 4 C | Т |
| Phanaeus sp | - | 2 | - | - | 2 * | T |
| Diabroctis mimas (Linné 1758) | 25 | _ | - | - | 25 C | * |
| | - | | | | - | |

| 3 | - | - | - | 3 * | * |
|----|--------------------|----------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 94 | - | - | - | 94 C | D |
| 1 | - | - | - | 1 * | * |
| 18 | - | - | - | 18 C | Т |
| | 3 94 1 18 | 3 - 94 - 1 - 18 - | 3 94 1 18 | 3 94 1 18 | 3 3 * 94 94 C 1 1 * 18 18 C |

Appendix 2

Differences between species richness and abundance of the Scarabaeinae studied in different habitats (NV=Native vegetation, MS=Mature secondary, ES=Early secondary, Ag=Agriculture, Pa=Pasture) for each bait type (Co=Control bait, RB=Rotten banana, RM=Rotten meat, HF=Human feces).

| Site/ Bait | Abundance (log+1) | Richness |
|------------|---------------------------|------------------------|
| NV-HF | 2.50 ^a | 49.33ª |
| NV-RM | 1.82 ^b | 27.09 ^b |
| NV-RB | 1.30 ^c | 11.42 ^c |
| NV-Co | 0.86 ^d | 6.38 ^d |
| | $F_{3,165}=5245^{***}$ | $F_{3,165}=1771^*$ |
| MS-HF | 2.11 ^a | 40.04 ^a |
| MS -RM | 1.38 ^b | 16.76 ^b |
| | | |
| MS -RB | 0.57° | 3.52 ^c |
| MS -Co | 0.20^{d} | 1.76^{d} |
| | $F_{3,165}=1047^{***}$ | $F_{3,165}=625.1^{**}$ |
| ES-HF | 1.27 ^a | 13.28 ^a |
| ES -RM | 0.95 ^b | 7.61 ^b |
| ES -RB | 0.31 ^c | 0.38 ^c |
| ES -Co | 0.1 ^d | 0.20 ^c |
| | $F_{3,165} = 571.7^{***}$ | $F_{3,165}=964.8^{**}$ |
| Ag-HF | 1.01 ^a | 7.28^{a} |
| Ag-RM | 0.76^{b} | 4.24 ^b |
| Ag-RB | 0.51 ^b | 0.01 ^c |
| Ag-Co | 0.10 ^b | 0.04 ^c |
| | $F_{3,65}=266^*$ | $F_{3,65}=61.2^{**}$ |
| Pa-HF | 1.54 ^a | 11.67 ^a |
| Pa -RM | 1.13 ^b | 9.14 ^b |
| Pa -RB | 0.24 ^c | 1.71 ^c |
| Pa -Co | 0.11 ^d | 1.38 ^c |
| | $F_{3,65}=1202^{***}$ | $F_{3,65}=29.1^*$ |

Asterisks indicate statistical significance at level of * p<0.05; ** p<0.01;*** p<0.001

Chapter 5

Can dung beetles (Scarabaeinae) indicate the status of Amazonia's ecosystems? Insights integrating anthropogenic disturbance with seasonal patterns

Reinaldo L. Cajaiba^{1,3,4,*}, Eduardo Périco¹, Wully B. da Silva² and Mário Santos³

¹ University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

 ² Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil
³ Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal.

⁴ Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira, 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, MA, Brazil

*Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Published in Animal Biology

Cajaiba, R.L.; Perico, E.; Silva, W.B.; Santos, M. Can dung beetles (Scarabaeinae) indicate the status of Amazonia's ecosystems? Insights integrating anthropogenic disturbance with seasonal patterns. **Animal Biology**, v. 67, p. 301-318, 2017.

Abstract

Temporal and spatial variation in dung beetles abundances is a pattern observed in many tropical forests. The present study evaluated the seasonal patterns of dung beetles in a range of increasingly disturbed ecosystems of the state of Pará, northern Brazil, to identify valuable disturbance indicators. The areas included native forest, agriculture, pasture for extensive livestock grazing and secondary forests. Fieldwork was carried out encompassing the complete range of environmental conditions encountered during the year. In total, 13,649 individuals were captured within 23 genera and 99 species but with pronounced differences among ecosystems and seasons. The obtained results seem to demonstrate that dung beetles can be used to help identify ecosystems under very complex and variable environmental conditions. The ecological drift observed also demonstrates the possibility of using dung beetles as ecological indicators of disturbance in Amazonia.

Keywords

Amazon rainforest; biodiversity; beetles; scarab; seasonality; tropical forest

Introduction

The landscape of the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia) is being transformed by vast investments in roads, leading to the growth of urban areas, extensive livestock rearing and intensive farming (Mertens et al., 2002; Tabarelli et al., 2004). These activities are closely associated with forest logging but also with hydroelectric power and mining (Soares-Filho et al., 2005). The new land uses might generate strong ecological impacts that were not fully anticipated (Cajaiba & Silva, 2017), resulting in isolation of animal populations and local extinctions (Aizen et al., 2012; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015).

From a conservation perspective, the condition of an ecosystem, the status or difference from reference conditions, might be assessed using informative surrogates named ecological indicators (Heink & Kowarik, 2010; Costanza, 2012; Heath, 2013). Indicator species should be highly sensitive to changes in the structure and functioning of an ecosystem and easily monitored, providing valuable information on the system's qualitative status (Rapport & Hildén, 2013). Dung beetles (DB; Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) are considered particularly informative (Gardner et al., 2008; Da Silva et al., 2013), because of their sensitivity to abiotic and biotic factors. In fact, soil depth, soil structure and porosity, humidity, temperature, soil pH, and pollution (Nichols et al., 2008; Viegas et al., 2014; Campos & Hernández, 2015; Cajaiba et al., 2017) and the composition of the vertebrate community are strongly correlated with DB communities (Spector, 2006). Their roles as herbivores, carnivores, omnivores, scavengers (Vandewalle et al., 2010) as well as pollinators, seed dispersers, and decomposers highlight their importance in the ecosystems (Nichols et al., 2008; Vandewalle et al., 2010; Bicknell et al., 2014). The suitability of DB for monitoring

129

the effects of subtle changes in the ecosystems was demonstrated by Scheffler (2005) and Nichols & Gardner (2011).

Diverse methods developed for Amazonia predict huge landscape changes in the future, with warmer and dryer climates, while the status of ecosystems remains without realistic projections (Marengo, 2015; Marengo et al., 2016). This preliminary work examines differences in DB neotropical communities in different seasons and/or associated with ecosystems with increasing anthropogenic disturbances to determine their usefulness as ecological indicators.

This information might guide the construction of more robust ecological assessments aimed at envisaging possible changes in the status of Amazonia's pristine ecosystems, integrating the multiple factors associated with DB dynamics and highlighting the most effective management practices through quantitative metrics (Santos et al., 2016a, b).

Material and methods

Study sites

The study was performed in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, Northern Brazil (-03°43'27"S, -53°44'8"W). The dominant land use/land cover of the study area was natural forests (69% of the area). Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental threats (Cajaiba et al., 2016). The climate of the study area is classified as Aw (Köppen), i.e. hot and humid; the average annual rainfall is 2000 mm (Peel et al., 2007). The studied areas encompass ecosystems that, in terms of physical characteristics and anthropogenic disturbances, are representative of the region: Native Vegetation (NV), Mature Secondary succession (MS: vegetation with 15 years of

regeneration), Early Secondary succession (ES: vegetation with five years of regeneration), Agriculture (Ag: cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock (Pa) (fig. 1). This gradient in disturbance was considered fundamental to analyse the response of the DB communities (Cajaiba et al., 2017).



Figure 1. Location of the study sites in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Abbreviations: Ag, Agriculture; ES, Early secondary succession; MS, Mature secondary succession; NV, Native vegetation; Pa, Pasture.

Sampling method

Sampling was carried out in February/March (rainy season), June (intermediary season), and September/October (dry season) of the year 2015. This allowed checking for seasonal differences in the activity and structure of DB communities. The sampling points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 m from ecotones to guarantee that most DB captured in the pitfalls were associated with the monitored ecosystem. Pitfall traps (75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep) were filled with formalin, alcohol, water, and a few drops of detergent. Each pitfall was covered by a roof to prevent rainwater from entering, and each trap remained installed for 48 h prior to collection. Each pitfall contained different types of bait: HF, human feces; RM, rotten meat; and RB, rotten banana, in order to attract different species according to their feeding habits. Non-baited pitfalls were used as control (Co).

Seven sampling points were placed at each study site at distances of 100 m from each other. Each sample point contained four pitfall traps separated by a distance of 5 m and including the different baits (HF, RM, RB, Co). This protocol was applied to all ecosystems and monitoring periods, creating a total sampling effort of 840 traps. The DB collected were conserved in 70% ethanol, taken to the laboratory and identified to the species level when possible or assigned to morphospecies. The identification was based on the keys proposed by Vaz-de-Mello et al. (2011) and Pacheco & Vaz-de-Mello (2015).

Data analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used followed by the Tukey test to test for: a) possible differences in the abundance and richness of dung beetles among ecosystems; b) possible differences in abundance and richness in different sampling periods (seasonal variation) and within each ecosystem (Zar, 1984). Bray-Curtis cluster analysis was applied to verify the similarity between different ecosystems and seasons, and the UPGMA algorithm was used to depict the distance based on the Bray-Curtis index. This index ranges between 0 (indicating no similarity in community composition between sites) and 1 (indicating complete overlap), and it is considered one of the most robust measures of community similarity (Magurran, 2004). The cophenetic correlation coefficient was used to verify that the result of the cluster analysis was significant. In order to check for environmental variables that influence the DB communities at particular periods of the year, a correlation analysis (Pearson correlation) was applied between DB abundance and richness and meteorological data – temperature, humidity and precipitation. The normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test. In order to homogenize the variances and normalize the residues the abundance was transformed by log (x + 1). All analyses were performed using PAST software version 3.14 (Hammer et al., 2001).

Results

A total of 13 649 dung beetles were captured within 23 genera and 99 species. The genera with the greatest abundances were Ateuchus and Canthon, which represented about 24% and 20% of the total number of individuals, respectively. The highest number of exclusive species was associated with the NV (11 species), followed by Pa (five species) and ES (four species), while MS and Ag presented only one exclusive species each (Appendix, table A1). DB abundances were dissimilar: the ecosystem with the higher abundances was the Native Vegetation (NV, 8071 individuals),

followed by Mature Succession (MS, with 3278 individuals), Pasture (Pa with 1100 individuals), Early succession (ES, with 665 individuals), and finally Agriculture (Ag, with 389 individuals). According to the ANOVA, there was a statistical difference in abundance between ecosystems (F4,205 = 84.59, P <0.001; fig. 2A; see Appendix, table A2, for details of the associated differences and Tukey post-hoc values).



Figure 2. (A) Abundance (number of individuals \pm SE), and (B) richness (number of species \pm SE) of the DB community in the different ecosystems considered. The values labelled with the same letters are not significantly different according to the Tukey post-hoc test. Abbreviations: Ag, agriculture; ES, early secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); MS, mature secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); NV, native vegetation; Pa, pasture.

Regarding species richness, there were large variations between habitats. The greatest richness was found in the NV (63 species), while 50 species were collected from the MS. A total of 20 species were obtained from the ES and only 12 species from the Ag and 21 for Pa (Appendix, table A1). ANOVA showed statistically significant differences between the studied habitats (F4,205 = 137.3, P <0.001; fig. 2B;

see Appendix, table A2, for details of the associated differences and Tukey post-hoc values).

Regarding seasonal differences, 8356 individuals were collected in the rainy season, followed by the intermediate season with 2856 individuals and the dry season with 2437 individuals (Appendix, table A1). According to the ANOVA, differences between the sampling periods are statistically significant (F2,207 = 20.25, P <0.05; fig. 3A; see Appendix, table A3, for details of the associated differences and Tukey posthoc values).

With respect to species richness, of the 99 species sampled, 54 (54.5%) occurred during all seasons. The highest number of exclusive species was associated with the rainy season (17 species = 17.2%), followed by the intermediary and the dry seasons with three and two exclusive species, respectively. ANOVA showed that there were differences in richness among periods (F2,207 = 11.59, P < 0.0001; fig. 3B) (see Appendix, table A3, for details of the associated differences and Tukey post-hoc values).



Figure 3. (A) Abundance (number of individuals \pm SE) and (B) richness (number of species \pm SE) of dung beetles in different periods of sampling in the Brazilian Amazon. The values labelled with the same letters are not significantly different according to the Tukey post-hoc test. Abbreviations: D, dry; I, intermediary; R, rainy.

Among the climatic variables evaluated, humidity and precipitation were positively correlated with the abundance and richness of DB. In contrast, the air temperature influenced these indexes negatively (table 1).

Table 1. Pearson correlation between environmental variables and ecological indices (abundance and richness) of dung beetles collected in Uruará, Pará, northern Brazil. Asterisks indicate statistical significance at levels of: * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01;*** P < 0.001.

| Environmental variables | Abundance $\log (x + 1)$ | Richness |
|-------------------------|--------------------------|----------|
| Humidity | 0.54** | 0.60** |
| Temperature | -0.51* | -0.57** |
| Precipitation | 0.44* | 0.32*** |

Even though abundance and richness attained generally higher values in the rainy season, this seasonal trend was not the same for all ecosystems. In Ag, abundance and richness were higher in the intermediary period and Pa also presented greater richness in the intermediate season (fig. 4; see Appendix, table A4, for details of the associated differences and Tukey posthoc values).



Figure 4. Temporal variation of the abundance and richness of dung beetles by ecosystem. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to the Tukey post-hoc test. Abbreviations: D, dry; I, intermediary; R, rainy.

The community structure, based on individual abundance per species and per ecosystem/sampling period, showed the high similarity of NV in the rainy season (NV_R) and MS in the rainy season (MS_R) (Bray-Curtis similarity index 0.63), followed by NV in the intermediate season (NV_I) and NV in the rainy season (NV_R) (Bray-Curtis similarity index 0.62), which were quite different from the other assemblages. The lowest similarity observed was between NV in the rainy season (NV_R) and ES in the dry season (ES_D) (Bray-Curtis similarity index 0.02). In general terms the more pristine ecosystems are quite apart from the more disturbed ones, even though climatic conditions tend to make the associated DB communities more or less similar. The cophenetic correlation coefficient for the dendogram was 0.85 (fig. 5).



Figure 5. Bray-Curtis similarity index for the different habitats and season sampled (cophenetic correlation coefficient = 0.85). Abbreviations: Ag, agriculture; D, dry; ES, early secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); I, intermediary; MS, mature secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); NV, native vegetation; Pa, pasture; R, rainy.

Discussion

Results show that the DB community in the study area is very diverse and, like other megadiverse ecosystems in the neotropics, understudied (Lucky et al., 2002). The DB richness (99 species) recorded at Uruará was even higher than the values reported for Malaysia (Davis, 2000), Peru (Valencia, 2001), French Guyana (Feer, 2000), African rain forests (Cambefort & Walter, 1991), rain forests of Mexico (Estrada & Coates-

Estrada, 2002), Colombia (Escobar, 2000), Australia (Howden et al., 1991) and even for the Brazilian rain forests (Korasaki et al., 2013; França et al., 2016).

Regarding the types of ecosystems studied, abundance and richness were higher in Native Vegetation (NV) andMature Secondary succession (MS) than in the other systems. This trend might be associated with the complex structure of NV and, in particular for MS (Nichols et al., 2009; Bicknell et al., 2014), linked with a range of environmental characteristics that are more favorable for dung beetles' survival and reproduction (deeper and softer soils, higher soil moisture content, more stable air and soil temperature, lower insolation, and higher concentration of food resources; Andresen, 2005).We also observed differences in the species composition: the most disturbed ecosystems (Ag and Pa) are dominated mainly by generalist beetles that occur both in forests and anthropogenic areas (Cajaiba et al., 2017).

The distribution of dung beetles along different environmental gradients, represented by the monitored ecosystems, seems to demonstrate discrete associations with particular biotypes within the landscape (Viegas et al., 2014; Da Silva & Hernández, 2016). The decrease in richness and abundance seem to be negatively correlated with disturbance (Gardner et al., 2008; Da Silva & Hernández, 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017), which is expected to reduce the populations of several mammalian species (Culot et al., 2013) and, therefore, the food resources for dung beetles (Da Silva & Hernández, 2016).

Climatic conditions also seem to determine the DB communities, with general decreases in diversity during the dry season. Although more studies are needed to describe accurately the seasonal patterns detected, most species were observed to have their abundance reduced or even to be completely absent during the driest season, in

139

accordance with other work (e.g. Hanski & Cambefort, 1991; Milhomem et al., 2003, in tropical forests; Seymour & Jones, 2000; Nyeko, 2009, for other regions of the world). Silva et al. (2010) suggested two hypotheses that may explain the lower abundance and richness of dung beetles in the dry season: 1) adults in open habitats are sensitive to the effects of drought and remain underground during this period; or 2) the adults die in the dry season and only the immature beetles survive in brood chambers, reaching the adult stage at the beginning of the rainy season. However, according to Cajaiba & Silva (2017), biotic responses to climate changes are not easily understood or predictable because the responses differ between species, suggesting that disturbance history may be an important determinant in the occurrence of changes. Prior knowledge and temporal monitoring of dung beetles communities are required to recognize the disturbances caused by and consequent responses to possible new climatic conditions associated with global change.

Dung beetle species collected in this study demonstrated ecosystem preferences as well as seasonal/climatic trends. The rainy season and native vegetation presented the highest index overall (e.g. abundance and richness). Therefore, information on dung beetles will provide support to future actions for selecting priority areas for preservation in the region, where human activity increasingly threatens the maintenance of natural ecosystems (Da Silva et al., 2013). Although recent studies have increasingly addressed seasonal effects on the ecology of dung beetles in Amazonia, for the majority of species these questions remain to be solved, thus requiring specific studies to understand the relation between dung beetles and environmental conditions and for predicting their usefulness as ecological indicators in changing conditions. Despite this limitation, which is inherent to a demonstrative study

140

case in progress, the work presented here is of value for studying ecosystems characterized by a high degree of heterogeneity in space and time, influenced by many interacting factors and feedback mechanisms and where ecological indicators are particularly helpful to capture these multi-factor influences.

Final remarks

Current principles used to guide conservation and management consider that protection of indicator species is an efficient way to conserve overall biodiversity and sustain key ecological processes. By using these indicators it is possible to predict how anthropogenic and natural environmental changes affect the species and the communities in disturbed ecosystems. For conservation and management purposes, the use of the correct ecological indicators may reveal what are the consequences of changing environmental factors for the integrity of ecosystems. Although the observed discrepancies between ecosystems could be also associated to seasonal differences, our preliminary work depicts the possibility of using dung beetle communities as ecological indicators, presenting an important source of information to policy makers and helping to guide decision-making.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank SEMMA/Uruará for logistic support. We also thank Lucas Paixão, Edielson Mendes, Ediones Santos and Sidicley Santos for their assistance in the field work. This work is supported by the European Investment Funds through the FEDER/COMPETE/POCI–Operational Competitiveness and Internationalization Program under Project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006958, and by the National Funds through FCT–Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology under Project UID/AGR/04033/2013.

References

- Aizen, M., Sabatino, M. & Tylianakis, J.M. (2012) Specialization and rarity predict nonrandom loss of interactions from mutualist networks. Science, 335, 1486-1489.
- Andresen, E. (2005) Effects of season and vegetation type on community organization of dung beetles in a tropical dry forest. *Biotropica*, 37, 291-300.
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J. & Davies Z.G. (2014) dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: evaluating best practice forestry in the Neotropics. *Ecol. Indic.*, 43, 154-161.
- Cajaiba, R.L. & Silva, W.B. (2017) Diversidade e sazonalidade de Cydnidae (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera) em diferentes ecossistemas no estado do Pará, norte do Brasil. *Rev. Brasil. Bioc.*, 15, 32-37.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Cabral, J.A. & Santos, M. (2016) A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. *Neotrop. Entomol.*, 45, 139-147.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Périco, E., Dalzochio, M.S., Silva, W.B., Bastos, R., Cabral, J.A. & Santos, M. (2017.) Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? *Ecol. Indic.*, 74, 285-294.
- Cambefort, Y. & Walter P. (1991) dung beetles in Tropical Forests in Africa. pp. 198-210. In: Hanski, I. & Cambefort, Y. (eds.). *Dung beetle ecology*. Princeton University Press.
- Campos, R.C. & Hernández, M.I.M. (2015) Changes in the dynamics of functional groups in communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. *Ecol. Indic.*, 49, 216-227.
- Costanza, R. (2012) Ecosystem health and ecological engineering. *Ecol. Eng.*, 45, 24-29.
- Culot, L., Bovy, E., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z., Guevara, R., Galetti, M. (2013) Selective defaunation affects dung beetle communities in continuous Atlantic rainforest. *Biol. Conserv.*, 163, 79-89.

- Da Silva, P.G., Hernández, M.I.M. (2016) Spatial variation of dung beetle assemblages associated with forest structure in remnants of southern Brazilian Atlantic Forest. *Rev. Brasil. Entomol.*, 60, 73-81.
- Da Silva, P.G., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z. & Di Mare, R. (2013) Diversity and seasonality of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in forest fragments in Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. An. Acad. Bras. Ciênc., 85, 679-697.
- Davis, A.J. (2000) Species richness of dung-feeding beetles (Coleoptera: Aphodiidae, Scarabaeidae, Hybosoridae) in Tropical rainforest at Danum Valley, Sabah, Malaysia. *Coleopts. Bull.*, 54, 221-231.
- Escobar, F. (2000) Diversidad de coleopteros coprofagos (Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) en un mosaico de habitats en al Reserva Natural Nukak, Guaviare, Colombia. *Acta Zool.Mexic.*, 79, 103-121.
- Estrada, A. & Coates-Estrada, R. (2002) dung beetles in continuous forest, forest fragments and in an agricultural mosaic habitat island at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. *Biodiv. Conserv.*, 11, 1903-1918.
- Feer, F. 2000. Les Coléoptères Coprophages Et Nécrophages (Scarabaeidae S. Str. Et Aphodiidae) De La Forêt De Guyane Française: Composition Spécifique Et Structure Des Peuplements. Annal. Soc. Entomol. Franc., 36, 29-43.
- França, F., Louzada, J., Korasaki, V., Griffiths, H., Silveira, J.M. & Barlow J. (2016) Do space-for-time assessments underestimate the impacts of logging on tropical biodiversity? An Amazonian case study using dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol., 1-8.
- Gardner, T.A., Hernández, M.I.M., Barlow, B. & Peres, C.A. (2008) Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for Neotropical dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol., 45, 883-893.
- Hammer, O., Harper, D.A.T. & Ryan, P.D. (2001) PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. *Palaeontol. Elect.*, *4*, 1-9.
- Hanski, I. & Cambefort, Y. (1991) Competition in dung beetles. pp 305-329. In: Hanski, I., Cambefort, Y. (eds). *Dung beetle ecology*. Princeton, USA: Princeton University Press.
- Heath, R.T. (2013) Ecosystem health and management: A culmination of ecosystem ecology. *Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manag.*, 16, 148-149.
- Heink, U. & Kowarik, I. (2010) What are indicators? On the definition of indicators in ecology and environmental planning. *Ecol. Indic.*, 10, 584-593.
- Howden, H.F., Howden, A.T. & Storey, R.I. (1991) Nocturnal perching of Scarabaeidae dung beetles (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae) in an Australian tropical rain forest. *Biotropica*, 23, 51-57.
- Korasaki, V., Braga, R.F., Zanetti, R., Moreira, F.M.S., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z. & Louzada, J. (2013) Conservation value of alternative land-use systems for dung beetles in Amazon: valuing traditional farming practices. *Biodiv. Conserv.*, 22, 1485-1499.
- Lucky, A., Erwin, T.L. & Witman, J.D. (2002) Temporal and Spatial Diversity and Distribution of Arboreal Carabidae (Coleoptera) in a Western Amazonian Rain Forest. *Biotropica*, 34, 376-386.
- Magurran, A.E. (2004) *Measuring biological diversity*. 2nd ed. Oxford, U.K: Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Marengo, J.A. (2015). Mudancas de clima e os seus impactos no Brasil. *Brasilia em debate*, 1, 1-24.
- Marengo, J.A., Aragão, L.E.O., Cox, P.M., Betts, R., Costa, D., Kaye, N., Smith, L.T., Alves, L.M., Reis, V. (2016) Impacts of Climate Extremes in Brazil: The Development of a Web Platform for Understanding Long-term Sustainability of Ecosystems and Human Health in Amazonia (PULSE-Brazil). B. Am. Meteorol. Soc., 100, 160112100637003.
- Mertens, B., Poccard-Chapuis, R., Piketty, M.G., Lacques, A.E. & Venturieri, A. (2002) Crossing spatial analyses and livestock economics to understand deforestation processes in the Brazilian Amazon: The case of São Félix do Xingu in south Pará. Agric. Econom., 27, 269-294.
- Milhomem, M.S., Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z. & Diniz, I.R. (2003) Técnicas de coleta de besouros copronecrófagos no Cerrado. *Rev. Agropec. Brasil.*, 38, 1249-1256.
- Nichols, E. & Gardner, T.A. (2011) dung beetles as a candidate study taxon inapplied biodiversity conservation research. pp. 267–291. In: Simmons, L. W., Ridsdill-Smith, J. T. (eds). *Ecology and Evolution of dung beetles*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, London, UK.

- Nichols, E., Gardner, T.A., Peres, C.A. & Spector, S. (2009) Co-declining mammals and dung beetles: an impending ecological cascade. *Oikos*, 118, 481-487.
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amequita, S., Favila, M.E. & Network, S.R. (2008) Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. *Biol. Conserv.*, 141, 1461-1474.
- Nyeko, P. (2009) Dung beetle assemblages and seasonality in primary forest and forest fragments on agricultural landscapes in Budongo, Uganda. *Biotropica*, 41, 476-484.
- Pacheco, T. L. & Vaz-de-Mello, F. Z. (2015). dung beetles of the tribe Phanaeini (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidade: Scarabaeinae) from Roraima state, Northern Brazil: checklist and key to species. *Biot. Neotrop.*, 15, e20140145.
- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L., Mcmahon, T.A. (2007) Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sc.*, 11, 1633-1644.
- Rapport, D.J. & Hildén, M. (2013) An evolving role for ecological indicators: from documenting ecological conditions to monitoring drivers and policy responses. *Ecol. Indic.*, 28, 10-15.
- Santos, M., Bessa, R., Cabral, J.A., Pacheco, F.A.L., Leitao, D., Moreira, F. Silva, J.P. (2016a) Impacts of land use and infrastructural changes on threatened Little Bustard *Tetrax tetrax* breeding populations: quantitative assessments using a recently developed spatially explicit dynamic modelling framework. *Bird Conserv. Int.*, 26, 418-435.
- Santos, M., Ferreira, D., Bastos, R., Vicente, J., Honrado, J., Kueffer, C., Cabral, J.A. (2016b) Linking landscape futures with biodiversity conservation strategies in northwest Iberia - A simulation study combining surrogates with a spatiotemporal modelling approach. *Ecol. Inform.*, 33, 85-100.
- Scheffler P. (2005) Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) diversity and community structure across three disturbance regimes in eastern Amazonia. J. Trop. Ecol., 22, 9-19.
- Seymour, J.E. & Jones, R.E. (2000) Humidity-terminated diapause in the tropical braconid parasitoid *Microplitis demolitor*. *Ecol. Entomol.*, 25, 481-485.

- Silva, F.A.B., Costa, C.M.Q., Moura, R.C. & Farias, A.I. (2010) Study of the dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) community at two sites: Atlantic forest and clear-cut, Pernambuco, Brazil. *Environ. Entomol.*, 29, 359-367.
- Soares-Filho, B.S., Nepstad, D.C., Lefebvre, P., Schlesinger, P. & Mcgrath, D. (2005) Cenários de desmatamento para a Amazônia. *Est. Avanç.*, 19, 137-152.
- Spector, S. (2006) Scarabaeine dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae): an invertebrate focal taxon for biodiversity research and conservation. *Coleopts. Bull.*, 5, 71-83.
- Tabarelli, M., Silva, J.M.C. & Gascon, C. (2004) Forest fragmentation, synergisms and the impoverishment of Neotropical forests. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 13, 1419-1425.
- Valencia, G. (2001). Diversity and Trophic Relationships of dung beetles of the Lower Urubamba Region, Peru. pp. 121–128. In: Alonso, A., Dallmeier, F., Campbell, P. (ed.). Urubamba: *The Biodiversity of a Peruvian Rainforest*. SI/MAB Series #7, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, DC: 2001.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., Aizen, M.A., García, D., Gómez, J.M. & Jordano, P. (2015) Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Funct. Ecol.*, 29, 299-307.
- Vandewalle, M., Bello, F., Harrington, R., Harrison, P.A. & Lavorel, S. (2010) Functional traits as indicators of biodiversity response to land use changes across ecosystems and organisms. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 19, 2921-2947.
- Vaz-De-Mello, F.Z., Edmonds, W.D., Campo, F.C., Schoolmeesters, P. (2011) A multilingual key to the genera and subgenera of the subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Zootaxa*, 2854, 1-73.
- Viegas, G., Stenert, C., Schulz, U.H. & Maltchik, L. (2014) Dung beetle communities as biological indicators of riparian forest widths in southern Brazil. *Ecol. Indic.*, 36, 703-710.
- Zar, J.H. (1984). *Two-factor analysis of variance: Biostatistical analysis*. 2ed. Englewood Cliffs,BJ Prentice-Hall, p. 206-235.

Supplementary material

Table S1.

Scarabaeinae species (Dung beetles, Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) collected in different ecosystems and different seasons in the municipality of Uruará, Pará State in northern Brazil. NV: Native Vegetation; MS: Mature secondary succession; ES: Early secondary succession; Ag: Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa: Pasture. The letters R, I and D following the vegetation types correspond the rainy season, intermediary and dry, respectively.

| Species | NV- R | NV- I | NV- D | MS- R | MS- I | MS- D | ES- R | ES- I | ES- D | Ag- R | Ag- I | Ag- D | Pa- R | Pa- I | Pa- D |
|---------------------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| Coprophanaeus lancifer | 29 | 18 | 1 | 16 | 23 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Coprophanaeus telamon | 19 | 21 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Coprophanaeus degallieri | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - |
| Coprophanaeus sp1 | 5 | 2 | - | - | - | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Oxysternon durantoni | 76 | 29 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Oxysternon conspicillatum | 12 | 10 | 1 | - | - | - | 41 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Oxysternon sp1 | 19 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Sulcophanaeus faunus | 4 | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Sulcophanaeus sp1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | - |
| Eurysternus atrosericus | 27 | 41 | 13 | 17 | 1 | 12 | - | - | - | 3 | 5 | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus parallelus | 36 | 61 | 36 | 18 | 6 | 30 | - | 6 | - | 5 | 12 | 7 | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus caribaeus | 81 | 51 | 42 | 44 | 10 | 22 | - | 11 | - | 2 | - | 7 | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus wittmerorum | 35 | 24 | 12 | 15 | 6 | 33 | - | 9 | - | - | 3 | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus strigilatus | 15 | 22 | - | 5 | 5 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus ventricosus | 17 | - | - | 3 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus foedus | - | 15 | 6 | - | | 20 | - | 8 | - | - | - | 5 | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus hamaticollis | - | 9 | 5 | - | - | 12 | - | 12 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus sp1 | 18 | 22 | 35 | 19 | 2 | 11 | - | - | 9 | - | 11 | 5 | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus sp2 | 17 | 29 | - | 17 | 3 | 26 | 9 | 12 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Eurysternus sp3 | - | 41 | 49 | 14 | 35 | 69 | 18 | 15 | 11 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Uroxys sp1 | 198 | 90 | 32 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Uroxys sp2 | 37 | 29 | 24 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus pygidiali | 142 | 40 | 42 | 51 | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus murrayi | 212 | 160 | 98 | 98 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 98 | - | - |
| Ateuchus connexus | 143 | 78 | 83 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus candezei | 51 | 65 | 17 | 33 | 11 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus robustus | 154 | 96 | 73 | 49 | 23 | 37 | - | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus simplex | 34 | 25 | - | 9 | 4 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus sp1 | 29 | - | - | - | 6 | 27 | 11 | - | - | 3 | - | 8 | 15 | 7 | 2 |
| Ateuchus sp2 | 51 | - | - | - | - | 15 | - | - | - | - | - | - | 21 | 12 | 3 |
| Ateuchus sp3 | 141 | 57 | 98 | 37 | 34 | 27 | - | 14 | 12 | 4 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus sp4 | 118 | 41 | 22 | 34 | 3 | 18 | - | - | 4 | - | - | - | 12 | - | - |
| Ateuchus sp5 | 96 | 131 | 93 | 48 | 12 | 28 | 24 | 4 | 3 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - |

| Ateuchus sp6 | 30 | 20 | 18 | 3 | 8 | 26 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
|---------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|-----|----|----|
| Ateuchus sp7 | 2 | 17 | 9 | 39 | 8 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ateuchus sp8 | - | - | - | 35 | 8 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - |
| Anomiopus sp1 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon luteicollis | 73 | 43 | 20 | 64 | 24 | 19 | 10 | 8 | 13 | 7 | 2 | - | - | 6 | - |
| Canthon simulans | 11 | - | - | - | 5 | 20 | 40 | 14 | 12 | - | 9 | 6 | 173 | 50 | 9 |
| Canthon chalybaeus | - | - | - | - | - | - | 9 | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon aequinoctialis | 43 | 20 | 18 | 27 | 9 | - | - | - | - | 7 | - | 5 | - | - | - |
| Canthon fulgidus | 49 | 19 | - | 59 | 4 | 21 | 22 | 20 | 6 | 12 | - | | 12 | 29 | 65 |
| Canthon quadriguttatus | 12 | 9 | - | 6 | 3 | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | - | - | 3 | 8 |
| Canthon triangularis | 116 | 27 | 22 | 71 | 18 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon subhyalinus | 18 | 8 | - | 9 | - | 18 | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | 3 |
| Canthon lituratus | 24 | 21 | 23 | 15 | - | - | 68 | 9 | - | - | - | - | 90 | 2 | 6 |
| Canthon mutabilis | - | - | - | - | - | - | 25 | 8 | - | - | - | - | 11 | 4 | 1 |
| Canthon histrio | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 8 | 4 | - |
| Canthon sp1 | - | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | 9 | 12 | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon sp2 | 87 | 125 | 100 | 39 | 24 | 27 | - | 3 | 8 | 43 | 33 | 30 | 13 | 61 | 3 |
| Canthon sp3 | 11 | 12 | 1 | - | 5 | - | - | - | - | - | 14 | 13 | - | - | - |
| Canthon sp4 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 24 | 5 | - | 14 | - |
| Canthon sp5 | 32 | 4 | - | 28 | 9 | 16 | 32 | - | - | 20 | 5 | - | 27 | 36 | 48 |
| Canthon sp6 | - | - | 21 | - | - | - | - | 11 | 5 | 2 | 7 | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon sp7 | - | - | - | - | - | - | 12 | 4 | 14 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthon sp8 | - | - | - | - | - | - | 7 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthonella sp | 23 | - | 3 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 13 | 3 | - |
| Deltochilum orbiculare | 46 | 12 | 3 | 19 | 1 | 8 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 |
| Deltochilum submetallicum | 225 | - | 112 | 173 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Deltochilum carinatum | 8 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Deltochilum icarus | 4 | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Deltochilum sp | - | - | - | - | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Scybalocanthon sexpilotus | 12 | - | - | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Sylvicanthon sp1 | 4 | 8 | 3 | 1 | - | 9 | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - | - |
| Canthidium deyrollei | 401 | 25 | 122 | 224 | 7 | 5 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthidium ardens | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 12 | - | - |
| Canthidium sp1 | 6 | - | - | 5 | - | 18 | - | - | - | 9 | 6 | 5 | 10 | - | - |
| Canthidium sp2 | 9 | - | - | 3 | - | - | - | - | - | 7 | - | - | 15 | 3 | 2 |
| Canthidium sp3 | 54 | - | - | 14 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Canthidium sp4 | - | - | 7 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | - | - |
| Canthidium sp5 | 388 | - | 99 | 196 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius apicalis | 26 | 10 | 7 | 21 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius boreus | 17 | 8 | 3 | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius subaeneus | 59 | 12 | 9 | 82 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius lucasi | 74 | 3 | 1 | 52 | 18 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius worontzowi | 10 | - | - | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Dichotomius melzeri | - | 3 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |

| Dichotomius sp1 | 404 | - | - | 297 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
|-----------------------------|-----|----|----|-----|---|---|----|---|---|---|---|---|----|----|---|
| Dichotomius sp2 | - | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ontherus carinifrons | 321 | 98 | 44 | 201 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ontherus pubens | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 23 | - | - |
| Ontherus sp | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Onthophagus bidentatus | 191 | 78 | 33 | 98 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Onthophagus haemathopus | 82 | 94 | 37 | 69 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Onthophagus clypeatus | 21 | 15 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Onthophagus hirculus | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 40 | 14 | - |
| Onthophagus sp1 | 3 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | - |
| Onthophagus sp2 | 12 | 13 | 1 | 5 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Onthophagus sp3 | - | 2 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Phanaeus chalcomelas | 9 | - | - | 4 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Phanaeus bispinus | - | 3 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Phanaeus sp | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Blackburneus sp | - | 8 | 4 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 3 | - | 12 | - | - |
| Diabroctis mimas | - | - | - | - | - | - | 25 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Cryptocanthon peckorum | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Trichillum externepunctatum | - | - | - | - | - | - | 29 | - | - | - | - | - | 65 | - | - |
| Digitonthophagus gazella | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - |
| Gromphas aeruginosa | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 18 | - | - |

Table S2.

Tukey values for number of individuals (abundance) and number of species (richness) of the DB community in the different ecosystems considered. Tukey's Q the diagonal, p (same) above the diagonal. Not-significant comparisons are gray. NV, Native Vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession (15 years regeneration); ES, Early secondary succession (5 years regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cacao plantations), and Pa, Pasture.

| Sito | | Abur | idance log | (x+1) | | | Richness | | | | | | | | | | |
|------|--------------------------------|---------|------------|---------|---------|---|----------|--------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Site | $F_{4,205} = 84.59, P < 0.001$ | | | | | | | $F_{4,205} = 137.3, P < 0.001$ | | | | | | | | | |
| | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa | - | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa | | | | | | |
| NV | | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | - | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | | | | | | |
| MS | Q=10.41 | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | | Q=12.15 | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | | | | | | |
| ES | Q=20.13 | Q=9.72 | - | P=0.183 | P=0.092 | | Q=24.58 | Q=12.43 | - | P=0.296 | P=0.909 | | | | | | |
| Ag | Q=23.23 | Q=12.82 | Q=3.09 | - | P<0.001 | | Q=27.32 | Q=15.17 | Q=2.74 | - | P=0.820 | | | | | | |
| Pa | Q=16.60 | Q=6.19 | Q=3.52 | Q=6.62 | - | | Q=25.80 | Q=13.65 | Q=1.22 | Q=1.51 | - | | | | | | |

Table S3.

Tukey values for number of individuals (abundance) and number of species (richness) of the DB community in the different periods of sampling. Tukey's Q the diagonal, p (same) above the diagonal. Not-significant comparisons are gray. R: Rainy; I: Intermediary; D: Dry.

| Periods | Abu | ndance log | (x+1) | | S | |
|----------|-------------|-------------------|---------|--------|------------------------|----------|
| I erious | $F_{2,207}$ | = 20.25, <i>P</i> | < 0.05 | F | $T_{2,207} = 11.59, P$ | < 0.0001 |
| | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D |
| R | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 |
| Ι | Q=7.05 | - | P=0.62 | Q=5.19 | - | P=0.66 |
| D | Q=8.36 | Q=1.31 | - | Q=6.41 | Q=1.22 | - |

Table S4.

Tukey values for number of individuals (abundance) and number of species (richness) of the DB community in the different periods of sampling in each habitat. NV: Native Vegetation; MS: Mature secondary succession; ES: Early secondary succession; Ag: Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa: Pasture. The letters R, I and D following the vegetation types correspond the rainy season, intermediary and dry, respectively.

| Site/ Sample | Ab | undance log | (x+1) | | Richness | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|-----------|-------------------|----------|---|-----------------------------|---------------------|----------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | $F_{2,8}$ | $_2 = 142.7, P <$ | < 0.05 | | $F_{2,82} = 20.2, P < 0.05$ | | | | | | | |
| | R | Ι | D | - | R | Ι | D | | | | | |
| NV_R | - | P<0.0001 | P<0.0001 | - | - | P<0.001 | P<0.01 | | | | | |
| NV_I | Q=17.51 | - | P<0.001 | | Q=5.64 | - | P=0.06 | | | | | |
| NV_D | Q=22.84 | Q=5.33 | - | | Q=3.23 | Q=3.23 | - | | | | | |
| | F2,8 | $_2 = 151.1, P <$ | < 0.01 | - | $F_{2,82}$ | = 51.49, <i>P</i> < | < 0.001 | | | | | |
| MS_R | - | P=<0.001 | P=<0.001 | | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | | | | | |
| MS_I | Q=24.2 | - | P=0.071 | | Q=13.75 | - | P=<0.001 | | | | | |
| MS_D | Q=17.21 | Q=6.98 | - | | Q=10.44 | Q=3.31 | - | | | | | |
| | $F_{2,8}$ | $_2 = 29.02, P <$ | < 0.01 | - | $F_{2,8}$ | $_{32} = 12.7, P <$ | < 0.01 | | | | | |
| ES_R | - | P<0.01 | P<0.01 | | - | P<0.05 | P<0.001 | | | | | |
| ES_I | Q=7.15 | - | P=0.05 | | Q=3.59 | - | P<0.05 | | | | | |
| ES_D | Q=10.55 | Q=3.40 | - | | Q=7.12 | Q=3.52 | - | | | | | |
| | $F_{2,8}$ | $_2 = 15.97, P <$ | < 0.05 | - | $F_{2,82}$ | $_2 = 10.11, P <$ | < 0.05 | | | | | |
| Ag_R | - | P=0.99 | P=0.06 | | - | P=0.96 | P=0.12 | | | | | |
| Ag_I | Q=0.07 | - | P<0.05 | | Q=0.39 | - | P<0.05 | | | | | |
| Ag_D | Q=3.41 | Q=3.49 | - | | Q=2.84 | Q=3.22 | - | | | | | |
| | $F_{2,8}$ | $_2 = 48.9, P <$ | 0.001 | - | $F_{2,82}$ | $_2 = 22.64, P <$ | < 0.05 | | | | | |
| Pa_R | - | P<0.001 | P<0.001 | | - | P=0.07 | P=0.06 | | | | | |
| Pa_I | Q=10.1 | - | P=0.07 | | Q=11.89 | - | P<0.05 | | | | | |
| Pa_D | Q=13.28 | Q=3.18 | - | | Q=7.12 | Q=2.23 | - | | | | | |

Chapter 6

SEASONAL PATTERNS IN THE DIVERSITY OF HISTERID BEETLES (HISTERIDAE) ARE ECOSYSTEM SPECIFIC? A CASE IN PARA STATE, NORTHERN BRAZIL

CAJAIBA, R. L.^{1,2,4*} – PÉRICO, E.¹ – SILVA, W. B.³ – SANTOS, M.²

¹University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

²Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal

³Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil

⁴Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira, 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, MA, Brazil

> *Corresponding author e-mail: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Published in Applied Ecology and Environmental Research

Cajaiba, R.L.; Perico, E.; Silva, W.B.; Santos, M. Seasonal patterns in the diversity of Histerid Beetles (Histeridae) are ecosystem specific? A case in Pará state, northern Brazil. **Applied Ecology and Environmental Research**, v. 15, p. 1227-1237, 2017.

Abstract

The objective of this work was to characterize the seasonal variation in the community of Histerid beetles (Histeridae) of different ecosystems in the Brazilian Amazon, ranging from primary or secondary forests with different stages of regeneration to cocoa farms and pastures. Pitfall traps were distributed within the monitored ecosystems during different periods of the year. A total of 1945 Histerid beetles, belonging to five genera and 14 species were captured. Higher diversities were observed during the rainy season, although with differences among ecosystems. The genera *Phelister* and *Hister* were ubiquitous in all ecosystems, constituting 71% of all the specimens captured. Histerid beetle communities, discriminated by ordination methods, change gradually from the most conserved ecosystems to more disturbed ones. Moreover, the results showed that disturbed ecosystems, namely cocoa farms and pastures, have detrimental effects on the occurrence of Histerid beetles, which are considered forest specialists, while enhancing generalist species.

Keywords: Amazon rainforest, biodiversity, soil insect, fluctuation, tropical forest

Introduction

Currently, there is enormous concern and speculation about the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on the biodiversity of tropical ecosystems, including the effects on species composition and the modifications in the ecological services provided (e.g. Morris, 2010; Aerts and Honnay, 2011; Cajaiba et al., 2017a). Deforestation in the Neotropics, particularly in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and disruption of the complex global climate phenomena (e.g. Hassan et al., 2005; Morris, 2010). Therefore, the conservation of the Amazonian ecosystems represents a growing core challenge for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately that of mankind (e.g. Viana and Pinheiro, 1988; Viegas et al., 2014).

Predicting the ecological consequences of land use/land cover (LU/LC) changes is therefore a subject of scientific and political interest in order to support strategic options for sustainable development, land use planning and natural resources management (Turner et al., 2007). In this context, ecological assessment and monitoring are important tools to support effective management of ecosystems and natural resources, in which the use of pertinent indicators is crucial for measuring and evaluating the status and trends of target environmental systems (Cajaiba and Silva, 2017).

Ecological integrity is a key concept in natural resource management, and researchers have been trying to improve public understanding of this concept by using simple scientific measures known as ecological indicators (Andreasen et al., 2001). In fact, ecological integrity can be measured and interpreted by changes in abundance, diversity, and composition of groups of indicator organisms that ultimately depend on system resources and conditions. Correlates of integrity in terrestrial landscapes have been proposed, along with many specific indicators that measure various aspects of the ecosystems (Cajaiba and Silva, 2017). Among the various indicators, terrestrial invertebrates, and particularly insects, play a crucial role in most ecological processes, and they are key components of ecosystem structure and functioning (Bicknell et al., 2014; Viegas et al., 2014; Cajaiba and Silva, 2015; Cajaiba et al., 2015; Campos and

Hernández, 2015). Insect abundance and richness are related with other taxa, climate, and soil characteristics, thus representing potential target indicators of environmental changes (e.g. Nichols et al., 2008; Cajaiba et al., 2015). Therefore, a better understanding of the ecological relevance of insects in the humid tropics could support decision-making and robust management/recovery of imperilled ecosystems in the scope of the need for rapid, standardised, and cost-effective assessment methodologies (Godfray et al., 1999).

Beetles have characteristics that make them appropriate for ecological studies (Vasquez-Velez et al., 2010; Paoletti et al., 2010; Cajaiba and Silva, 2015) monitoring different compartments of the system (Marinoni, 2001). Among beetles, those of the family Histeridae (Histerid beetles - HB) are known as generalist predators, with wide range of habitats, which may occur in faeces, fungi, tree trunks, decomposing fruit, roots of trees, bird nests, burrows of mammals or reptiles, and in decaying vegetation. In addition, they are important predators of eggs and larvae, particularly of Diptera (Cyclorrhapha). Some groups are related to other animals, particularly social insects such ants and termites (Leivas et al., 2013). Despite its ecological importance, few studies have been conducted in Brazil using this group, and the published ones focused on the systematics (Degallier et al., 2011; Corrêa et al., 2012; Leivas et al., 2012a, b; Leivas et al., 2015).

In the present study, we aimed to characterize the seasonal communities of HB of different ecosystems in the Brazilian Amazon, ranging from primary or secondary forests with different stages of regeneration, to cocoa farms and pastures. These ecosystems, characterized by dissimilar structure and complexity, could be associated with divergent seasonal patterns in richness and diversity. Specifically, we addressed the following questions: 1) does the composition of Histerid beetle communities vary among the different ecosystems and 2) does the diversity of Histeridae assemblies in the Amazon biome differ among seasons?

Material and methods

Study area

This study was performed near the city of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil (*Fig. 1*). The territorial extension of the municipality is 10796 km² and its population encompasses circa 44789 inhabitants. The dominant land use/ land cover (LU/LC) is natural forest (69% of the area) and deforestation is concentrated mainly in the south-central part of territory and near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental threats (Cajaiba and Silva, 2017). The studied areas contain the pertinent gradients, in terms of biophysical and ecological characteristics, for testing the response of Histerid beetle communities (Cajaiba and Silva, 2017) facing the main anthropogenic drivers. These gradients encompass: Native Vegetation - NV, Early Secondary succession – ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration), Mature Secondary succession - MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Agriculture - Ag (cocoa plantations, Theobroma cacao L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock - Pa. The climate of the study area is classified as Aw (Köppen), hot and humid and the average annual rainfall is 2000 mm (Cajaiba et al., 2017b).



Figure 1. Location of the study region in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Location of the sampling areas: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

Histerid beetles sampling

Sampling was carried out during the year 2015, in the months of February/ March (rainy season), June (final of rainy season and early dry season) and September/ October (dry season). This allowed integrating eventual seasonal differences in the diversity of Histerid beetles (HB). The sample points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, to ensure that most HB captured were associated to the ecosystem in study. Pitfall traps with 75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep were filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension. A roof was attached to each trap to prevent rainwater from entering the trap, remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection. Each pitfall contained different baits such as human faeces, meat and banana in order to attract different species according to their feeding habits (non-baited pitfalls were used as control).

In each studied ecosystem (NV, MS, ES, Ag and Pa) seven sample points were placed 100 m apart. Each sample point contained four pitfall traps including the different baits (faeces, carrion, banana and non-baited), separated by 5 meters. The distance between pitfall traps allowed individuals to choose their preferential food resource (Almeida and Louzada, 2009). This protocol was applied to all areas and periods of collections, totalizing a sampling effort of 840 traps. In order to complement the pitfall derived information (Cajaiba et al., 2014), specific methods were used to collect leaf litter invertebrates. Ten random sampling points of 1 m² were selected in each ecosystem and sampling period. At each collection point ('litter-only'), only the loose soil was gently scraped with a metal trowel, to include those HB into the samples that fell out of the leaf litter during this collection procedure. We refrained from simply separating leaf litter and soil, considering that when we remove the litter, HB might flee the litter and hide in the loose topsoil.

Assemblage analysis

Richness and abundance of HB were measured in each sampling site and differences among ecosystems were gauged using One-Way-Analysis-of-Variance (ANOVA). ANOVA was also applied to find possible differences in HB along the year. When the ANOVA indicated differences in the average among ecosystems and/or seasonality, a Tukey's post-hoc test was performed to find specific difference(s). The normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test.

The taxonomic composition of HB communities between ecosystems was compared using Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA). Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) plots were used to help interpret the results found with the PERMANOVAs (see Anderson, 2001 for similar procedure). In order to check for environmental variables with influence on the HB communities, associated with periods of the year, a correlation analysis (Pearson correlation) was applied between HB abundance and richness and meteorological data - temperature, humidity and precipitation. All analyses were performed using PAST software version 3.14 (Hammer et al., 2001).

Results

Composition of Histeridae

A total of 1945 individuals Histerid beetles (HB) were captured, distributed by five genera and 14 species/ morphospecies (species). All species (14 species, 682 individuals) were monitored in the native vegetation (NV), 12 species (513 individuals) in the Mature Secondary succession (MS), 13 species (180 individuals) in Early Secondary succession (ES), 11 species (232 individuals) in Agriculture (Ag) and 13 species (338 individuals) in Pasture (Pa). The most abundant species were *Phelister* sp1 (302 individuals), *Phelister* sp4 (257 individuals), *Hister* sp1 (246 individuals) and *Phelister* sp2 (184 individuals). These four species represent more than 50 percent of all specimens collected. The genera *Phelister* and *Hister* were prevalent in all communities, with more 71 percent of all specimens captured (*Table 1*).

Table 1. Total numbers of Histerid beetles species in the environments different in the Brazilian Amazon. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Mature Secondary succession (15 years of regeneration); ES = Early Secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture. R = Rainy Season; Intermediary Season; D = Dry Season.

| Species | Species NV | | | MS | | | ES | | | Ag | | | | Total | | |
|--------------------------|------------|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|---|----|----|----|----|-------|----|-------|
| | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | Total |
| Phelister haemorrhous | 14 | 4 | 6 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 6 | 4 | 3 | 37 |
| Phelister sp1 | 60 | 68 | - | 16 | 80 | 11 | 17 | 6 | 3 | - | 6 | 8 | 7 | 20 | - | 302 |
| Phelister sp2 | 26 | 25 | - | 26 | 20 | - | 9 | - | 2 | 3 | 2 | 34 | 7 | 15 | 15 | 184 |
| Phelister sp3 | - | 25 | - | 10 | 72 | 22 | 1 | 2 | 1 | - | 6 | 10 | 10 | 5 | 6 | 170 |
| Phelister sp4 | 28 | 20 | 6 | 35 | 30 | - | 2 | 10 | 2 | - | - | 26 | 19 | 20 | 59 | 257 |
| Hister punctifer | 24 | 8 | 7 | 14 | 10 | 3 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 6 | 6 | 5 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 108 |
| Hister sp1 | 44 | 30 | - | 33 | 38 | 18 | 18 | 6 | - | 9 | 14 | 30 | - | 2 | 3 | 246 |
| Hister sp2 | 6 | 40 | - | 2 | 2 | 1 | - | - | - | 8 | 1 | 8 | 2 | - | 18 | 88 |
| Omalodes marseuli | 11 | 8 | 7 | 13 | 2 | 6 | 8 | 2 | 1 | 7 | 3 | 3 | 10 | 4 | 4 | 89 |
| Omalodes sp1 | 72 | 14 | 6 | 2 | - | - | 4 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 10 | 6 | 2 | 12 | 148 |
| Omalodes sp2 | 30 | 24 | 16 | 10 | 10 | 0 | 1 | - | 8 | - | - | - | 3 | - | 24 | 126 |
| Euspilotus sp1 | 16 | 8 | 8 | 5 | 2 | 1 | 6 | 6 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 2 | 5 | 4 | - | 80 |
| Euspilotus sp2 | 6 | 6 | 4 | 10 | 5 | 4 | 12 | 11 | 7 | 6 | 3 | 1 | 14 | 7 | 7 | 103 |
| Operclipygus sp | 5 | - | - | - | - | - | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 7 |

Histerid beetles (HB) richness and abundance presented significant differences between ecosystems ($F_{4,114} = 111.3$, p<0.001; $F_{4,114} = 346$, p<0.001) (*Figs. 2a and 2b*). Generally, less disturbed ecosystems had higher values of both indexes, although with exceptions: higher richness and abundance depicted in Pastures when comparing with Cocoa farms (Ag) and Early secondary succession (ES).



Figure 2. Differences in the projected values for (a) Richness (± SE), and (b) Abundance (± SE) of Histerid beetles (HB) community in the different ecosystems considered. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

NV presented all species while *Phelister haemorrhous* was not captured in MS, ES and Ag; *Operclipygus* sp was not captured in MS, Ag and Pa; *Hister* sp2 and *Omalodes* sp2, were not found in ES and Ag, respectively.

The results of the NMDS showed that the HB assemblages of different ecosystems could be separated from each other by ordination of the species composition, suggesting that these assemblages change gradually from the most pristine to more disturbed ecosystems. The composition of the HB of NV and MS were more similar to each other than HB assemblages of other habitats: ES, Ag and Pa could be discriminated from NV and MS (*Fig. 3*). In fact, the Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) showed that HB taxonomic composition of the ecosystems studied was significantly different ($F_{4,114} = 28.44$, p<0.0001).



Figure 3. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) showing Histerid beetles grouped in accordance with the ecosystems (using Bray-Curtis similarity). NV, Vegetation native; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

Seasonality patterns in Histerid beetles assemblages

With respect to the relation between the period of the year and HB assemblages, statistical differences in abundance and richness were identified ($F_{2,342} = 11.71$, p<0.001; $F_{2,342} = 13.29$, p<0.001): significant differences in abundance were found between the averages of the rainy and dry seasons (Tuckey test: Q=6.76, p<0.001), and the intermediary and dry seasons (Tuckey test: Q=5.64, p<0.05); significant differences in richness were found between averages of rainy and intermediary seasons (Tuckey test: Q=3.17, p<0.01), and intermediary and dry seasons (Tuckey test: Q=4.09, p<0.05) (*Fig. 4a*).



Figure 4. Abundance and richness of Histerid beetles (a) and distribution of environmental variables during the study period (b).

Among the climatic variables evaluated (*Figure 4b*), humidity and precipitation were positively correlated with the abundance and richness of Histeridae. In contrast, the air temperature negatively influenced these indexes (*Table 2*).

Table 2. Pearson correlation between environmental variables and ecological indices(abundance and richness) of Histeridae collected in Uruará, Pará, northing Brazil.Asterisks indicate statistical significance at level of * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

| Environmental variables | Abundance | Richness |
|-------------------------|-----------|----------|
| Humidity | 0.57*** | 0.49*** |
| Temperature | -0.29* | -0.29** |
| Precipitation | 0.48*** | 0.44*** |

Discussion

Composition

Degallier et al. (2011) highlighted the shortage of information on Histerid beetles (HB) in Neotropical areas, where environmental and ecological conditions

should enhance their biodiversity. In fact, there is a lack of specific collections and specialized taxonomists for this group. Despite the lack of HB collections, the results obtained provide clues on the diversity of the group in the Amazon region (Leivas et al., 2013).

The genus *Phelister* (Marseul, 1853), which was the most abundant in the present study, represents a varied genus with 88 species described with mostly Neotropical distribution (Mazur, 2011). These species can be found on diverse substrates like faeces, carcasses, decomposing plants, plants, mammal burrows, bird nests, and in debris piles of leaf-cutting ants. Some species, associated with carcasses, have been considered relevant for forensic entomological studies (Almeida and Mise, 2009; Leivas et al., 2013). The enormous diversity, lack of taxonomic studies, and the possibility of description of many new taxa hinders the identification of species (Leivas et al., 2013). The genus *Hister* (Linnaeus, 1758), which was the second most abundant in the present study, is the most diverse genus of HB, with approximately 195 described species distributed across all zoogeographic regions (Mazur, 2011). These species occur in faeces, carcasses, decomposing plants and fungi, mammal burrows, and in debris piles of leaf-cutting ants. The small number of species recorded in Brazil suggests that new taxa and new records might be described in future (Leivas et al., 2013, 2015).

In the present study, both richness and abundance were the highest in the most pristine and/or conserved ecosystems (e.g. NV and MS). These results suggest the presence of differences among HB communities associated with specific ecosystems, probably related with the environmental conditions and bioecology of species (Moraes et al., 2013). Summerlin (1989) mentions a trend starting from low dominance and high richness of HB communities in pristine ecosystems to higher abundances and reduced richness of HB communities in open and degraded ones. Thus, diversity and abundance of HB communities are intimately related with differences in environmental characteristics of these ecosystems (Lopes et al., 2005).

Biotic and abiotic factors associated with most pristine/ heterogeneous environments, are, for example, mild climates, high canopy cover, and complex ground cover that provide environments for hibernation and more diverse prey, and better conditions for larvae and adults. Cattle treading on pasture areas or the use of machinery in agriculture areas contribute to soil compaction, resulting in changes in the soil structure, reduction of soil litter and water, thereby decreasing and/or eliminating many species (Kruess and Tscharntke, 2002).

Seasonality

In the present study, the abundance and richness of HB collected at different times of the year (rainy season, intermediary season, and dry season) depicted a trend with higher diversity during the rainy season, corroborating the hypothesis that the abundance, richness, and diversity are associated with climatic conditions (Andresen, 2005). Nonetheless, microclimatic factors are not necessarily correlated with climatic conditions, but they play an important part in the activity of HB and associated taxa in different climates (Moraes et al., 2013).

The positive correlation between air moisture and the diversity of HB is expected, because higher air moisture may produce favourable microclimates for HB. Previous studies demonstrated that vegetation structure and its effects on microclimate (e.g. temperature and air moisture) might be one of the most important factors controlling and structuring the distribution of beetles (Magura et al., 2000). Apparently, the evolutionary life cycle strategy of beetles is optimized and synchronized with seasonal changes of microclimatic environmental conditions (Kotze et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2014).

Although temperature was negatively correlated with abundance and richness in the present study, annual temperature variation in this region is small, suggesting that rain and humidity are probably the main drivers affecting the dynamics of invertebrates (Andresen, 2008). Silva et al. (2010) presented two hypotheses to explain the lower abundance and richness of adult beetles in the dry season: (1) adults are sensitive to the effects of drought and remain underground during this period, or (2) adults die in the dry season and only the immature beetles survive in the nest, reaching the adult stage at the beginning of the wet season. Nevertheless, temperature is a major factor affecting activity, flight, foraging behaviour, and metabolism of beetles (Saska et al., 2010). Additional studies are necessary to document the extent of sensitivity to microclimate and climate, and they could be particularly relevant in the light of the potential effects of climate change (Williams et al., 2007; Maveety et al., 2014). Understanding seasonal patterns of beetles in a given region is important for several reasons. Firstly, seasonal variations in abundance, richness, and species composition emphasize the role of phenology and the effect of survey timing on the results obtained for studying the association of HB with ecosystems. Further, seasonal information of HB might be a relevant ecological indicator, which might have importance in the management of ecosystems.

Conclusion

The Histerid beetles collected in this study demonstrate patterns of habitat preference and marked seasonal variations. In addition, the results indicate factors and conditions that might affect overall biodiversity distribution in the Brazilian Amazon. In fact, the present study should be complemented with studies linking Histerid beetles with other taxa for understanding and assessing the state of conservation of the diverse ecosystems of the studied region.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank SEMMA/ Uruará for logistics support. We also thank the Lucas Paixão, Edielson Mendes, Ediones Santos and Sidicley Santos for assistance in the field works. This work is supported by: European Investment Funds by FEDER/COMPETE/POCI–Operational Competitiveness and Internationalization Program, under Project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006958 and National Funds by FCT - Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, under the project UID/AGR/04033/2013.

REFERENCES

- [1] Aerts, R., Honnay, O. (2011): Forest restoration, biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. BMC Ecology 11: 1-10.
- [2] Almeida, L. M., Mise, K. M. (2009): Diagnosis and key of the main families and species of South American Coleoptera of forensic importance. – Revista Brasileira de Entomologia 53: 227-244.
- [3] Almeida, S. S. P., Louzada, J. N. C. (2009): Estrutura da comunidade de Scarabaeinae (Scarabaeidae: Coleoptera) em fitofisionomias do Cerrado e sua importância para a conservação. Neotropical Entomology 38: 32-43.
- [4] Anderson, M. J. (2001): A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology 26: 32-46.
- [5] Andreasen, J. K., O'Neill, R. V., Noss, R., Slosser, N. C. (2001): Considerations for the development of a terrestrial index of ecological integrity. – Ecological Indicators 1: 21-35.
- [6] Andresen, E. (2005): Effects of season and vegetation type on community organization of dung beetles in tropical dry forest. Biotropica 37: 291-300.
- [7] Andresen, E. (2008): Dung beetle assemblange in primary forest and disturbed habitats in a tropical dry forest landscape in western Mexico. Journal Insect of Conservation 18: 639-650.
- [8] Bicknell, J. E., Phelps, S. P., Davies, R. G., Mann, D. J., Struebig, M. J., Davies, Z. G. (2014): Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. – Ecological Indicators 43: 154-161.
- [9] Cajaiba, R. L., Cabral, J. A., Santos, M. (2015): A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. Neotropical Entomology 4: 1-9.
- [10] Cajaiba, R. L., Paixao, L. J., Santos, S. M., Barbosa, I. M., Silva, W. B. (2014): Inventário de araneofauna (Arachnida, Araneae) coletadas em pastagens no município de Uruará, Pará, Brasil. – Biota Amazônia 4: 98-101.
- [11] Cajaiba, R. L., Perico, E., Dalzochio, M. S., Silva, W. B., Bastos, R., Cabral, J. A., Santos, M. G. (2017): Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? Ecological Indicators 74: 285-294.
- [12] Cajaiba, R. L., Perico, E., Silva, W. B., Santos, M. (2017b): Attractiveness of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits in the Brazilian Amazon region. – Revista de Biologia Tropical, v. 65, p. 917-924, 2017.
- [13] Cajaiba, R. L., Silva, W. B. (2015): Abundância e Diversidade de Coleoptera (Arthropoda: Insecta) de Solo em Fragmentos de Capoeira ao Entorno da Zona Urbana do Município de Uruará-PA, Brasil. – EntomoBrasilis 8: 30-37.
- [14] Cajaiba, R. L., Silva, W. B. (2017): Diversidade e sazonalidade de Cydnidae (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera) em diferentes habitat no estado do Pará, norte do Brasil. – Revista Brasileira de Biociências 15: 32-37.
- [15] Campos, R. C., Hernández, M. I. M. (2015): Changes in the dynamics of functional groups in communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. – Ecological Indicators 49: 216-227.
- [16] Corrêa, R. C., Moura, D. P., Leivas, F. W. T., Almeida, L. M. (2012): *Operclipygus hospes* (Lewis) (Coleoptera, Histeridae): a Beetle of Potential Forensic Importance for Buried Bodies. Neotropical Entomology 41: 254-256.

- [17] Degallier, N., Leivas, F. W. T., Moura, D. P. (2011): Histerid beetles of French Guiana. V. Revision of the genus *Ebonius* Lewis (Coleoptera, Histeridae, Omalodini). – Zootaxa 2824: 44-52.
- [18] Godfray, H. C. J., Lewis, O. T., Memmott, J. (1999): Studying insect diversity in the tropics. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 354: 1811-1824.
- [19] Hassan, R., Scholes, R., Ash, N. (2005): Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends, vol. 1. New York, Island Press.
- [20] Kotze, D. J., Brandmayr, P., Casale, A. (2011): Forty years of carabid beetle research in Europe from taxonomy, biology, ecology and population studies to bioindication, habit.at assessment and conservation. Zookeys 100: 55-148.
- [21] Kruess, A., Tscharntke, T. (2002): Contrasting responses of plant and insect diversity to variation in grazing intensity. – Biological Conservation 106: 293-302.
- [22] Leivas, F. W. T., Bicho, C. L., Degallier, N., Moura, D. P. (2012a): Revision of the genus *Scapomegas* Lacordaire, 1854 (Coleoptera: Histeridae: Omalodini). – Zootaxa 3482: 33-46.
- [23] Leivas, F. W. T., Grossi, P. C., Almeida, L. M. (2013): Histerídeos (Staphyliniformia: Coleoptera: Histeridae) dos Campos Gerais, Paraná, Brasil. – Biota Neotropical 13: 196-204.
- [24] Leivas, F. W. T., Mise, K. M., Almeida, L. M., Macari, B. P., Gomy, Y. (2012b): New species and key of *Aeletes* Horn (Coleoptera: Histeridae: Abraeinae) from Brazil. – Zootaxa 3165: 63-68.
- [25] Leivas, F. W. T., Moura, D. P., Caterino, M. S. (2015): Brazilian Histerini (Coleoptera, Histeridae, Histerinae): a new species, key to the genera, and checklist of species. – Zootaxa 3941: 437-444.
- [26] Lopes, P. P., Louzada, J. N. C., Oliveira-Rebouças, P. L., Nascimento, L. M., Santana-Reis, V. P. G. (2005): Resposta da Comunidade de Histeridae (Coleoptera) a Diferentes Fisionomias da Vegetação de Restingas no Espírito Santo. – Neotropical Entomology 34: 025-031.
- [27] Magura, T., Tóthmérész, B., Bordán, Z. (2000): Effects of nature management practice on carabid assemblages (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in a non-native plantation. – Biological Conservation 93: 95-102.
- [28] Marinoni, R. C. (2001): Os grupos tróficos em Coleoptera. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 18: 205-224.
- [29] Maveety, S. A., Browne, R. A., Erwin, T. L. (2014): Carabid beetle diversity and community composition as related to altitude and seasonality in Andean forests. – Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environmental 48: 165-174.
- [30] Mazur, S. (2011): A concise catalogue of the Histeridae (Insecta: Coleoptera). Warsaw University of Science SGGW Press, Warsaw, p.1-332.
- [31] Moraes, R. M., Mendonça Jr, Ott, R. (2013): Carabid beetle assemblages in three environments in the *Araucaria* humid forest of Southern Brazil. Revista Brasileira de Entomologia 57: 67-74.
- [32] Morris, R. J. (2010): Anthropogenic impacts on tropical forest biodiversity: a network structure and ecosystem functioning perspective. – Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 365: 3709-3718.
- [33] Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M. E. (2008): Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. – Biological Conservation 141: 1461-1474.
- [34] Paoletti, M. G., D'inca, A., Tonin, E., Tonon, S., Migliorini, C., Petruzzelli, G., Pezzarossa, B., Gomiero, T., Sommaggio, D. (2010): Soil invertebrates as bio-indicators in a natural area converted from agricultural use: the case study of Vallevecchia-Lugugnana in north-eastern Italy. – Journal of Sustainable Agriculture 34: 38-56.

- [35] Saska, P., Martinkova, Z., Honek, A. (2010): Temperature and rate of seed consumption by ground beetles (Carabidae). Biology Control 52: 91-95.
- [36] Silva, R. J., Diniz, S., Vaz-de-Mello, F. Z. (2010): Heterogeneidade do habitat, riqueza e estrutura da assembleia de besouros rola-bostas (Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) em áreas de cerrado na Chapada dos Parecis, MT. – Neotropical Entomology 39: 934-941.
- [37] Summerlin, J. W. (1989): Techniques for collecting, rearing and handling histerid beetles. Southwestern Entomology 14: 127-132.
- [38] Turner, B. L. I., Lambin, E. F., Reenberg, A. (2007): The emergence of land change science for global environmental change and sustainability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104: 20666-20671.
- [39] Vasquez-Velez, L. M., Bermudez, C., Chacon, P., Lozano-Zambrano, F. H. (2010): Analysis of the richness of Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) on different scales of a sub-Andean rural landscape in Colombia. – Biodiversity Conservation 19: 1917-1931.
- [40] Viana, V. M., Pinheiro, L. V. (1988): Conservação da biodiversidade em fragmentos florestais. – IPEF 32: 25-42.
- [41] Viegas, G., Stenert, C., Schulz, U. H., Maltchik, L. (2014): Dung beetle communities as biological indicators of riparian forest widths in southern Brazil. – Ecological Indicators 36: 703-710.
- [42] Wang, X., Müller, J., An, L., Ji, L., Liu, Y., Wang, X., Hao, Z. (2014): Intra-annual variations in abundance and species composition of carabid beetles in a temperate forest in Northeast China. – Journal Insect of Conservation 18: 85-98.
- [43] Williams, J. W., Jackson, S. T., Kutzbach, J. E. (2007): Projected distributions of novel and disappearing climates by 2100 AD. PNAS 104: 5738-5742.

Chapter 7

Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using rove beetles? A case study in the Brazilian Amazon

Reinaldo L. Cajaiba ^{a, d, e *}, Eduardo Périco ^a, Edilson Caron ^b, Marina S. Dalzochio ^a, Wully B. Silva ^c, Mário Santos ^d

^a University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

^b Federal University of Paraná, Department of Zoology, R. Pioneiro, 2153, Jardim Dallas, Palotina, Paraná, CEP 85950-000, Brazil

^c Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil

^d Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal.

^e Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira, 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, MA, Brazil

Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com (R.L. Cajaiba)

Published in Forest Ecology and Management

Cajaiba, R.L.; Périco, E.; Caron, E.; Dalzochio, M.S.; Silva, W.B.; Santos, M. Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using rove beetles? A case study in the Brazilian Amazon. **Forest Ecology and Management**, v. 405, p. 319-327, 2017.

Abstract

In the Neotropics, Rove Beetles (Staphylinidae) are known to be especially diverse and abundant, but studies in this region are still incipient and the information is dispersed in the scientific literature. In this work the responses of the Rove Beetles to gradients of disturbance in representative ecosystems of the Brazilian Amazon were evaluated. Specifically, we assessed the possibility of using patterns in richness, abundance and taxonomic diversity of Rove Beetles as anthropogenic disturbance indicators. The obtained results show that the Rove Beetles richness was sensitive to the structural changes induced by increasing anthropogenic disturbance. Additionally an increasing trend in community complexity from more to less disturbed ecosystems was observed. Differences in responses can be explained by differences in the intensity and extent of the change from pristine systems. Overall, the composition of Rove Beetles communities is ecosystems' specific and sensitive to anthropogenic induced structural changes and management actions and, therefore, should be considered a valuable ecological indicator for assessing the extent ecosystems' disruption in the Neotropics.

Keywords: Biodiversity; disturbance indicators; landscape heterogeneity; Neotropical forests; insect; Brazilian Amazon.

Introduction

Neotropical forests are biologically diverse ecosystems, representing some of the richest areas of the planet (Lindenmayer et al., 2002). Species from these forests are threatened by deforestation, fragmentation, conversion to forest monocultures, climate change and other stressors like fire and even fire suppression (Carnus et al., 2006; Loskotová and Horák, 2016). There is an enormous concern and speculation about the effects of human disturbances in the biodiversity of neotropical ecosystems, namely the impacts on species composition and the modifications in the ecological services provided (e.g. Morris, 2010; Aerts and Honnay, 2011; Cajaiba et al., 2017). Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and the disruption of complex global climate cycles (e.g. Morris, 2010; Cajaiba et al., 2017). The most significant landscape changes identified for the Amazonia are forest logging, the establishment of extensive livestock operations and intensive farming, but also the expansion of road nets and urban areas (Mertens et al., 2002; Tabarelli et al., 2004), power generation, and mining (Soares-Filho et al., 2005). These anthropogenic activities are considered strong environmental stresses whose impacts were not fully anticipated (Cajaiba et al., 2017). In fact, these landscape changes promote ecosystems' substitution and might isolate taxa and even cause extinctions due to interactions in which species are engaged (Aizen et al., 2012; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015). Understanding the impacts of ecosystem transitions in the Amazonia will ultimately support the best conservation strategies for the region, considered fundamental for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately humankind (Cajaiba et al., 2017).

In a conservation perspective, the condition of an ecosystem might be evaluated using the "difference" from reference situations, i.e. the disparity of a specific ecosystem from pristine ecosystems (Costanza, 2012). Considering the unfeasibility of measuring all aspects in a specific ecosystem, several scientists advocate the use of surrogates, usually termed ecological indicators (Costanza, 2012; Heath, 2013). Species, populations and communities might prove useful as indicators if sensitive to ecosystem changes, anticipative and easily monitored (Gardner et al., 2008; Rapport and Hildén, 2013). Besides the universal need for developing ways to assess status and trends in environmental condition of ecosystems (Niemi and McDonald, 2004), selecting organisms as indicators of anthropogenic disturbance to help conservation decisions is still a challenge in most biodiverse countries, where taxonomic and natural history knowledge is deficient (Kim and Byrne, 2006). This task is considered particularly urgent in megadiverse neotropical countries, since their natural systems are being eroded at unprecedented speeds and scales (Uehara-Prado et al., 2009). Even though a steady stream of scientists and a large number of publications and projects have been investigating the ecosystem changes versus disturbance, they provide a very fragmented picture concerning the environmental changes and its ecological consequences. Additionally and considering its vastness, most of the Amazonia' ecosystems were still marginally studied (Cajaiba et al., 2017).

Terrestrial invertebrates and especially insects play a crucial role in most ecological processes and are key components of ecosystems' structure and functioning (Bicknell et al., 2014; Cajaiba and Silva, 2015; Cajaiba et al., 2015; Campos and Hernández, 2015). In this context, insects' abundance, composition and richness are related with other taxa, climate and soil characteristics, thus representing potential

175

target indicators of environmental changes (e.g. Nichols et al., 2008; Cajaiba et al., 2017). Understanding the ecological relevance of insects' communities in the humid neotropics could even support decision-making and robust management/recovery of imperiled ecosystems in the scope of the need for rapid, standardized and cost-saving assessment methodologies (Cajaiba et al., 2017). Among insects, Rove beetles (RB) of the family Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) have been proposed as disturbance indicators (Anderson and Ashe, 2000; Pohl et al., 2007) given their abundance and diversity (Vásquez-Vélez et al., 2010) and variety of ecosystems used. Additionally they are easy to collect because the majority of species are found among leaf litter and fallen trunks. RB are sensitive and respond rapidly to abiotic, biotic and anthropogenic disturbances (Magura et al., 2013) and are considered ecological significant, particularly of the soil-related fauna (Vásquez-Vélez et al., 2010). Moreover most are predators, sensitive to prey densities - although, parasitoids, saprophytes, omnivores, and opportunists can be found (Caballero et al., 2009).

In the Neotropics, RB are considered to be diverse and abundant, although supported mostly by incipient works (Gutiérrez-Chacon et al., 2009), dispersed within scientific and grey literature (Newton et al., 2005). The purpose of this study was to evaluate the responses of RB communities to increasing levels of stress in the Amazonia, in the scope of its usefulness as ecological indicators of anthropogenic disturbance. For that several ecosystems with increasing levels of anthropogenic stress were monitored, such as: primary forest, our reference condition, secondary forests within different stages of recovery, farmland and pasture for extensive livestock. We were particularly interested in assessing the RB communities' sensitivity to anthropogenic induced structural changes, i.e. how does richness, abundance and

176

taxonomic composition change? Is the response of these indexes correlated with increasing trends in disturbance? In addressing these questions we attempt to build a framework of reference, gauging its effectiveness as ecological indicators of disturbance. New insights in RB diversity responses to ecosystem degradation and/ or recovery could also provide standards guiding the most efficient conservation management actions in the Neotropics (Kotze et al., 2003).

Material and methods

Study sites

The study area was located in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil (Fig. 1). Primary forest (69% of the area) is the dominant land use/ land cover while deforestation is concentrated mainly in the south-central part of territory and near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most negative environmental pressures (Cajaiba et al., 2015). The studied areas contain the most representative ecosystems of the region, in terms of biophysical and ecological characteristics, for understanding the response of RB communities, such as Native Vegetation (NV), Early Secondary succession (ES - secondary vegetation with five years of regeneration), Maturing Secondary succession (MS - secondary vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Agriculture (Ag - cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock (Pa) (Fig. 1, For generic characteristics of the ecosystems sampled, see Table S1). The climate of the study area is classified as Aw (Köppen), hot and humid with an average annual rainfall of 2000 mm.

177



Fig. 1. Location of the study region in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Location of the ecosystems sampling: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Pa, Pasture; Ag, Agriculture.

Staphylinidae sampling

Sampling was carried out during the year 2015, in the months of February/ March (rainy season), June (final of rainy season and early dry season) and September/ October (dry season), allowing the integration of annual seasonal differences in the activity of RB. The sample points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, to ensure that most beetles captured were associated to the ecosystem in study (Cajaiba et al., 2017). Pitfall traps with 75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep were filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension. A roof was attached to each trap to prevent rainwater from entering the trap, remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection. Sampling survey period and intensity, although apparently inadequate for definitive inventory, served the purpose of comparing RB general sensitivity to ongoing changes in the scope of their application as ecological indicators of disturbance (Dale and Beyler, 2001; Santos and Cabral, 2004).

Each pitfall was associated to a different treatment in order to attract RB in accordance with to their feeding ecology: non-baited, human faeces, meat and banana. In each studied site four sample points were placed 100 m apart. Each sample point contained the four pitfall treatments, separated by 5 meters. The distance between pitfall traps by location was determined in order to select individuals according to their favoured food resources, as suggested by related studies (Almeida and Louzada, 2009; Silva et al., 2012; Campos and Hernández 2015; Qodri et al., 2016). This protocol was applied to all ecosystems and periods of collections, totalizing a sampling effort of 480 traps. The identification was based on the taxonomical keys proposed by Navarrete-Heredia et al. (2002) and by comparison of material deposited in the DZUP (Entomological Collection Pe Jesus Santiago Moure of the Department of Zoology of the Federal University of Paraná).

Environmental variables

Fourteen microclimate and ecosystem variables were measured by location: Temperature, Humidity, Precipitation, Circumference at Breast Height, Circumference at ankle height, Canopy cover, Number of plant species, Number of plants, Number of species of shrubs, Number of shrubs, Percentage of exposed soil, Percentage of green (vegetation) cover, Percentages of leaf litter cover, Height of leaf litter. The Temperature, Humidity and Precipitation of each point were measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). To assess the environmental complexity of each sampling site, the quadrat-section method was adopted (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using a cross as a reference, four quadrants (northeast, northwest, southeast, southwest) were marked and, in each quadrant the following variables were measured: the distances to the centre of the cross, height, crown diameter and trunk diameter of all trees with Circumference at breast height greater than 15 cm and all shrubs with Circumference at ankle height less than 15 cm and height greater than 1 m. Trunk diameter was taken at breast height (1.3 m) for the trees and ankle height (Circumference at ankle height = 0.1 m) for the shrubs. In each quadrant, the Height of leaf litter in $1 \text{ m} \times 1 \text{ m}$ marked square (using PVC pipe) was measured with a ruler, and the percentages of Percentages of leaf litter cover, Percentage of green (vegetation) cover and Percentage of exposed soil were measured by visual estimation using the following classes, 0-5%, 6-25%, 26-50%, 51-75%, 76-95% and 96-100% (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using these same classes, the percentage of Canopy cover in the four quadrats was calculated with a convex spherical densiometer (D) Lemmon (Lemmon 1954). Information concerning the methodology associated with each variable monitoring is depicted in Table S2, Supplementary Material.

Assemblage analysis

Rarefaction curves were used to assess whether the sampling effort was enough to monitor all the species by ecosystem, and the average efficiency of sampling was calculated based on Chao 1. Although rarefaction interpolates data back, nonparametric species estimators such as Chao 1 (Chao et al., 2009) extrapolate from the data to find what the 'true' number of species may have been by using the number of rare species - singletons and doubletons - as a way of calculating how likely it is there
are more undiscovered species. Species richness, Abundance, Shannon-Weiner diversity index and dominance Berger Parker index of each ecosystem RB were measured, and differences among ecosystem were gauged using One-Way-Analysisof-Variance (ANOVA) and subsequent Tukey post hoc tests to check for specific differences. Before applying ANOVA, the normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test. The taxonomic composition of RB communities among ecosystems compared using Permutational Multivariate Analysis Variance was of (PERMANOVA). Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) plots were used to help in interpreting the results found with the PERMANOVAs (see Anderson, 2001 for similar procedure).

A beta diversity partition analysis was applied to verify the dissimilarity between ecosystems. Using the partitioning framework proposed by Baselga (2010), the pairwise dissimilarity index (β sør) was partitioned into two components: turnover (β sim) and nestedness (β nes): β sør = β sim + β nes. This method was applied in order to evaluate whether dissimilarities in the composition of the RB communities occurred through the substitution of some species by others (β sim) or by the formation of nested subsets of more diverse communities (β nes). All analyses were performed using the functions beta.pair from betapart package (Baselga et al., 2017) within R 3.2.4 program (R Core Team 2016).

Association of Rove Beetle assemblages with environmental variables

Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) was used to estimate the influence of the fourteen environmental variables on RB communities. Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was used to reduce variables to 4 principal components (PC). The CCA was performed with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on two axes. Species singletons and doubletons were omitted from ordination analyses but considered for calculations of species richness. Deleting rare species is a useful way to reduce the statistical noise in the data set without losing much information (McCune and Grace, 2002).

Species indicator value - IndVal

To determine possible indicator species, single value indicator (IndVal) developed by Dufrêne and Legendre (1997) was calculated, combining specificity (patterns of relative abundance) of a given species in a given ecosystem with its fidelity within that ecosystem (patterns of incidence). Species with a high specificity and high fidelity within a habitat are considered to achieve the highest indicator value. This analysis was performed in R 3.2.4 program (R Core Team 2016) using the indicspecies package 1.7.5 (De Cáceres and Jansen, 2015) with 9999 permutations, using data for RB abundance.

Results

Assemblages analysis

A total of 1,493 individuals were collected, grouped into 11 subfamilies and 71 species and morphospecies (from now on morphospecies). From these, 43 morphospecies (488 individuals) were identified in the Native Vegetation (NV), 32 morphospecies (192 individuals) in the Maturing Secondary succession (MS), 36 morphospecies (300 individuals) in Early Secondary succession (ES), 26 morphospecies (406 individuals) in Agriculture (Ag) and 13 morphospecies (103 individuals) in Pasture (Pa). The most abundant morphospecies were: *Hoplandria* sp

182

(350 individuals), *Aleochara repetita* Sharp, 1887 (294 individuals) and *Aleochara* sp1 (200 individuals), together represent approximately 57% of total abundance. The subfamilies that contributed most to richness and abundance were Aleocharinae (S=15; N=966), Staphylininae (S=20; N=140) and Paederinae (S=13; N=169) (Morphospecies taxonomic and guilds classification is depicted Table S3, Supplementary Material).).

The curve of accumulation of species presented an asymptote only for Pa, the other ecosystems would require larger sample sizes to determine all diversity (Fig. 2). The Chao 1 estimator demonstrated that the number of species would be of 76 species for NV, 47 for MS, 70 for ES, 45 species for Ag and 14 species for Pa.



Fig. 2. Rove Beetles individual-based rarefaction curves for the studied sites. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

Rove Beetle (RB) richness was significantly different between ecosystems ($F_{4,205} = 31.25$, P < 0.0001): the average RB richness was significantly higher in NV

by comparison with the other ecosystems (P < 0.01). RB richness was also high in ES, although not differing from Ag (P > 0.05) but higher than the MS and Pa (P < 0.05) (Fig. 3a). RB abundance varied significantly between the ecosystems ($F_{4,205} = 65.72$, P < 0.001). Mean abundance was significantly higher in NV (P < 0.01), differing from all ecosystems but not from Ag (P > 0.05). Pa presented lower abundance than all the other ecosystems (P < 0.01) (Fig. 3b).

Shannon diversity was higher in NV (H' = 2.69), while Pa showed dominance of few morphospecies (D = 0.88). The Shannon diversity was significantly different among ecosystems ($F_{4,205}$ = 35.25, P < 0.0001): significantly higher in NV (P < 0.01) and differing from the other ecosystem. On the other hand, MS, ES and Ag were similar to each other and different from NV and Pa (P < 0.001) (Fig. 3c). There was a significant difference in the Berger-Parker dominance index for the five ecosystems studied ($F_{4,205}$ = 17.03, P < 0.01). Pa presented the highest index, being different from the other sites (P < 0.01) while NV was significantly lower than the others (P < 0.001) (Fig. 3d).



Fig. 3. Barplot expressing the differences in the projected values for (a) Number of morphospecies, (b) number of individuals, (c) Shannon diversity, and (d) Berger-Parker dominance of Staphylinidae community in the different ecosystems considered. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. NV, Vegetation native; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

Composition

Of the 71 morphospecies sampled, 12 morphospecies were collected exclusively on NV, followed by ES with 9 unique morphospecies and MS with 7 morphospecies. Only morphospecies *Hoplandria* sp and *Lithocharis* sp1 were sampled in all ecosystems (Table S3, Supplementary material). The results of the NMDS showed that the RB assemblages of different ecosystems could be separated from each other by ordination of the species composition. The composition of the RB samples of NV and MS were more similar to each other than RB assemblages of Ag, Pa and ES. Ag and Pa also form two group isolated from NV and MS. The NMDS results depict an arch in the diagram, suggesting that the RB assemblages change gradually from the most pristine to more disturbed ecosystems (Fig. 4). The Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) presented significant differences in the RB taxonomic composition between ecosystems ($F_{4,205} = 45.71$, P < 0.001).



NMDS 1

Fig. 4. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) showing RB grouped in accordance with the ecosystems (using Bray-Curtis similarity). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

For all the pairwise comparisons the turnover was the predominant component. The highest turnover values (β sim) were found when comparing Pa with MS (β sim: 0.80), followed by Ag with MS (β sim: 0.68) and Pa with Ag (β sim: 0.67). The lowest β sim was found comparing NV with MS (β sim = 0.38) (Fig. 5 and Table S4, Supplementary material). Pa ecosystem presented the higher values of turnover. An increase in the turnover gradient was detected from NV to MS, then to ES and Ag and finally to Pa, although not clear when we comparing NV with ES and Ag (ßsim: 0.48 and 0.49, respectively) (Fig. 5 and Table S4, Supplementary material). If we consider all the studied ecosystems Pa seems to be most divergent in term of species composition. The highest nestedness values (Bnes) were found when comparing NV with MS (ßnes: 0.25), NV with Pa (ßnes: 0.20), NV with ES (ßnes: 0.16) and ES with Ag (ßnes: 0.16). The lowest nestedness was found when omparing MS with Ag (ßnes = 0.07) and MS with Pa (β nes: 0.07) (Fig. 5 and Table S4, Supplementary material). Beta diversity (β sor) presented higher values (up to 0.6) for the five ecosystems (Fig. 5). The highest dissimilarity values (β sor) were found when comparing Pa with MS, NV, ES and Ag (ßsor: 0.87; 0.83; 0.83; 0.79, respectively), followed by Ag with MS (ßsor: 0.76) and ES with MS (ßsor: 0.71). Intermediate values where obtained for comparisons between NV and MS (ßsor: 0.64); NV and ES (ßsor: 0.64); NV and Ag (βsor: 0.63) (Fig. 5 and Table S4, Supplementary material).



Fig. 5. Comparison of dissimilarity values for β sor (overall dissimilarity), β sne (dissimilarity resulting from nestedness), and β sim (turnover) for the different ecosystems. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

Effects of environmental variables on Rove Beetle assemblages

PC1 was positively correlated with the following environmental variables: Circumference at breast height; Number of plant species and Canopy cover, PC2 was positively correlated with Precipitation (P) and Humidity (H), PC3 positively correlated with Percentages of leaf litter cover and negatively correlated with Circumference at breast height and PC4 negatively correlated with Percentages of leaf litter cover and Number of plant species (NPS) (Fig. 6 and Table S5, Supplementary Material).

The first two axes generated by CCA explained 88.27% (55.89% in axis 1 and 32.38% in axis 2) of the total variation in the RB composition. Among the PC's, environmental variables represented by PC1 (R=-0.6283) were considered the most

important factors affecting the first axis, and the Percentage of leaf litter cover (represented by PC3) (R=0.6631) was highly correlated with the second axis (Fig. 6).



Axis 1 (55.89%)

Fig. 6. Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) used to estimate the influence of environmental variables on Rove beetle (Staphylininae) communities. Four axes were considered in the Principal Components Analysis (PCA), including 4 principal components (PC). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing secondary succession (15 years of natural regeneration of vegetation); ES, Early secondary succession (5 years of natural regeneration of vegetation); Ag, Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa, Pasture.

The communities of RB in NV and MS were mainly determined by precipitation and humidity (0.591 and 0.522, respectively) (PC2) and Percentages of leaf litter cover and negatively correlated with Circumference at breast height (PC3); Ag, ES and Pa was positively correlated with bare soil (0.22) (PC4). The fourteen environmental variables separated the five ecosystems in four distinct groups. ES and the Ag were more similar to each other, although in opposite sides of axis 1. NV and MS were partially superimposed, while Pa is located far from the other ecosystems. In fact, the distribution of some morphospecies of beetles is deeply linked to certain characteristics: *Oligotergus* sp2 and *Diochus* sp1 occurred mostly in areas with bare soil. Conversely, *Xantholinus* sp1 and *Xantholinus* sp2 occurred in areas with lower temperatures and *Rusilus* sp1, *Nordus* sp in wet areas; *Anotylus* sp1 and *Piestus aper* were mainly associated with high cover (Leaf litter cover and Height of leaf litter); *Hoplandria* sp occurred in more diverse areas (Number of shrubs), while *Diochus* sp2 and *Thinocharis* sp1 related to high precipitation (Fig. S1, Supplementary Material).

IndVal method

Of the 71 morphospecies found in the present study, 13 species were selected as ecosystem indicators. According to IndVal, 3 RB morphospecies were associated with NV, 3 RB morphospecies with ES, 3 RB morphospecies with Ag, 2 RB morphospecies with Pa and 2 with NV/MS. The subfamilies that presented the highest number of indicator morphospecies were Paederinae, Staphylininae and Oxytelinae, with 3 morphospecies each (Table 1).

Table 1 Analysis of RB' indicator species (IndVal) of NV, Vegetation native; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture. A, Mean Abundance; B, Relative frequency of occurrence (for details of A and B, see De Cáceres and Legendre, 2009).

| Morphospecies | А | В | Indicator value | Р | Site |
|-------------------|------|------|-----------------|-------|---------|
| Aleocharinae sp11 | 0.76 | 0.33 | 0.50 | 0.005 | NV |
| Piestus aper | 0.90 | 0.26 | 0.48 | 0.005 | NV |
| Neohypnus sp | 0.80 | 0.16 | 0.36 | 0.005 | NV |
| Diochus sp1 | 0.86 | 0.29 | 0.47 | 0.005 | ES |
| Coproporus sp4 | 0.90 | 0.24 | 0.47 | 0.005 | ES |
| Lithocharis sp2 | 0.74 | 0.15 | 0.33 | 0.05 | ES |
| Aleochara sp1 | 0.73 | 1 | 0.85 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Oligotergus sp1 | 0.78 | 0.17 | 0.36 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Aneucamptus sp | 0.80 | 0.10 | 0.27 | 0.05 | Ag |
| Oxytelus sp2 | 1 | 0.35 | 0.60 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Oxytelus sp1 | 0.74 | 0.33 | 0.50 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Thinocharis sp1 | 0.94 | 0.54 | 0.72 | 0.005 | NV + MS |
| Anotylus sp1 | 0.98 | 0.42 | 0.64 | 0.005 | NV + MS |

Discussion

Assemblages analysis

Although considerable effort has been made to identify the most appropriate disturbance indicators for assessing the status of ecosystems, this exercise was many times unsatisfactory due to different views on what to measure and quantify. Additionally, the conventional measures regarding ecosystem studies require multiple specialization levels that are difficult to implement due to resource constraints (Cajaiba et al., 2015). Our study suggested using the composition of Rove beetles (RB) assemblages as stress – response indicators to key changes in such ecosystems. This proposal can only be completely addressed when the sampling effort associated with the heterogeneity of the ecosystems is considered in the scope of the need for rapid, standardized and cost-saving assessment methodologies (Scott and Anderson, 2003;

Cajaiba et al., 2017). Although we used several techniques for monitoring complementary phenological periods, the rarefaction curves of our work did not reach their asymptote values, indicating the high diversity of RB fauna in the monitored ecosystems (Colwell and Coddington, 1994). Anyway, the responses to anthropogenic disturbances found with non-specific sampling methods are applicable per se, and should be improved in later studies with specific methods for this group (Uehara-Prado et al., 2009). With hyperdiverse groups such as insects, it is difficult to obtain the complete inventory of the species that inhabit a given area (Jiménez-Valverde and Hortal, 2003). That is the case of Staphylinidae, which is the second most diverse family of the Order Coleoptera (Navarrete-Heredia et al., 2002). In the scope of disturbance indicator/surrogate works, the sampling protocol was designed in such a way that it could be led by one or two scientists in the field, minimizing operational costs associated to remote areas and increasing the chance of replication in future studies (see Paoletti, 1999; Gardner et al., 2008). In fact, indicator / surrogate studies depend, above all, on the common species that are introduced more rapidly into the inventory (Jiménez-Valverde and Hortal, 2003; Vásquez-Vélez et al., 2010).

The monitored richness (71 species) is comparatively high when paralleled to the values reported from other regions of the world (e.g. Sanabria et al., 2008; Yamamoto et al., 2014; Jahnová et al., 2016). The subfamilies Staphylininae, Aleocharinae and Paederinae, respectively, which had the highest richness, are also the ones that have the largest number of species worldwide (Navarrete-Heredia et al., 2002; Vásquez-Vélez et al., 2010). In general, the individuals of Pselaphinae, Aleocharinae, Paederinae and Staphylininae are generalist predators and species can be found in leaf litter, decomposing trunks, carrion, excrement, remains of fruits, caves, banks of bodies of water, etc. There are also genera that are highly specialized in what they eat (e.g. some Pselaphinae) or where they live, such as those that are myrmecophilous (Aleocharinae, Paederinae and Staphylininae) (Navarrete-Heredia et al., 2002; Vásquez-Vélez et al., 2010) and the genus Aleochara: feeds on cyclorrhapheous fly puparia, acting as biological control for many dipteran pests (Yamamoto et al., 2014). However, and as stated before, the diversity of RB found in this work corresponds only a proportion of the probable diversity of this region (Asenjo et al., 2013).

Composition of Staphylinidae

Ecosystem degradation and loss are currently the most serious threats to richness and diversity (Fahrig, 2001) although this connection is not fully understood in the tropics (Rondinini and Chiozza, 2010). Establishing species lists for each ecosystem and for all potential "cold-spot" and "hot-spot" areas to evaluate their contribution to the conservation or depletion of the overall biodiversity would be too expensive (Lachat et al., 2012). We suggest, therefore, that studies for the purpose of relating disturbance with biodiversity should be carried out in specific areas and then extrapolated to other regions with similar characteristics.

In our study, pristine ecosystems were associated with higher species diversity and richness of RB, conforming to previous patterns reported for other groups of animals, and particularly beetles (González-Megías et al., 2011; Cajaiba et al., 2017). The applied indexes (Shannon diversity and richness) attained higher values for native vegetation, probably resulting from greater environmental complexity observed in relation to areas of increasing anthropic influence (e.g. gradient from native vegetation to pastures). In fact, environmental complexity allows the coexistence of a larger set of species in pristine areas, due to the variety of resources offered and micro climatic and ecological conditions (Casas et al., 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017). This also justifies the extraordinary abundance of a few species in pastures and agriculture (for details see Table S3, Supplementary material), adapted to homogeneous microclimatic and more homogenous structural factors (Quintero and Halffter, 2009).

Anthropogenic disturbance may affect species richness and diversity in several ways, and responses may vary within studies among taxonomic or functional groups or among studies within the same group (Basset et al., 2008). This variation may be attributed to several factors, such as the sensitivity of species to sampling effort, the spatial and temporal scale of the study, disturbance intensity, frequency and type (Basset et al., 2008).

We found similarities in the abundance of RB between ecosystems (e.g. NV and Ag), although different compositions (demonstrated by PERMANOVA and NMDS). Thus, species composition and or morphological traits (e.g. dispersal ability) should be used to complement species richness and/or abundance for characterizing the disturbance status and even the conservation value of an ecosystem in this region (Niemelä, 1997). Furthermore, the lower number of RB in secondary forests (ES and MS) indicates either reduced resource availability in the young stands or the colonization stage of the RB in young forest stands (Lange et al., 2014). We found a high degree of species turnover between ecosystems, which represented approximately 80% of the overall beta diversity. This indicates that each ecosystem presents a fairly distinct subset of species, although agroecosystems (agriculture and pastures) typically retain a non-random set of species that often replaces core forest habitat and dietary specialists (Lyra-Jorge et al., 2010). The obtained results also seem to that show agroecosystems act, in this region, as a selective filter on Rove beetles across the landscape (Chiarello, 2000), affecting matrix fluxes according to the dispersal capacity of each species (Lees and Peres, 2009). "Agroecosystems" resilient species are also more likely to survive in fragmented landscapes than forest specialists (Tabarelli et al., 2012; Magioli et al., 2016) representing the residual fauna in the aftermath of habitat fragmentation.

Effects of environmental variables on Rove Beetle assemblages

The PCA/CCA analysis revealed that RB assemblages of highly disturbed ecosystems (e.g. Pasture and Agriculture) are mainly associated with bare soil and high temperatures. In contrast, the communities of pristine ecosystems (native vegetation) are positively influenced by the complex structural vegetation, soil and humidity, which are also important determinants of RB communities' ecology (Silva and Hernández, 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017). Vegetation complexity is therefore the key environmental driver of RB community structure in this region. This finding is consistent with previous studies that demonstrated that plant community composition, productivity, and diversity are the primary factors affecting arthropod abundance, diversity, and community composition (Liu et al., 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017).

In our study, richness, diversity and composition followed a "linear" trend in line with the disturbance gradient: a decrease as disturbance increased. RB assemblages are highly distinct between ecosystems and in that way easily separated from each other (Moraes et al., 2013). Litter type and litter depth are important ecological determinants, providing hunting and foraging niches, protection from predators and desiccation (Cajaiba et al., 2017). Additionally litter provides attachment points for web building (Leclerc and Blandin, 1990). Coarse woody debris is considered fundamental as overwintering site, for ovipositioning and larval development for many RB species (Lövei et al., 2006; Cajaiba and Silva, 2017). Cattle trampling in grassland areas contributes to soil compaction, resulting in reduced pathways through the litter layer, hiding surfaces and hunting places. Moreover, reduced cover affects foraging or maintenance of water balances in RB (Lövei et al., 2006).

The RB richness observed in forest ecosystems and/ or maturing secondary succession (NV/MS) could be associated with the availability of niches and food resources. On the other hand, disturbed ecosystems support mostly generalist and tolerant RB species (Cajaiba et al., 2017). In fact, the distribution of RB along different environmental characteristics seems to demonstrate discrete associations with particular biotypes within the landscape (Silva and Hernández, 2016). Evidence suggests that species richness and abundance (and also biomass) are negatively impacted by disturbed ecosystems (Silva and Hernández, 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017) especially those without tree canopy cover. Overall changes in vegetation characteristics affect RB diversity and community composition indirectly, through pathways or mechanisms, such as changing microclimatic conditions and soil properties (Schaffers et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2016).

Value indicator - IndVal

A species restricted to one or a few ecosystem types potentially represents a better indicator of environmental change than an ecosystem generalist, owing to the greater susceptibility of the specialist to local or regional characteristics. Indicator species are used to monitor environmental changes and assess the impacts of disturbances (De Cáceres and Legendre, 2009). RB are considered to be mostly generalists, although it is increasingly found that many species are specialists (Buse and Good, 1993), with a significant indicator value for a particular ecosystems (Pohl et al., 2007; Gutiérrez-Chacon et al., 2009).

The Indicator Value (IndVal) has been used in several works (e.g. Bicknell et al., 2014; Cajaiba et al., 2017), due to its efficiency in identifying specific indicators. The applications of indicator species analysis are many, including conservation, land management, landscape mapping, or design of natural reserves (Cajaiba et al., 2017). In our study, RB indicators were considered useful tools to define the disturbance status of ecosystems, using the native vegetation as our reference. This means, for instance, that one can use indicator species to classify sites of pristine ecosystems (e.g. in vegetation mapping) or to monitor the succession/ degradation of a particular area or even to detect an environmental gradient from natural to disturbed areas in time and space (e.g. recover after pollution, disturbance by fire, climatic changes, etc) (De Cáceres et al., 2010).

Considering the little knowledge of the biodiversity and ecology of RB in the Neotropics, the indicator species detected in this study represents a contribution to the characterization of the Neotropical fauna, specifically of this important but unappreciated taxon. Additional information is urgently needed to define further the ecological roles of RB (Gutiérrez-Chacon et al., 2009).

Contributions for conservation/ challenges and final remarks

The characterization of general diversity patterns and responses to disturbance at the continental scale may be a very difficult task, due to functional and structural differences among biomes and ecosystems, and idiosyncrasies (e.g., history of disturbance) of different regional communities (Uehara-Prado et al., 2009). However, general patterns emerging from studies focused on specific biomes within regions (Kim and Byrne, 2006) could validate the use of ecological indicators within specific geographical limits (Uehara-Prado et al., 2009). The results obtained show that the RB richness was sensitive to the structural changes induced by increasing pressure from human actions. Additionally an increasing trend in community complexity from more to less disturbed ecosystems was observed. Highly disturbed systems had detrimental effects on the abundance of specialists and benefited generalist species. Differences in responses can be explained by differences in the intensity and extent of the change from pristine systems. Overall, the composition of Rove Beetles communities is ecosystems' specific and sensitive to anthropogenic induced structural changes and, therefore, should be considered a valuable ecological indicator in the Neotropics. Nevertheless our work should be complemented by ecological and behavioural studies to understand and assess the state of degradation and or conservation of the ecosystems considered (Brown, 1997), considering that ecological assessment and monitoring are important procedures to address effective management, in which the use of essential indicators is considered crucial to measure and evaluate the status and trends of target environmental systems (Cajaiba et al., 2017). Additionally, future studies concerning disturbance patterns and its connection with potential ecological indicators in the neotropics and specifically in Amazonia should focus on increasing the geographical

sampling coverage of this biome, in search of well-defined patterns of response to disturbance gradients.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank SEMMA/ Uruará for logistics support. We also thank the Lucas Paixão, Edielson Mendes, Ediones Santos and Sidicley Santos for assistance in the field works. We acknowledge Bruna Caroline Buss and Bruna Viana Navarro for taxonomic help. This work is supported by: European Investment Funds by FEDER/COMPETE/POCI–Operational Competitiveness and Internationalization Program, under Project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006958 and National Funds by FCT - Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, under the project UID/AGR/04033/2013.

References

- Aerts, R., Honnay, O., 2011. Forest restoration, biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. BMC Ecology 11, 1–10.
- Aizen, M., Sabatino, M., Tylianakis, J.M., 2012. Specialization and rarity predict nonrandom loss of interactions from mutualist networks. Science 335, 1486– 1489.
- Almeida, S.S.P., Louzada, J.N.C., 2009. Estrutura da comunidade de Scarabaeinae (Scarabaeidae: Coleoptera) em fitofisionomias do Cerrado e sua importância para a conservação. Neotrop. Entomol. 38, 32–43.
- Anderson, M.J., 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral. Ecol. 26, 32–46.
- Anderson, R.S., Ashe, J.S., 2000. Leaf litter inhabiting beetles as surrogates for establishing priorities for conservation of selected tropical montane cloud forest in Honduras, Central America (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae and Curculionidae).
 Biodivers. Conserv. 9, 617–653.
- Asenjo, A., Irmler, U., Klimaszewski, J., Herman, L.H., Chandler, D.S., 2013. A complete checklist with new records and geographical distribution of the rove beetles (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae) of Brazil. Insecta Mundi 277, 1–419.
- Baselga, A., 2010. Partitioning the turnover and nestedness components of beta diversity. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 19, 134–143.
- Baselga, A., Orme, D., Villeger, S., De Bortoli, J., Leprieur, F., 2017. Package
 'betapart': Partitioning Beta Diversity into Turnover and Nestedness
 Components. R package version 1.4-1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=betapart

- Basset, Y., Missa, O., Alonso, A., Miller, S.E., Curletti, G., Meyer, M., Eardley, C., Lewis, O.T., Mansell, M.W., Novotny, V., Wagner, T., 2008. Choice of metrics for studying arthropod responses to habitat disturbance: one example from Gabon. Insect Conserv. Divers. 1, 55–66.
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J., Davies, Z.G., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. Ecol. Indic. 43, 154–161.
- Brown, K.S., 1997. Diversity, disturbance, and sustainable use of Neotropical forests: insects as indicators for conservation monitoring. J. Insect Conserv. 1, 25–42.
- Buse, A., Good, J.E.G., 1993. The effect of conifer forest design and management on abundance and diversity of rove beetles (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae) implications for conservation. Biol. Conserv. 64, 67–76.
- Caballero, U., León-Corté, J.L, Morón-Ríos, A., 2009. A Response of rove beetles (Staphylinidae) to various habitat types and change in Southern Mexico. J. Insect Conserv. 13, 67–75.
- Cajaiba, R.L, Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2015. A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. Neotrop. Entomol. 4, 1–9.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Périco, E., Dalzochio, M.S, Silva, W.B, Bastos, R., Cabral, J.A., Santos,
 M., 2017. Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? Ecol. Indic. 74, 285–294.

- Cajaiba, R.L., Silva, W.B., 2015. Abundância e diversidade de Coleoptera (Arthropoda: Insecta) de solo em fragmentos de capoeira ao entorno da zona urbana do município de Uruará-PA, Brasil. EntomoBrasilis 8, 30–37.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Silva, W.B., 2017. Diversidade e sazonalidade de Cydnidae (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera) em diferentes ecossistemas no estado do Pará, norte do Brasil. Rev. Brasil. Bioc. 15, 32–37.
- Campos, R.C., Hernández, M.I.M., 2015. Changes in the dynamics of functional groups in communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. Ecol. Indic. 49, 216–227.
- Carnus, J.M., Parrotta, J., Brockerhoff, E., Arbez, M., Jactel, H., Kremer, A., Walters,B., 2006. Planted forests and biodiversity. J. For. 104, 65–77.
- Casas, G., Darski, B., Ferreira, P.M.A., Kindel, A., Müller, S.C., 2016. Habitat structure influences the diversity, richness and composition of bird assemblages in successional Atlantic rain forests. T. Conserv. Science 9, 503–524.
- Chao, A., Colwell, R.K., Lin, C.W., Gotelli, N.J., 2009 Sufficient sampling for asymptotic minimum species richness estimators. Ecology 90, 1125–1133.
- Chiarello, A.G., 2000. Conservation value of a native forest fragment in a region of extensive agriculture. Rev. Bras. Biol. 60, 237–247.
- Colwell, R.K., Coddington, J.A. 1994. Estimating terrestrial biodiversity through extrapolation. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 345, 101–118.
- Costanza, R., 2012. Ecosystem health and ecological engineering. Ecol. Engin. 45, 24–29.
- Dale, V.H., Beyeler, S.C., 2001. Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. Ecol. Indic. 1, 3–10.

- De Cáceres, M., Jansen, F., 2015. Package 'indicspecies'. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=indicspecies>.
- De Cáceres, M., Legendre, P., 2009. Associations between species and groups of sites: indices and statistical inference. Ecology 90, 3566–3574.
- De Cáceres, M., Legendre, P., Moretti, M., 2010. Improving indicator species analysis by combining groups of sites. Oikos 119, 1674–1684.
- Dufrêne, M., Legendre, P., 1997. Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol. Monograp. 67, 345–366.
- Fahrig, L., 2001. How much habitat is enough? Biol. Conserv. 100, 65–74.
- Gardner, T.A., Hernández, M.I.M., Barlow, B., Peres, C.A., 2008. Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for Neotropical dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 883–893.
- González-Megías, A., Gómez, J.M., Sánchez-Piñero, F., 2011. Spatio-temporal change in the relationship between habitat heterogeneity and species diversity. Acta Oecol. 37, 179–186.
- Gutiérrez-Chacon, C., Zúñiga, M.C., Bodegom, P.M., Chará, J., Giraldo, L.P., 2009.
 Rove beetles (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) in Neotropical riverine landscapes: characterising their distribution. Insect Conserv. Divers. 2, 106–115.
- Heath, R.T., 2013. Ecosystem health and management: A culmination of ecosystem ecology. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manag. 16, 148–149.
- Jahnová, Z., Knapp, M., Bohác, J., Tulachova, M., 2016. The role of various meadow margin types in shaping carabid and staphylinid beetle assemblages (Coleoptera: Carabidae, Staphylinidae) in meadow dominated landscapes. J. Insect Conserv. 20, 59–69.

- Jiménez-Valverde, A., Hortal, J., 2003. Las curvas de acumulación de especies y la necesidad de evaluar la calidad de los inventarios biológicos. Rev. Iber. Aracnol. 8, 151–161.
- Kim, K.C., Byrne, L.B., 2006. Biodiversity loss and the taxonomic bottleneck: emerging biodiversity science. Ecol. Res. 21, 794–810.
- Kotze, D.J., Niemelä, J., O'hara, R., Turin, H., 2003. Testing abundance-range size relationships in European carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae). Ecography 26, 553–566.
- Lachat, T., Wermelinger, B., Gossner, M.M., Bussler, H., Isacsson, G., Müller, J., 2012. Saproxylic beetles as indicator species for dead-wood amount and temperature in European beech forests. Ecol. Indic. 23, 323–331.
- Lange, M., Türke, M., Pašalic, E., Boch, E., Hessenmöller, D., Müller, J., Prati, D., Socher, S.A., Fischer, M., Weisser, W., Gossner, M.M., 2014. Effects of forest management on ground-dwelling beetles (Coleoptera; Carabidae, Staphylinidae) in Central Europe are mainly mediated by changes in forest structure. For. Ecol. Manage. 329, 166–176.
- Leclerc, J., Blandin, P., 1990. Patch size, fine-scale cooccurrence and competition in forest litter linyphilds. Acta Zool. Fenn. 190, 239–242.
- Lees, A.C., Peres, C.A., 2009. Gap-crossing movements predict species occupancy in Amazonian forest fragments. Oikos 118, 280–290.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Cunningham, R.B., Donelly, C.F., Lesslie, R., 2002. On the use of landscape surrogates as ecological indicators in fragmented forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 159, 203–216.

- Liu, J., Li, F., Sun, T., Ma, L., Liu, L., Yang, K., 2016. Interactive effects of vegetation and soil determine the composition and diversity of carabid and tenebrionid functional groups in an arid ecosystem. J. Arid Environ. 128, 80–90.
- Loskotová, T., Horák, J., 2016. The influence of mature oak stands and spruce plantations on soil-dwelling click beetles in lowland plantation forests. PeerJ 4, e1568.
- Lövei, G.L., Magura, T., Tóthmérész, B., Ködöböcz, V., 2006. The influence of matrix and edges on species richness patterns of ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in habitat islands. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 15, 283–289.
- Lyra-Jorge, M.C., Ribeiro, M.C., Ciocheti, G., Tambosi, L.R., Pivello, V.R., 2010. Influence of multi-scale landscape structure on the occurrence of carnivorous mammals in a human- modified savanna, Brazil. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 56, 359–368.
- Magioli, M., Barros, K.M.P.M., Setz, E.Z.F., Percequillo, A.R., Rondon, M.V.D.S.S., Kuhnen, V.V., Canhoto, M.C.S., Santos, K.E.A., Kanda, C.Z., Fregonezi, G.L., Prado, H.A., Ferreira, M.K., Ribeiro, M.C., Villela, P.M.S., Coutinho, L.L., Rodrigues, M.C., 2016. Connectivity maintain mammal assemblages functional diversity within agricultural and fragmented landscapes. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 62, 431–447.
- Magura, T., Nagy, D., Tóthmérész, B., 2013. Rove beetles respond heterogeneously to urbanization. J. Insect Conserv. 17, 715–724.
- McCune, B., Grace, J.B., 2002. Analysis of ecological communities. MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach.
- Mertens, B., Poccard-Chapuis, R., Piketty, M.G., Lacques, A.E., Venturieri, A., 2002. Crossing spatial analyses and livestock economics to understand deforestation

processes in the Brazilian Amazon: The case of São Félix do Xingu in south Pará. Agric. Econ. 27, 269–294.

- Moraes, R.M., Mendonça Jr, M.S., Ott, R., 2013. Carabid beetle assemblages in three environments in the *Araucaria* humid forest of Southern Brazil. Rev. Bras. Entomol. 57, 67–74.
- Morris, R.J., 2010. Anthropogenic impacts on tropical forest biodiversity: a network structure and ecosystem functioning perspective. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 365, 3709–3718.
- Navarrete-Heredia, J.L., Newton, A.F, Thayer, M.K., Ashe, J.S., Chandler, D.S., 2002. Guía ilustrada para los géneros de Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) de México. Universidad de Guadalajara and CONABIO, Guadalajara, Mexico, p 401.
- Newton, A.F., Gutiérrez-Chacón, C., Chandler, D.S., 2005. Checklist of the Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) of Colombia. Biota Colombiana 6, 1–72.
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461-1474.
- Niemelä, J., 1997. Invertebrates and boreal forest management. Conserv. Biol. 11, 601–610.
- Niemi, G.J., Mcdonald, M.E., 2004. Application of ecological indicators. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 35, 89–111.
- Paoletti, M.G., 1999. Using bioindicators based on biodiversity to assess landscape sustainability. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 74, 1-18.

- Pohl, G.R., Langor, D.W., Spence, J.R., 2007. Rove beetles and ground beetles (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae, Carabidae) as indicators of harvest and regeneration practices in western Canadian foothills forests. Biol. Conserv. 37, 294–307.
- Qodri, A., Woro, R.R., Noerdjito, A., 2016. Diversity and Abundance of Carabidae and Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) in Four Montane Habitat Types on Mt. Bawakaraeng, South Sulawesi. Hayti J. Biosc. 23, 22–28.
- Quintero, I., Halffter, G., 2009. Temporal changes in a community of dung beetles (Insecta: Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) resulting from the modification and fragmentation of tropical rain forest. Acta Zool. Mex. 25, 625–649.
- Rapport, D.J., Hildén, M., 2013. An evolving role for ecological indicators: from documenting ecological conditions to monitoring drivers and policy responses. Ecol. Indic. 28, 10–15.
- Rondinini, C., Chiozza, F., 2010. Quantitative methods for defining percentage area targets for habitat types in conservation planning. Biol. Conserv. 143, 1646–1653.
- Sanabria, B., Armbrecht, I., Gutiérrez-Chacón, C., 2008. Diversidad de estafilínidos (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) en cinco sistemas productivos de los Andes Colombianos. Rev. Col. Entomol. 34, 217–223.
- Santos, M., Cabral, J.A., 2004. Development of a stochastic dynamic model for ecological indicators' prediction in changed Mediterranean agroecosystems of north-eastern Portugal. Ecol. Indic. 3, 285–303.
- Schaffers, A.P., Raemakers, I.P., Sýkora, K.V., Braak, C.J.F., 2008. Arthropod assemblages are best predicted by plant species composition. Ecology 89, 782– 7942.

- Scott, W.A., Anderson, R., 2003. Temporal and spatial variation in carabid assemblages from the United Kingdom Environmental Change Network. Biol. Conserv. 110, 197–210.
- Silva, P.G., Hernández, M.I.M., 2016. Spatial variation of dung beetle assemblages associated with forest structure in remnants of southern Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Rev. Bras. Entomol. 60, 73–81.
- Soares-Filho, B.S., Nepstad, D.C., Lefebvre, P., Schlesinger, P., Mcgrath, D., 2005. Cenários de desmatamento para a Amazônia. Estudos Avançados 19, 137–152.
- Tabarelli, M., Peres, C.A., Melo, F.P.L., 2012. The 'few winners and many losers' paradigm revisited: emerging prospects for tropical forest biodiversity. Biol. Conserv. 155, 136–140.
- Tabarelli, M., Silva, J.M.C., Gascon, C., 2004. Forest fragmentation, synergisms and the impoverishment of Neotropical forests. Biodivers. Conserv. 13, 1419–1425.
- Uehara-Prado, M., Fernandes, J.O., Bello, A.M., Machado, G., Santos, A.J., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Freitas, A.V.L., 2009. Selecting terrestrial arthropods as indicators of small-scale disturbance: A first approach in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Biol. Conserv. 142, 1220–1228.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., Aizen, M.A., García, D., Gómez, J.M., Jordano, P., 2015. Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. Funct. Ecol. 29, 299–307.
- Vásquez-Vélez, L.M., Bermúdez, C., Chacón, P., Lozano-Zambrano, F.H., 2010. Analysis of the richness of Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) on different scales of a sub-Andean rural landscape in Colombia. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 1917–1931.

Yamamoto, S., Ikeda, K., Kamitani, S., 2014. Species diversity and community structure of rove beetles (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) attracted to dung of sika deer in coniferous forests of southwest Japan. Entomol. Scienc. 17, 52–58.

Supplementary material

Table S1. Generic characteristics of the ecosystems sampled in the municipality of Uruará, state Pará, northern Brazil.

| Habitat | N. areas | Characteristics |
|--|----------|--|
| Native Vegetation – NV | 02 | Composed of vegetation whose facies is an upper canopy formed mainly by green trees, with crowns that touch each other, creating a dense and enclosed canopy all year round. In this ecosystem no traces of anthropic action were verified (for example, trails, residues, fires, selective cutting of wood, agricultural activities, among others). |
| Maturing secondary succession - MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration) | 02 | A secondary forest (or second-growth forest) is a forest or woodland area which has re-grown after abandonment of agriculture. Biological diversity gradually increases as long as there are primary remnants to supply seeds. The average height of the trees is over 12 meters and the average diameter is over 14 centimeters. |
| Early Secondary succession – ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration) | 02 | Same as above. This phase typically lasts for up to six years and in some cases up to ten years, depending on soil quality and / or seed bank. The average height of trees is no more than four meters and the diameter of the main trees can reach eight centimeters. |
| Agriculture - Ag (cocoa plantations, <i>Theobroma</i> cacao L.) | 02 | Agroecosystem represented by areas planted with cacao crops (<i>Theobroma cacao</i> L.). |
| Pasture for extensive livestock – Pa | 02 | Agroecosystem dominated by herbaceous vegetation (mainly species of the genus <i>Brachiaria</i> spp) used for extensive livestock farming. |

| Variables | Specification | Monitoring Methodology |
|---|---|---|
| Temperature | Celsius (°C) | Measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). |
| Humidity | Humidity (%) | Measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). |
| Precipitation | Precipitation (mm) | Measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). |
| Circumference at Breast Height | Centimeters (cm) | Trunk diameter was taken at breast height (1.3 m) for the trees. |
| Circumference at Ankle Height | Centimeters (cm) | The diameter was measured at the ankle height $(CAH = 0.1 \text{ m})$ for the shrubs. |
| Canopy Cover | Percentage (%) | Calculated with a convex spherical densiometer (D) Lemmon and assigned the following classes: 0–5%, 6–25%, 26–50%, 51–75%, 76–95% and 96–100% |
| Number of Plant Species | Number of Plant Species/ m ² | The number of tree species was counted in an area of 100 m^2 (10 x 10 m) in the vicinity of each pitfall trap. |
| Number of Plants | Number of Plants/ m^2 | The number of tree was counted in an area of $100 \text{ m}2 (10 \text{ x} 10 \text{ m})$ in the vicinity of each pitfall trap. |
| NumberofSpeciesofShrubs | Number of Species of Shrubs/ m ² | The number of shrubs species was counted in an area of 100 m^2 (10 x 10 m) in the vicinity of each pitfall trap. |
| Number of Shrubs | Number of Shrubs/ m^2 | The number of shrubs was counted in an area of 100 m2 (10 x 10 m) in the vicinity of each pitfall trap. |
| Percentage of Exposed Soil | Percentage (%)/ m ² | The percentage exposed soil in each quadrant was estimated in different percentage classes (0-5, 6-25, 26-50, 51-75, 76-95, 96-100%) |
| Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover | Percentage (%)/ m ² | The percentage green cover (vegetation up to 1 m height) in each quadrant was estimated in different percentage classes (0-5, 6-25, 26-50, 51-75, 76-95, 96-100%) |
| Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover | Percentage (%) | The percentage of litter in each quadrant was estimated in different percentage classes (0-5, 6-25, 26-50, 51-75, 76-95, 96-100%). |
| Height of Leaf Litter | Centimeters (cm) | Litter height was measured using a ruler at five points inside the square (near each corner and in the center) |

Table S2. Specification of the methodology used for monitoring the environmental variables.

Adapted Da Silva and Hernández (2016)

Table S3. Total numbers of Staphylinidae morphospecies/species in the different ecosystems studied in the Brazilian Amazon. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Maturing secondary succession (15 years of regenera-tion); ES = Early secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture. RA (%) = Relative Abundance. FG = Feeding Guild (Pr, Predaceous; Ps, Parasitoids; S, Saprophagous; M, Mycophagous;

| Subfamily | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa | RA | FG | Total | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------|--------|----|-----|----|-------|--------|-------|--|--|
| Morphospecies/Species | | | | | | (%) | | | | |
| Aleocharinae (S=15; N=966; N%=64.70) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Aleochara repetita | 114 | 1 | 43 | 136 | 0 | 19.69 | Pr, Ps | 294 | | |
| Aleochara sp1 | 1 | 0 | 21 | 145 | 33 | 13.40 | Pr, Ps | 200 | | |
| Aleochara sp2 | 8 | 0 | 8 | 7 | 0 | 1.54 | Pr, Ps | 23 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp1 | 20 | 19 | 15 | 0 | 2 | 3.75 | Pr | 56 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp3 | 2 | 2 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0.60 | Pr | 9 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp4 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp6 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp7 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp8 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp9 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp10 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0.27 | Pr | 4 | | |
| Aleocharinae sp11 | 14 | 3 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1.21 | Pr | 18 | | |
| <i>Hoplandria</i> sp | 115 | 68 | 91 | 63 | 13 | 23.44 | Pr | 350 | | |
| Paederinae (S=13; N=169 | 9; N%= | 11.32) | | | | | | | | |
| Thinocharis sp1 | 73 | 22 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 6.63 | Pr | 99 | | |
| Rugilus sp1 | 1 | 6 | 7 | 6 | 0 | 1.34 | Pr | 20 | | |
| Pinophilus sp1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Biocrypta sp1 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr | 3 | | |
| Palaminus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Ronetus sp1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 3 | 0 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |
| Xenaster sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Echiaster sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr | 3 | | |
| Paederini sp1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Achenomorphus sp1 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr | 3 | | |
| Lithocharis sp1 | 6 | 2 | 4 | 4 | 2 | 1.21 | Pr | 18 | | |
| Lithocharis sp2 | 2 | 1 | 6 | 1 | 0 | 0.67 | Pr | 10 | | |

| Scopobium sp | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--------|----|---|----|------|----------|----|--|--|
| Oxytelinae (S=4; N=97; N | Oxytelinae (S=4; N=97; N%=6.50) | | | | | | | | | |
| Carpelimus sp1 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.27 | S | 4 | | |
| Anotylus sp1 | 28 | 14 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2.88 | S | 43 | | |
| Oxytelus sp1 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 23 | 2.08 | S | 31 | | |
| Oxytelus sp2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 19 | 1.27 | S | 19 | | |
| Tachyporinae (S=6; N=85 | ; N%= | 5.69% |) | | | | | | | |
| Coproporus sp1 | 33 | 19 | 14 | 1 | 0 | 4.49 | Pr, M, S | 67 | | |
| Coproporus sp2 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr, M, S | 3 | | |
| Coproporus sp3 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr, M, S | 2 | | |
| Coproporus sp4 | 0 | 1 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0.74 | Pr, M, S | 11 | | |
| Mycetoporus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr, M, S | 1 | | |
| Sepedophilus sp1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr, M, S | 1 | | |
| Piestinae (S=1; N=12; N% | =0.8) | | | | | | | | | |
| Piestus aper | 11 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.80 | S | 12 | | |
| Staphylininae (S=20; N=14 | 40; N% | 6=9.38 | 5) | | | | | | | |
| Lissohypnus sp | 1 | 6 | 17 | 4 | 0 | 1.88 | Pr | 28 | | |
| Neohypnus sp | 8 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0.67 | Pr | 10 | | |
| Xantholinus sp1 | 2 | 1 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 0.74 | Pr | 11 | | |
| Xantholinus sp2 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |
| Heterothops sp | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Nordus sp | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Bolitogyrus sp | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Platydracus sp | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Oligotergus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 7 | 0 | 0.60 | Pr | 9 | | |
| Oligotergus sp2 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0.27 | Pr | 4 | | |
| Acylophorus sp | 1 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0.27 | Pr | 4 | | |
| Philonthus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Philonthus sp2 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 0.27 | Pr | 4 | | |
| Philonthus sp3 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Diochus sp1 | 5 | 2 | 19 | 3 | 0 | 1.94 | Pr | 29 | | |
| Diochus sp2 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |
| Belonuchus sp1 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr | 3 | | |
| Belonuchus sp2 | 0 | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |
| Belonuchus sp3 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 0 | 0.33 | Pr | 5 | | |

| Belonuchus sp4 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0.47 | Pr | 7 | | |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------|-----|-----|-----|------|----|-------|--|--|
| Pselaphinae (S=3; N=6; N%=0.4) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Pselaphinae sp1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Pselaphinae sp2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Pselaphinae sp3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | Pr | 3 | | |
| Scydmeninae (S=1; N= 2; | Scydmeninae (S=1; N= 2; N%=0.14) | | | | | | | | | |
| Scydmeninae sp1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.13 | Pr | 2 | | |
| Euasthetinae (S=1; N=1; N | Euasthetinae (S=1; N=1; N%=0.06) | | | | | | | | | |
| Octavius sp | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Megalopsidiinae (S=1; N= | 1; N% | =0.07) | | | | | | | | |
| Megalopinus sp1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | Pr | 1 | | |
| Osoriinae (S=6; N=14; N% | ⁄o=0.94 |) | | | | | | | | |
| Holotruchus sp | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | S | 1 | | |
| Aneucamptus sp | 1 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 0.33 | S | 5 | | |
| <i>Tannea</i> sp | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.20 | S | 3 | | |
| Thoracophorus sp | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0.20 | S | 3 | | |
| Osorius sp | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0.07 | S | 1 | | |
| Clavilispinus sp | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.07 | S | 1 | | |
| Abundance | 488 | 192 | 300 | 406 | 107 | 100 | | 1.493 | | |
| Richness | 43 | 32 | 36 | 26 | 13 | - | | 71 | | |

Table S4. The turnover (β sim) and nestedness (β sor) components for each ecosystem pairwise comparisons. The (β sim) results are depicted in the dashed part of the table and (β sor) results are depicted without highlight. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

| | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa | |
|----|------|------|------|------|------|--|
| NV | | 0.39 | 0.49 | 0.48 | 0.64 | |
| MS | 0.26 | | 0.56 | 0.68 | 0.80 | |
| ES | 0.16 | 0.15 | | 0.43 | 0.67 | |
| Ag | 0.15 | 0.08 | 0.16 | | 0.67 | |
| Pa | 0.20 | 0.07 | 0.16 | 0.12 | | |
Table S5. Eingenvalues of the Principal Components Analysis (PCA) for the first four axes. T. Temperature; H. Humidity; P. Precipitation; CBH. Circumference at Breast Height; CAH. Circumference at Ankle Height; CC. Canopy Cover-CC; NPS. Number of Plant Species; NP. Number of Plants; NSS. Number of Species of Shrubs; NS. Number of Shrubs; PES. Percentage of Exposed Soil; PGC. Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover; PLC. Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover; HLL. Height of Leaf Litter.

| Variables | Components | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|---------|--|--|--|--|--|
| v al lables | PC 1 | PC 2 | PC 3 | PC 4 | | | | | |
| Т | -0.0063 | -0.0126 | -0.0174 | -0.0056 | | | | | |
| Н | 0.0486 | 0.1046 | 0.0561 | -0.0435 | | | | | |
| Р | 0.0168 | 0.9938 | -0.0099 | 0.0043 | | | | | |
| CBH | 0.7763 | -0.0193 | -0.4947 | 0.3663 | | | | | |
| CAH | 0.0147 | -0.0005 | -0.0029 | 0.0008 | | | | | |
| CC | 0.1730 | -0.0030 | 0.4348 | 0.3564 | | | | | |
| NPS | 0.5401 | -0.0148 | 0.3173 | -0.6257 | | | | | |
| HLL | 0.0066 | -0.0014 | 0.0198 | 0.0402 | | | | | |
| PLC | 0.1178 | 0.0014 | 0.5961 | -0.5072 | | | | | |
| PGC | 0.1256 | 0.0223 | 0.0464 | -0.1284 | | | | | |
| PES | -0.0162 | 0.0036 | -0.0331 | -0.0835 | | | | | |
| NP | 0.2061 | -0.0061 | 0.2776 | -0.2493 | | | | | |
| NS | 0.0025 | 0.0010 | 0.1593 | -0.0235 | | | | | |
| NSS | 0.0139 | -0.0002 | 0.0204 | 0.0073 | | | | | |

Figure S1. CCA for Staphylinidae species using 14 environmental variables (Species singletons and doubletons were omitted from ordination).

Variables: Temperature-T, Humidity-H, Precipitation-P, Circumference at Breast Height-CBH, Circumference at Ankle Height-CAH, Canopy Cover-CC, Number of Plant Species-NPS, Number of Plants-NP, Number of Species of Shrubs-NSS, Number of Shrubs-NS, Percentage of Exposed Soil-PES, Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover-PGC, Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover-PLC, Height of Leaf Litter-HLL.

Species: Sp1-Aleochara repetita; Sp2-Aleochara sp1; Sp3-Aleochara sp2; Sp4-Thinocharis sp1; Sp5- Thinocharis sp2; Sp6-Rusilus sp1; Sp7-Ronetus sp1; Sp8-Carpelimus sp1; Sp9-Anotylus sp1; Sp10-Oxytelus sp1; Sp11-Oxytelus sp2; Sp12-Coproporus sp1; Sp13-Coproporus sp4; Sp14-Piestus aper; Sp15-Lithocharis sp1; Sp16-Lithocharis sp2; Sp17-Lissohypnus sp; Sp18- Neohypnus sp; Sp19-Xantholinus sp2; Sp20-Quedius sp2; Sp21-Oligotergus sp1; Sp22-Oligotergus sp2; Sp23-Acylophorus sp; Sp24-Philonthus sp2; Sp25-Diochus sp1; Sp26-Diochus sp2; Sp27-Diochus sp3; Sp38-Aleocharinae sp1; Sp33-Aleocharinae sp1; Sp34-Belonuchus sp2; Sp35-Belonuchus sp3; Sp36-Belonuchus sp4; Sp37-Aneucamptus sp; Sp38-Hoplandria sp.



Chapter 8

Diversity of Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in different landscapes in northern Brazil

Diversidade de Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) em diferentes paisagens no norte do Brasil

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba ^{1,3}

reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

Wully Barreto da Silva²

wully_bio@hotmail.com

Eduardo Périco¹

perico@univates.br

Mário Santos³

mgsantoss@gmail.com

¹ University Center Univates, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

² Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil

² Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal

Accepted for publication in Neotropical Biology and Conservation

Cajaiba, R.L.; Silva, W.B.; Périco, E. Santos, M. Diversity of Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in different landscapes in northern Brazil. **Neotropical Biology and Conservation**, 2018.

Abstract

A survey of beetle assemblages of the subfamily Scolytinae was conducted in habitat gradients ranging from primary forest to secondary forests, cocoa plantations, and pastures in the Amazonian biome. Sampling was carried out in 2015, during February/March (rainy season), June (intermediary season), and September/October (dry season). A total of 4,534 Scolytinae was captured, comprising four genera and nine species. The most abundant species were *Xyleborus affinis* and *Xyleborus volvulus*, representing approximately 34% and 31% of the total abundance, respectively. Species of Scolytinae in general showed seasonality and greater abundance and richness in regions with greater coverage of plant litter.

Keywords: Amazon, Biodiversity studies, Habitat preference, Insects.

Resumo

Assembleias de besouros da subfamília Scolytinae foram estudadas em gradientes de habitats que variam de floresta primária a florestas secundárias, plantações de cacau e pastagens no bioma Amazônia. A amostragem foi realizada durante o ano de 2015, nos meses de fevereiro/março (estação chuvosa), junho (estação intermediária) e setembro/outubro (estação seca). Um total de 4.534 Scolytinae foi capturado, compreendendo quatro gêneros e nove espécies. As espécies mais abundantes foram *Xyleborus affinis* e *Xyleborus volvulus*, representando aproximadamente 34% e 31% da abundância total, respectivamente. As espécies de Scolytinae em geral mostraram sazonalidade e maior abundância e riqueza em regiões com maior cobertura de serapilheira.

Palavras-chave: Amazônia, Estudos de biodiversidade, Preferência de habitat, Insetos.

Introduction

The Amazon biome is a unique area; it holds the world's largest rainforest and is considered a biodiversity hotspot. It is also important for carbon storage and regional/global regulation of the hydrological cycles and climate (Fernandes, 2009). However, human action has caused, directly or indirectly, the reduction and loss of biodiversity (Cajaiba et al., 2015) due to changes in the natural ecological processes and the emergence of new combinations of species, mainly by habitat transformation, fragmentation, and damage (Marques et al., 2002). Several factors have been identified the suppression of natural habitats, ecosystem including fragmentation, overexploitation of natural resources, climate change, and introduction of alien species. This biodiversity loss threatens the sustainability of the region, with a consequent reduction of environmental services such as pest control, nutrient cycling, and maintenance of soil structure (Cajaiba and Silva, 2015; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015).

Predicting the ecological consequences of land-use/land-cover changes is, therefore, a subject of great scientific and political interest in order to support strategic options for sustainable development, land-use planning, and natural resource management (Turner *et al.*, 2007). In this context, ecological assessment and monitoring are important tools to support effective management of ecosystems and natural resources, and the use of pertinent indicators is crucial to measure and evaluate the status and trends of target environmental systems (Cajaiba *et al.*, 2015).

Beetles have characteristics that qualify them as appropriate for ecological studies (Carlton and Robinson, 1998; Didham *et al.*, 1998; Cajaiba and Silva, 2015) and for monitoring different compartments of the ecosystem (Marinoni, 2001). Several studies suggest that beetles are strongly associated with habitat structure and factors associated with microclimates (Schwarzkopf and Rylands, 1989; Bishop *et al.*, 2009) that can be altered by anthropic activities. For example, beetles respond to environmental disorder, soil depth, local humidity, temperature, soil pH, and pollution (Pearce *et al.*, 2003; Kaiser *et al.*, 2009; Garcia *et al.*, 2010; Negro *et al.*, 2010; Vasquez-Velez *et al.*, 2010). Beetles have also been shown to indicate successful management and restoration of habitats (Jacobs *et al.*, 2010; Paoletti *et al.*, 2010; Gomez, 2010).

Beetles of the subfamily Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), with more than 6,000 described species, constitute one of the largest groups of Coleoptera (Eroğlu *et al.*, 2005; Sarikaya and Avci, 2011). These beetles, commonly known as bark and ambrosia beetles, colonize living and dead trees (Gandhi *et al.*, 2010), with some species causing widespread mortality of coniferous and deciduous trees in forests (Oliver and Mannion, 2001; Gandhi *et al.*, 2010). In general, bark beetle larvae feed on the phloem of their host trees, whereas ambrosia beetle larvae feed on the symbiotic fungus inoculated by the mother beetles when they bore into the xylem of their host trees (Rabaglia *et al.*, 2006). These insects are well-known forest pests and also play an important role in wood degradation (Gray, 1972). In the Amazon biome, these beetles were also found to attack several forest and fruit trees (Abreu, 1992; Barbosa, 1994; Dall'Oglio and Peres-Filho, 1997; Abreu *et al.*, 2012).

The factors that influence the biodiversity of beetles are not clearly known, but the literature shows that structural complexity of vegetation and different environmental disturbances play major roles. Several studies have shown the biology, ecology, and feeding behavior of Scolytinae (Franceschi *et al.*, 2005; Rabaglia *et al.*, 2006; Fettig *et al.*, 2007). However, there is a gap in the knowledge on the Brazilian fauna of Scolytinae, as well as that in the Amazon biome. Thus, we conducted a survey of Scolytinae assemblages, over a wide range of habitats from primary forest to secondary forests, cocoa plantations, and pastures in the Amazon biome, with the aim of supporting future research and adding information about these economically important insects. Specifically, we addressed the following questions: 1) Does the composition of Scolytinae in the Amazon biome differ between seasons?

Material and Methods

This study was performed near the city of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil (Figure 1). The territorial extension of the municipality is 10796 km² and its population encompasses circa 44789 inhabitants. The dominant land use/ land cover (LU/LC) is natural forest (69% of the area) and deforestation is concentrated mainly in the south-central part of territory and near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and

the exploitation of timber at a large scale (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental threats (Cajaiba, 2014). The studied habitats contain pertinent gradients, in terms of biophysical and ecological characteristics, for testing the response of Scolytinae communities facing the main anthropogenic drivers. These gradients encompass: Native Vegetation - NV, Early Secondary succession – ES (vegetation with five years of regeneration), Mature Secondary succession - MS (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Agriculture - Ag (cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock - Pa. The climate is classified as Aw (Köppen), hot and humid and the average annual rainfall is 2000 mm (Cajaiba *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 1. Location of the study area in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil with sampled habitats: Ag, Agriculture; ES, Early secondary succession; MS, Mature secondary succession; NV, Native vegetation; Pa, Pasture.

Sampling was carried out during the year 2015, in the months of February/ March (rainy season), June (final of rainy season and early dry season) and September/ October (dry season). This allowed integrating eventual seasonal differences in the activity of Scolytinae. The sample points were placed at a minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, to ensure that most beetles captured were associated to the habitats in study. Pitfall traps with 75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep were filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension. A roof was attached to each trap to prevent rainwater from entering the trap, remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection.

In each study site (NV, MS, ES, Ag and Pa) seven sample points were placed 100 m apart. Each sample point contained four pitfall traps separated by 5 meters. This protocol was applied to all areas and periods of collections, totalizing a sampling effort of 840 traps.

The Temperature-T, Humidity-H and Precipitation-P of each point were measured during the traps installation and removal with a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). Data about Percentage of Exposed Soil-PES, Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover-PLC, Height of Leaf Litter-HLL were also collected. To assess the environmental complexity of each sampling site, the quadrat-section method was adopted (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using a cross as a reference, four quadrants (northeast, northwest, southeast, southwest) were marked and, in each quadrant the following variables were measured: the HLL was measured with a ruler in 1 m \times 1 m marked squares (using a PVC pipe), and the percentages of PLC and PES were measured by visual estimation using the following classes, 0–5%, 6–25%, 26–50%, 51–75%, 76–95% and 96–100% (Campos and Hernández, 2015).

Richness (S) and abundance (N) of each sampling site were measured and differences among sites were gauged using One-Way-Analysis-of-Variance (ANOVA). ANOVA was also applied to find differences in the seasonality of Scolytinae, using a Tukey's post-hoc test. The normality of the data was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test.

The Bray-Curtis cluster analysis was applied to verify the similarity between different habitats, and UPGMA algorithm was used to draw the distance based on Bray-Curtis index. This index ranges between 0 (indicating no similarity in community composition between sites) and 1 (indicating complete overlap), and it is considered one of the most robust measures of community similarity (Magurran, 2004). The cophenetic correlation coefficient was used to verify the result significance of the cluster analysis. Multiple multivariate regressions were applied to analyze the relationship between the dependent (abundance and richness of Scolytinae) and predictive (T, H, P, PLC, HLL and PES) variables.

Results and Discussion

A total of 4,534 Scolytinae, distributed in four genera and nine species, was captured. Of these, we identified 854 individuals of all species in natural vegetation (NV), eight species (1116 individuals) in mature secondary succession (MS), seven species (244 individuals) in early secondary succession (ES), four species (2,028 individuals) in agriculture (Ag), and two species (292 individuals) in pasture (Pa). The genus *Xyleborus*, with 4,514 individuals, was prevalent in all ambrosia beetle communities, comprising 99.5% of all specimens captured. The most abundant species were *Xyleborus affinis* EICHHOFF 1868, with 1,526 individuals (approximately 34% of the total abundance), and *Xyleborus volvulus* FABRICIUS 1775, with 1,386 individuals (approximately 31% of the total abundance). *Xyleborus volvulus* was more abundant in Ag (506 individuals), followed by Pa (210 individuals) and ES (58 individuals) (Table 1).

Table 1. Species of Scolytinae collected in different habitats and their abundance in different seasons in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Ag, Agriculture; ES, Early secondary succession; MS, Mature secondary succession; NV, Native vegetation; Pa, Pasture. The letters R, I and D following the vegetation types correspond to the rainy, intermediary and dry seasons, respectively.

| Spacios | NV | | MS | | ES | | Ag | | Pa | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----|----|
| Species | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D | R | Ι | D |
| Xyleborus volvulus | 104 | 196 | 32 | 144 | 116 | 24 | 34 | 20 | 18 | 260 | 246 | 110 | 34 | 38 | 10 |
| Xyleborus affinis | 74 | 130 | 38 | 210 | 156 | 16 | 38 | 20 | 18 | 250 | 238 | 128 | 110 | 90 | 10 |
| Xyleborus ferrugineus | 32 | 64 | 16 | 58 | 64 | 18 | 24 | 0 | 2 | 156 | 136 | 48 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Xyleborus sp1 | 14 | 38 | 30 | 72 | 56 | 8 | 18 | 8 | 0 | 134 | 132 | 38 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Xyleborus sp2 | 18 | 12 | 24 | 58 | 42 | 8 | 12 | 0 | 0 | 70 | 82 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Xyleborus sp3 | 8 | 6 | 8 | 24 | 30 | 6 | 18 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Xylosandrus sp | 0 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Coccotrypes sp | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Hypothenemus sp | 2 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

The fact that the genus *Xyleborus* presented the greatest abundance and richness is consistent with the results of several studies (Abreu *et al.*, 2012; Kendra *et al.*, 2011; Meurer *et al.*, 2013). Although beetles of this genus may be considered beneficial, because they favor natural disbranching and contribute to degradation of wood waste in reforested areas, some species may cause high negative economic impacts, damaging large amounts of fresh-cut or stored wood (Wood, 1982; Meurer *et al.*, 2013).

The species X. affinis and X. volvulus were the most abundant in all studied habitats, corroborating the results of Meurer *et al.* (2013). X. affinis, considered one of the most aggressive ambrosia beetle species in Brazil and other tropical regions (Beaver, 1976; Meurer *et al.*, 2013), is abundant above the Tropic of Capricorn (Meurer *et al.*, 2013). Beaver (1976), in a study conducted in a native forest of Mato Grosso, stressed the importance of X. affinis in the area, noting that the wetter the region, the better was the adaptation. According to this author, X. affinis apparently has no preference for hosts and may attack a wide range of plants, including herbs and lianas. The strong dominance of X. affinis can be explained by interspecific competition, considering that fast-growing species are more destructive and reduce the resources available for other plant species (Abreu *et al.*, 1997).

The Scolytinae species richness varied significantly among the study sites $(F_{4,415} = 223.1, p < 0.0001)$. The average species richness was significantly higher in NV and Ag (p < 0.01) than in the other habitats. The second largest species richness was observed in MS (p < 0.05). The lowest species richness was found in Pa (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2a). The Scolytinae abundance also varied significantly among the study sites $(F_{4,415} = 123.8, p < 0.0001)$. The mean abundance was significantly higher in Ag (p < 0.01) than in the other sites. The second largest mean abundance rate was observed in MS (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2b).



Figure 2. Box and Whisker plots expressing the differences in the projected values for (a) species richness (\pm SE) and (b) number of individuals (\pm SE) of Scolytinae in different habitats in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. Ag, Agriculture; ES, Early secondary succession; MS, Mature secondary succession; NV, Native vegetation; Pa, Pasture. Circles in the figures indicate the outliers.

According to Bray-Curtis similarity index and cluster analysis, a greater similarity was observed between NV and MS (0.77) (cophenetic correlation coefficient = 0.90) (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Bray-Curtis similarity index for the different habitats sampled (cophenetic correlation coefficient = 0.90) in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. Ag, Agriculture; ES, Early secondary succession; MS, Mature secondary succession; NV, Native vegetation; Pa, Pasture.

Predictive variables were significant for Scolytinae abundance ($F_{6,413} = 84.5$, $R^2 = 0.55$, p < 0.001) and richness ($F_{6,413} = 158.9$, $R^2 = 0.70$, p < 0.001). The variable HLL best explained the abundance and richness of Scolytinae (Table 2).

Table 2. Multivariate regressions between environmental variables and ecological indices (abundance and richness) of Scolytinae collected in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil. H, Humidity; HLL, Height of Leaf Litter; P, Precipitation; PES, Percentage of Exposed Soil; PLC, Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover; T, Temperature.

| Variables - | Abundance | | | | Richness | | | | |
|-------------|----------------|-------|-------|----------------|----------------|-------|--------|----------------|--|
| | Coeff. (± SE) | Т | Р | \mathbb{R}^2 | Coeff. (± SE) | Т | р | \mathbb{R}^2 | |
| Т | -0.718 (±0.37) | -1.92 | 0.53 | 0.12 | 0.135 (±0.04) | 2.72 | 0.001 | 0.24 | |
| Н | -0.050 (±0.05) | -0.88 | 0.05 | 0.12 | 0.074 (±0.00) | 9.83 | 0.001 | 0.28 | |
| Р | 0.032 (±0.00) | 5.89 | 0.37 | 0.08 | -0.002 (±0.01) | -3.79 | 0.0001 | 0.04 | |
| HLL | 6.750 (±0.43) | 15.35 | 0.001 | 0.35 | 0.776 (±0.05) | 13.28 | 0.000 | 0.44 | |
| PLC | -0.130 (±0.02) | -5.39 | 0.001 | 0.17 | 0.020 (±0.01) | 6.40 | 0.001 | 0.41 | |
| PES | 0.964 (±0.22) | 4.23 | 0.01 | 0.18 | 0.333 (±0.03) | 11.02 | 0.001 | 0.25 | |

The fact that Ag had the highest abundance and species richness can be explained by the high HLL in these areas. On the other hand, ES and Pa are typically characterized by a relatively more open canopy with reduced occurrence of sub-forest warm and dry environment, as well as lower amounts of litter on the ground, which may explain the impoverishment observed in the Scolytinae communities. The influence of environments with greater litterfall rates on the distribution of the Scolytinae community can be confirmed by the high density of these individuals in Ag, MS, and NV. These habitats have greater amounts of material that can favor the development of vegetable debris, trunks, and broken branches, providing ideal conditions for the rapid population growth of Scolytinae species. The diversity of arthropod communities is related to the structural complexity of the habitat. More complex environments have a greater number of beetle species because of the greater supply of ecological niches for these organisms (Schaffers *et al.*, 2008).

With respect to the seasonality of Scolytinae, of the nine species sampled, six (approximately 67%) were available in the three periods surveyed. *Hypothenemus* sp. was collected only in the rain season, whereas *Xylosandrus* sp. and *Coccotrypes* sp. were exclusive to the intermediary season (Table 1). A statistically significant difference in abundance was noted among the sampling seasons ($F_{2,41} = 81.76$, p < 0.001), but no differences were noted between the averages of the rainy and intermediary seasons (p > 0.05). The dry season showed lower abundance, being statistically shorter than the other seasons (p < 0.001) (Fig. 4a). Species richness also showed differences between the averages of the rainy and intermediary seasons (p < 0.001). No differences were noted between the averages of the rainy seasons (p > 0.05), but the dry season showed lower species richness, being statistically shorter than the other season showed lower species richness, being statistically shorter than the other species richness also



Figure 4. Scolytinae community in different periods of sampling in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil: (a) number of individuals (\pm SE) and (b) number of species (\pm SE). The values followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Tukey test. D: Dry; I: Intermediary; R: Rain. Circles in the figures indicate outliers.

The abundance and richness of Scolytinae tended to show a seasonal distribution in a year, with less number of individuals and species occurring during the dry season than during the heavy rainfall season. This significant difference in the population of Scolytinae throughout the year was also observed by Flechtmann *et al.* (2001). According to Wood (1982), temperature and humidity are the two most important factors in the micro-climate of the galleries of Scolytinae species. Those belonging to the genus *Xyleborus*, in particular, reduced the growth of fungi they feed on. However, additional studies are needed to understand the extent of these changes, especially in light of the potential effects of climate change (Maveety *et al.*, 2014). Seasonal variations in diversity and composition emphasize the influence of phenology on survey timing in studying Scolytinae/habitat associations. Moreover, seasonal information on Scolytinae beetle is essential to understand the relevant ecological processes and, thus, the related management aspects. Asynchronous seasonal cycles may contribute to the reduction of interspecific competition among Scolytinae.

Our study should be complemented by ecological and behavioral studies to understand and assess the preservation status of the habitats considered (Brown, 1997). Ecological assessment and monitoring are important procedures to ensure effective management of ecosystems and natural resources. The use of indicators of ecosystem integrity is considered crucial to measure and assess the status and trends of target environmental systems (Kandziora *et al.*, 2013).

References

ABREU, R.L.S. 1992. Estudos sobre a ocorrência de Scolytidae e Platypodidae em madeiras da Amazônia. *Acta Amazonica*, **22**:413-420.

ABREU, R.L.S.; FONSECA, C.R.; MARQUES, E.N. 1997. Análise das principais espécies de Scolytidae coletadas em floresta primária no estado do Amazonas. *Anais da Sociedade Entomológica do Brasil*, **26**:527-35.

ABREU, R.L.S.; RIBEIRO, G.A.; VIANEZ, B.F.; SALES-CAMPOS, C. 2012. Insects of the subfamily Scolytinae (Insecta: Coleoptera, Curculionidae) collected with pitfall and ethanol traps in primary forests of Central Amazonia. *Psyche*, **2012**:1-8.

BARBOSA, M.G.V. 1994. Contribuição ao conhecimento da Coleopterofauna visitante de cupuaçu (Theobroma grandiflorum [Willdenow ex Sprengel]) Schumman em um bairro de Manaus, Amazonas. Manaus, AM. Dissertação de Mestrado, INPA/FUA.

BEAVER, R.A. 1976. Biological studies of Brazilian Scolytidae and Platypodidae (Coleoptera).V. The tribe *Xyleborini*. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **80**:15-30.

BISHOP, D. J.; MAJKA, C. G.; BONDRUP-NIELSEN, S.; PECK, S. B. 2009. Deadwood and saproxylic beetle diversity in naturally disturbed and managed spruce forests in Nova Scotia. *Zookeys*, **22**:309-340.

BRIGHT, D.E. 1976. *The bark beetles of Canada and Alaska, Coleoptera: Scolytidae*. The Insects and Arachnids of Canada, Part 2. Ottawa, Biosystematics Research Institute, 182 p.

CAJAIBA, R. L. 2014. Morcegos (Mammalia, Chiroptera) em cavernas no município de Uruará, Pará, norte do Brasil. *Biota Amazônia*, **4**:81-86.

CAJAIBA, R. L.; SILVA, W. B. 2014. Mirmecofauna (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) em fragmento florestal urbano no município de Uruará-PA. *Enciclopédia Biosfera*, **10**:2226-2238.

CAJAIBA, R.L.; CABRAL, J.A.; SANTOS, M. 2015. A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. *Neotropical Entomology*, **4**:1-9.

CAJAIBA, R.L.; PERICO, E.; CABRAL, J.A.; SANTOS, M. 2015. Assessing the Potential Role of Ground Beetles (Coleoptera) as Ecological Indicators in Tropical Ecosystems: A Review. *In:* C. STACK (Ed.), *Beetles: Biodiversity, Ecology and Role in the Environment.* 1ed., New York, Nova Science Publishers, p. 51-84.

CAJAIBA, R.L.; SILVA, W.B. 2015. Abundância e Diversidade de Coleópteros de Solo em Fragmentos de Capoeira ao Entorno da Zona Urbana do Município de Uruará-PA, Brasil. *EntomoBrasilis*, **8**:30-37.

CAMPOS, R.C.; HERNÁNDEZ, M.I.M. 2015. Changes in the dynamics of functional groups in communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. *Ecological Indicators*, 49:216-227.

CARLTON, C. E.; ROBINSON, H. W. 1998. Diversity of litter-dwelling beetles in the Ouachita highlands of Arkansas, USA (Insecta: Coleoptera). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **7**:1589-1605.

DALL'OGLIO, O.T.; PERES FILHO, O. 1997. Levantamento e flutuação populacional de coleobrocas em plantios homogêneos de seringueira em Itiquira-MT, Brasil. *Scientia Forestalis*, **51**:45-58.

DIDHAM, R. K.; HAMMOND, P. M.; LAWTON, J. H.; EGGLETON, P.; STORK, N. E. 1998. Beetles species responses to Tropical Forest fragmentation. *Ecological Monographs*, **68**:295-323.

EROĞLU, M.; ALKAN-AKINCI, H.; ÖZCAN, G.E. 2005. Kabuk böceği Salgınlarının Nedenleri ve Boyutları. *Orman ve Av Dergisi*, **5**:27-34.

FERNANDES, A. L. 2009. The social and environmental impacts of industrial agriculture in the Legal Amazon. *In*: Simpósio Brasileiro de Sensoriamento Remoto, XIV, Natal. *Anais*...159-165.

FETTIG, C.J.; KLEPZIG, K.D.; NOWAK, J.T. 2007. The effectiveness of vegetation management practices for prevention and control of bark beetle infestations in coniferous forests of the western and southern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **238**:24-53.FLECHTMANN, C.A.H.; OTTATI, A.L.T.; BERISFORD, C.W. 2001. Ambrosia and bark beetles (Scolytidae: Coleoptera) in pine and eucalypt stands in southern Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **142**:183-191.

FRANCESCHI, V.R.; KROKENE, P.; KREKLING, T. 2005. Anatomical and chemical defenses of conifer bark against bark beetles and other pests. *New Phytologist*, **167**:353-376.

GANDHI, K.J.K.; COGNATO, A.I.; NIELSEN, D.G.; HERMS, D.A. 2010. Species Composition, Seasonal Activity, and Semiochemical Response of Native and Exotic Bark and Ambrosia Beetles (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) in Northeastern Ohio. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, **103**:1187-1195.

GARCIA, M.; ORTEGO, F.; CASTANERA, P.; FARINOS, G. P. 2010. Effects of exposure to the toxin Cry1Ab through Bt maize fed-prey on the performance and digestive physiology of the predatory rove beetle *Atheta coriaria*. *Biological Control*, **55**:225-233.

GOMEZ, A. D. 2010. Activity density versus biomass distribution patterns among ground-beetle species as bioindicator for conservation planning over a wide range of altitudes in Tenerife (Canary Islands). *Ecological Indicators*, **10**:1213-1217.

GRAY, B. 1972. Economic tropical forest entomology. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **17**:313-354.

JACOBS, C. T.; SCHOLTZ, C. H.; ESCOBAR, F.; DAVIS, A. L. V. 2010. How might intensification of farming influence dung beetle diversity (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in Maputo Special Reserve (Mozambique)? *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **14**:389-399.

KAISER, W.; AVENANT, N. L.; HADDAD, C. R. 2009. Assessing the ecological integrity of a grassland ecosystem: the applicability and rapidity of the SAGraSS method. *African Journal of Ecology*, **47**:308-317.

KENDRA, P.E.; SANCHEZ, J.S.; EPSKY, N.D.; HEATH, R.R. 2011. Diversity of Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) attracted to avocado, lychee, and essential oil lures. *Florida Entomologist*, **94**:123-130.

KÜHNHOLZ, S.; BORDEN, J.H.; UZUNOVIC, A. 2001. Secondary ambrosia beetles in apparently healthy trees: adaptations, potential causes and suggested research. *International Journal of Pest Management*, **6**:209-219.

MAGURRAN, A. E. 2004. *Measuring biological diversity*. 2nd ed. Oxford, Blackwell Science Ltd., 266 p.

MARINONI, R. C. 2001. Os grupos tróficos em Coleoptera. *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia*, **18**:205-224.

MARQUES, A. A. B.; FONTANA, C. S.; VÉLEZ, E.; BENCKE, G. A.; SCHNEIDER, M.; REIS, R. E. 2002. *Lista de Referência da Fauna Ameaçada de Extinção no Rio Grande do Sul*. Decreto nº 41.672, de 10 de junho de 2002. Porto Alegre: FZB/MCTPUCRS/PANGEA.

MAVEETY, S.A.; BROWNE, R.A.; ERWIN, T.L. 2014. Carabid beetle diversity and community composition as related to altitude and seasonality in Andean forests. *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment*, **48**:165-174.

MEURER, E.; BATTIROLA, L.D.; COLPANI, D.; MARQUES, M.I. 2013. Scolytinae (Coleoptera, Curculionidae) associados a diferentes fitofisionomias no Pantanal de Cáceres, Mato Grosso. *Acta Biológica Paranaense*, **42**:195-210.

NEGRO, M.; ISAIA, M.; PALESTRINI, C.; SCHOENHOFER, A.; ROLANDO, A. 2010. The impact of high-altitude ski pistes on ground-dwelling arthropods in the Alps. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **19**:1853-1870.

OLIVER, J.B.; MANNION, C.M. 2001. Ambrosia beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) species attacking chestnut and captured in ethanol-baited traps in middle Tennessee. *Environmental Entomology*, **30**:909-918.

PAOLETTI, M. G.; D'INCA, A.; TONIN, E.; TONON, S.; MIGLIORINI, C.; PETRUZZELLI, G.; PEZZAROSSA, B.; GOMIERO, T.; SOMMAGGIO, D. 2010. Soil invertebrates as bio-indicators in a natural area converted from agricultural use: the case study of Vallevecchia-Lugugnana in north-eastern Italy. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, **34**:38-56.

PEARCE, J. L.; VENIER, L. A.; MCKEE, J.; PEDLAR, J.; MCKENNEY, D. 2003. Influence of habitat and microhabitat on Carabid (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages in four stand types. *Canadian Entomologist*, **135**:337-357.

RABAGLIA, R.J.; DOLE, S.A.; COGNATO, A.I. 2006 Review of American *Xyleborina* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) occurring North of Mexico, with an illustrated key. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, **99**:1034-1056.

SARIKAYA, O.; AVCI, M. 2011. Bark beetle fauna (Coleoptera: Scolytinae) of the coniferous forests in the Mediterranean region of Western Turkey, with a new record for Turkish fauna. *Turkish Journal of Zoology*, **35**:33-47.

SCHAFFERS, A. P.; RAEMAKERS, I. P.; SÝKORA, K. V.; BRAAK, C. J. F. 2008. Arthropod assemblages are best predicted by plant species composition. *Ecology*, **89**:782-794.

SCHWARZKOPF, L.; RYLANDS, A. B. 1989. Primate species richness in relation to habitat structure in Amazonian rainforest fragments. *Biological Conservation*, **48**:1-12. TURNER, B. L. I.; LAMBIN, E. F.; REENBERG, A. 2007. The emergence of land change sciencefor global environmental change and sustainability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **104**:20666-20671.

VALIENTE-BANUET, A.; AIZEN, M. A.; GARCÍA, D.; GÓMEZ, J. M.; JORDANO, P. 2015. Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology*, **29**:299-307.

VASQUEZ-VELEZ, L. M.; BERMUDEZ, C.; CHACON, P.; LOZANO-ZAMBRANO, F. H. 2010. Analysis of the richness of Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) on different scales of a sub-Andean rural landscape in Colombia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **19**:1917-1931.

WOOD, S.L. 1982. *The bark and ambrosia beetles of North and Central America (Coleoptera: Scolytidae), a taxonomic monograph.* Provo, Brigham Young University, 1359 p.

Chapter 9

How informative is the response of Ground Beetles' (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages to anthropogenic land use changes? Insights for ecological status assessments from a case study in the Neotropics

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba^{a,c,d*}, Eduardo Périco^a, Wully Barreto da Silva^b, Thiago Bernadi

Vieira^b, Marina Schmidt Dalzochio^a, Rita Bastos^c, João Alexandre Cabral^c, Mário

Santos^c

^a University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

^b Federal University of Pará, campus Altamira, R. Cel. José Porfírio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira, PA, Brazil

^c Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal

^d Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira, 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, MA, Brazil

Submitted for publication in Science of the Total Environment

Cajaiba, R.L.; Périco, P.; Silva, W.B.; Vieira, T.B.; Dalzochio, M.S.; Bastos, R.; Cabral, J.A.; Santos, M. How informative is the response of Ground Beetles' (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages to anthropogenic land use changes? Insights for ecological status assessments from a case study in the Neotropics.

Abstract

Ground Beetles (Carabidae) have been suggested to be used as ecological indicators of biodiversity ecological status under the effects of anthropogenic land use and land cover changes in highly biodiverse regions such as the Neotropics. In this study Ground Beetles' assemblages from a region in the Brazilian Amazon were investigated for evaluating their applicability as disturbance indicators. Differences in assemblages between ecosystems, discriminated by complimentary methodologies, demonstrate a sensitive reaction from the most pristine forests to increasingly disturbed systems. Besides capturing the influence of different prevailing conditions between ecosystems, being easy to communicate and to link with the other components of the system, the Ground Beetles are easily and routinely measurable using standard methodologies. This study represents a step forward in using Ground Beetles for the purposes of planning, management and public reporting on the ecological status of Neotropical ecosystems. Additionally, the methods depicted could support projections for trends of relevant ecosystem attributes under realistic social-ecological change scenarios, which can be used to guide effective conservation planning.

Keywords: Biodiversity conservation; Land use changes; Brazilian Amazon; Landscape heterogeneity.

Introduction

Neotropical rainforests are considered biodiversity hotspots (Gardner, 2010), vital for carbon storage and regional/global regulation of the hydrological cycles and climate (Berenguer et al., 2015). However, anthropogenic activities have been causing massive loss of biodiversity in these systems (Kim et al., 2015), associated with new ecosystem processes and combinations of species/morphospecies that are ultimately linked with land use/land cover changes (LUCC) (Titeux et al., 2016). Biodiversity loss threatens the sustainability of regional ecosystems, with major implications in the socio-ecological services delivered (Cajaiba and Silva, 2015, 2017). Predicting the ecological consequences of LUCC is therefore subject to scientific and political studies aimed at supporting strategic options for landscape planning and natural resources management (Turner et al., 2007). In this context the selection of the most pertinent indicators for ecological assessments and monitoring is crucial, namely to detect and evaluate possible trends with relevance to guide conservation decision-making in the scope of disturbed ecosystems management (Cajaiba et al., 2017a).

Terrestrial invertebrates and especially insects play a critical role in most ecological processes and are key components of ecosystems' structure and functioning (Bicknell et al., 2014; Viegas et al., 2014; Campos and Hernández, 2015). Insects' diversity is intimately related with other taxa diversity and abiotic characteristics, thus representing potential ecological indicators of the ecosystem as a whole (e.g. Nichols et al., 2008). Therefore, understanding the ecological relevance of insects in the Neotropics could even support decision-making and robust management/recovery of imperilled ecosystems in the scope of the need for rapid, standardized and cost-saving assessment methodologies (Godfray et al., 1999; Cajaiba et al., 2017b). Ground beetles (GB) of the Carabidae family have been already suggested as promising ecological indicators in biodiversity studies and ecological integrity/status assessments, considering their morphological, behavioural, taxonomic composition, ecological traits, abundance and sensitivity to environmental changes (Koivula et al., 2002; Rainio and Niemelä, 2003; Koivula, 2011). GB represent an ecologically and taxonomically well-known group, which is straightforward to collect by using pitfall traps (e.g. Rainio and Niemelä, 2003; Niemelä et al., 2007; Koivula, 2011; Kotze et al., 2011). Furthermore, in forest ecosystems GB exhibit important trophic roles in the food webs, either as predators, decomposers or phytophagous (Qodri et al., 2016). Several GB are generalist predators (Nitzu et al., 2008), feeding on a variety of arthropod preys, such as Collembola, Acari, and larvae of Diptera (Ribera et al., 1999), providing valuable ecosystem services by controlling forest and even agriculture pests (Holland, 2002) and weeds (Bohan et al., 2011). The GB trends also reflect the consequences of ecosystem changes given their dependence on strict microhabitat conditions and specific diets (Koivula, 2002).

Diverse studies have used GB for indicating successional stages, of the degree of ecosystems fragmentation, urbanization pressures, metal contamination in soils, disturbance gradients, responses to environmental characteristics, regeneration in natural areas and ecosystem "health" (Fujita et al., 2008; Silva et al., 2008; Uehara-Prado et al., 2009; Moraes et al., 2013). Despite the recognized importance as ecological indicators, their application in the Neotropics, such as the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been extremely limited. As a consequence, the effects of human actions (e.g. deforestation, fire, animal grazing, logging and mining) on the GB

239

communities and their relationships with the structure and functioning of ecosystems are still poorly understood (Samu et al., 2010). Another problem is the replicability of studies' results since many areas in the region have low accessibility and several logistical and practical difficulties, which restrict the application of standardized methods of sampling and replication (Cajaiba et al., 2015a).

Our study examined the concealed patterns of GB assemblages through a gradient of ecosystem disturbance, including areas of primary forest, secondary forest, in different stages of recovery, cocoa plantations and pastures in a region of the Amazonia. The main objective was to analyse the dissimilarity of GB assemblages by testing the following hypotheses: (1) the GB community composition, using morphospecies, is sensitive to disturbance of reference ecosystems such as primary forest; (2) increasing disturbance can be assessed by an increasing dissimilarity of the selected ecological indicators from pristine forests, namely morphospecies richness, abundance, taxonomic diversity and ecological composition. These hypotheses were tested through representative gradients in order to provide new insights for the GB diversity standard assessments as indicators of disturbance in Neotropical ecosystems.

Material and Methods

Study sites

The study area was located in the municipality of Uruará, state of Pará, northern Brazil (-03°43'27" S - 53°44'8" W, Figure 1). Forest (69% of the area) is the dominant land use/ land cover (LULC) while deforestation is concentrated mainly in the southcentral part of territory and near the main roads. Extensive livestock production and the exploitation of timber (mostly illegal) are currently considered the most serious environmental pressures (Cajaiba et al., 2015b). The studied areas contain the most representative habitats of the region, in terms of biophysical and ecological characteristics for understanding the response of Ground Bettles (GB) assemblages to landscape disturbance, such as Native Vegetation (NV), Early Secondary succession (ES - secondary vegetation with five years of regeneration), Mature Secondary succession (MS - secondary vegetation with 15 years of regeneration), Agriculture (Ag - cocoa plantations, *Theobroma cacao* L.) and Pasture for extensive livestock (Pa). The climate is characterized as hot-humid (Köppen's classification), with annual average temperature and precipitation of 26 °C and 2000 mm respectively (Peel et al., 2007).



Fig. 1. Location of the study region, (a) Brazil, (b) Pará state, and (c) city of Uruará. Location of the sampling areas: NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession; ES, Early secondary succession; Pa, Pasture; Ag, Agriculture.

Carabidae sampling

Fieldworks were carried out during the year 2015 in the rainy season (February/ March), intermediate season (June) and dry season (September/ October), for inspecting eventual periodic differences in the activity and composition of GB. The selected locations were positioned at minimum distance of 100 meters from ecotones, guaranteeing that most GB captured were associated to the monitored ecosystem. GB were trapped using pitfalls with 75 mm diameter and 110 mm deep, filled with preservative liquid consisting of formalin, alcohol, water and a few drops of detergent to break the surface tension. A roof was attached to each pitfall trap in order to prevent the destructive effect of direct rainwater. In each ecosystem per season, fifty-six traps were placed (100 m from each other), remaining installed for 48 h prior to collection. This protocol was applied to all areas and periods of collection, totalizing a sampling effort of 840 traps (see Table S1, Supplementary material). Sampling survey period and intensity, although inadequate for definitive inventory, served the purpose of comparing GB general sensitivity to ongoing changes in the scope of their application as ecological indicators of disturbance (Dale and Beyler, 2001).

Environmental variables

Fourteen environmental variables, considered with potential influence on GB communities, were measured in the sampled ecosystems (Felton et al., 2006): temperature (T), humidity (H), precipitation (P), circumference at breast height (CBH), circumference at ankle height (CAH), canopy cover (CC), richness of plants (RP), abundance of plants (AP), richness of shrubs (RS), abundance of shrubs (AS), percentage of exposed soil (PES), percentage of green (vegetation) cover (GC), percentages of leaf litter cover (LLC), height of leaf litter (HLL). The air temperature,

relative humidity and rainfall of each point were measured during the traps' installation and removal by a portable weather station (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). To assess the environmental complexity of each ecosystem, the quadratsection method was adopted (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using a cross as a reference, four quadrants (northeast, northwest, southeast, southwest) were marked and in each quadrant the following variables were measured: trees with circumference at breast height (CBH) greater than 15 cm, shrubs with CBH less than 15 cm and with height greater than 1 m were selected and the distances to the centre of the cross, height, crown diameter and trunk diameter. Trunk diameter was taken at breast height (1.3 m) for the trees and ankle height (CAH = 0.1 m) for the shrubs. In each quadrant, the height of leaf litter in $1 \text{ m} \times 1 \text{ m}$ marked square (using PVC pipe) was measured with a ruler, and the percentages of leaf litter layer, green and exposed soil area (no vegetation or leaf litter) were measured by visual estimation using the following classes, 0-5%, 6-25%, 26-50%, 51-75%, 76-95% and 96-100% (Campos and Hernández, 2015). Using the same classes, the percentage of canopy cover in the four quadrats was calculated with a convex spherical Lemmon densiometer (D). Information concerning the methodology associated with each variable is depicted in Table S2, Supplementary Material.

Statistical analysis

Assemblage analysis

Estimated morphospecies/species (hereinafter designated by recognizable taxonomic units of ground beetles: RTU) richness was calculated for all sites together and for each individual site using the mean through the estimators Chao 1, Chao 2, Jackknife 1, Jackknife 2, and Bootstrap (and their confidence intervals at 95%) (Krell,

2004). The software EstimateS 9.0 was used for analyses (Colwell, 2013). The mean of these estimators was used in order to minimize any bias from any particular estimator, the performance of which often varies according to differences in richness, sampling effort, and community evenness (O'Hara, 2005).

RTU richness and abundance were determined and differences among ecosystems gauged using the Kruskal-Wallis test (a non-parametric equivalent to the multifactorial ANOVA), using the subsequent Dunn post hoc tests to check for specific differences (Sokal and Rolhf, 1995). The taxonomic composition of RTU communities between ecosystems was compared using Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA). Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) plots were used to help in the interpretation of the results found with the PERMANOVA (e.g. Anderson, 2001). These analyses were performed using the software Past 3.15 (Hammer et al., 2001).

Complementary, a beta diversity partition analysis was applied to verify the dissimilarity between ecosystems. Using the partitioning framework proposed by Baselga (2010), the pairwise dissimilarity index ($\beta s \sigma r$) was partitioned into two components: turnover (βsim) and nestedness (βnes): $\beta s \sigma r = \beta sim + \beta nes$. This method was applied in order to evaluate whether dissimilarities in the composition of the RTU communities occurred through the substitution of some species by others (βsim) or by the formation of nested subsets of more diverse communities (βnes). The **\beta** sor index ranges from 0 (identical species assemblages) to 1 (different species assemblages). Using this approach with our dataset allowed testing (i) differences in the values of total dissimilarity (βsor) between different sites studied, but also (ii) the relative contribution of species turnover (βsim) and nestedness-resultant dissimilarity (βnes) in

244

each site. Beta diversity analysis was performed using the functions *beta.pair* from *betapart* package (Baselga et al., 2017) within R 3.2.4 program (R Core Team, 2016).

Association of Ground Beetle assemblages with environmental variables

Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) was used to estimate the influence of the fourteen environmental variables on RTU assemblages. Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was used to reduce variables to 4 principal components (PC). The CCA was performed with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on two axes. These analyses were performed using the software Past 3.15 (Hammer et al., 2001).

Species indicator value – IndVal

To determine possible RTU indicators, single value indicator (IndVal) developed by Dufrêne and Legendre (1997) was calculated, combining specificity (patterns of relative abundance) of a given RTU in a given ecosystem with its fidelity within that ecosystem (patterns of incidence). RTU with a high specificity and high fidelity within an ecosystem are considered to achieve the highest indicator value. Only taxa with IndVal>25% were saved in the final lists (Dufrene and Legendre, 1997). This analysis was performed using R 3.2.4 program (R Core Team, 2016) using the *indicspecies* package 1.7.5 (De Cáceres and Jansen, 2015) with 9999 permutations, using RTU abundance.

Results

Assemblages analysis and composition of Ground Beetles

A total of 2378 ground beetles (RTU) were captured, distributed by 33 RTU. Overall, 29 RTU were identified within 859 specimens captured in Native Vegetation (NV), 25 RTU were identified from the 414 specimens captured in the Mature Secondary (MS), 18 RTU were identified within 201 individuals captured in Early Secondary (ES), 26 RTU and 590 individuals were captured in Agriculture (Ag) and 13 RTU were identified within 314 individuals captured in Pasture (Pa). The most abundant GB RTU were: *Odontocheila* sp1 (185 individuals), *Galerita* sp1 (179 individuals), *Athrostictus* sp1 (155 individuals), *Pterostichini* sp1 (151 individuals) and *Pterostichus* sp1 (142 individuals), together representing approximately 35% of total abundance (Table S3, Supplementary material).

Considering all sampled sites together, the richness estimate Jackknife 1 and Bootstrap indicated a maximum of 35.40 and 34.58 species, respectively (Table S4a, Supplementary material). The average of these estimates and observed richness indicates that sampling efficiency was roughly 94.31% (Table S4b, Supplementary material).

Ground Beetles diversity and ecosystems

The average RTU richness revealed significant differences between ecosystems (Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test, KW = 251.8, df = 4, p < 0.001). RTU richness was significantly higher in NV, followed by Ag, MS and finally by ES and Pa (Fig. 3a). RTU abundance had significant differences between the study ecosystems (Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test, KW = 220.2, df = 4, p < 0.001). RTU abundance was significantly higher in NV, followed by MS and Ag (with equivalent medians), ES and lastly Pa (Fig. 3b).



Fig. 3. Box and Whisker plots expressing the differences in Ground Beetles (A) recognizable taxonomic unit (RTU) richness and (B) RTU abundance for the different ecosystems. The values followed by different letters are significantly different according to the Dunn test. NV: Native vegetation; MS: Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES: Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag: Agriculture; Pa: Pasture.

The results of the NMDS showed that the GB assemblages of different ecosystems could be separated from each other by ordination of the RTU composition. The average composition of the GB samples of NV and MS was similar to each while RTU assemblages of Ag seem isolated from the other ecosystems. ES and Pa form a partially superimposed but divergent group from NV, MS and Ag. The NMDS results depict an arch in the diagram, suggesting that the RTU assemblages change gradually from the most pristine to more disturbed ecosystems (Fig. 4). The Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) confirmed the previous results by showing that RTU taxonomic composition among the ecosystems studied was significantly different from each other ($F_{4,415} = 17.43$, p < 0.0001).



Fig. 4. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) showing Ground beetles (GB) recognizable taxonomic units (RTU) grouped in accordance with the ecosystems (using Bray-Curtis similarity). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

The beta diversity (β sor) presented relatively low values (β sor maximum = 0.52) (Fig. 5, Table S5a, Supplementary material). The highest dissimilarity values (β sor) were found when comparing Pa with NV (β sor = 0.52), Pa with ES (β sor = 0.44), Pa with Ag (β sor = 0.40). The lowest β sor was found when comparing NV with MS (β sor = 0.11) and NV with Ag (β sor = 0.16) (Fig. 5 and Table S5a, Supplementary material). The highest turnover values (β sim) were found when comparing Es with Pa (β sim = 0.36), and the lowest β sim was found comparing NV with ES (β sim = 0) (Fig. 5 and Table S5b, Supplementary material). The highest nestedness values (β nes) were found when comparing NV with Pa (β nes = 0.39) and the lowest nestedness was found when comparing MS with Ag (β nes = 0.02) and MS with Pa (β nes = 0.07) (Fig. 5 and Table S5b, Supplementary material).



Fig. 5. Comparison of dissimilarity values for β sor (overall dissimilarity), β sne (dissimilarity resulting from nestedness), and β sim (turnover) for the different ecosystems. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

Effects of environmental variables on Ground beetle assemblages

The first two axes generated by CCA explained 83.71% (62.42% in axis 1 and 21.29% in axis 2) of the total variation in the RTU composition. Among the PC's,

environmental variables represented by PC1 (R = -0.624) were the most important factors affecting the first axis, and the Abundance of shrubs (AS) (represented by PC3) (R = -0.809) had a great correlation with the second axis (Fig. 6 and Table S6, Supplementary material). The RTU communities in Mature Secondary succession (MS) were mostly associated with the Abundance of shrubs (AS) (PC3); Pasture (Pa) was correlated with Humidity (H) (PC2) and Precipitation (P) (PC4); Agriculture (Ag) was correlated with H (PC2) and P (PC4), as well as environmental variables represented by PC1; Native Vegetation (NV) and Early Secondary succession (ES) were correlated with environmental variables represented by PC1. The distribution of RTU abundance according to the environmental variables seems to indicate that specific RTU respond to certain characteristics of the ecosystems. Athrostictus sp1, Odontocheila sp2 and Selenophorus sp1 occurred mostly in areas with bare soil. Conversely, *Odontocheila* sp1 occurred in areas with lower temperatures and *Carabus* sp1, B. creptans negatively in dry areas; Carabus sp3 and Amara sp1 were mainly associated with Leaf litter cover / Height of leaf litter; Carabus sp2 occurred in areas with higher Abundance of shrubs (Fig. 6 and Fig. 7).



Fig. 6. Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) used to estimate the influence of environmental variables on Ground Beetles communities. Four axes were considered in the Principal Components Analysis (PCA), including 4 principal components (PC). NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature secondary succession (15 years of natural regeneration of vegetation); ES, Early secondary succession (five years of natural regeneration of vegetation); Ag, Agriculture (Cacao plantations); Pa, Pasture. PC1 was positive correlated with the following environmental variables: Circumference at Breast Height (CBH); Circumference at breast ankle (CBA); Canopy Cover (CC); richness of plants (RP); Height of Leaf Litter (HLL); Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover (PLC); Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover (PGC); Abundance of Plants (AP); Richness of Shrubs (RS), and negative correlated with Temperature (T) and Percentage of Exposed Soil (PES). PC2 was positive correlated with Humidity (H), PC3 positive correlated with Abundance of Shrubs (AS) and PC4 with Precipitation (P), also positively.



Fig. 7. CCA for Carabidae RTU using 14 environmental variables. For a description of the abbreviations of environmental parameters, see Table S2, and for abbreviations of GB RTU see Table S3, Supplementary material.

IndVal Method

Of the 33 RTU found in the present study, 12 RTU ($\approx 37\%$) were considered ecosystem indicators. According to IndVal, two RTU were significantly associated with NV, one with MS, six with Ag, and two with Pa. *Calosoma* sp1 which was an indicator of NV, was also associated with MS. No RTU was indicative for ES (Table 1).
Table 1 Recognizable taxonomic unit (RTU) selected by the IndVal method. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture (only taxa with IndVal>25% were considered).

| GB RTU | Indicator value | P value | Habitat |
|--------------------|-----------------|---------|---------|
| Calossoma sp1 | 0.88 | 0.005 | NV |
| Brachynus creptans | 0.87 | 0.005 | NV |
| Pelecium sp2 | 0.73 | 0.001 | MS |
| Calosoma sp1 | 0.68 | 0.005 | NV+MS |
| Loxandrus sp1 | 0.79 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Tetracha spl | 0.68 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Athrostictus sp2 | 0.67 | 0.01 | Ag |
| Pterostichini sp2 | 0.63 | 0.02 | Ag |
| Selenophorus sp2 | 0.59 | 0.01 | Ag |
| Amara sp2 | 0.53 | 0.005 | Ag |
| Cymindis sp2 | 0.76 | 0.005 | Pa |
| Odontocheila sp2 | 0.63 | 0.005 | Pa |

Discussion

Neotropical Ground Beetles, ecosystems and environmental conditions Assemblages analysis and composition of Ground Beetles

Our results demonstrate that GB diversity, represented by RTU richness and RTU abundance, was not indifferent to the ongoing structural changes in the study area, reaching higher values in the pristine ecosystems (NV - Native vegetation),

corroborating the results of Fujita et al. (2008). Although the RTU richness of cacao plantations (Ag) was considered high (even higher than MS - Mature secondary), RTU composition was quite dissimilar, as demonstrated by Permanova and NMDS. Additionally, the index ßsør (global beta) depicted that Pa (Pasture) was the most "poor" and divergent within all ecosystems (Table S5a, Supplementary Material). Despite this, β sim index (turnover) was only 22% of the NV RTU (our reference environment), i.e., circa 1/5 of species were replaced in Pa, showing that many of the RTU that inhabit NV can also be present in the other ecosystems. However, the βnes (nestedness) value between NV and Pa was relatively high ($\beta nes = 0.52$). Disturbed systems such as Pa and Ag may favour the presence of generalist species that tolerate the modification of their ecosystem and, thus, may allow the colonization of non-forest species from other adjacent ecosystems (Escobar, 2004). The conversion of the pristine ecosystems into Pastures (Pa) or monocultures (Ag) may lead to changes in abiotic factors, with probable detrimental effects on the structure and composition of the GB communities (Medri and Lopes, 2001). These changes seem also to decrease evenness in the assemblages, leading to the dominance of some RTU since the forest RTU are unable to adapt to the conditions of disturbed ecosystems (Davis et al., 2001; Liberal et al., 2011). More disturbed environments have reduced resources and microhabitats, supporting lower richness and are dominated by generalist and / or opportunistic RTU (e.g. Moraes et al., 2013).

Nonetheless, it should be noted that high diversity itself is insufficient in indicating "healthy" ecosystems, which should be complemented by RTU composition (Zou et al., 2015). In fact, many forest RTU are not able to occur in Cocoa agroforests, although the high diversity associated to these habitats (Schroth and Harvey, 2007).

254

Therefore, it is clear that relying on Cocoa agroforests for the conservation of biodiversity, in vast areas of Amazonia, would be ineffective and risky for the more vulnerable and specialized groups.

Effects of environmental variables on Ground beetle assemblages

Our results demonstrate that both RTU richness and abundance followed the trend expected for the disturbance gradient studied, i.e.,: a decrease in the respective values as the disturbance level increase. Thus, different aspects of RTU diversity suggest that GB assemblages are distinct among ecosystem different land uses and soil conditions (Moraes et al., 2013), namely because: a) litter type and litter depth are important determinants, providing GB hunting and foraging niches, protection from predators, desiccation (Pearce et al., 2003) and providing attachment points for web building (Leclerc and Blandin, 1990); b) coarse woody debris is fundamental as overwintering site and for oviposition and larval development for many GB species (Lövei et al., 2006). For example, cattle trampling in grassland areas contributes to soil compaction, resulting in reduced pathways through the litter layer, hiding surfaces and hunting places. Additionally, reduced vegetation cover affects foraging or maintenance of water balances for GB species (Lövei et al., 2006).

It has also been suggested that the GB fauna may be affected not only by the shrub and herb cover (e.g. impeding its movement but protecting it from predation) (Brose, 2003; Taboada et al., 2008; Koivula et al., 2003) but also by plant diversity (i.e. increasing the availability of food resources) (Koricheva et al., 2000). Both the arboreal characteristics and the structural heterogeneity of the vegetation strongly influences the GB richness (Brose, 2003; Taboada et al., 2008), indicating the

255

importance of scattered trees within agricultural areas and late successional vegetation (Koivula et al., 2002; Magura et al., 2005). The GB richness observed in forest areas and/ or mature succession (NV/MS) could also be associated with the availability of niches and food resources. On the other hand, disturbed areas support mostly generalist and tolerant RTU (Kašák et al., 2017). In fact the distribution of GB along different environmental characteristics seems to demonstrate discrete associations with particular biotypes within the landscape (Silva and Hernández, 2016; Cajaiba et al., 2017a). Corroborating other studies, our results suggest that species richness and abundance (and also RTU richness, abundance and biomass) are negatively impacted by disturbed ecosystems (Taboada et al., 2008) especially those without tree canopy cover.

Neotropical Ground Beetles as ecological indicators of anthropogenic disturbances

The increasing human population in tropical areas implies that threats to biodiversity will be more vulnerable to ecosystem changes, which implies that effective sustainable management will be necessary to protect the tropical biodiversity against anthropogenic disturbances (Hulme, 2006). For this reason, effective sustainable management requires a detailed understanding of the complex relationships between disturbance levels and biodiversity response trends (Hulme, 2006). Thus, the use of GB metrics as ecological indicators to evaluate the effects of anthropogenic and natural disturbances in forests has been suggested as an important and reliable tool for defining sustainable forest management (Lindenmayer et al. 2000; Work et al., 2008). In fact, policy objectives have emphasized the use of species that are vulnerable or in other ways sensitive to changing forest conditions as ecological indicators (Work et al., 2008) and the use of GB as promising ecological indicators has been supported by several studies (Niemelä et al., 2000; Larsen et al., 2003; Rainio and Niemelä, 2003; Silva et al., 2008; Work et al. 2008; Riley and Browne, 2011).

From our results, the IndVal signals indicator RTU for pristine and/or altered ecosystems was sensitive to the associated changes and might help the management decision-making in the scope of Neotropical systems affected by anthropogenic disturbances. In this study *Selenophorus* sp2 stands as good surrogate of disturbed environments, namely in Agriculture (Ag), being positively related to the number of shrub, while *Cymindis* sp2 and *Odontocheila* sp2 were good indicators for pasture areas (Pa), being positively related to the variables temperature and bare soil, respectively. On the other hand, *B. creptans* are indicators of native vegetation (NV) and *Calossoma sp1* was also associated with NV + MS (Mature secondary) correlated negatively with dry areas, as identified By PCA / CCA. This relatively high number of indicators for the use and management of forests for the region under study, indicating that several forest-dependent species disappear if the forests were completely transformed into an agricultural landscape (e.g. Pa or Ag).

Perspectives and challenges on using Neotropical Ground Beetles metrics for environmental management of forest landscapes

The conservation of biological diversity has become one of the important goals of managing forests in an ecologically sustainable way (Cajaiba et al, 2017b). Ecologists and forest resource managers need measures to judge the success or failure of management regimes designed to mitigate the biological diversity losses (Lindenmayer et al., 2000). Therefore, the use of ecological indicators for the monitoring of environmental change/recovery becomes crucial. The use of GB represent several other environmental prevailing characteristics that have justified their relevance as ecological indicators, namely because they are influenced by temperature, moisture and shade (Thiele, 1977), food quality and abundance (Bilde et al., 2000; Bohan et al., 2001), habitat structure as reflected by the vegetation cover (Brose, 2003; Taboada et al., 2008), and substrate salts, sugars and acidity (Merivee et al., 2006; Milius et al., 2006) (see complete review in Koivula, 2011). Such studies demonstrated that, despite the different GB species pool of particular regions, the general patterns of their functional responses to anthropogenic disturbances were very similar (Niemelä et al., 2000). This suggested the possibility of using GB universally to monitor changes in terrestrial habitats (Eyre et al., 1990).

Three factors not mutually exclusive, associated with the alteration of the pristine ecosystems of the Amazon rainforest, may be responsible for different trends in diversity of RTU observed in the studied ecosystems (Cajaiba et al., 2017a): 1) the ability of some RTU in colonizing disturbed areas; 2) distinct ecological and ecophysiological tolerances of the RTU in relation to environmental conditions; and 3) dependence of some RTU on specific conditions and resources for reproduction. Thus, an important and urgent task is to find the GB diversity hotspots in in the Amazon forest, to ensure their conservation and to manage the surroundings in the most favourable way in order to allow their populations to survive and to spread (Warnaffe and Lebrun, 2004). Despite the proved ecological relevance of GB, problems in species identification and the lack of systematic natural history studies might originate constraints for their practical use as surrogates in routine ecological studies (Freitas et al., 2006). However, in our study most of the RTU were only identified until the level

of morphospecies (Maveety et al., 2011). We realize that this is a simplified, preliminary and demonstrative approach although we believe that RTU classification represents a reasonable trade-off between absolute taxonomic accuracy (which may take many years to achieve) and the ecological functional representativeness, necessary to ensure the applicability of GB diversity estimates for comparative analysis between different ecosystems (Maveety et al., 2014). In fact taxonomic surrogacy approaches have been developed to meet the short-term needs of providing scientific advice for resource managers and policy makers, reducing the time, costs and dependence on specialist taxonomists (Krell, 2004). Our work should be complemented by ecological and behavioural studies to understand and assess the ecological status and conservation priorities of the ecosystems considered (Brown, 1997). Anyway, the responses to anthropogenic disturbances found with non-specific sampling methods are applicable per se, and should be improved in further studies with standardized methods for this group (Uehara-Prado et al., 2009). Since for hyperdiverse groups, such as Carabidae, it is difficult to obtain the complete inventory of the species that inhabit in a given area, ecological assessment and monitoring based on indicators at the community level are important procedures to address effective management of ecosystems and natural resources. Therefore, the use of holistic ecosystem indicators is considered crucial to measure and evaluate the ecological status and trends of target components and environmental conditions (Kandziora et al., 2013; Cajaiba et al., 2017a).

Conclusions

Our approach represents a useful contribution to understand the relevance of key GB responses through a representative gradient of the structural and functional LUCC dynamics under very complex and variable regional conditions. In fact, the present results indicate that pristine ecosystems are fundamental for conservation purposes, holding higher diversity and exclusive GB whose response was proved to be a reliable surrogate of other taxa as shown by Desender et al. (1999). Therefore, GB used as ecological indicators could gauge conservation actions, considering its ability to represent the overall community (Koivula et al., 2002; Niemelä et al., 2007). Nevertheless, since ecological integrity of the studied ecosystems can be only partly assessed by GB indicators, our results should be complemented with the information from other indicators, interactions and interferences (such as the specific agricultural practices disturbance) with precise applicability conditions. Despite the limitations inherent to a preliminary demonstration, the methodology proposed is applicable to other type of ecosystems affected by gradients of changes. In this perspective, this study seems to represent a useful contribution for the holistic understanding of the GB community role as surrogate of other taxa responses in this region. Moreover, this approach also provides a useful starting point, allowing the precise development of more instructive protocols for environmental managers and decision-makers, based on the potential added-value of our combined metrics approach, namely in order (1) to anticipate the impacts induced by anthropogenic pressures that will characterize most of this region in the future, and (2) to provide guidance for pertinent forest restoration strategies until the effects of diverse disturbances and regime shifts in the Amazonia are reasonably understood (Cobb et al., 2007; Cajaiba et al., 2017b).

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank SEMMA/ Uruará for logistics support. We also thank the Lucas Paixão, Edielson Mendes, Ediones Santos and Sidicley Santos for assistance in the field works. This work is supported by: European Investment Funds by FEDER/COMPETE/POCI–Operational Competitiveness and Internationalization Program, under Project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006958 and National Funds by FCT - Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, under the project UID/AGR/04033/2013

References

- Anderson, M.J., 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral. Ecol. 26, 32–46.
- Baselga, A., 2010. Partitioning the turnover and nestedness components of beta diversity. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 19, 134–143.
- Baselga, A., Orme, D., Villeger, S., De Bortoli, J., Leprieur, F., 2017. Package
 'betapart': Partitioning Beta Diversity into Turnover and Nestedness Components.
 R package version 1.4-1.<">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=betapart>.
- Berenguer, E., Gardner, T.A., Ferreira, J., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Camargo, P.B., Cerri,
 C.E., Durigan, M., Oliveira Junior, R.C., Vieira, I.C.G., Barlow, J., 2015.
 Developing Cost-Effective Field Assessments of Carbon Stocks in HumanModified Tropical Forests. PLoS One 10, e0133139.
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J., Davies, Z.G., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. Ecol. Indic. 43, 154–161.
- Bilde, T., Axelsen, J.A., Toft, S., 2000. The value of Collembola from agricultural soils as food for a generalist predator. J. Appl. Ecol. 37, 672–683.
- Bohan, D.A., Boursault, A., Brooks, D.R., Petit, S., 2011. National-scale regulation of the weed seedbank by carabid predators. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 888–898.
- Brose, U., 2003. Bottom-up control of carabid beetle communities in early successional wetlands: mediated by vegetation structure or plant diversity? Oecol. 135, 407–413.

- Brown, K.S., 1997. Diversity, disturbance, and sustainable use of Neotropical forests: Insects as indicators for conservation monitoring. J. Insect Conserv. 1, 25–42.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2015b. A minimal invasive method to forecast the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on tropical cave beetle communities. Neotrop. Entomol. 4, 1–9.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Périco, E., Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2015a. Beetles: Biodiversity, ecology and role in the environment. In: Stack, C. (Ed). Assessing the potential role of Ground Beetles (Coleoptera) as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems: A review. New York: Nova Science Publishers, pp. 51-84.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Périco, E., Caron, E., Dalzochio, M.S., Silva, Wully, B., Santos, M., 2017b. Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using Rove Beetles? A case study in the Brazilian Amazon. For. Ecol. Manag. 405, 319–327.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Périco, E., Dalzochio, M.S., Silva, W.B., Bastos, R., Cabral, J.A., Santos, M., 2017a. Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon? Ecol. Indic. 74, 285–294.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Silva, W.B., 2015. Abundância e Diversidade de Coleópteros de Solo em Fragmentos de Capoeira ao Entorno da Zona Urbana do Município de Uruará-PA, Brasil. EntomoBrasilis, 8, 30–37.
- Cajaiba, R.L., Silva, W.B., 2017. Diversidade e sazonalidade de Cydnidae (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera) em diferentes ecossistemas no estado do Pará, norte do Brasil. R. Bras. Bioci. 15, 32–37.

- Campos, R.C., Hernández, M.I.M., 2015. Changes in the dynamics of functional groups in communities of dung beetles in Atlantic forest fragments adjacent to transgenic maize crops. Ecol. Indic. 49, 216–227.
- Cobb, T.P., Langor, D.W. Spence, J.R., 2007. Biodiversity and multiple disturbances: boreal forest ground beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae) responses to wildfire, harvesting, and herbicide. Can. J. For. Res. 37: 1310–1323.
- Colwell, R. K. 2013. EstimateS: Statistical estimation of species richness and shared species from samples. Version 9. User's Guide and application published at: http://purl.oclc.org/estimates.
- Dale, V.H., Beyeler, S.C., 2001. Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. Ecol. Indic. 1, 3–10.
- Davis, A.J., Holloway, J.D., Huijbregts, H., Krikken, J., Kirk-Spriggs, A.H., Sutton, S.L., 2001. Dung beetles as indicators of change in the forests of northern Borneo. J. Appl. Ecol. 38, 593–616.
- De Caceres, M., Jansen, F., 2015. Package 'indicspecies'. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=indicspecies>
- Desender, K., Ervynck, A., Tack, G., 1999. Beetle diversity and historical ecology of woodlands in Flanders. Belg. J. Zool. 129, 139–155.
- Dufrêne, M., Legendre, P., 1997. Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol. Monogr. 67, 345–366.
- Escobar, F., 2004. Diversity and composition of dung beetle (Scarabaeinae) assemblages in a heterogeneous Andean landscape. Trop. Zool. 17, 123–136.
- Eyre, M.D., Luff, M.L., 1990. A preliminary classification of European grassland habitats using carabid beetles. In: Stork NE (Ed) The role of ground beetles in

ecological and environmental studies. Intercept, Andover, Hampshire, UK, 227–236.

- Felton, A., Felton, A.M., Wood, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2006. Vegetation structure,phenology, and regeneration in the natural and anthropogenic tree-fall gaps of a reduced-impact logged subtropical Bolivian forest. For. Ecol. Manag. 235,186–193.
- Freitas, A.V.L., Leal, I., Uehara-Prado, M., Iannuzzi, L., 2006. Insetos como indicadores de conservação da paisagem. In Rocha, C.F.D., Van Sluys, M., Bergallo, H.G., Alves, M.A.S. (Org.) Biologia da Conservação (pp. 357-385). São Carlos, Rima Editora.
- Fujita, A., Maeto, K., Kagawa, Y., Ito, N., 2008. Effects of forest fragmentation on species richness and composition of ground Beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae and Brachinidae) in urban landscapes. Entomol. Scien. 11, 39–48.
- Gardner, T.A., 2010. Monitoring Forest Biodiversity: Improving Conservation Through Ecologically-Responsible Management. Earthscan Publications Ltd., London, UK.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Lewis, O.T., Memmott, J., 1999. Studying insect diversity in the tropics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 354, 1811–1824.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D. 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol. Electron. 4, 9pp.
- Holland, J.M., 2002. The agroecology of carabid beetles. Intercept, UK.
- Hulme, P.E., 2006. Beyond control: wider implications for the management of biological invasions. J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 835–847.

- Kandziora, M., Burkhard, B., Müller, F., 2013. Interactions of ecosystem properties, ecosystem integrity and ecosystem service indicators - a theoretical matrix exercise. Ecol. Indic. 28, 54–78.
- Kašák, J., Foit, J., Hučín, M., 2017. Succession of ground beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae) communities after windthrow disturbance in a montane Norway spruce forest in the Hrubý Jeseník Mts. (Czech Republic). Cent. Eur. For. J. 63, 180–187.
- Kim, D., Sexton, J.O., Townshend, J.R., 2015. Accelerated deforestation in the humid tropics from the 1990s to the 2000s. Geophys. Res. Lett. 42, 3495–3501.
- Koivula, M., 2002. Alternative harvesting methods and boreal carabid beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae). For. Ecol. Manag. 167, 103–121.
- Koivula, M., Kotze, D., Hiisivuori, L., Rita, H., 2003. Pitfall trap efficiency: do trap size, collecting fluid and vegetation structure matter? Entomol. Fenn. 14, 1–14.
- Koivula, M., Kukkonen, J., Niemelä, J., 2002. Boreal carabid-beetle (Coleoptera, Carabidae) assemblages along the clear-cut originated succession gradient. Biodiver. Conserv. 11, 1269–1288.
- Koivula, M.J., 2011. Useful model organisms, indicators, or both? Ground beetles
 (Coleoptera, Carabidae) reflecting environmental conditions. Zookeys 100, 287– 317.
- Koricheva, J., Mulder, C.P., Schmid, B., Joshi, J., Huss-Danell, K., 2000. Numerical responses of different trophic groups of invertebrates to manipulations of plant diversity in grasslands. Oecol. 125, 271–282.
- Kotze, D.J., Brandmayr, P., Casale, A., 2011. Forty years of carabid beetle research in Europe - from taxonomy, biology, ecology and population studies to bioindication, habit.at assessment and conservation. Zookeys 100, 55–148.

- Krell, F.T., 2004. Parataxonomy vs. taxonomy in biodiversity studies–pitfalls and applicability of 'morphospecies' sorting. Biodiver. Conserv. 13, 795–812.
- Larsen, K.J., Work, T.T., Purrington, F.F., 2003. Habitat use patterns by ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) of northeastern Iowa. Pedobologia 11, 288–299.
- Leclerc, J., Blandin, P., 1990. Patch size, fine-scale cooccurrence and competition in forest litter linyphilds. Acta Zool. Fenn. 190, 239–242.
- Liberal, C.N., Farias, M.I., Meiado, M.V., Filgueiras, B.K.C., Iannuzzi, L., 2011. How Habitat Change and Rainfall Affect Dung Beetle Diversity in Caatinga, a Brazilian Semi-Arid Ecosystem. J. Insect Science 11, 1–11.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Margules, C.R., Botkin, D.B., 2000. Indicators of biodiversity for ecologically sustainable forest management. Conserv. Biol. 14, 941–950.
- Lövei, G.L., Magura, T., Tóthmérész, B., Ködöböcz, V., 2006. The influence of matrix and edges on species richness patterns of ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in habitat islands. Global Ecol. Biogeogr. 15, 283–289.
- Magura, T., Tothmeresz, B., Elek, Z., 2005. Impacts of leaf-litter addition on carabids in a coniferous plantation. Biodivers. Conserv. 14, 475–491.
- Maveety, S.A., Browne, R.A., Erwin, T., 2014. Carabid beetle diversity and community composition as related to altitude and seasonality in Andean forests. Stud. Neotrop. Fauna E. 48, 165–174.
- Maveety, S.A., Browne, R.A., Erwin, T.L., 2011. Carabidae diversity along an altitudinal gradient in a Peruvian cloud forest (Coleoptera). Zookeys 147, 651–666.
- Medri, I.M., Lopes, J., 2001. Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) do Parque Estadual Mata dos
 Godoy e de área de pastagem, no norte do Paraná, Brasil. Rev. Bras. Zool. 18, 135–
 141.

- Merivee, E., Must, A., Milius, M., Luik, A., 2006, External stimuli in searching for favourable habitat, overwintering sites and refugia of ground beetles: a short review. Agron. Resear. 4, 299–302.
- Milius, M., Merivee, E., Williams, I., Luika, A., Mända, M., Must, A., 2006. A new method for electrophysiological identification of antennal pH receptor cells in ground beetles: the example of Pterostichus aethiops (Panzer, 1796) (Coleoptera, Carabidae). J. Insect Physiol. 52, 960–967.
- Moraes, R.M., Mendonça Jr, M.S., Ott, R., 2013. Carabid beetle assemblages in three environments in the *Araucaria* humid forest of Southern Brazil. Rev. Bras. Entomol. 57, 67–74.
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461–1474.
- Niemelä, J.K., Koivula, M., Kotze, D.J., 2007. The effects of forestry on carabid beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in boreal forests. J. Insect Conserv. 11, 5–18.
- Niemelä, J.K., Kotze, J., Ashworth, A., Brandmayr, P., Desender, K., New, T., Penev,L., Samways, M., Spence, J.R., 2000. The search for common anthropogenic impacts on biodiversity global network. J. Insect Conserv. 4, 3–9.
- Nitzu, E., Nae, A., Popa, I., 2008. The fauna of soil beetles (Edaphic Coleoptera) as a sensitive indicator of evolution and conservation of ecosystems. A study on the altitudinal gradient in the Rodnei Mountains Biosphere Reserve (the Carpathians). Monographs 12, 405–416.
- O'Hara, R.B., 2005. Species richness estimators: how many species can dance on the head of a pin. J. Anim. Ecol. 74, 375–386.

- Pearce, J.L., Venier, L.A., McKee, J., Pedlar, J., Mckenney, D., 2003. Influence of habitat and microhabitat on Carabid (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages in four stand types. Can. Entomol. 135, 337–357.
- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L., McMahon, T.A., 2007. Updated world map of the Koppen-Geiger climate classification. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sc. 11, 1633–1644.
- Qodri, A., Raffiudin, R., Noerdjito, W.A., 2016. Diversity and Abundance of Carabidae and Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) in Four Montane Habitat Types on Mt. Bawakaraeng, South Sulawesi. Hayati J. Biosc. 23, 22–28.
- Rainio, J., Niemelä, J., 2003. Ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) as bioindicators.Biodivers. Conserv. 12, 487–506.
- Ribera, I., Foster, G., Downie, I., McCracken, D., Abernethy, V., 1999. A comparative study of the morphology and life traits of Scottish ground beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae). Ann. Zool. Fenn. 36, 21–37.
- Riley, K.N., Browne, R.A., 2011. Changes in ground beetle diversity and community composition in age structured forests (Coleoptera, Carabidae). ZooKeys 147, 601– 621.
- Samu, F., Kadar, F., Onodi, G., Kertesz, M., Sziranyi, A., Szita, E., Fetyko, K., Botos, E., Altbacker, V., 2010. Differential ecological responses of two generalist arthropod groups, spiders and carabid beetles (Araneae, Carabidae), to the effects of wildfire. Comm. Ecol. 11, 129–139.
- Schroth, G., Harvey, C.A., 2007. Biodiversity conservation in cocoa production landscapes: an overview. Biodivers. Conserv. 6, 2237–2244.

- Silva, P.G., Hernández, M.M., 2016. Spatial variation of dung beetle assemblages associated with forest structure in remnants of southern Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Rev. Brasil. Entomol. 60, 73–81.
- Silva, P.M., Aguiar, C.A.S., Niemelä, J., Souza, J.P., Serrano, A., 2008. Diversity patterns of ground-beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) along a gradient of land-use disturbance. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 124, 270–274.
- Sokal, R.R., Rohlf, F.J., Biometry, W.H., 1995. Biometry The Principles and Practice of Statistics in Biological Research. Freeman and company.
- Taboada, A., Kotze, J., Tárrega, R., Salgado, J.M., 2008. Carabids of different-aged reforested pinewoods in a historically modified landscape: do they approach natural forests? Basic Appl. Ecol. 9, 161–171.
- Thiele, H.U., 1977. Carabid beetles in their environments: a study on habitat selection by adaptations in physiology and behavior. Springer, Berlin.
- Titeux, N., Henle, K., Mihoub, J.-B., Regos, A.N., Geijzendorffer, I.R., Cramer, W., Verburg, P.H., Brotons, L., 2016. Biodiversity scenarios neglect future land-use changes. Glob. Change Biol., 22, 2505–2515.
- Turner, B.L.I., Lambin, E.F., Reenberg, A., 2007. The emergence of land change sciencefor global environmental change and sustainability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 20666–20671.
- Uehara-Prado, M., Fernandes, J.O., Bello, A., Machado, G., Santos, A., Vaz-de-Mello, F., Freitas, A., 2009. Selecting terrestrial arthropods of indicators of small-scale disturbance: A first approach in the Brazillian Atlantic Forest. Biol. Conserv. 142, 1220–1228.

- Viegas, G., Stenert, C., Schulz, U.H., Maltchik, L., 2014. Dung beetle communities as biological indicators of riparian forest widths in southern Brazil. Ecol. Indic. 36, 703–710.
- Warnaffe, G.B., Lebrun, P., 2004. Effects of forest management on carabid beetles in Belgium: implications for biodiversity conservation. Biol. Conserv. 118, 219–234.
- Work, T., Koivula, M., Klimaszewski, J., Langor, D., Spence, J., Sweeney, J., Hébert,C., 2008. Evaluation of carabid beetles as indicators of forest change in Canadá.Can. Entomol. 140, 393–414.
- Zou, Y., Sang, W., Wang, S., Warren-Thomas, E., Liu, Y., Yu, Z., Wang, Z., Axmacher, J.C., 2015. Diversity patterns of ground beetles and understory vegetation in mature, secondary, and plantation forest regions of temperate northern China. Ecol. Evol. 5, 531–542.

Supplementary material

Table S1. Ecosystems surveyed, number of sampled areas, number of traps per sampled area, sampling repetitions and the total number of traps by ecosystem. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Mature secondary succession (15 years of regeneration); ES = Early secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture.

| Ecosystem | N° sampled | Number of pitfalls | Repetitions (periods of | Total traps / |
|-------------|---------------|--------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------|
| sampled | areas | by sampled area | the year) | ecosystem |
| | | | | |
| NV | 2 | 28 | 3 | 168 (2 x 28 x 3) |
| | _ | | | |
| MS | 2 | 28 | 3 | 168 (2 x 28 x 3) |
| FO | 2 | 20 | 2 | 1(0)(0) 00 (0) |
| ES | 2 | 28 | 3 | 168 (2 x 28 x 3) |
| Δα | r | 28 | 3 | $168(2 \times 28 \times 3)$ |
| Ag | 2 | 20 | 5 | 108 (2 X 28 X 3) |
| Pa | 2 | 28 | 3 | $168 (2 \times 28 \times 3)$ |
| . u | - | 20 | 5 | 100 (2 A 20 A 3) |
| Total numbe | r of pitfalls | | | 840 (168 x 5) |
| | L | | | · · · · · |

| Code | Variables | Specification | Monitoring Methodology |
|-------|------------------|---------------------------------------|--|
| Т | Temperature | Celsius (°C) | Measured during the traps installation and |
| | | | removal with a portable weather station |
| | | | (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). |
| Н | Humidity | Humidity (%) | Measured during the traps installation and |
| | | | removal with a portable weather station |
| р | Dessinitation | Draginitation | (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A). |
| P | Precipitation | (mm) | removed with a portable weather station |
| | | (11111) | (model Oregon Scientific WMR200A) |
| CBH | Circumference | Centimeters (cm) | Trunk diameter was taken at breast height |
| CDII | at Breast Height | continuetoris (enii) | (1.3 m) for the trees. |
| CAH | Circumference | Centimeters (cm) | The diameter was measured at the ankle |
| | at Ankle Height | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | height (CAH = 0.1 m) for the shrubs. |
| CC | Canopy Cover | Percentage (%) | Calculated with a convex spherical |
| | | | densiometer (D) Lemmon and assigned the |
| | | | following classes: 0-5%, 6-25%, 26-50%, |
| | D . 1 | | 51–75%, 76–95% and 96–100% |
| RP | Richness of | Number of Plant | The number of tree species was counted in $\int 100 e^{-2} (10 - 10) e^{-1}$ |
| | Plant Species | Species/m ² | an area of 100 m^2 (10 x 10 m) in the |
| ΔΡ | Abundance of | Number of Plants/ | The number of tree was counted in an area |
| 7 11 | Plants | m^2 | of 100 m^2 (10 x 10 m) in the vicinity of |
| | 1 141105 | | each pitfall trap. |
| RS | Richness of | Number of | The number of shrubs species was counted |
| | Shrubs | Species of | in an area of 100 m ² (10 x 10 m) in the |
| | | Shrubs/ m ² | vicinity of each pitfall trap. |
| AS | Abundance of | Number of | The number of shrubs was counted in an |
| | Shrubs | Shrubs/ m ² | area of 100 m2 (10 x 10 m) in the vicinity |
| DEC | | | of each pitfall trap. |
| PES | Percentage of | Percentage $(\%)/m^2$ | The percentage exposed soil in each |
| | Exposed Soli | 111 | percentage classes (0.5, 6.25, 26, 50, 51, 75 |
| | | | 76-95 96-100%) |
| PGC | Percentage of | Percentage (%)/ | The percentage green cover (vegetation up |
| | Green | m^2 | to 1 m height) in each quadrant was |
| | (vegetation) | | estimated in different percentage classes (0- |
| | Cover | | 5, 6-25, 26-50, 51-75, 76-95, 96-100%) |
| PLC | Percentages of | Percentage (%) | The percentage of litter in each quadrant |
| | Leaf Litter | | was estimated in different percentage |
| | Cover | | classes (0-5, 6-25, 26-50, 51-75, 76-95, 96- |
| 111 1 | | Continuetors (com) | 100%). |
| HLL | Littor | Centimeters (cm) | Litter neight was measured using a ruler at |
| | | | corner and in the center) |
| | | | |

Table S2. Specification of the methodology used for monitoring the environmental variables.

Table S3. Abundance of the different recognizable taxonomic unit (RTU) of Carabidae in the ecosystems monitored in the Brazilian Amazon. NV = Native Vegetation; MS = Mature secondary succession (15 years of regeneration); ES = Early secondary succession (5 years of regeneration); Ag = Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa = Pasture.

| Code | RTU | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Pa | Total |
|------|---------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-------|
| Psp1 | Pelecium sp1 | 65 | 14 | 0 | 24 | 32 | 130 |
| Psp2 | Pelecium sp2 | 5 | 37 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 42 |
| Asp1 | Athrostictus sp1 | 34 | 7 | 24 | 0 | 90 | 155 |
| Asp2 | Athrostictus sp2 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 30 | 0 | 37 |
| Csp1 | Cymindis sp1 | 38 | 4 | 14 | 4 | 12 | 72 |
| Csp1 | Cymindis sp2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 38 | 42 |
| Psp1 | Pterostichus sp1 | 64 | 30 | 0 | 24 | 24 | 142 |
| Psp2 | Pterostichus sp2 | 28 | 11 | 3 | 12 | 19 | 73 |
| Bcre | Brachynus creptans | 42 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 47 |
| Asp1 | Amara sp1 | 39 | 19 | 2 | 21 | 0 | 81 |
| Asp2 | Amara sp2 | 4 | 0 | 6 | 23 | 0 | 33 |
| Lsp1 | Laemostenus sp1 | 4 | 14 | 0 | 13 | 0 | 31 |
| Lsp2 | Laemostenus sp2 | 16 | 20 | 3 | 5 | 0 | 44 |
| Ssp1 | Selenophorus sp1 | 42 | 22 | 12 | 9 | 0 | 85 |
| Ssp2 | Selenophorus sp2 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 31 | 0 | 35 |
| Ssp3 | Selenophorus sp3 | 32 | 20 | 3 | 15 | 0 | 70 |
| Hsqu | Helluomorphoides squiresi | 10 | 0 | 12 | 3 | 0 | 25 |
| Lsp1 | Lebiini sp1 | 17 | 7 | 0 | 21 | 0 | 45 |
| Lsp2 | Lebiini sp2 | 13 | 5 | 1 | 3 | 0 | 22 |
| Pts1 | Pterostichini sp1 | 35 | 1 | 35 | 63 | 17 | 151 |
| Pts2 | Pterostichini sp2 | 0 | 13 | 0 | 39 | 0 | 52 |
| Pts3 | Pterostichini sp3 | 24 | 22 | 4 | 30 | 0 | 80 |
| Los1 | Loxandrus sp1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 39 | 0 | 39 |
| Gsp1 | Galerita sp1 | 76 | 42 | 13 | 47 | 1 | 179 |
| Osp1 | Odontocheila sp1 | 31 | 28 | 35 | 70 | 21 | 185 |
| Osp2 | Odontocheila sp2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 42 | 42 |
| Tsp1 | Tetracha sp1 | 14 | 5 | 0 | 35 | 8 | 62 |
| Tsp2 | Tetracha sp2 | 9 | 8 | 3 | 3 | 2 | 25 |
| Cas1 | Calosoma sp1 | 56 | 16 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 72 |
| Cas2 | Calossoma sp2 | 48 | 36 | 10 | 2 | 0 | 54 |
| Crs1 | Carabus sp1 | 51 | 27 | 10 | 8 | 0 | 96 |
| Crs2 | Carabus sp2 | 0 | 21 | 13 | 20 | 8 | 28 |
| Crs3 | Carabus sp3 | 54 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 102 |
| | Abundance (N) | 859 | 414 | 201 | 590 | 314 | - |
| | Richness (S) | 29 | 25 | 18 | 26 | 13 | - |

| Estimators | Number of species | Standard deviation |
|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| Observed richness | 33 | ±0.71 |
| Bootstrap | 34.58 | ± 0.00 |
| Chao 1 | 33 | ± 0.00 |
| Chao 2 | 33.51 | ± 0.95 |
| Jackknife 1 | 35.40 | ± 0.98 |
| Jackknife 2 | 34.05 | ± 0.00 |
| ACE | 33 | ± 0.00 |
| ICE | 34.2 | ± 0.00 |

Table S4a. Average estimates of richness of Ground beetles (GB) recognizable taxonomic units (RTU).

Table S4b. Observed and estimated (with standard deviation) richness of RTU for the sites sampled. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Mature Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with 5 years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture; Pa, Pasture.

| Estimators | | | Sites | | |
|-------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Listimutors | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Ра |
| Observed richness | 29 | 25 | 18 | 26 | 13 |
| Bootstrap | 30.25 ± 0.00 | 26.81±0.00 | 21.14±00 | 27.85 ± 0.00 | 15.00 ± 0.00 |
| Chao 1 | 29.00±0.24 | 25.66 ± 1.07 | 18.00 ± 0.24 | 26.00±0.53 | 14.00 ± 0.16 |
| Chao 2 | 30.33±2.03 | 26.01±0.11 | 23.00 ± 4.42 | 26.60 ± 0.98 | 15.50 ± 2.95 |
| Jackknife 1 | 31.66±0.66 | 28.33±0.66 | 24.66±3.71 | 28.33±2.40 | 18.00 ± 1.15 |
| Jackknife 2 | 31.85 ± 0.00 | 28.50 ± 0.00 | 26.16±00 | 27.31±00 | 18.05 ± 0.00 |
| ACE | 29.00 ± 0.00 | 25.00 ± 0.00 | 18.42 ± 0.00 | 26.00 ± 0.00 | 14.75 ± 0.00 |
| ICE | 31.00±0.00 | 28.01±0.00 | 24.15±0.00 | 28.15±0.00 | 17.57 ± 0.00 |

Table S5a. β -diversity (total beta, β sor) comparing the composition of RTU between the studied habitats. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

| | NV | MS | ES | Ag |
|----|------|------|------|------|
| MS | 0.11 | - | - | - |
| ES | 0.21 | 0.26 | - | - |
| Ag | 0.16 | 0.22 | 0.27 | - |
| Pa | 0.52 | 0.38 | 0.44 | 0.40 |

Table S5b. The turnover (β sim) and nestedness (β nes) components for each ecosystem pairwise comparisons. The (β sim) results are depicted in the dashed part of the table and (β nes) results are depicted without highlight. NV, Native vegetation; MS, Maturing Secondary succession (vegetation with 15 years of regeneration); ES, Early Secondary succession (vegetation with five years of regeneration); Ag, Agriculture (Cocoa); Pa, Pasture.

| | NV | MS | ES | Ag | Ра |
|----|------|------|------|------|------|
| NV | | 0.04 | 0.00 | 0.12 | 0.22 |
| MS | 0.07 | | 0.11 | 0.20 | 0.14 |
| ES | 0.21 | 0.14 | | 0.11 | 0.36 |
| Ag | 0.05 | 0.02 | 0.16 | | 0.14 |
| Pa | 0.39 | 0.24 | 0.08 | 0.26 | |

Table S6. Eingenvalues of the Principal Components Analysis (PCA) for the first four axes. T. Temperature; H. Humidity; P. Precipitation; CBH. Circumference at Breast Height; CAH. Circumference at Ankle Height; CC. Canopy Cover-CC; RP. Richness of Plants; AP. Abundance of Plants; RS. Richness of Shrubs; AS. Abundance of Shrubs; PES. Percentage of Exposed Soil; PGC. Percentage of Green (vegetation) Cover; PLC. Percentages of Leaf Litter Cover; HLL. Height of Leaf Litter.

| Variables | | Compo | nents | |
|-----------|-------------|---------|---------|---------|
| variables | PC 1 | PC 2 | PC 3 | PC 4 |
| Т | -0.0063 | -0.0126 | -0.0174 | -0.0056 |
| Н | 0.0486 | 0.1046 | 0.0561 | -0.0435 |
| Р | 0.0168 | 0.9938 | -0.0099 | 0.0043 |
| CBH | 0.7763 | -0.0193 | -0.4947 | 0.3663 |
| CAH | 0.0147 | -0.0005 | -0.0029 | 0.0008 |
| CC | 0.1730 | -0.0030 | 0.4348 | 0.3564 |
| RP | 0.5401 | -0.0148 | 0.3173 | -0.6257 |
| HLL | 0.0066 | -0.0014 | 0.0198 | 0.0402 |
| PLC | 0.1178 | 0.0014 | 0.5961 | -0.5072 |
| PGC | 0.1256 | 0.0223 | 0.0464 | -0.1284 |
| PES | -0.0162 | 0.0036 | -0.0331 | -0.0835 |
| NP | 0.2061 | -0.0061 | 0.2776 | -0.2493 |
| AS | 0.0025 | 0.0010 | 0.1593 | -0.0235 |
| RS | 0.0139 | -0.0002 | 0.0204 | 0.0073 |

Chapter 10

Synthesis and recommendations

The main objective of this thesis was to demonstrate the applicability of Coleoptera, namely the use of Scarabaeidae, Carabidae, Staphylinidae, Histeridae and Scolytinae (Curculionidae) families in ecological monitoring studies to evaluate how anthropogenic modification on netropical forest ecosystems influences the composition, abundance, richness and diversity of these beetles, supporting their use as possible environmental indicators. In general, the chapters demonstrate that Coleoptera can be used to successfully predict the environmental condition of the dominant habitats/ecosystems in the studied region. Therefore, they are considered a stepsupporting decision-making and possibly robust forward in ecosystem management/recovery in the context of the need for quick, standardized, and costeffective assessment methodologies (LANGE et al., 2014; NAGY et al., 2016; BEIROZ et al., 2017; FRANÇA et al., 2018).

This last chapter provides a interplay of the main results obtained and groundbreaking associated, not addressing each chapter separately. It also includes recommendations for future studies and gaps to be filled regarding how diversity in communities of beetles can respond to changes in anthropogenic disturbed ecosystems.

General discussion and key findings

Simplification of neotropical forest habitats directly or indirectly results in biodiversity loss and reduction (BRAGA et al., 2015; SÁNCHEZ-DE-JESÚS et al., 2016) due to the change in natural ecological processes and the emergence of new combinations of species, particularly through the transformation, fragmentation and destruction of habitats (ALVARADO et al., 2018). The results of this thesis corroborate the findings of several other studies that demonstrated that the composition and structure of communities of beetles are highly modified in areas changed by human action, including habitat fragmentation and isolation, burning, deforestation, selective logging, pesticides, among others (see associated references in each chapter).

The main outcomes by Coleptera group are highlighted in the following paragraphs:

i. Scarabaeidae beetles (chapters 3, 4 and 5) - Our results showed that: (i) habitats differ in terms of species richness, taxonomic and ecological composition, with each habitat supporting exclusive indicator species; (ii) disturbed habitats (i.e., replacement of native forests by pasture or agriculture) are able to retain a small proportion of species associated with native forests or secondary forests; (iii) specialist forest species withdraw after depletion of pristine habitat (Chapter 3); iv) conserved systems such as primary forest and late secondary vegetation, maintain a greater proportion of tunnelers, rollers and dwellers, the latter being absent in a pasture environments; (v) coprophages and necrophages were more abundant in more prstine environments (Chapter 4); (vi) the rainy season showed greater abundance and richness. However, several species were found exclusively in each of the three sampling periods (rainy season, intermediate and dry season) were encountered (chapter 5).

ii. Histeridae beetles (Chapter 6): The following results were obtained with the use of *Histeridae* beetles as the model of a biological study: (i) less disturbed habitats showed higher values of abundance and richness; (ii) the composition of communities was significantly different between pristine (e.g. primary forest and secondary vegetation) and anthropogenic habitats (agriculture and pasture); (iii) the rainy season showed greater abundance and richness, but each season exclusive species were monitored.

iii. Staphylinidae beetles (Chapter 7): (i) Primary forests were significantly richer and diverse when compared with the other habitats. However, there was no difference between primary forest and agriculture in terms of abundance. On the other hand, pasture presented the highest species dominance; (ii) the composition of the species changed among the different habiats, with higher dissimilarity between more pristine and more anthropogenic environments.

iv. Scolytinae (Curculionidae) beetles (chapter 8): (i) the greatest abundance of Scolytinae was found in environments with greater production of litter (cocoa plantations), and there was no difference in richness between primary forest and cocoa; (ii) there was greater abundance and richness of species in wetter seasons.

v. Carabidae beetles (Chapter 9): Like depicted in the previous groups, (i) primary forest attain the highest values of diversity and richness; (ii) beta diversity partitioning methods showed greater dissimilarity between primary forest and pasture.

As demonstrated in the previous topics, our results suggest a decrease in species richness and abundance of beetles' communities throughout gradients of increased anthopogenic disturbance of the native tropical forests in Amazonia. These anthropogenic disturbances may alter the composition of communities, affecting ecosystem services provided such as the devrease in the decomposition rates of organic materials through burial and removal, desiquilibrium in the food webs by the removal of significant species associated with predation, herbivory and seed dispersal (ARELLANO, 2016; QODRI et al., 2016).

Collection methodologies described here provide an approach to improve the detection and description of the responses of beetles to disturbance and anthropogenic pressures, and facilitate a greater integration of ecological data collection efforts in tropical regions. Although spatially and temporally restricted, the results of this study highlight the attractiveness of several baits to different groups/ species of coleptera (chapter 4). Although the human faeces baits presented greater abundance and richness (chapter 4) we suggest the use of several baits in future works. Traps with bait tend to be selective: if the aim of a specific work is an assessment of the overall community and estimate relative abundances, different baits should be used (RAFAEL, 2002); if the goal of the research is collecting specific species and/or groups (e.g. trophic/functional guilds), specific baits baits should be used (MARCHIORI, 2016).

An important outcome of this thesis was understanding the seasonality of species and communities associated (chapters 5, 6 and 9). Understanding seasonal/temporal patterns of ground-occurring beetles is of interest for several reasons. First, seasonal information can be used to determine optimal sampling periods when studying biodiversity and habitat associations. Second, seasonal information can be used to evaluate potential impacts of non-native fauna (WERNER; RAFFA, 2003; SHAKIR; AHMED, 2015; HILL et al., 2016), which can displace native congeners. Such displacement may be less likely where temporal separation exists (WERNER;

RAFFA, 2003; WANG et al., 2014). Finally, knowing the seasonal / temporal patterns of beetles is fundamental for support decision-making and robust management/ recovery of imperilled ecosystems. Seasonality is an important component of ecosystems that should be taken into consideration in most biodiversity assessments. If the goal of a biodiversity study is to perform a complete inventory of a specific group, decisions concerning where (e.g. altitudinal gradient, location) and how (e.g. collection methods) to optimize the number of species sampled, but also when (e.g. time of year) collections should take place zare quite relevant (MAVEETY et al., 2014).

Challenges and limitations

The realization of faunistic studies in diverse ecosystems such as the Amazonia is extremely challenging. Additionally the logistics associated with remote and vast areas monitoring is also complex and costly. Nevertheless and specifically for this region, several problems should also be considered:

i. Taxonomic challenges: Despite the proved ecological relevance of beetles, problems in species identification and the lack of systematic studies / natural history might originate unsuitability for its use as surrogate /indicator in routine ecological studies (FREITAS et al., 2006; and see also chapter two of this thesis). The lack of taxonomists and even taxonomic keys to identify the specimens collected is a commom problem in this region (and in most neotropics/tropics) and, for several families even to get to the genera level (e.g. Tenebrionidae, Leiodidae, Chelovidae, Nitidulidae, ...). In our study most of the specimes were identified until the level of morphospecies. We realize this is a simplified, preliminary approach although we believe that morphospecies classification represents a reasonable trade-off between absolute taxonomic accuracy (which may take many years to achieve) and comparative estimates of beetles diversity for different ecosystems (MAVEETY et al., 2014). In fact taxonomic surrogacy approaches have been developed to meet the short-term needs of providing scientific advice for resource managers and policy makers, reducing the time, costs and dependence on specialist taxonomists (KRELL, 2004; COTES et al., 2009; HACKMAN et al., 2017).

ii. Challenges of sampling protocols for data comparison: Several studies with invertebrates have methodological limitations that may interfere with the interpretation of results (GARDNER et al., 2007a) and such problems are increasingly recognized in biodiversity studies (HAMER; HILL, 2000; HILL; HAMER, 2004; BARLOW et al., 2007a, b, c; GARDNER et al., 2007b; KOH, 2007; GARDNER et al., 2008). Few experiments carried out in the Amazon region sampled soil beetles using different types of traps at different times of the year. The methodological differences and the absence of scientifically tested and feasible general protocols may simplify complex realities, leading to erroneous results and eventually to erroneous decisions (SILVEIRA et al., 2010). We stress the importance of adequate inventories, suggesting broader discussion of general protocols and standardization of methods, taking into account the particularities of each group. However, more consistent studies are needed to understand the relationship between the beetles and the environment, in order to take more advantage of their use as ecological indicators, applied to environmental monitoring and assessment.

Priorities for future work and recommendations

In addition to providing greater knowledge of the responses of the beetles to environmental changes, this thesis also sheds light on several areas to be addressed in future studies contributing to use coleptera as ecological indicators of disturbance. If this link is clarified, predictions and efforts to mitigate the impact of anthropogenic changes in natural systems will be more assertive. Among others, we consider some priority studies to be undertaken:

i. Expansion of sampling areas: Sampling should also be performed in other parts of the Amazonia (and Amazon). This may support more general conclusions, applycable to larger spatial scales and other neotropical ecosystems/habitat and landscapes.

ii. Elaboration of an identification key for the species that occur in the Amazon biome: Although we are aware of the difficulty of this task because of the vast territorial extension of the area and the megadiversity of the region, partnerships within researchers expertise in specific taxa and protocols of cooperation between partner institutions (universities, research institutes and development agencies) should a priority in future projects and studies.

iii. Expansion of collection methodologies: Future studies should include additional methods of collection (e.g., flight intercept traps, sprinkling, soil sampling at different depths, manual collection on leaf litter and fallen logs), and the permanence of the use of several types of baits (as in our study). Is true, the use of different methodologies will depend on the purpose of the study and the interest group.

iv. Functional diversity analysis: Finally, but not least, we suggest that in future studies, functional diversity and functional traits should be addressed. Functional traits behavioural, physiological, phenological or morphological characteristic are measurable at the individual level (VIOLLE et al., 2007). They form the fundamental building blocks of functional diversity (FD), which is described as the value, range and relative abundance of functional traits in a given ecosystem (DÍAZ; CABIDO, 2001). A functional approach can be justified because there is growing evidence that FD is a better predictor of ecosystem processes than taxonomic diversity (DE BELLO et al., 2010; CLARK et al., 2012; GAGIC et al., 2015). This is likely because not all species contribute equally to all functions i.e. the relationship between taxonomic and functional diversity is not predictable and linear. A functional approach could increase the accuracy with which we link organisms to the ecological processes they govern and thus the accuracy with which we predict the consequences of species losses. In addition, the classification of species according to food guilds (e.g. predators, phytophagous, saprophagous, buffaloes, decomposers, mycophagous, among others) and Nesting guild - for dung beetles (rollers, tunnelers and dwellers) are of fundamental importance for the monitoring of anthropogenic action on tropical biodiversity.

References

ALVARADO, F.; ESCOBAR, F.; WILLIAMS, D.R.; ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V.; ESCOBAR-HERNÁNDEZ, F. The role of livestock intensification and landscape structure in maintaining tropical biodiversity. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 55, p. 185–194, 2018.

ARELLANO, L. A Novel method for measuring dung removal by tunneler dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) in pastures. **The Coleopterists Bulletin**, v. 70, p. 185-188, 2016.

BARLOW, J.; GARDNER, T.A.; ARAUJO, I.S.; ÁVILA-PIRES, T.C.; BONALDO, A.B.; COSTA, J.E.; ESPOSITO, M.C.; FERREIRA, L.V.; HAWES, J.; HERNANDEZ, M.I.M.; HOOGMOED, M.S.; LEITE, R.N.; PERES, C.A. Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary and plantation forests. **Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America**, v. 104, p. 18555-18560, 2007c.

BARLOW, J.; MESTRE, L.A.M.; GARDNER, T.A.; PERES, C.A. The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for Amazonian birds. **Biological Conservation**, v. 126, p. 212-231, 2007a.

BARLOW, J.; OVERAL, W.L.; ARAUJO, I.S.; GARDNER, T.A.; PERES, C.A. The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for fruit-feeding butterflies in the Brazilian Amazon. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 44, p. 1001-1012, 2007b.

BEIROZ, W.; SLADE, E.M.; BARLOW, J.; SILVEIRA, J.M.; LOUZADA, J.; SAYER, E. Dung beetle community dynamics in undisturbed tropical forests: implications for ecological evaluations of land-use change. **Insect Conservation and Diversity**, v. 10, p. 94–106, 2017.

BRAGA, R.F.; KORASAKI, V.; ANDRESEN, E.; LOUZADA, J. Dung Beetle Community and Functions along a Habitat-Disturbance Gradient in the Amazon: A Rapid Assessment of Ecological Functions Associated to Biodiversity. **PLoS ONE**, v. 8, p. e57786, 2013

CLARK, C.M.; FLYNN, D.F.B.; BUTTERFIELD, B.J.; REICH, P.B. Testing the link between functional diversity and ecosystem functioning in a Minnesota grassland experiment. **PLOS ONE**, v. 7, e52821, 2012.

COTES, B.; RUANO, F.; GARCÍA, P.A.; PASCUAL, F.; CAMPOS, M. Coccinellid morphospecies as an alternative method for differentiating management regimes in olive orchards. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 9, 548–555, 2009.

DE BELLO, F.; LAVOREL, S.; DÍAZ, S.; HARRINGTON, R.; CORNELISSEN, J.H.C.; BARDGETT, R.D.; BERG, M.P.; WARDLE, D.A.; HARRISON, P.A. Towards an assessment of multiple ecosystem processes and services via functional traits. **Biodiversity and Conservation**, v. 19, 2873-2893, 2010.

DÍAZ, S.; CABIDO, M. Vive la difference: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes. **Trends in Ecology & Evolution**, v. 16, 646-655, 2001.

FRANÇA, F.; LOUZADA, J.; BARLOW, J. Selective logging effects on 'brown world' faecal-detritus pathway in tropical forests: A case study from Amazonia using dung beetles. **Forest Ecology and Management**, v. 410, p. 136-143, 2018.

FREITAS, A.V.L.; LEAL, I.R.; UEHARA-PRADO, M.; IANNUZZI, L. Insetos como indicadores de conservação da paisagem. In CFD Rocha; M Van Sluys; HG Bergallo; MAS Alves. (Org.). **Biologia da Conservação** (pp. 357-385). São Carlos, Rima Editora. 2006.

GAGIC, V.; BARTOMEUS, I.; JONSSON, T.; STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I.; EMMERSON, M.; POTTS, S.G.; TSCHARNTKE, T.; WEISSER, W.; BOMMARCO, R. Functional identity and diversity of animals predict ecosystem functioning better than species-based indices. **Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences**, v. 282, p. 20142620–20142620, 2015.

GARDNER, T.A.; BARLOW, J.; PARRY, L.T.W.; PERES, C.A. Predicting the uncertain future of tropical forest species in a data vacuum. **Biotropica**, v. 39, p. 25-30, 2007a.

GARDNER, T.A.; HERNÁNDEZ, M.I.M.; BARLOW, J.; PERES, C.A. Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for neotropical dung beetles. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 45, p. 883-893, 2008.

GARDNER, T.A.; RIBEIRO, M.A.; BARLOW, J.; ÁVILA-PIRES, T.A.S.; HOOGMOED, M.; PERES, C.A. The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for a neotropical herpetofauna. **Conservation Biology**, v. 21, p. 775-787, 2007b.

HACKMAN, K.O.; GONG, P.; VENEVSKY, S. A rapid assessment of landscape biodiversity using diversity profiles of arthropod morphospecies. Landscape Ecology, v. 32, p. 209–223, 2017.

HAMER, K.C.; HILL, J.K. Scale-dependent effects of habitat disturbance on species richness in tropical forests. **Conservation Biology**, v. 14, p. 1435-1440, 2000\.

HILL, J.K.; HAMER, K.C. Determining impacts of habitat modification on diversity of tropical forest fauna: the importance of spatial scale. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 41, p. 744-754, 2004.

HILL, M.J.; WOOD, P.J.; SAYER, C.D. When is the best time to sample aquatic macroinvertebrates in ponds for biodiversity assessment? **Environmental Monitoring and Assessment**, v. 188-194, 2016.

KOH, L.P. Impacts of land use change on south-east Asian forest butterflies: a review. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 44, p. 703-713, 2007.

KRELL, F.T. 'Collecting, preserving and research is out!'. **Systematic Entomology**, v. 29, p. 569-570, 2004.

LANGE, M.; TÜRKE, M.; PAŠALIĆ, E.; BOCH, S.; HESSENMÖLLER, D.; MÜLLER, J.; PRATI, D.; SOCHER, S.; FISCHER, M.; WEISSER, W.; GOSSNE, M.M. Effects of forest management on ground-dwelling beetles (Coleoptera; Carabidae, Staphylinidae) in Central Europe are mainly mediated by changes in forest structure. **Forest Ecology and Management**, v. 329, p. 166-176, 2014.

MARCHIORI, C.H. Técnicas de coleta e captura de insetos das ordens Diptera e Hymenoptera coletadas no estado de Goiás. **Biológico**, v. 78, p. 1-5, 2016.

MAVEETY, S.A.; BROWNE, R.A.; ERWIN T. Carabid beetle diversity and community composition as related to altitude and seasonality in Andean forests. **Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment**, v. 48, p. 165-174, 2014.

NAGY, D.; MAGURA, T.; MIZSER, S.; DEBNÁR, Z.; TÓTHMÉRÉSZ, B. Recovery of surface-dwelling assemblages (Coleoptera: Carabidae, Staphylinidae) during clearcut originated reforestation with native tree species. **Periodicum Biologorum**, v. 118, p. 195-203, 2016.

QODRI, A.; WORO, R.R.; NOERDJITO, A. Diversity and Abundance of Carabidae and Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) in Four Montane Habitat Types on Mt. Bawakaraeng, South Sulawesi. **Hayti Journal Bioscience**, v. 23, p. 22-28, 2016.

RAFAEL, J.A. **A amostragem**: Protocolo e técnicas de captura de Diptera. 2th.ed., Zaragoza: PrIBES, p. 301-304, 2002.

SÁNCHEZ-DE-JESÚS, H.A.; ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V.; ANDRESEN, E.; ESCOBAR, F. Forest loss and matrix composition are the major drivers shaping dung beetle assemblages in a fragmented rainforest. **Landscape Ecology**, v. 31, p. 843-854, 2016

SHAKIR, M.M.; AHMED, S. Seasonal abundance of soil arthropods in relation to meteorological and edaphic factors in the agroecosystems of Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan. **International Journal of Biometeorology**, v. 59, p. 605–616, 2015.

SILVEIRA, L.F.; BEISIEGEL, B.M.; CURCIO, F.F.; VALDUJO, P.H.; DIXO, M.; VERDADE, V.K.; MATTOX, G.M.T; CUNNINGHAM, P.T.M. Para que servem os inventários de fauna? **Estudos Avançados**, v. 24, p. 173-207, 2010.

VIOLLE, C.; NAVAS, M.L.; VILE, D.; KAZAKOU, E.; FORTUNEL, C.; HUMMEL, I.; GARNIER, E. Let the concept of trait be functional! **Oikos**, v. 116, p. 882-892, 2007.

WANG, X.; MÜLLER, J.; AN, L.; JI, L.; LIU, Y.; WANG, X.; HAO, Z. Intra-annual variations in abundance and species composition of carabid beetles in a temperate forest in Northeast China. **Journal of Insect Conservation**, v. 18, p. 85-98, 2014.

WERNER, S.M.; RAFFA, K.F. Seasonal activity of adult, ground-occurring beetles (Coleoptera) in forests of northeastern Wisconsin and the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. American Midland Naturalist, v. 149, p. 121-133, 2003.

APPENDICES – OTHER OUTCOMES

List of articles published, in press and / or submitted.

Publication referring to chapter two


In: Beetles: Biodiversity, Ecology and Role in the Environment ISBN: 978-1-63463-380-2 Editor: Camilla Stack © 2015 Nova Science Publishers, Inc.

Chapter 3

ASSESSING THE POTENTIAL ROLE OF GROUND BEETLES (COLEOPTERA) AS ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN TROPICAL ECOSYSTEMS: A REVIEW

Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba^{1,*}, Eduardo Périco², João Alexandre Cabral³ and Mário Santos³

¹Department of Environment-SEMMA, Uruará-PA, Brazil ²Ecology and Remote Sensing, University Center Univates, Lajeado-RS, Brazil ³Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal

Abstract

Emerging concerns with environmental issues has led researchers to look for indicators capable of providing information on the condition of ecosystems. Several animal species have been used for this role. Among these organisms, ground-beetles were found to be appropriate indicators, since they are adapted to all terrestrial habitats, being associated with ecosystem function and sensitive to ongoing changes. Several families of ground beetles, e.g., Carabidae, Cicindelidae, Scarabaeidae, Cerambycidae, Histeridae, Staphylinidae and Curculionidae were used in diverse ecological assessment studies due to its main characteristics, such as habitat fidelity and taxonomic diversity, and because they provide cheap and easy measurements from functionally diverse trophic chains.

Although the growing number of studies on ecological indicators little is known about the ecological patterns in the communities of ground beetles of tropical ecosystems. The present study provides a review on the use of ground beetles as ecological indicators in tropical ecosystems, with focus on the Brazilian Amazon region. We discuss its use for monitoring the effects of anthropogenic induced changes, namely the conversion of forests to agriculture and farming practices, among others on the functioning of tropical systems. We also highlight the major advances and applications employed, as well as proposals for future studies with this group.

^{*} Corresponding author: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com.

Publication referring to chapter three

Ecological Indicators 74 (2017) 285-294



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Ecological Indicators

journal homepage; www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolind

Does the composition of Scarabaeidae (Coleoptera) communities reflect the extent of land use changes in the Brazilian Amazon?



Reinaldo Lucas Cajaiba^{a,c,*}, Eduardo Périco^a, Marina Schmidt Dalzochio^a, Wully Barreto da Silva^b, Rita Bastos^c, João Alexandre Cabral^c, Mário Santos^c

^a University Center Univates, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. Avelino Tallini, 95900-000 Lajeado, RS, Brazil
^b Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfirio, 2515, 68371-040 Alumira, PA, Brazil
^c Laboratory of Applied Ecology, GTAB—Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911 Vila Real, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 28 July 2016 Received in revised form 29 October 2016 Accepted 14 November 2016

Keywards: Landscape heterogeneity Scarabaeidae Brazilian Amazon

Scarab beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) have been used to investigate the effects of environmental disturbances on forest structure and diversity. This group is recognized as sensitive to habitat perturbations and ecosystem changes. Here we examine the effects of anthropogenic impacts on Scarabaeidae composition, testing the following hypotheses: (1) Scarab beetle communities react to land use disturbances with predictable trends, (2) disturbed habitats are able to retain only a part of the Scarab beetle com-munity of native forests or late secondary forests; (3) habitats largely differ in terms of species richness, taxonomic diversity and ecological composition, supporting exclusive and indicator species. We selected areas of native forest, agriculture, pasture for extensive livestock and secondary forests in different stages of regeneration. Our results show that the Scarabaeidae species were not indifferent to the gradient of structural changes represented by the studied areas. In fact, their patterns of habitat preference reveals communities more abundant and diverse in pristine habitats. In contrast, disturbed habitats, dominated by agricultural activities and pasture, indicated clear detrimental effects on the abundance of all forest Scarab beetle specialists. On the other hand, the generalist species, mainly associated with open envi-ronments, seemed to be favoured by the prevailing conditions induced by agricultural activities. Overall, the composition of the Scarab beetle communities is variable and sensitive to those structural gradients and, therefore, capable of responding as useful ecological indicators for assessing the extent of land use change or degradation.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Biología Tropica

Attraction of Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to different baits in the Brazilian Amazon region

Reinaldo L. Cajaiba^{1,3*}, Eduardo Périco¹, Wully B. da Silva² & Mário Santos³

- University Center Univates, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil; reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com, perice@univates.br
- 2. Federal University of Park, R. Cel. José Porfirio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira PA, Brazil; wully_bio@hotmail.com
- Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000–911, Vila Real, Portugal;

mgsantoss@gmail.com * Correspondence

Received 02-XII-2016. Corrected 29-III-2017. Accepted 27-IV-2017.

Abstract: Dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) are considered essential for enhancing the physicochemical characteristics of soils, principally by changing organic materials (e.g. dead animals, faeces, fruits e leaf litter). This study compared the species richness and abundance of dung beetles captured using various types of baits, to demonstrate attractiveness differences in variable habitats of the Brazilian Amazon. Samplings were carried out with pitfall traps baited with human faeces, rotten banana, rotten meat and a nonbaited trap, in February, March, June, September and October 2015. Habitats included native forests, agriculture areas, pastures and disturbed forests in different regeneration stages. A total of 13736 Scarsbaeinae beetles were captured, distributed over 98 species. Most individuals were captured using traps baited with faeces (76.7 % of individuals), followed by rotten meat baited traps (17.8 % of individuals), fermented banana baited traps (3.9 % of individuals) and finally by non-baited traps (1.6 % of individuals). A significant difference in attractiveness of the different baits used and habitats types was observed. Most of the captured assemblages were composed by coprophagous (42 %), generalist species (32 %), necrophagous (15 %) and none was classified as saprophagous. Approximately 54 % of the specimens were tunnelers, 25 % were rollers and 12 % were dwellers. The species of Scarabacinae sampled in the region revealed qualitative and quantitative differences among their assemblages and the phytophysiognomies. The forest environments housed the greatest species richness observed, and a fraction of these is exclusive of those areas. We concluded that some species of Scarabaeinae have an important potential as disturbance indicators in the Amazonian ecosystem. Rev. Biol. Trop. 65 (3): 917-924. Epub 2017 September 01.

Key words: dung beetles, dung attractiveness, food preference, trophic guild, tropical forest.

The subfamily Scarabaeinae (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) includes dung beetles (DB), a globally distributed group of detritus-feeding insects, determinant of ecological functions such as nutrient recycling, secondary seed dispersal, bioturbation, and natural control of cattle parasites (Nichols et al., 2008; Simmons & Ridsdill-Smith, 2011). Their contribution to the improvement of the physico-chemical properties of the soil and plants is associated with increased edaphic aeration and hydration (Andresen, 2002; Nichols et al., 2008).

Mammalian dung is one of the most important food resources for dung beetle communities, being also the dominant substrate for oviposition (Filgueiras, Liberal, Aguiar, Hernández, & Iannuzzi, 2009). Anyhow, in the Neotropics, fungi, plants and carcasses are also used by several species as food resource (Halffter & Matthews, 1966). This seems related

Publication referring to chapter five



Animal Biology 67 (2017) 301-318



Can dung beetles (Scarabaeinae) indicate the status of Amazonia's ecosystems? Insights integrating anthropogenic disturbance with seasonal patterns

Reinaldo L. Cajaiba^{1,3,4,4}, Eduardo Périco¹, Wully B. da Silva² and Mário Santos³

¹ Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, University of Taquari Valley, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000 Lajeado, RS, Brazil

² Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfírio 2515, 68371-040 Altamira, PA, Brazil ³ Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB – Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro,

5000-911 Vila Real, Portugal

⁴ Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, MA, Brazil

Submitted: May 28, 2017. Final revision received: October 12, 2017. Accepted: November 3, 2017

Abstract

Temporal and spatial variation in dung beetles abundances is a pattern observed in many tropical forests. The present study evaluated the seasonal patterns of dung beetles in a range of increasingly disturbed ecosystems of the state of Part, northern Brazil, to identify valuable disturbance indicators. The areas included native forest, agriculture, pasture for extensive livestock grazing and secondary forests. Fieldwork was carried out encompassing the complete range of environmental conditions encountered during the year. In total, 13,649 individuals were captured within 23 genera and 99 species but with pronounced differences among ecosystems and seasons. The obtained results seem to demonstrate that dung beetles can be used to help identify ecosystems under very complex and variable environmental conditions. The ecological drift observed also demonstrates the possibility of using dung beetles as ecological indicators of disturbance in Amazonia.

Keywords

Amazon rainforest; beetles; biodiversity; scarab; seasonality; tropical forest

*) Corresponding author; e-mail: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

© Koninklijke Brill NV, Leiden, 2017

DOI 10.1163/15707563-00002538

Publication referring to chapter six

Forest Reology and Management 405 (2017) 319-327



Are disturbance gradients in neotropical ecosystems detected using rove beetles? A case study in the Brazilian Amazon



Reinaldo L. Cajaiba^{a,d,a,*}, Eduardo Périco^a, Edilson Caron^b, Marina S. Dalzochio^a, Wully B. Silva^c, Mário Santos

University of Toquari Valley, Laborancy of Robey and Bohrion, R. Avelno Tallini, 95900-000 Lajada, RJ, Brazil ¹ Robeil University of Parané, Department of Zoology, R. Pioneiro, 2152, Jackim Dallas, Paladae, Parané CSP 85950-000, Brazil

⁶ Pederal Delwards of Parig R. Col. Last Porfile, 2015, 60271-040 Alexanics, PA, Bundi ⁶ Unbranery of Applied Robey, GTMB – Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Residence and Biological Science, Unbrardsy of Transchlance a Alex Dears, 2000–2011 Wie Real, Portugal ⁸ Pederal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Marcabile, R. Dep. Gaudio Visira, 1000, 65393-000 Burtikupu, MA, Brand

ARTICLE INFO

Reports: Red versity Disturbance Indicators Landscape betwogeneity Neotropical Breats Investory 1 Bradilian America

ABSTRACT

In the Neotropics, Rove Beetles (Staphylinidae) are known to be especially diverse and abandant, but studies in this region are still incipient and the information is dispersed in the adentific literature. In this work the responses of the Rove Beetles to gradients of disturbance in representative ecosystems of the Brazilian Amazon were evaluated. Specifically, we are used the post bility of using patterns in richness, abundance and taxon omic diversity of Rove Bettles as anthropogenic disturbance indicators. The obtained results show that the Rove Bestles richness was sensitive to the structural changes induced by increasing anthropogenic disturbance. Additionally an increasing irend in community complexity if on more to less disturbed ecosystems was observed. Differences in responses can be explained by differences in the intensity and extent of the change from printine systems. Overall, the composition of Rove Beetles communities is ecosystems' spedific and sensitive to an thropogenic induced structural changes and management actions and, therefore, should be considered a valuable ecological indicator for assessing the extent ecosystems' disruption in the Neotropics.

1. Introduction

Neotropical forests are biologically diverse ecosystems, representing some of the rithest areas of the planet (Lindenmayor et al., 2002). Species from these forests are threatened by deforestation, fragmentation, conversion to forest monocultures, climate change and other strenors like fire and even fire suppression (Camus et al, 2006; Loskotová and Horák, 2016). There is an enormous concern and speculation about the effects of human disturbances in the biodiversity of next repical ecosystems, namely the impacts on species composition and the modifications in the ecological services provided (e.g. Morris, 2010; Acts and Homay, 2011; Ogiaba et al., 2017). Deformation in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and the disruption of complex global climate cycles (e.g. Morris, 2010; Cajaiba et al., 2017). The most significant landscape changes identified for the Amazonia are forest logging, the establishment of extensive livestock operations and intensive farming, but also the expansion of mad nets and urban areas (Mentens et al., 2002; Tabarelli et al., 2004), power generation, and mining (Scares-Hiho et al., 2005). These anthropogenic activities are considered strong environmental stresses whose impacts were not fully anticipated (Cajaiba et al., 2017). In fact, these landscape changes promote ecosystems' substitution and might isolate taxa and even cause extinctions due to interactions in which species are engaged (Aizen et al., 2012; Valient Banuet et al., 2015). Understanding the impacts of ecosystem transitions in the Amazonia will ultimately support the best conservation strategies for the region, considered fundamental for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately humankind (Cajaiba et al., 2017).

In a conservation perspective, the condition of an ecosystem might be evaluated using the "difference" from reference situations, i.e. the disparity of a specific ecosystem from pristine ecosystems (Costanza, 2012). Considering the unfeasibility of measuring all aspects in a specific ecosystem, several acientists advocate the use of surrogates, usually termed ecological indicators (Costanza, 2012; Heath, 2013). Species, populations and communities might prove useful as indicators if sensitive to ecosystem changes, anticipative and easily monitored (Gardner et al., 2008; Rapport and Hildén, 2013). Busides the universal need for developing ways to assess status and trends in environmental

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.058

Received 3 August 2007; Received in revised form 20 September 2017; Accepted 22 September 2017 0378-1127/ © 2017 Received II.V. All rights reserved.

Corresponding author at University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Roology and Reduction, R. AvelinoTallizi, 95900-000 Lajando, RS, Brazil E-mol adfress reitaldocajaiba@hotmail.com (RL Cajaiba).

Publication referring to chapter seven

Cajaiba et al.: Diversity and seasonality of Historidae in northern Brazil - 1227 -

SEASONAL PATTERNS IN THE DIVERSITY OF HISTERID BEETLES (HISTERIDAE) ARE ECOSYSTEM SPECIFIC? A CASE IN PARA STATE, NORTHERN BRAZIL

CAJAIBA, R. L. 123*-PÉRICO, E.1-SILVA, W. B.4-SANTOS, M.2

¹University of Taquari Valley, Laboratory of Ecology and Evolution, R. AvelinoTallini, 95900-000, Lajeado, RS, Brazil

²Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911, Vila Real, Portugal

³Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Maranhão, R. Dep. Gastão Vieira, 1000, 65393-000, Buriticupu, M4, Brazil

⁴Federal University of Pará, R. Cel. José Porfirio, 2515, 68371-040, Altamira - PA, Brazil

Corresponding author
e-mail: reinaldocajaiba@hotmail.com

(Received 30th Apr 2017; accepted 11th Aug 2017)

Abstract. The objective of this work was to characterize the seasonal variation in the community of Histerid beetles (Histeridae) of different ecosystems in the Brazilian Amazon, ranging from primary or secondary forests with different stages of regeneration to cocoa farms and pastures. Pitfall traps were distributed within the monitored ecosystems during different periods of the year. A total of 1945 Histerid beetles, belonging to five genera and 14 species were captured. Higher diversities were observed during the rainy season, although with differences among ecosystems. The genera *Phelister* and *Hister* were ubiquitous in all ecosystems, constituting 71% of all the specimens captured. Histerid beetle communities, discriminated by ordination methods, change gradually from the most conserved ecosystems to more disturbed ones. Moreover, the results showed that disturbed ecosystems, namely cocoa farms and pastures, have detrimental effects on the occurrence of Histerid beetles, which are considered forest specialists, while enhancing generalist species.

Keywords: Amazon rainforest, biodiversity, soil insect, fluctuation, tropical forest

Introduction

Currently, there is enormous concern and speculation about the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on the biodiversity of tropical ecosystems, including the effects on species composition and the modifications in the ecological services provided (e.g. Morris, 2010; Aerts and Honnay, 2011; Cajaiba et al., 2017a). Deforestation in the Neotropics, particularly in the Brazilian Amazon (Amazonia), has been causing a sharp erosion of biodiversity and disruption of the complex global climate phenomena (e.g. Hassan et al., 2005; Morris, 2010). Therefore, the conservation of the Amazonian ecosystems represents a growing core challenge for sustaining earth's functioning and ultimately that of mankind (e.g. Viana and Pinheiro, 1988; Viegas et al., 2014).

Predicting the ecological consequences of land use/land cover (LU/LC) changes is therefore a subject of scientific and political interest in order to support strategic options for sustainable development, land use planning and natural resources management

> APPLIED ECOLOGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH 15(4):1227-1237. http://www.alcki.hu + ESSN 1589 1625 (Print) + ESSN 1785 0037 (Online) DOE: http://dx.doi.org/10.1566/aser/1504_12271237 0 2017, ALOGI Kfr., Bodayert, Hungary



Publication referring to chapter eight

Submission referring to chapter nine

| Elsevier Editorial System X | | Θ – | ٥ | × | | | | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| ← → C A Seguro https://ees.elsevier.com/stoten/default.asp | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 🔛 Apps 🚳 Busca Textual - Curric 💲 Sistema WebQualis - 👹 Tropicos - Home_Cha 🧚 Lista Botánica do Bra: 🗅 MORE Início 🙀 Download Facebook, 👩 Citações do Google A | PKP Neotropical Biol | ogy ∂ | | >> | | | | | | | | | |
| Science of the Total Environment | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| hame main menu submit paper guide for authors register change details log out Switch To: Author T Go to: My EES Hub | | Version | 1: EES 20 | 18.2 | | | | | | | | | |
| Submissions Being Processed for Author Reinaldo Lucas Cajalba, PhD | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Page: 1 of 1 (1 total submissions) Display 10 • results per pa | ge. | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Hanuscript R Action ▲ ▲ ▼ ▲▼ | Initial Date Submitted ▲♥ | Status Date ▲▼ | Current Status ▲▼ | | | | | | | | | | |
| Action Links STOTEN-D-18- 02033 status assessments from a case study in the Neotropics | 02/28/2018 | 03/03/2018 | Under Review | | | | | | | | | | |
| Page: 1 of 1 (1 total submissions) Display 10 • results per pa | ge. | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| << Author Main Menu | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| Help Privacy Policy Terms and Conditions About Us | | | | | | | | | | Copyright © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. | | | | | | | | | |
|---|------------------------------|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|----|---|---|--|---|----------|---------------------|-------------|
| | | | | | | | | | | Cookies are set by this site. To decline them or learn more, visit our <u>Cookies</u> page. | | | | | | | | | okies page. |
| | O Digite aqui para pesquisar | Ū | ø | | e | ٩ | 0 | | Ŷ | ۶ | Q | ×∃ | w | P | | ٩ | ^ 아) 🖻 🌈 | 15:23 10/03/2018 | \Box |